

Publikationen des **Umweltbundesamtes**

Legal Aspects of User Charges on Global **Environmental Goods**

Forschungsprojekt im Auftrag des Umweltbundesamtes F u E-Vorhaben Förderkennzeichen 204 14 105

Februar 2006

Dr. Nils Meyer-Ohlendorf Michael Mehling Prof.Dr. Astrid Epiney Prof.Dr. Stefan Klinski





Legal Aspects of User Charges on Global Environmental Goods

(UFOPLAN 2004, FKZ 204 14 105)

Final Report

10 February 2006

Ecologic: Attny. Dr. Nils Meyer-Ohlendorf, Michael Mehling, *LL.M.*

in co-operation with

Prof. Dr. Astrid Epiney, LL.M., Universität Freiburg i. Ue.

Prof. Dr. Stefan Klinski

Ecologic

Institute for International and European Environmental Policy

Pfalzburger Str. 43-44, D-10717 Berlin, Tel. +49 30 86 88 00, Fax +49 30 86 88 0100

E-Mail: meyer-ohlendorf@ecologic.de

Table of Contents

Part One (Ecologic)	1
A. Introduction	1
I. The Environmental Impacts of Aviation and Shipping	1
1. Emissions from Aviation	1
2. Environmental Impacts of Shipping	2
II. Starting Point: User Charges as a Means of Internalising External Costs	3
1. The Discussion in Germany	4
2. Discussion in the European Union	5
3. The International Discussion	7
4. Recent Discussion	8
B. Methodology and Structure of this Study	10
C. User Charges on Aviation and Shipping: Definition, Effects, and Use of Reve	nues 10
I. Definition	10
User Charges Linked to Emissions (Emissions Charges)	12
2. User Charges Linked to Fuel Consumption (Kerosene or Diesel Taxes)	13
3. User Charges on the Use of Facilities (Airport- or Harbour Fees)	14
4. User Charges on Individual Trips (Ticket Fees)	14
II. Effects of User Charges	15
III. Use of Revenues	17
Part 2: General Requirements for User Charges on Aviation and Shipping	19
A. Preliminary Remarks: The Relevance of Law (Epiney/Hofstötter)	19
B. International Law (Ecologic)	21
I. General International Law	21
II. World Trade Law	26
General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS)	27
a.) Application to Aviation	27
b.) Application to Shipping	28
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT)	29
a.) Substantive Scope of GATT	29

b.) Violation of the Principle of Non-Discrimination in Articles I and III of GATT.	30
c.) Violation of Freedom of Transit under Article V GATT	32
d.) Justification of Protective Measures under Article XX (b) and (g) of GATT	33
3. Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures (SCM)	36
4. Summary and Application to Individual User Charges	37
C. European Community Law	38
I. Community Power to Introduce a User Charge (Epiney/Hofstötter)	38
1. (Potential) Legal Bases for the Introduction of User Charges on Global Environment Goods	
a.) Article 93 ECT (Harmonisation of Indirect Taxes)	39
b.) Article 71 in Connection with Article 80 (2) ECT (Transport)	46
c.) Article 175 ECT (Environment)	48
2. On the Differentiation of Legal Bases	52
a.) Multiple Legal Bases	52
b.) On the Criteria for a Differentiation of Legal Bases	54
3. Conclusion and Summary: Case Studies on the Determination of the Releva Basis	_
a.) Product-related Measures	60
b.) Charges for the Use of Transportation Routes or Infrastructures	62
c.) Emissions Charges	64
d) Conclusion	64
II. On the Requirements of the Subsidiarity Principle (Epiney/Hofstötter)	65
III. Budgetary Aspects (Ecologic)	67
1. Collection and Administration of User Charges by the European Community	69
a.) Collection by the European Community	69
b.) Expenditure of Revenues by the European Community	74
c.) Entering User Charges in the Budget	78
2. Expenditure of Revenue and Creation of a Special Fund	78
3. Summary and Application to Individual User Charges	81
IV. Community State Aid Rules (Ecologic)	82

1. The Concept of State Aid	82
2. Earmarked Expenditure as State Aid	83
3. Distortion of Competition in the Common Market	84
4. Discretionary Decision under Article 87 (3) ECT	85
5. Summary and Application to Individual User Charges	87
V. Substantive Requirements for the Design of User Charges under European Community I	_aw:
Fundamental Freedoms and Fundamental Rights (Epiney/Hofstötter)	88
1. On the Fundamental Freedoms of the Community	90
a.) Free Movement of Goods	93
b.) Article 43 ECT (Freedom of Establishment)	102
c.) Article 56 ECT (Free Movement of Capital)	108
d.) On the General Prohibition of Discrimination on Grounds of Nationality (Article ECT)	
2. On the Fundamental Rights of the Community	110
a.) Freedom of Occupation	111
b.) Right to Property	112
3. Summary	114
D. Domestic Law: Constitutional Requirements for Environmental User Charges (Klinski)	115
I. Fiscal Measures and their Classification under Constitutional Law	116
Taxes and Permissible Types of Taxes	117
2. Charges Imposed in Return for Services	124
3. Special Charges (Other Non-Fiscal Charges)	131
a.) Conceptual Aspects	131
b.) Admissibility Requirements for Special Charges	133
c.) Consequences for Special Charges on Environmental Use	133
II. Classification and Assessment of Individual Environmental User Charges under Financial Provisions of the Constitution	
1. Charges on Fuel	134
2. Charges on Emissions	135
3. Charges on the Use of Facilities (Airports, Harbours)	137

4. Charges on the Use and Pollution of Environmental Spaces	138
5. "Ticket Charges"	140
a.) Background	140
b.) "Ticket Charges" as Taxes	140
c.) "Ticket Charges" as Charges in Return for Services	144
6. Other Compensation Duties	145
III. Stipulations under Community Law	146
IV. Basic Rights	148
V. Conclusion	150
Part 3: Sectoral Requirements for User Charges on Aviation and Shipping	153
A. Shipping (Scheyli, Hofstötter, Epiney)	153
I. International Law of the Sea	154
Mandatory Requirements of International Maritime Law (Convention on Sea)	
a.) The Law of the High Seas	155
b.) The Law of the Sea in Areas subject to the Sovereignty and Jurisdict States	
c.) Obligations relating to Marine Environmental Protection	167
2. Interim Conclusions: Restrictions on the Introduction of User Charges General Maritime Law	e
a.) Summary of the Central Requirements under UNCLOS	168
b.) Consequences under General Maritime Law for Specific Maritime Zones	169
c.) Conclusions Regarding the Choice of a Suitable Point of Reference for to of User Charges on Ships Pursuant to UNCLOS	
3. On the Relationship of General Maritime Law under UNCLOS and Spe Conventions	
4. Requirements under Specific Maritime Conventions	177
a.) Global Conventions on the Prevention of Marine Pollution	178
b.) Regional Conventions on the Prevention of Marine Pollution	184
c.) Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control	190
d.) Conclusions Regarding the Requirements under Specific Maritime Conve	entions 192

5. Summary and Conclusions on International Maritime Law	193
II. European Community Law	195
1. Regulation 4055/86 and the Freedom to Provide Services in Maritime Transport	196
a.) Relationship to Primary Law	196
b.) Scope and Application of the Freedom to Provide Services in Maritime Transport.	198
c.) Conclusions for User Charges	200
d.) Conclusion	201
2. Maritime Cabotage	202
3. Further Elements of the 1986 Liberalization Package	202
4. Secondary Legislation relating to Taxation of Shipping Fuel	204
a.) Scope of Application	204
b.) Conclusions for User Charges	205
III. Domestic Law	207
Questions relating to Legislative Powers	207
2. Provisions of Sub-Constitutional Law	210
B. Aviation (Ecologic)	210
I. International Law	211
General International Law	211
2. The 1944 Chicago Convention	214
a.) Article 15 of the Chicago Convention	214
b.) Article 24 of the Chicago Convention	218
3. Relevant ICAO-Resolutions	219
a.) Institutional Framework	219
b.) Legal Nature of ICAO Decision-Making	220
c.) Relevant Recommendations and Standards	221
4. Bilateral Air Service Agreements (BASAs)	224
II. European Law	229
1. Primary Community Law	229
2. Secondary Community Law	230
a.) Regulations on the Freedom of Services in Aviation	230

	b) The Energy Tax Directive 2003/96/EC	. 231
III.	National Law	. 232
Part 4	Recommendations for Action	. 234
I.	User Charges Linked on Fuel Consumption (Kerosene or Diesel Taxes)	. 234
II.	User Charges on Individual Trips (Ticket Fees)	. 236
III.	User Charges on Emissions (Emissions Charges)	. 237
IV.	User Charges on the Use of Facilities (Airport- or Port Fees)	. 238
V.	User Charges in Return for Services within Environmental Resource Management Sys	tems
		. 238
Biblio	graphy	. 240

Part One (Ecologic)

A. Introduction

International airspace and the High Seas constitute **global environmental goods** (open-access-goods), the use and consumption of which do not fall under the jurisdiction of any national sovereign body. Open-access-goods are primarily characterized by the non-rivalry of consumption and their non-exclusiveness, that is: they can be used by anyone virtually without restrictions. Airspace and the High Seas are classic examples of such common goods. They are **over-used** because the laws governing access to them are underdeveloped.¹

Two environmentally intense forms of use – the airline and shipping industries – account for a growing proportion of such **environmental impacts**. Two types of impacts can be distinguished in this regard: direct deterioration of the environmental goods themselves, for instance through pollutant discharges into the sea, and damage caused to other environmental goods by way of the indirect impact of aviation and shipping, for instance changes in the global climate resulting from the emission of greenhouse gases.

The following paragraphs will provide an overview of the environmental impacts of aviation and shipping. What follows is a summary of the discussion on ways to approach these environmental impacts.

I. The Environmental Impacts of Aviation and Shipping

1. Emissions from Aviation

Due to the increasing convergence of global markets, the rising Gross National Product (GNP) in various regions of the world, global population growth, and a marked increase in long-distance tourism, **aviation** will account for **36%** of overall passenger transport volumes by 2050 as opposed to 9% in 1990.²

In the most comprehensive assessment of the impacts of aviation on the global climate to date, submitted by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPPC), the emission of gases and particles by airplanes was found to influence the atmospheric concentration of greenhouse gases and promote the creation of condensation and cirrus clouds, **adversely affecting** the global climate.³

··· = - - , ...p · .., ... - , ... - , ...

See generally WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, 1 et seq.

WBGU, *supra*, note 1, at 7.

³ IPCC, Special Report on Aviation and the Global Atmosphere, particularly Chapter 6.

As a result, the proportion of anthropogenic climate change attributable to aviation is projected to increase from its present level of 3.5% to 15% by the year 2050. If recent predictions on the effects of **cloud formation** are confirmed, suggesting that the impacts of such clouds are far greater than previously assumed, this proportion might rise even higher. Likewise, CO₂ emissions from aviation are expected to rise threefold between 1992 and 2025, rendering aviation the fastest-growing source of greenhouse gases worldwide. Improvements in the efficiency of propulsion systems for aircraft will not suffice to counter this trend, thereby calling for additional measures.

2. Environmental Impacts of Shipping

Although shipping generally requires less energy than air travel and is thus one of the most environmentally friendly means of transport, the growing use of oceans for transportation purposes is leading to **serious environmental damage** in coastal waters as well as in the – still relatively untouched – High Seas. In contrast to aviation, shipping therefore contributes more directly to the degradation and destruction of **ecosystems**.

The main cause for these impacts is the exchange of ballast water and contamination caused by the discharge of waste, sewage and a variety of pollutants. Whereas the introduction of oil into the oceans formerly constituted the most significant source of marine pollution from shipping, nowadays the damage is mainly caused by the introduction of toxic chemicals from antifouling-paint. What is more, a dangerous shift in the ecological balance of certain ocean areas is attributable to the introduction of foreign plant and animal species as a result of shipping.

Altogether, shipping is also responsible for 7% of global CO₂ emissions within the transport sector, or nearly 2% of overall CO₂ emissions. In addition, shipping is responsible for approximately 7% of sulphur dioxide (SO₂) and 11% to 12% of nitrous oxide (NO_x) emissions.⁶ Aside from damages caused by **acid rain**, these also interact with the nutritional balance of coastal waters. The emission of nitrous oxides may also aggravate the greenhouse effect. As in the case of aviation, these emissions are closely linked to the development of shipping, given that progress in the design of ship propulsion systems is more than compensated by the changing structure of ocean travel, with

Recent scientific results presented at the European Conference on Aviation, Atmosphere and Climate (AAC) in 2003 in Friedrichshafen clearly document the underestimated and previously unquantified radiative forcing effects of cirrus clouds, allowing the following conclusion: "current estimates suggest that aircraft-induced cirrus clouds are potentially the biggest contributors to climate change from aircraft emissions." See Amanatidis and Friedl, "Science Related to Atmospheric Effects of Aircraft Emissions Continues to Mature," in *ICAO-Journal* (2004:5): 14, at 15.

⁵ Brosthaus et al., Maβnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, at 11.

WBGU, *supra*, note 1, at 22; in absolute figures, estimates suggest that European shipping alone resulted in emissions of 2.6 mill. tonnes of SO₂ and 3.6 mill. tonnes of NO_x in 2000, see NERA, *Evaluation of the Feasibility of Alternative Market-Based Mechanisms to Promote Low-Emission Shipping In European Union Sea Areas*, at 1 et seq.

the high-speed segment currently experiencing strong growth.⁷ With the European Commission forecasting a significant expansion of shipping relative to overall transportation,⁸ effective approaches to reducing these environmental impacts are of particular urgency.

II. Starting Point: User Charges as a Means of Internalising External Costs

So far, conventional command-and-control approaches to environmental policy have not proven sufficient to surmount the user problems associated with aviation and shipping. With far-reaching restrictions on economic activity not a feasible option, it is widely recognised that additional policies are necessary. At the same time, it has also become increasingly apparent that public expenditures in the area of environmental protection and transportation are facing budgetary constraints, necessitating the mobilisation of **new sources of state income**.⁹

Against this backdrop, several efforts have aimed at internalising the external costs of environmentally detrimental behaviour in accordance with the **polluter-pays-principle**. An internalisation of environmental costs requires the price of products or services to **reflect their external costs**. These, in turn, are such costs which do not appear in the cost accounting of consumers and polluters, being ultimately a burden carried by society at large. Variable external costs in the transportation sector include the costs of accidents and the negative effects of insufficient infrastructure capacities, but also environmental impacts caused by pollutants and other aspects of traffic. 12

User charges may help internalise such environmental costs by allocating the costs of environmental damages to **those who cause** them, giving rise to a twofold advantage: an economic **incentive** to reduce environmentally detrimental patterns of behaviour while at the same time generating revenues, thereby reducing the burden on public budgets. As a result, in the case of elastic – that is, adaptable – patterns of behaviour, a balance between the external costs of such behaviour and the burden ensuing from the reallocation of these costs to users will follow as a result

⁷ Landau, *Les nouvelles contributions financières internationales*, at 86.

European Commission, *European Transport Policy for 2010 – Time to Decide: White Paper*, COM(2001)370 final, at 46 *et sqq*.

See, e.g., European Commission, COM(2001)370 final, supra, note 8, at 66 et sqq.

The polluter-pays principle, a guiding principle of German environmental law since the federal Environmental Action Programme of 1971 and recognized under European Community law pursuant to Article 174 (2) ECT, calls for the allocation of costs for the prevention, restoration and compensation of environmental impacts to their originators, see Bundesministerium des Inneren, *Umweltbrief 1/1973*, at 2.

On this issue, see Wicke, *Umweltökonomie*, at 129.

On this issue, see European Commission, Fair Payment for Infrastructure Use: A Phased Approach to a Common Transport Infrastructure Charging Framework in the EU - White Paper, COM(98)466 final, at 8.

of the increased shift to environmentally preferable forms of behaviour. At the same time, user charges allow for the generation of significant **revenues**.

In the **transport sector**, whose environmental costs are substantial, ¹³ ways to internalise these costs have been under discussion for some time. In the area of road traffic, for instance, vehicle taxes, higher mineral oil taxes and distance-based motorway tolls for heavy goods vehicles have not only helped internalise the costs of infrastructure, but also part of the environmental costs. The following overview summarises the discussion to date on user charges at the international, European and German levels, including recent proposals to introduce user charges with of view to financing measures in the area of development co-operation.

1. The Discussion in Germany

With its national **Sustainability Strategy**, the Federal Government has committed itself to supporting the European Union in the introduction of emissions-based charges on the European level. ¹⁴ In the **coalition agreement** of 2002, moreover, it declared its support for an internationally coordinated introduction of charges on the use of airspace and the High Seas. ¹⁵ The Parliamentary Enquête Committee on Globalization, moreover, has advocated an extensive internalisation of social and ecological costs, recommending that revenues from environmentally motivated transport charges **be earmarked** for environmental purposes and to reduce the social and ecological costs originating in the transport and logistics sectors, while at the same time promoting better environmental technologies in these areas. ¹⁶ Individual political parties have also placed user charges on their agendas. In 2000, for instance, Bündnis 90/Die Grünen submitted a proposal for a **European aviation tax**. In particular, they expressed support for the introduction of kerosene taxes in the entire European Union, along with an inclusion of transboundary flights in the sales tax regime. ¹⁷ Most recently, the Federal Republic of Germany has joined Algeria, Brazil, Chile, France, and Spain in a Technical Group on Innovative Financing Mechanisms with the aim of securing compliance with the Millennium Development Goals. ¹⁸

See, generally, the Final Report of the High-Ranking Group "Verkehrsinfrastruktur-Entgelte", Cost Estimates in the Transport Sector, May 26, 1999, available at: http://europa.eu.int/comm/transport/infr-charging/library/hlg-4-99-rep-de.pdf, at 13.

Bundesregierung, *Perspektiven für Deutschland - Unsere Strategie für eine nachhaltige Entwicklung*, available at: http://www.bundesregierung.de/Anlage585668/pdf_datei.pdf, at 187.

Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands and Bündnis 90/Die Grünen, Erneuerung – Gerechtigkeit – Nachhaltigkeit: Für ein wirtschaftlich starkes, soziales und ökologisches Deutschland. Für eine lebendige Demokratie, Coalition Agreement of October 16, 2002, at 37.

BT-Drs. (Federal Records of Parliament) 14/9200, at 141.

Available at: http://www.gruene-fraktion.de/cms/steuern_finanzen/dok/13/13027.subventionsabbau.

[&]quot;Technical Group on Innovative Financing Mechanisms – Action Against Hunger and Poverty."

2. Discussion in the European Union

An important role in this debate has been assumed by the **European Union**. In a **Green Paper** submitted in 1995, the European Commission had already called for fair and efficient pricing in transport policy. Ever since, this matter has found its reflection in several Communications submitted by the Commission, including documents relating to aviation and shipping. A **White Paper** on fair pricing for infrastructure use confirmed this objective in 1998. Unsurprisingly, better internalisation of costs in the transport sector was taken up as a central element of the 2001 **White Paper** on European Transport Policy for 2010, in which the Commission identified the social costs of transport – including growing expenditures for environmental protection measures – as a serious challenge. As a main reason for these imbalances, it identified the fact that traffic participants are not required to cover all costs they trigger, that existing burdens are inappropriately distributed, and that the ensuing costs are not adequately reflected.

These initiatives were largely welcomed by individual **Member States** and the **Council**. Already in 1998, the European Conference of Ministers of Transport (ECMT) had emphasised the need to internalise the external costs in the transport sector, ²⁴ an objective also adopted by the European Council in Gothenburg. ²⁵ To a certain extent, these initiatives have already been implemented in current legislation. The Directive on a Community Framework for the Taxation of Energy Products

European Commission, *Towards Fair and Efficient Pricing in Transport Policy – Options for Internalising the External Cost of Transport in the European Union: Green Paper*, COM(95)691 final. This Green Paper recommends calculating fees in accordance with the principle of marginal costs and achieving a higher degree of cost recovery and transparency as important pillars of an efficient transport system, and suggests engaging in a broad consultation process.

See, e.g., European Commission, Report to the Council and the European Parliament under Article 8(6) of Council Directive 92/81/EEC, on the Situation with Regard to the Exemptions or Reductions for Specific Policy Considerations as set out in Article 8(4) of Directive 92/81 and Concerning the Obligatory Exemption of Mineral Oils used as Fuel for the Purpose of Air Navigation other than Private Pleasure Flying and the Exemptions or Reductions possible for Navigation on Inland Waterways other than for Private Pleasure Craft as set out in Articles 8 (1) (b) and 8 (2) (b) of the same Directive, COM(96)549 final.

European Commission, COM(98)466 final, *supra*, note 12.

European Commission, COM(2001)370 final, *supra*, note 8, at 83 *et sqq*.

²³ *Ibid.*, at 83.

Resolution No. 98/1 on the Policy Approach to Internalising the External Costs of Transport, CEMT/CM(98)5/FINAL, Ministers of Transport of the ECMT, Meeting in Copenhagen on May 26 to 27, 1998, available at: http://www1.oecd.org/cem/resol/env/index.htm.

According to the Conclusions of the Presidency, a sustainable transport policy should promote the complete internalisation of social and environmental costs, European Council, Conclusions of the Presidency, Gothenburg, adopted on June 15 and 16, 2001, Doc. SN 200/1/01 REV 1, Annot. 29.

and Electricity, ²⁶ for instance, contains important provisions on the taxation of mineral oils, expressly with a view to promoting the protection of the global climate and the environment. ²⁷

In this regard, the most recent advance was made with a proposed Directive on the Charging of Heavy Goods Vehicles for the **Use of Certain Infrastructures**, ²⁸ which seeks the approximation of motorway tolling and charging systems in the Member States for the use of road infrastructures in accordance with a framework of common principles. Despite these efforts by the European Commission, no measures specifically targeted at aviation and shipping have been adopted to date. On November 17, 2004, however, the European Parliament clearly indicated its support for an inclusion of the greenhouse gases emitted by aviation and shipping within the scope of the Kyoto Protocol. ²⁹ This was followed by the Commission announcement of a **Communication** for 2005, in which it assessed the options for an introduction of kerosene taxes, emissions charges on aviation, and an expansion of the European emissions trading scheme to cover air traffic. ³⁰ A stakeholder consultation carried out in March and April 2005 was designed to provide input on the European strategy to reduce the environmental impacts of aviation ³¹ and let to the consecutive Communication on Reducing the Climate Change Impact of Aviation. ³²

At its meeting on February 17, 2005, however, the Economic and Financial Affairs Council (ECOFIN) signalled a certain degree of **political reticence** in this regard. Serious legal and political reservations against the introduction of user charges on global environmental goods are widely held both at the political level and on the level of affected economic sectors.³³ Even opinions in the Member States **differ**. Several states are opposed to a wide introduction of user charges in the

Council Directive 2003/96/EC of 27 October 2003 Restructuring the Community Framework for the Taxation of Energy Products and Electricity, OJ EU No. L 283 of October 31, 2003, at 51 *et sqq*.

See recitals 2 through 7 of Directive 2003/96/EC, *supra*, note 26.

European Commission, Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council Amending Directive 1999/62/EC on the Charging of Heavy Goods Vehicles for the Use of Certain Infrastructures, COM(2003)448 final.

European Parliament, European Parliament Resolution on the EU Strategy for the Buenos Aires Conference on Climate Change (COP-10), Doc. P6_TA(2004)0060 of November 17, 2004.

As stated in a preparatory document, the Commission is likely to recommend a coordinated implementation of various suitable instruments, see European Commission, *Roadmaps – Commission Work Programme 2005*, 2005/ENV/008, at 92.

See European Commission, Press Release No. IP/05/281 of March 11, 2005.

Communication of the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Social and Economic Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Reducing the Climate Change Impact of Aviation, COM(2005) 459 final of September 27, 2005.

See, *e.g.*, the recent Position Paper of the Association of European Airlines (AEA) of February 7, 2005, available at: http://www.aea.be/AEAWebsite/DataFiles/Pr05-008.pdf>, which highlights competitive distortions and added bureaucratic challenges.

aviation sector, whereas regional or unilateral measures give rise to questions of **competitiveness** in the affected areas of the economy.³⁴ As of now, only environmental interest groups have expressed unconditional support for user charges, as is apparent in relevant position papers on the introduction of a user charge on aviation.³⁵

3. The International Discussion

By contrast, there have been no **comprehensive efforts** to date at the international level aimed at introducing user charges on global environmental goods. That does not, however, mean that such measures have not been amply discussed. The introduction of a user charge on aviation, in particular, has featured in a lively academic and political debate for several years, giving rise to frequent disagreement. With a view to earlier proposals submitted by individual – mostly European – states, the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) issued a Resolution on December 9, 1996, in which it generally **disapproved** of any charges adopted on the global scale.³⁶ This statement was soon followed by a working paper of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), however, which highlighted the various advantages of fuel taxation (as another sub-form of user charges).³⁷ At the 35th General Assembly of the International Civil Aviation Organization, held in Montreal from September 28 to October 8, 2004, it again became apparent that a number of states were **strictly opposed** to the introduction of emission charges on air traffic.

In the run-up to this meeting, the United States – joined by 21 further member states – had proposed a Resolution to ICAO condemning any unilateral efforts in the absence of concerted action under ICAO itself.³⁸ Affected industry representatives have also repeatedly and strongly censored any attempts to introduce user charges.³⁹ Only

The positions adopted by finance ministers at the Council meeting of April 12, 2005, are symptomatic, with several representatives voicing concern about negative impacts on transport and tourism, Environment Daily (ENDS) No. 1858 of April 13, 2005, available at: http://www.environmentdaily.com/articles/index.cfm?action=issue&No=1858>.

See European Environmental Bureau (EEB), Friends of Nature International (FNI), Friends of the Earth Europe (FoEE) and European Federation for Transport and Environment (T&E), Joint Press Release of April 8, 2005, available at http://www.t-e.nu/docs/Press/2005/2005-04-08_joint_statement_ecofin_aviation.pdf>.

ICAO, Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, adopted by the Council on 9 December 1996 at the 16th meeting of its 149th session, Para. 2 und 4, available at: http://www.icao.int/icao/en/env/taxes.htm.

OECD, Special Issues in Carbon/Energy Taxation: Carbon Charges on Aviation Fuels.

See, for instance, the statement by the European Federation for Transport and Environment (T&E) of September 10, 2004, available at: http://www.t-e.nu/docs/Positionpapers/2004/t-e_2004_icao_assembly_overview.pdf, at 3.

See, *e.g.*, the sharply critical statement of the International Air Transport Association (IATA) on kerosene taxes, available at: http://www.iata.org/pressroom/serious_solutions.htm: "The International Air Transport

environmental groups have so far shown unconditional support for the international introduction of user charges on aviation.⁴⁰

As for the use of the High Seas through **shipping**, user charges have not been seriously discussed by the responsible bodies at the International Maritime Organization (IMO). On the regional level, the Helsinki-Commission (HELCOM) established by the parties to the Helsinki Convention proves an exception, given that it has issued a – albeit legally non-binding – recommendation to introduce a charging system for the treatment of shipping waste, an approach that loosely resembles a user charge.⁴¹

4. Recent Discussion

Renewed efforts to pay greater attention to the environmental impacts of aviation and shipping have been apparent since **early 2005**. In January 2005, for instance, on occasion of the World Economic Forum in Davos, the French President Jacques Chirac suggested introducing of a user charge on aviation as a potential source of revenue for **development co-operation**.⁴² At the same time, the finance ministers of the G7 states announced negotiations on the introduction of new charges on aviation and shipping at the G8 Summit in July 2005, with consideration to be given to a tax on kerosene, a tax on the use of airspace, and an air ticket tax, along with corresponding measures for the shipping sector. In the end, however, the Summit was unable to deliver significant progress. A **Plan of Action** adopted at the Summit mentions aviation as a focus area, but restricts itself to an appeal for increased research on the scientific background as well as the development of more environmentally friendly technologies for aviation.⁴³ A document on development aid for Africa generally affirms the commitment of a group of states to **innovative financing mechanisms** and their intention to give consideration to a "solidarity contribution" on plane tickets; what is more, a working group is mandated with considering the implementation of these mechanisms.⁴⁴ No

Association (IATA) is deeply concerned by proposals being circulated among European Finance Ministers to finance health and development programs in poorer countries through additional aviation taxes ... Whimsical proposals that hurt one of the largest contributors to growth are simply not the answer."

- See European Environmental Bureau (EEB), Friends of Nature International (FNI), Friends of the Earth Europe (FoEE), and European Federation for Transport and Environment (T&E), Joint Press Release of April 8, 2005, available at http://www.t-e.nu/docs/Press/2005/2005-04-08_joint_statement_ecofin_aviation.pdf>.
- For a more detailed analysis, see *infra*, 3rd Part, A.I.4.b.)bb.).
- This proposal was based on a report submitted by the French Inspector General of Finance, Jean-Pierre Landau, which stated that a tax on aviation would potentially raise up to \$ 8 bio., see Landau, *Les nouvelles contributions financières internationales*, 84.
- G8, Gleneagles Plan of Action on Climate Change, Clean Energy and Sustainable Energy, available at: http://www.fco.gov.uk/Files/kfile/PostG8 Gleneagles CCChangePlanofAction.pdf>, at 3.
- G8, Gleneagles Summit Document on Africa, available at: http://www.fco.gov.uk/Files/kfile/PostG8_Gleneagles_Africa,0.pdf, at 16: "A group of the countries above

specific measures, let alone legally binding instruments, were adopted.

One may currently expect no new initiatives on the European level. Although the European Commission compiled a **working paper on new sources of financing for development**, which was even discussed by the ECOFIN Council during its meeting on April 12, 2005, no consensus has been reached on the adoption of actual measures. At its meeting of June 7, 2005, the ECOFIN Council again approached the issue of a contribution based on airline tickets as a source of development funds, and requested that the Commission submit a **technical analysis**.

The results of this analysis were presented by the Commission on June 15, 2005, ⁴⁸ with a more detailed description of various implementation options. According to this paper, Member States should generally have discretion as to the introduction of such a contribution. Moreover, the communication distinguishes between compulsory and voluntary contributions imposed on passengers, with voluntary participation to be achieved through an "opt-in" or "opt-out" clause. The level of the contribution is to be kept low, between $\in 1$ and $\in 5$, raising a maximum of $\in 2.7$ billion of revenues. ⁴⁹ These are to be earmarked for measures of development co-operation and will ideally be administered by the Community. ⁵⁰ Altogether, the contribution would clearly be focused on providing benefits for development co-operation policy. As for the environmental impacts of aviation, however, an inclusion in the European emissions trading scheme currently appears to be the more favoured option. ⁵¹

firmly believe that innovative financing mechanisms can help deliver and bring forward the financing needed to achieve the Millennium Development Goals. They will continue to consider the International Financing Facility (IFF), a pilot IFF for Immunisation and a solidarity contribution on plane tickets to finance development projects, in particular in the health sector, and to finance the IET SQQ. A working group will consider the implementation of these mechanisms."

- European Commission, New Sources of Financing for Development: A Review of Options, SEC(2005)467.
- See Environment Daily (ENDS) No. 1858 of April 13, 2005, available at: http://www.environmentdaily.com/articles/index.cfm?action=issue&No=1858.
- See European Commission, An Analysis of a Possible Contribution based on Airline Tickets as a New Source of Financing Development, SEC(2005)733, at 2.
- European Commission, *ibid*.
- European Commission, *ibid*, at 6 *et seq*.
- European Commission, *ibid.*, at 12.
- See Environment Daily (ENDS) No. 1923 of July 27, 2005, available at: http://www.environmentdaily.com/articles/index.cfm?action=issue&No=1923; Wit et al., Giving Wings to Emissions Trading Inclusion of Aviation under the European Emission Trading System (ETS): Design and Impacts.

B. Methodology and Structure of this Study

The diverse legal issues raised by user charges on global environmental goods need to first be studied before such charges can be introduced. To date, however, a comprehensive legal analysis of this issue has not yet been compiled. The following assessment therefore aims at covering the entire **legal framework** relevant to the introduction of user charges in the area of aviation and shipping. Its focus rests not so much on a discussion of various instruments and their mutual delineation as it does on the legal admissibility of a user charge and – in particular – on the requirements imposed by applicable law on its design. The analysis will cover applicable areas of European law as well as public international law and German constitutional law, with an emphasis on the rules of EC law.

Methodologically, this approach first requires a **definition** of the concept of user charges, in turn necessitating a distinction of conceivable models and design options. The expected effects of these user charges and options for the use of revenues will be briefly outlined. Drawing thereon, the study will proceed to identify the legal framework of a user charge introduced on the international, Community and national levels, followed by an assessment of various design options.

The substantive analysis starts out by addressing **general requirements** imposed on the introduction of user charges on global environmental goods. It distinguishes between requirements set out under public international law, including general international law and the rules on world trade, requirements under European Community law, such as legislative powers, budgetary provisions, and state aid rules, and basic freedoms. Finally, it moves on to list central requirements under the German constitution, or Basic Law, relating to financial issues. **Sector-specific issues** are then covered in a further section, which only addresses requirements relevant to aviation and shipping, respectively.

Given the large amount of studies and political documents compiled on user charges for the aviation sector, this analysis will place its focus on shipping.

C. User Charges on Aviation and Shipping: Definition, Effects, and Use of Revenues

I. Definition

Broadly speaking, user charges constitute a form of **fiscal charge** assessed against a specified group for the use of a certain good.⁵² Accordingly, the ability to use said good is understood as an advantage settled through payment of the charge. This payment fulfils a compensatory function closely related to the **polluter-pays principle**. In other words, the *collection* of the user charge, in

Jarass and Pieroth, *Grundgesetz für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland: Kommentar*, at 1041.

itself, already exerts an influence on the behaviour of those who are required to pay: it attaches a price to certain forms of usage, creating an incentive to alter the underlying behaviour.

User charges on environmental goods, such as airspace and the High Seas, impose a financial compensation duty for the exploitation of these environmental goods. By requiring an **act of payment** from the respective user for his or her environmentally detrimental patterns of behaviour, that is, the use of the environment and the resulting impacts, the user charge creates an **economic incentive** and thereby acquires an ecological control function. With the environmental impacts no longer free of cost, the price is thus factored into the behaviour, which in turn becomes economically less attractive. The scarcity of a good and the costs arising from its use are consequently given adequate consideration in the behavioural choices of users, ultimately leading to changes in behaviour.

In the assessment of design options for a user charge, this study will also look at the *expenditure* of revenues. It is worth noting that the revenue of a user charge – unlike those of certain taxes – may be **earmarked** for specific purposes. In other words, the income generated by a user charge does not necessarily accrue to the general budget of a state or international organisation, restricting its expenditure for general tasks, but may instead be used to **finance** a very specific mission, for instance by benefiting a newly established fund or similar financial instrument.

Several design options are conceivable when it comes to the **expenditure** of revenues. If, moreover, the regulatory framework for the imposition and expenditure are linked, they may exert a maximum degree of control on the behaviour of users.⁵³ Therein lies the main difference between user charges and tax-based measures, whose purpose – pursuant to welfare economics – frequently does not account for the realities in practice.⁵⁴ To **maximise the environmental benefits** of user charges, their revenues will ideally be applied towards specific objectives of environmental policy. This allows for additional leverage when influencing behaviour in favour of more sustainable behavioural patterns, as it helps generate funds for actual protection measures necessitated by the exploitation of the respective environmental goods. Still, other ways of applying the revenues are conceivable, for instance to benefit development policy. These are briefly outlined in a separate section.⁵⁵

Drawing on what has just been said, user charges – as a financial instrument – involve:

• making the use of a particular good or right conditional on the payment of compensation;

It should then be noted, however, that earmarking of revenues limits the flexibility of applying revenues towards the most productive purpose in any given situation; nonetheless, a transparent assignment may help reduce political resistance against the introduction of user charges, see WBGU, *Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter*, at 4.

WBGU, ibid., at 3 et seq.

See *infra*, 1st Part, C.

- payment being understood as compensation in return for exercising said right;
- controlling a certain pattern of behaviour;
- the generation of revenue for a specific purpose. Earmarking the revenue, however, is not a prerequisite, as that would exclude certain forms of taxation.

So as to permit a wide scope of analysis, this study will cover all forms of user charges currently under discussion. To that end, any charge will be considered a user charge for the purposes of this study, provided only that it is linked to the use of an environmental good; whether the user charge is primarily imposed to generate revenue for specific purposes or to influence the behaviour of users will not be decisive for this categorisation. Likewise, the classification as a user charge will not depend on the question of who is subject to payment, with passengers and carriers primarily suited as debtors.

The concept of user charges, thus, comprises **all measures** designed to ensure that revenues are applied to a specified purpose. It therefore includes taxation measures to the extent that their revenues are earmarked. It does not, however, include:

- emissions trading;
- compensation of waivers of use.

Instead, conceivable user charges include:

- emissions-based user charges (general emissions charges, carbon dioxide emissions charges);
- fuel-based user charges (mineral oil or kerosene taxes);
- facility-based user charges (port fees, landing charges, tolls, waterway charges);
- service-based user charges (e.g., so-called ticket fees, transport/freight fees).

Inasmuch as these models are currently under discussion, the following analysis will describe their main characteristics, in particular with a view to their general design and expected effects. They can apply on a global, European or national scale. Accordingly, they may be based on an international treaty, European Community legislation, or national measures adopted by the Member States (which, in turn, may be harmonised or purely unilateral).

1. User Charges Linked to Emissions (Emissions Charges)

One option available when introducing user charges on global environmental goods consists in imposing a charge on aviation and shipping **relative to the amount of greenhouse gases or other pollutants emitted**. Setting the level of the charge in accordance with the type, amount and

harmfulness of the emissions allows for a high direction of purpose.⁵⁶ Compared to other approaches, emissions charges also have the advantage of generating significant revenues and an effective incentive to adopt specific patterns of behaviour; at the same time, they also provide for much flexibility in their design. Reliance on the amount and harmfulness of emissions, however, also incurs high administrative costs.

Unlike user charges linked to the consumption of fuel or ticket fees, emissions charges presuppose the **establishment of observation and monitoring facilities** as well as the determination of complex procedures. Moreover, they require precise information on the pollutant content of fuels and the levels emitted during operation, data which is typically difficult to collect and will commonly necessitate reliance on indirect aspects, such as the type of propulsion system, the routing system, carrying capacities, and the type and amount of fuel consumed. For the actual design, this raises several options, such as the determination of staggered or flat rates.

2. User Charges Linked to Fuel Consumption (Kerosene or Diesel Taxes)

A user charge assessed on the basis of **fuel consumption** may already be collected from fuel suppliers as a proportional surcharge on the fuel price, or as a lump sum applied to each litre of fuel, with the latter option affording greater independence from the fluctuations of crude oil prices. ⁵⁷ In such a scenario, the economic burden will typically be passed on to **consumers**. By increasing the price of fuel, this option allows for a **more just allocation** of costs among different forms of transport. This is particularly true for the aviation sector, which has traditionally been exempted from mineral oil and value added taxes, as opposed to road traffic and shipping. A further advantage commonly ascribed to fuel taxes is the direct connection between the rate of fuel consumption and the amount of greenhouse gases emitted, thereby ensuring a rise in the price of emissions that are harmful to the global climate. ⁵⁸ With regard to the aviation sector, however, this view is at odds with recent scientific claims that the gases generated in the combustion process, notably CO_2 , merely account for a small fraction of the damage caused to the global climate by air traffic. An equal – if not greater – risk stems from the emissions of nitrous oxides (NO_x) , condensation trails, and – above all – the cirrus clouds generated by air traffic. ⁵⁹

And these negative consequences of aviation are not directly linked with fuel consumption, however, but depend on the type of propulsion system and the aircraft design, weather conditions,

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, 12.

As the German Advisory Council on Global Environmental Change (*Wissenschaftliche Beirat der Bundesregierung Globale Umweltveränderungen*, WBGU) has stated, moreover, the charge would have to be adapted over time to compensate for changes in pricing structures and in the demand for revenues, see WBGU, *Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter*, at 10.

Landau, Les nouvelles contributions financières internationales, at 84; WBGU, ibid., at 9.

Cirrus clouds, heretofore not afforded much attention and altogether difficult to assess, are likely to contribute more to climate change than any other aspect of aviation, see Amanatidis and Friedl, "Science Related to Atmospheric Effects of Aircraft Emissions Continues to Mature," *supra*, note 4, at 15.

flying altitude and flight time, as well as additional factors. Such difficulties do not arise in the context of shipping. A further disadvantage of kerosene taxation schemes lies in their **propensity for evasive action**, at least when they are not applied on a uniform global scale. Regional taxes on kerosene, as for instance introduced in Norway, have already shown that airlines can go to great lengths to acquire untaxed fuel abroad ("tankering"). Due to the increased load then carried by air vessels and the possible detours such tankering entails, these evasive manoeuvres counteract the environmental benefits of the user charge.⁶⁰

3. User Charges on the Use of Facilities (Airport- or Harbour Fees)

Unlike the foregoing models, a user charge imposed on the use of public facilities such as airports or ports is linked to a specific **benefit**. Whenever such benefits are provided by the **state**, an increasingly rare event in the case of – typically privatised – airports, the assessment will occur by way of a **fee** (compensating actual use) or a **contribution** (compensating the opportunity of use). Governments are prevented, however, from levying fees and contributions for the use or availability of private facilities, being restricted to the other forms of user charges available.

As for the **expenditure of revenues**, it should be noted that the provider of the benefits is entitled to the revenues from the user charge. What is more, the permissible level of the charge is constrained by the **value of the benefit** accorded.

4. User Charges on Individual Trips (Ticket Fees)

A **ticket fee** is a user charge imposed by way of a surcharge on the price of passenger or freight transport services, thereby subjecting the use of airspace and the high seas to a payment requirement. Various design options are conceivable: the collection of a flat fee, a staggered hike in the price of tickets, or a distance-based fee.⁶¹ A charge applied to tickets, moreover, allows for a gradation in accordance to origin and destination, for instance to exempt certain developing countries with a strong economic dependence on air travel for tourism.⁶² With an appropriate gradation system, the ticket fee can be designed to be **revenue-neutral** by rewarding ecologically desirable modes of transport with a bonus and sanctioning harmful modes of transport with a penalty.

As a rule, the compensation duty will apply to the **individual** employing the services of the airline or shipping company. A similar duty is also conceivable for freight transports. The advantages of a ticket fee consist in the relatively simple collection and high revenue potential, with a low risk of

The European Commission has projected a decrease in the environmental benefits of a purely European charge of between 35% and 70%, see European Commission, *Air Transport and the Environment: Towards Meeting the Challenges of Sustainable Development*, COM(99)640 final.

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 9.

Landau, Les nouvelles contributions financières internationales, at 84.

competitive distortions.⁶³ For the aviation sector, however, low price elasticity of demand for airline services results in a limited ability to shift behaviour towards more ecologically desirable patterns; likewise, airline carriers have little incentive to invest in more efficient technologies. Intended effects on the behaviour of passengers may be accompanied by unwanted effects, such as the evasive action mentioned earlier, ultimately resulting in potentially higher emissions of greenhouse gases. ⁶⁴

To the extent that a ticket fee is not assessed as a flat rate, it may be calculated on the basis of the **following criteria** or a combination thereof:⁶⁵

- the distance traveled:
- calculated or measured emissions of greenhouse gases;
- the propulsion system of the aircraft or sea vessel; and
- the capacity of the aircraft or sea vessel.

II. Effects of User Charges

While a comprehensive assessment of the effects of user charges is impossible in this context, the following section will draw on aviation to illustrate the **central effects** expected from a user charge on air traffic. Economic models compiled by Wit and Dings have shown that an emissions charge may reduce the emissions of greenhouse gases in the **aviation sector** by 2 to 13% in the mid-term, depending on the specific design. A surcharge of $0.05 \in \text{on}$ each litre of fuel for aircraft turbines could generate global revenues of $\in 13$ to 21 billion, an amount roughly sufficient to cover the estimated environmental costs of $\in 3$ to 13 billion currently incurred by air travel. Changes in the level of emissions are due to an equal degree to supply-side and demand-side adaptations. For the **shipping sector**, in turn, a charge of $\in 0.5$ to 1 for each kilowatt would already generate an adequate environmental response as well as revenues of approximately $\in 360$ to 720 million from European shipping companies alone.

Assuming current global turnover in civil aviation is roughly €330 bio. annually, a surcharge of 5% would raise annual revenues of €10 to 16 bio., see WBGU, *ibid*.

⁶⁴ Cf. supra, C. I. 2.

See, for instance, European Commission, COM(99)640 final, *supra*, note 60, at 15.

Wit and Dings, Economic Incentives to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Air Transport in Europe, at 68.

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 11.

⁶⁸ WBGU, *ibid.*, at 31.

Critics have pointed out that user charges are likely to incur real **environmental benefits** only when assessed on a larger scale, ideally on the global level. ⁶⁹ Nonetheless, even user charges collected on a **regional level** only may incur significant incentives and revenues. For instance, a tax on aircraft fuel of €245 per 1000 litres on all flight routes within the European Community is expected to reduce CO_2 emissions from aviation by 15 Mt. ⁷⁰ In the long run, this would allow reductions of greenhouse gases by 25% to 50%. ⁷¹ A Community-wide fee of €0.32 per litre of aircraft fuel, in turn, would raise revenues of up to €14 bio., ⁷² whereas a fee of €0.20 per litre along with a staggered departure and landing tax would allow for greenhouse gas reductions of 25% to 35% by 2025, coupled with a significant increase in the efficiency of aircraft turbines. ⁷³ Estimates by the European Commission suggest that a uniform ticket fee on air travel of €10 on flights within the Community, and €13 on international flights, would render approximately €6 billion annually. ⁷⁴

Concern about the negative impact of user charges on the **competitive position** of European airlines and shipping companies is largely centred on the question whether foreign competitors will be subject to similar treatment. For that reason, and also for reasons of environmental protection, any user charge should have the broadest coverage possible. Both the environmental benefits and the competitive distortions potentially arising from a user charge are, moreover, strongly dependent on the level of the user charge imposed. Still, the economic burden incurred by unilateral action on part of the European Community should not be overestimated, given the level of the user charge one may expect with the current political background.⁷⁵ For the **shipping sector**, in turn, any user charge would amount to merely a small fraction of current charter rates, and should therefore incur no noticeable drop in shipping volume or negative impacts on employment.⁷⁶ The demand for **air services** in the decisive areas of leisure travel, business travel, and freight transportation, in turn, is subject to very low price and substitution elasticity; accordingly, an increase in the price of air travel would have only moderate effects on the demand for flights.⁷⁷ Additionally, fuel consumption

See, *e.g.*, European Commission, COM(99)640 final, *supra*, note 60, at 13 *et seq.*, highlighting the limited environmental benefits of a taxation scheme for aircraft fuel introduced on the Community-level only.

European Commission, Communication to the European Parliament, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – Taxation of Aircraft Fuel, COM(2000)110 final, at 4.

Brockhagen and Lienemeyer, *Proposal for a European Aviation Charge*, at 54-55; Bleijenberg and Wit, *A European Environmental Aviation Charge – Feasibility Study*.

Brockhagen and Lienemeyer, *ibid.*, at 44; as the Commission has stated, however, a fuel tax of €330 per 1000 litres – the minimum rate under the energy tax directive – would roughly yield €6 to 7 bio., depending on the elasticity of demand for aviation services, see European Commission, *New Sources of Financing for Development: A Review of Options*, SEC(2005) 467, at 13 *et seq.*

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 11.

European Commission, SEC(2005) 467, *supra*, note 72, at 14.

⁷⁵ Cf. *supra*, A. II. 4.

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 31.

⁷⁷ WBGU, *ibid.*, at 10.

currently amounts for a mere 15% of the overall costs of air travel,⁷⁸ so that the introduction of an intra-Community kerosene tax would result in a loss of income of 0.5% to 7% for each kilometre ton.⁷⁹ The political discussion, however, will have to take into account that rising levels of user charges lead to stronger behavioural adaptation and have a greater impact on demand. Reliable long-term calculations of the effects of user charges are currently not available.

As increased costs will almost exclusively be passed on to passengers by way of higher travel fares, the **profit margins** in the airline industry will remain largely unchanged. Nonetheless, rising airfares may ultimately impact the growth of the airline industry, which – in the case of a user charge imposed on European airspace only – might place the European airline industry at a disadvantage. Even then, however, European airline carriers would only suffer a reduction in market growth by 1.7%, assuming a charge of \leq 50 per tonne of CO_2 . Rather than an additional economic burden, the improvements in the environmental performance of aircraft incurred by a system of incentives (for instance with more efficient propulsion systems and aircraft designs, or more efficient routing systems) may be considered an overall improvement in efficiency. What is more, slower growth of the affected airline markets would be compensated by increased activity in other sectors. Likewise, the effects on other economic sectors, such as tourism, are limited: in the Mediterranean states, for example, the introduction of a user charge would result in a drop in tourism of merely 0.01% to 0.15% annually. With airfares only constituting a part of the overall price of travel packages, the effects of a ticket fee of up to \leq 40 are negligible.

III. Use of Revenues

Various **applications** have been suggested for the revenues incurred by user charges. Against the background of growing environmental problems arising from air and sea travel as well as perpetually constrained public budgets, an expenditure of revenues aimed at countering these problems and ensuring a more effective protection of global environmental goods has been among the favoured options.

The German Advisory Council on Global Change (Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesregierung Globale Umweltveränderungen, WBGU), for instance, has proposed earmarking

According to IATA calculations cited by Caroline Lucas, MdEP, in a speech on October 11, 2000, available at: http://www.carolinelucasmep.org.uk/speeches/iata_fuel_trade_meeting.html; these figures vary considerably, however, and depend on several factoCase See, also, WBGU, *Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter*, at 10, according to which fuel costs amount to 10-25% of overall operating costs, and Brosthaus et al., *Maβnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs*, at 102, who estimate the cost of fuel and lubricants relative to overall costs of scheduled airlines at 12,8 %.

European Commission, COM(2000)110 final, *supra*, note 70, at 4.

Wit and Dings, Economic Incentives to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Air Transport in Europe, at 76.

Brockhagen and Lienemeyer, *Proposal for a European Aviation Charge*, at 9.

Wit and Dings, Economic Incentives to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Air Transport in Europe, at 9, 79.

European Commission, New Sources of Financing for Development: A Review of Options, SEC(2005)467, at 14.

revenues from user charges on the use of airspace and oceans for the restoration or preservation of the global climate and the global seas.⁸⁴ Revenues yielded by the **aviation sector** should be applied to a reduction of greenhouse gas emissions as well as – in a secondary step – to measures for the adaptation to climate change.⁸⁵ The income from user charges on the use of the **oceans**, in turn, should be expended for an improved environmental performance of the global trade fleet and for the remediation of damage to the marine environment.⁸⁶

By calling for an application of revenues to purposes outside of aviation and shipping, such proposals differ from suggestions to strictly tie spending **to the respective transport sector**. The **International Civil Aviation Organization** (ICAO), for instance, has recommended using the revenues generated by user charges within the aviation sector to reduce the environmental impact of aircraft, e.g. by promoting research and development of more efficient propulsion technologies.⁸⁷

Recently, however, the political discussion has shifted towards applying income generated by user charges for purposes of **development aid**. The ambitious **Millennium Development Goals** adopted by the United Nations on September 8, 2000,⁸⁸ call for new sources of revenues.⁸⁹ Aside from various new types of taxes, for instance on trade in arms or transboundary financial transactions, pertinent studies have also suggested charges for the use of environmental goods.⁹⁰ Revenues from such instruments could largely or entirely serve to reduce poverty in developing countries, for instance by feeding an International Financing Facility (IFF).⁹¹ With the European Council already endorsing a closer analysis of innovative sources of financing for development aid at its summit in Barcelona on March 14, 2002, the Commission recently submitted a document containing an evaluation of various options.⁹²

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 18, 32.

⁸⁵ WBGU, *ibid.*, at 18.

WBGU, *ibid.*, at 32 et seq.

ICAO, Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, adopted by the Council on 9 December 1996 at the 16th meeting of its 149th session, *lit.* 4, available at: http://www.icao.int/icao/en/env/taxes.htm.

Millennium Declaration of the United Nations, adopted by the General Assembly at the 8th Plenary Meeting, New York, September 8, 2000, United Nations General Assembly Resolution (UNGA Res.) UN Doc. A/Res/55/2 of September 18, 2000; in this declaration, 189 states committed themselves to reducing extreme poverty in its most important manifestations by 2015, an objective further specified through eight Millennium Development Goals.

See, *e.g.*, the International Conference on Financing for Development (UNFfD), held from March 18 to 22, 2002, in Monterrey, Mexico ("Monterrey Consensus"), UN Doc. A/CONF.198/3.

For a summary of individual proposals, see European Commission, SEC(2005) 467, *supra*, note 72, at 12 *et seq.*

For instance, the International Financing Facility (IFF) proposed by the United Kingdom, see Landau, *Les nouvelles contributions financières internationales*, at 43 *et sqq*.

European Commission, SEC(2005) 467, *supra*, note 72, *passim*.

Occasionally, a further option for the use of revenues has been suggested: the income may be accrued to the **regular budget** so as to reduce the costs of employment and other public burdens. Proponents of this approach expect a reduced impact on the competitiveness of affected economic sectors as well as positive effects on the labour market, ultimately improving the political acceptability of user charges with the public.⁹³

Part 2: General Requirements for User Charges on Aviation and Shipping

A. Preliminary Remarks: The Relevance of Law (Epiney/Hofstötter)

As stated earlier,⁹⁴ when analysing the legal framework for user charges on aviation and shipping, a distinction can be made between general and sectoral requirements. **General requirements** are equally relevant for air and sea traffic as they apply irrespective of the affected transport sector. Primarily, such requirements are constitutional in nature,⁹⁵ with two separate "categories" discernible:

- issues of **legal competence** relate to the authority of a particular polity to introduce user charges, with consideration given to different design options. Such issues predominantly arise within the ambit of European Community and national law, with various aspects conditional on the purpose of the user charges, their substantive design and, on a general level, the collection and expenditure of revenues.
- **substantively**, general requirements can also impose constraints on the legal design of user charges, with particular importance accruing to fundamental guarantees and basic rights.

Moreover, it bears noting that these requirements can gain importance in various ways, depending on which level the user charges are introduced. The following analysis will be limited to public international law, European Community law and German domestic law:

A user charge introduced on the **international level** – primarily by way of an international treaty⁹⁶ – can be designed without consideration for the provisions of Community and national law, given that the subjects of international law are not bound by supranational or national law. Still, from a political perspective, the separate question arises whether it would be expedient for the EC or Germany to ratify an international treaty whose substance is at

In a material sense; thus, the following study will address constitutional issues on all three regulatory levels: public international law, European Community law and domestic constitutional law.

Cf., *e.g.*, European Environmental Bureau (EEB), Friends of Nature International (FNI), Friends of the Earth Europe (FoEE), and European Federation for Transport and Environment (T&E), Joint Press Release of April 8, 2005, available at: http://www.t-e.nu/docs/Press/2005/2005-04-08_joint_statement_ecofin_avaiation.pdf>.

⁹⁴ See *supra*, Introduction.

At present, there are no grounds to assume that an international organization would have the authority fo impose compulsory user charges on its member states without an international agreement.

variance with aspects of domestic law. The answer to this question also depends on the design of the international treaty and the manner of collisions with domestic law.

Clarification is necessary, however, as to whether – and to what extent – the introduction of a user charge must comply with other rules of international law. This raises the challenging issue of the mutual relationship of international agreements (and, if applicable, general international law), ⁹⁷ for which conventional means of conflict resolution provide no satisfactory solution. ⁹⁸ In the context of this study, it bears noting that pertinent rules of international law (notably general international law and the law of world trade) are virtually universal in nature, thus gaining relevance for at least two reasons: for one, it can hardly be expected that an international treaty on user charges would find semi-universal application; from that, it follows that existing international rules need to be observed with regard to non-parties. What is more, it would not be very opportune to design a user charge on global environmental goods without heeding the principal tenets of general international law.

- A user charge introduced on the level of the **European Community**, in turn, must comply with international law, as international agreements concluded by the Community are an integral part of Community law, and the Community is otherwise bound by customary law. 99 Additionally, the largely general requirements of primary Community law need to be observed, since a user charge would be introduced by way of secondary law. New secondary rules need not respect existing secondary law, however, given that both originate on the same regulatory plane. Nonetheless, the Community legislator may find it advisable to adapt new instruments to the framework of existing rules, particularly when these instruments affect fundamental rules of the policy area they are being embedded in. "Compliance" with secondary law is thus a (political) consideration for the Community legislator.
- The introduction of a user charge on the **domestic plane** calls for observance of the entire body of applicable rules in international and European Community law, with the exception of organisational rules such as those frequently encountered in Community law, for instance the provisions relating to the legislative powers of the Community. Additionally, with the introduction occurring by way of a statute, constitutional requirements need to be respected.

Against said backdrop, the following sections will address the legal rules governing the introduction of user charges on the use of airspace and oceans, distinguishing requirements under international

With a view to the relationship of international environmental agreements to other international treaty regimes, see *Falke*, ZEuS 2000, 307 *et sqq*.; *Biermann*, ArchVR 2000, 455 *et sqq*. See generally, *Sadat-Akhavi*, Methods of Resolving Conflicts between Treaties, *passim*.

See, generally, International Law Commission, Study on the Function and Scope of the Lex Specialis Rule and the Question of 'Self-Contained Regimes', UN Doc. ILC(LVI)/SG/FIL/CRD.1/Add.1 (2004).

⁹⁹ *Cf.* with further references *Epiney*, EuZW 1999, 5 *et sqq*.

(B.), Community (C.) and domestic (German) (D.) law. The analysis draws on the wide **concept of user charges** set out in the introduction.

B. International Law (Ecologic)

I. General International Law

With regard to the implementation of user charges with application to a particular territory and group of users, it is crucial to determine whether, as a matter of general international law, the collecting entity – regularly a state or group of states – possesses the legal authority to introduce the user charge. On which territory and against which group of addressees may a user charge be imposed, and what basis may states rely on for the calculation of the user charge? Spatially, public international law distinguishes between areas subject to the territorial sovereignty of states and territory not subject to the sovereignty of any state or states and which possesses a special status, that is: the *res nullius* and the *res communis*. ¹⁰⁰ The **territorial sovereignty** of a state applies to that part of the earth's surface physically delimited from the territory of other states and common spaces by national boundaries, including the air and water surfaces within these boundaries, as well as the territorial subsoil and the airspace above the earth's surface. ¹⁰¹ Within its territory, a state exercises the supreme, and normally exclusive, authority. ¹⁰² Exceptions from this general principle, if any, will arise from other provisions of public international law, notably international agreements.

In effect, territorial sovereignty comprises the right of states to exercise state authority within their territory, thus manifesting the sovereign capacity of that state. Based on this territorial sovereignty, thus, states have the authority to regulate events within their state territory, also with effect for foreign persons and objects entering their state territory. Subject to subsequent commitments entered under international law, states have **unconditional jurisdiction** within their territory, including judicial, legislative, and administrative competence. However, this authority which, in principle, is unconditional, is limited to the state territory.

Brownlie, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 105.

See generally *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/1, 380 *et sqq*.; *Doehring*, Völkerrecht, 2nd ed., § 2 Annot. 95 *et sqq*.; a more detailed definition of state territory with a view to the *res communis* of the High Seas can be found *infra*, Part 3, A.I. and B.I.

Jennings/Watts, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 564.

Seidl-Hohenveldern, Völkerrecht, 10th ed., Annot. 1113 et seq.

This tenet is expressed by the legal precepts *Quidquid est in territorio, est etiam de territorio* and *Quid in territorio meo est, etiam meus subditus est*, see *Jennings/Watts*, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. 1, 564.

See *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 297.

Doehring, Völkerrecht, 2nd ed., § 16 Annot. 808.

At the same time, the territorial sovereignty of states results in a general prohibition of measures taken in the territory of another state without their consent, ¹⁰⁷ also known as the principle of non-intervention in the internal affairs of other states. ¹⁰⁸ In other words, states are prevented from imposing **unilateral measures** beyond their own territory on nationals of another state. ¹⁰⁹ Under this principle, no state would be permitted to introduce a user charge outside its own territory, unless the duty to pay is exclusively applied against its own nationals. **Exceptions** to this rule exist, although their precise scope and requirements are not entirely clear and subject to debate. For instance, **nationality**, as a mark of allegiance and an aspect of sovereignty, is also recognised as a basis for jurisdiction of a state over extraterritorial acts of its own nationals, although it does not release from the duty to observe the law of the foreign state. ¹¹⁰ Primarily in the context of grave criminal offences, a number of states have adopted a **principle of universality** allowing jurisdiction over acts of non-nationals as a matter of international public policy. ¹¹¹ Finally, several states have recognised a **principle of effectiveness**, pursuant to which states should be entitled to defend their national interests by way of extra-territorial acts – also against foreign states – under exceptional circumstances. ¹¹² Invoking this latter principle, for instance, the United States sought an

_

Jennings/Watts, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 564: "The importance of state territory is that it is the space within which the state exercises its supreme, and normally exclusive, authority"; see also Brownlie, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 306; Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/1, 332; Seidl-Hohenveldern, Völkerrecht, 10th ed., Annot. 1504.

Brownlie, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 309.

An earlier statement by the Permanent Court of International Justice to the effect that public international law contained no prohibition of extra-territorial jurisdiction ("[f]ar from laying down a general prohibition to the effect that States may not extend the application of their laws and the jurisdiction of their courts to persons, property and acts outside their territory, it leaves them in this respect a wide measure of discretion which is only limited in certain cases by prohibitive rules; as regards other cases, every State remains free to adopt the principles which it regards as best and most suitable." PCIJ – France v. Turkey, P.C.I.J. [1927] (Ser. A) Nr. 10, 18 et seq.) has since been largely a revoked by the International Court of Justice, see inter alia the Nottebohm-case, ICH, Liechtenstein v. Guatemala, Second Phase, Judgment, I.C.J. reports 1955, Rep 4.

See *Doehring*, Völkerrecht, 2nd ed., § 16 Annot. 811, for discussion of this *active nationality principle*; in penal law, the existence of a *passive nationality principle* is also occasionally affirmed, allowing states to regulate the behaviour of foreigners on foreign territory, although such a principle is highly contested in international law and would – if at all – apply to cases of particular urgency, e.g. a violation of fundamental state interests or the protection of nationals, by virtue of the protective principle, see *Oxman*, EPIL, Vol. 3, 58; critical in this regard *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 299 *et sqq*. In the *Lotus*-case, the Permanent Court of International Justice had still assumed a permissive international order and ruled in favour of extraterritorial acts of domestic criminal law, see PCIJ – *France v. Turkey*, P.C.I.J. [1927] (Ser. A) Nr. 10, 20.

Brownlie, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 303.

Doehring, Völkerrecht, 2nd ed., § 16 Annot. 823 *et sqq*.; regarding the limited recognition, for instance by the United Kingdom, see *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 302 *et seq*. and, with a view to enforcement measures, 307 *et seq*.

extraterritorial effect of domestic provisions on the protection of endangered species, ¹¹³ although they never sought to enforce any measures abroad, instead merely drawing on circumstances abroad for the application of domestic law. ¹¹⁴

These exceptions **cannot be directly applied** to the extraterritorial introduction and enforcement of a user charge, given that user charges possess no penal aspects whatsoever, and no immediate threat to the international community is apparent. Still, because climate change and the pollution of the global atmosphere are transboundary phenomena and will thus affect any state intending to introduce a user charge, the foregoing **effectiveness principle** might serve as the basis for measures linked to circumstances abroad. The existence of an international climate regime underscores the threat posed to the interests of individual states by the greenhouse effect. Even though **enforcement measures** on foreign soil – being the most severe infringement of the territorial sovereignty of a foreign state – are likely to remain illegal, including, notably, the administration required to collect a user charge, current state practice – for instance that of the United States¹¹⁵ – would seem to imply that mere reference to circumstances originating on foreign territory is not ruled out. Accordingly, it would be conceivable to impose a domestic user charge on arriving or departing vessels based on a calculation covering emissions, the distance traveled or the fuel consumed on foreign territory.

Such cases will, however, require observance of certain **principles** devised for sovereign measures with extraterritorial effect. Notably, they will necessitate a relevant connection between the object of the measure and the state adopting it; due to the departure and arrival of vessels in the collecting state as well as the global scope of environmental damage resulting from air and sea traffic, which causes non-local deterioration affecting all states, such a connection is likely to exist in the case of user charges. Moreover, the assessing state must give consideration to the principle of non-intervention in the internal affairs of foreign states, and take measures on the basis of the principles of proportionality and mutual consideration. Otherwise, the reliance on circumstances within foreign territory will in all likelihood be considered a violation of the *ordre public* of affected states. The importance of a sufficiently wide calculation

For a summary of the facts, see the Panel Reports in the following disputes before the WTO dispute settlement mechanism: *United States – Restrictions on Imports of Tuna*, not adopted, WT/DS21/R 39S/155, Panel Report, 3 September 1991, and *United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products* (United States – Shrimp Products), WT/DS58/R, Panel Report, 15 May 1998.

The foregoing disputes touching upon environmental considerations arose over import restrictions for marine products caught with certain fishing methods entering the U.S. market, and thus involved no enforcement measures beyond United States territory; see *Hunter/Salzman/Zaelke*, International Environmental Law and Policy, 2nd ed., 1436 *et sqq*.

In the aforementioned case concerning an import prohibition for shrimp and shrimp products, the WTO Appellate Body ultimately ruled that the United States, having strived for a multilateral solution, was allowed to make the import of said products conditional on certain fishing methods applied beyond its territory, see *United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products* (United States – Shrimp Products, Recourse to Art. 21.5), Report of the Appellate Body on Article 21.5, WT/DS58/AB/RW, 22 October 2001, Annot. 153.

On this issue, see generally *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 6th ed., 308 *et sqq*., with further references.

Doehring, Völkerrecht, 2nd ed., § 2 Annot. 93 et sqq.

basis for the behavioural effects and the revenue-raising potential of a user charge, however, the reliance on circumstances beyond the sovereign territory of the collecting state is likely to be held proportional to the environmental objective. Mutual consideration, in turn, could be ensured by performing consultations prior to the introduction of the user charge, and by ensuring a high level of transparency throughout the entire process.

Assessing user charges against the **nationals of a state** beyond the sovereign territory of that state, in turn, will hardly produce any benefits and also incur an unreasonable level of administrative effort.

Within the **European Community**, individual Member States can adopt legal measures aimed at the introduction of a user charge within their own territory, whereas the Community – as a supranational entity – may pass legislation binding on all Member States within the purview of its legal competences. Whenever a user charges is to be linked to circumstances in the territory of third states, however, this ample scope of discretion is curtailed. While such a linkage – for instance to the distance traveled of the fuel consumed in foreign airspace – is not, in principle, excluded, it will need to comply with the principles mentioned earlier. No difficulties arise, of course, if the measure is adopted with the **approval** of the foreign state, for instance through an international treaty. An altogether different situation applies to user charges adopted in the *res nullius* and the *res communis*, that is, in the airspace beyond national boundaries and in the High Seas, as these areas are not subject to the territorial sovereignty of any state. ¹¹⁸

The requirements arising from territorial sovereignty and the general ban on extra-territorial enforcement measures affect **all options for the design** of user charges. Legal obstacles may thus arise whenever user charges are imposed in such a manner as to have an effect beyond the sovereign territory of the collecting state, or if they are calculated by recourse to foreign circumstances without consulting or involving the affected third states. Moreover, in all cases – in particular with a view to *res nullius* and *res communis* – the framework of international, European Community and domestic law needs to be observed, as these contain a number or relevant provisions.¹¹⁹ To that effect, one may distinguish the following cases:

- The international principle of territorial sovereignty does not rule out a user charge introduced exclusively **within domestic territory**. Relevant rules of public international law, European Community law and domestic law need to be observed, however. 120
- User charges based on the use of facilities or the enjoyment of services within the collecting state, for instance through a benefit tax or special public charge in return for services, do not infringe on the prohibition of extraterritorial legislation and enforcement measures, given that they involve no sovereign measures. A different situation arises if states seek to

See *infra*, Part 3, A.I. and B.I.

Cf. infra, Part 3.

See *infra*, Part 3.

introduce a user charge on facilities or services rendered on foreign territory, and perhaps even collect them abroad. Due to the territorial sovereignty of the affected foreign states, their relevant provisions apply, ruling out the introduction of such a user charge without the approval of said states. In *res nullius* and *res communis* areas, special rules apply; these are outlined below in the sectoral chapters.¹²¹

- All other models of user charges with extraterritorial effect may only be introduced subject to the approval of the states whose sovereign territory is affected. For, while nationals of the collecting state may be included within the scope of a user charge even when abroad due to the nationality principle, that state may not assess a charge against foreign passengers or air and sea vessels abroad in the absence of exceptional circumstances. If the foreign state refuses to allow the collection of a user charge within its sovereign territory, its sovereignty precludes the user charge. This does not apply to user charges merely based on circumstances occurring in the foreign state, for instance emissions discharged within foreign airspace or fuel consumed abroad. Provided the principles described earlier are respected, such designs should be admissible.
 - (1) Under general international law, a user charge on **fuel** consumed and purchased abroad can be imposed within the territory of the assessing state, but not be collected offhand beyond the territorial boundaries of that state without the approval of affected third states. At any rate, the unilateral enforcement of the user charge without foreign approval can only occur on domestic territory. A charge on fuel consumed during international air traffic poses difficulties, given that in the case of foreign debtors only the fuel consumed after entry into the territory of the collecting state clearly falls within the purview of that state's sovereignty. A design merely linking the user charge to fuel consumed beyond the territorial boundaries of the collecting state is not inadmissible *per se*, however, provided it complies with the principle of proportionality. Due to the importance of a sufficiently ample calculation basis for the achievement of the objectives of the user charge, that is, to influence behaviour and generate revenue, the measure is likely to be proportional.
 - (2) By virtue of the international principle of territorial sovereignty, a **distance-** or **emissions-based charge** assessed on distances traveled or emissions discharged within the territory of the collecting state is always permissible. Under observance of the principles mentioned above, moreover, a calculation taking into account distances traveled or emissions discharged abroad is also permissible.
 - (3) **Ticket fees** imposed on passengers or transport carriers as the debtors are again subject to the primacy of territorial sovereignty. Due to the nationality principle, however, the sovereign authority of a state over its nationals can also extend to foreign territory, offering

¹²¹

an opportunity to assess a user charge against nationals engaged in air or sea travel abroad. The introduction of such a user charge would hardly appear expedient, however, given that it would generate little income and incur substantial monitoring costs as a result of the ban on extraterritorial enforcement measures. A unilateral charge, in turn, could also be based on circumstances partly occurring on foreign territory, for instance the distance traveled, fuel consumed, or pollutants discharged. Difficulties may arise when ticket fees are collected through **new channels of distribution**, for instance the internet, which allow for the purchase of tickets abroad and thus in states potentially not participating in the introduction of the ticket fee. In such cases, the foregoing principles of customary international law relating to enforcement measures would prevent collecting the ticket fee without the endorsement of the affected states. A viable solution would consist in imposing the ticket fee on the act of departure or arrival, not on the purchase of a ticket.

II. World Trade Law

Established on 1 January 1995, the **World Trade Organization** (WTO)¹²² monitors and enforces the provisions of the multilateral trading system, with the overall purpose of ensuring unrestricted market access and eliminating customs and barriers to trade in products and services. These provisions notably include the principle of **non-discrimination**, which covers the principles of most-favoured nation and national treatment, as well as the prohibition of **quantitative restrictions**.

In the context of user charges on global environmental goods, the question arises whether the rules of international trade apply in the first place. This can only be determined by analysing the scope of relevant provisions in the **General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade** (GATT) of 15 April 1994¹²³ and the **General Agreement on Trade in Services** (GATS) of 15 April 1994, whereupon the ensuing requirements for user charges can be identified with a view to the jurisprudence of the dispute settlement mechanism. Additionally, a determination whether the earmarked expenditure of revenues generated by a user charge constitutes an illegal subsidy and therefore violates the **Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures** (SCM Agreement) is necessary. In the

Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization (WTO Agreement), opened for signature at Marrakesh, 15 April 1994, in Final Act Embodying the Results of the Uruguay Round of Multilateral Trade Negotiations, 33 *International Legal Materials* (1994) 1144.

General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), done at Geneva, 30 October 1947, in force 1 January 1948, 55 *United Nations Treaty Series* (1947) 188, replaced by the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT 1994), opened for signature at Marrakesh, 15 April 1994, in Final Act Embodying the Results of the Uruguay Round of Multilateral Trade Negotiations, 33 *International Legal Materials* (1994) 1153.

General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS), opened for signature at Marrakesh, 15 April 1994, in Final Act Embodying the Results of the Uruguay Round of Multilateral Trade Negotiations, 33 *International Legal Materials* (1994) 1168.

event of a conflict, the relationship of world trade law and an international agreement on the introduction of a user charge has to be clarified.

1. General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS)

Since user charges are imposed on the use of certain traffic pathways and not on the transboundary movement of goods, it stands to reason that, of the various rules on world trade, user charges are most likely to fall within the ambit of the **General Agreement on Trade in Services** (GATS).

Pursuant to its Article 1 (1), the GATS applies to all "measures by Members affecting trade in services." The concept of **trade in services** has been purposefully endowed with a wide definition in Article 1 (2) of GATS, which primarily includes the supply of services "from the territory of one Member into the territory of any other Member." In principle, it comprises all types of services. Even if they only exercise an indirect effect on trade in services, ¹²⁶ measures taken by governmental bodies and other entities with governmental authority are subject to the principles laid down in the GATS, as well as to obligations specifically entered by the Members and included on a separate list.

a.) Application to Aviation

To begin with, the transportation of passengers and freight by way of aviation and shipping constitutes a service. Due to its wide scope, which includes all measures involving the provision of services (and be it only indirectly), user charges on shipping and aviation could be subject to the requirements of this Agreement. Two Annexes to the Agreement, however, contain special provisions relating to air transport services and maritime transport services. Pursuant to these Annexes, all **air transport services** are **excluded** from the substantive scope of the GATS, with the exception of:

- aircraft repair and maintenance services;
- the selling and marketing of air transport services;

As Article 1 (3) (b) clarifies, the GATS applies to "any service in any sector except services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority."

For instance, in the EC – Bananas dispute, the panel affirmed that "no measures are excluded a priori from the scope of the GATS as defined by its provisions. The scope of the GATS encompasses any measure of a Member to the extent it affects the supply of a service regardless of whether such measure directly governs the supply of a service or whether it regulates other matters but nevertheless affects trade in services", *European Communities – Regime for the Importation, Sale and Distribution of Banana* (EC – Bananas III), WT/DS27/R/ECU, WT/DS27/R/MEX und WT/DS27/R/USA, Panel Report, 22. Mai 1997, Tz. 7.285.

See *Trebilcock/Howse*, The Regulation of International Trade, 2nd ed., 270.

Specifically, the "Annex on Air Transport Services" and the "Annex on Negotiations on Maritime Transport Services."

• computer reservation system (CRS) services.

The introduction of a user charge does not affect these services; rather, it would constitute a measure affecting traffic rights or the exercise of traffic rights, and would therefore be **excluded from the scope** of GATS by virtue of paragraph 2 of the Annex. Likewise, the selling and marketing of air transport services would not be affected by a user charge as they relate to the ability of an air transport carrier to sell or market its air transport services freely, including all aspects of marketing such as market research, advertising, and distribution. The "pricing of air transport services" and the definition of "applicable conditions" are explicitly excluded from the scope of the Agreement, moreover, imposing no restrictions on a ticket fee.

Given that the supply of air transport services is excluded from the scope of GATS by this Annex, Members could only be bound by **specific commitments** separately entered under paragraph 1 of the Annex. Such commitments are contained in independent schedules, listed in accordance with issue areas. As the Schedule of Specific Commitments of the European Communities and their Member States confirms, however, **no specific commitments** have been entered in the area of aviation. ¹²⁹ Accordingly, GATS does **not** apply to user charges on air transport.

b.) Application to Shipping

As for **shipping**, a separate Annex states that most-favoured-nation treatment shall only apply to "international shipping, auxiliary services and access to and use of port facilities" following the conclusion of additional negotiations on maritime transport services within the World Trade Organization. Most-favoured-nation treatment requires that any trade benefits afforded to one Member shall be accorded to all other Members.

With a Decision of 28 June 1996, ¹³⁰ however, the Council for Trade in Services resolved to **suspend** the maritime transport negotiations until the commencement of the next comprehensive round of negotiations on the liberalisation of services. With the failure of the Ministerial Conference in Cancún, Mexico, from 10 to 14 September 2003, a conclusion of the negotiations on maritime transport services is currently not in sight.

In the area of maritime transport services, therefore, again only such requirements apply which have been entered by way of **specific commitments** and which are thus exempted from the general exclusion in paragraph 1 of the Annex. In the area of international shipping and port services, however, the European Community has **not** taken on any pertinent commitments.¹³¹ It follows that the General Agreement on Trade in Services **does not apply** to user charges on maritime traffic.

Word Trade Organization, European Communities and their Member States – Schedule of Specific Commitments, WTO Doc. GATS/SC/31 of 15 April 1994, 88 et seq.

World Trade Organization, Decision on Maritime Transport Services, Adopted by the Council for Trade in Services on 28 June 1996, WTO Doc. S/L/24 of 3 July 1996.

See World Trade Organization, Maritime Transport Services, WTO Doc. S/C/W/62 of 16 November 1998, 12.

2. General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT)

a.) Substantive Scope of GATT

Although benefits in the aviation and shipping sectors are to be primarily classified as services rendered, it is conceivable that such services would also involve the **transfer of products** across national borders. This could include the transfer of freight, but also the transportation of baggage for passengers. Since the provisions of GATS are clearly more specific as far as services are concerned, the preliminary question arises whether the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) still applies, or whether its application is already ruled out as a matter of principle. On this question, however, the WTO Appellate Body clarified that – depending on the measure – the scope of both Agreements could indeed **overlap** if the transfer of a good involves a service relating to that particular good. The two Agreements do not, as a matter of principle, exclude each other; consequently, they may both apply simultaneously to the same set of circumstances.

It should be born in mind, however, that any user charge would be imposed on aviation and shipping **as such**, and not so much on the transboundary movement of goods. Its purpose, in other words, would be to subject aviation and shipping to a financial charge, not the transferred freight, even though the latter may provide a point of reference when assessing the user charge. It could therefore be assumed that the introduction of a user charge does not fall within the ambit of GATT. The question then arises whether GATT only covers measures **directly affecting the movement of goods**, or whether it also states requirements for measures with indirect effects. If the latter were the case, it could be argued that user charges constitute a burden on the maritime and air transport sectors and are thus capable of interfering with the free movement of goods by way of

World Trade Organization, Air Transport Services, WTO Doc. S/C/W/59 of 5 November 1998, 2.

European Communities – Regime for the Importation, Sale and Distribution of Banana (EC – Bananas III), WT/DS27/AB/R, Appellate Body Report, 9 September 1997, Annot. 221: "These are measures that involve a service relating to a particular good or a service supplied in conjunction with a particular good. In all such cases in this third category, the measure in question could be scrutinized under both the GATT 1994 and the GATS. However, while the same measure could be scrutinized under both agreements, the specific aspects of that measure examined under each agreement could be different. Under the GATT 1994, the focus is on how the measure affects the goods involved. Under the GATS, the focus is on how the measure affects the supply of the service or the service suppliers involved. Whether a certain measure affecting the supply of a service related to a particular good is scrutinized under the GATT 1994 or the GATS, or both, is a matter that can only be determined on a case-by-case basis."

Thus, for instance, *Brockhagen/Lienemeyer*, Proposal for a European Aviation Charge, 73, note 116; the authors merely assume an exception for taxes imposed on international trade in aircraft fuel, a scenario which does not touch upon the issues addressed in this study.

these means of transportation.¹³⁵ For that reason, the regulatory scope of GATT needs to be specified.

The movement of goods by air or sea does not, in itself, exclude an application of GATT. Article III of GATT states that the principle of national treatment applies to all imported products, and the legislative history of this provision clarifies that this covers **any means of transportation**. Likewise, Article V of GATT, which specifies a general freedom of transit, refers to various modes of transport. Although paragraph 7 of this provision exempts aircraft in transit from its scope, it does affirm the application to air transit of goods, including baggage.

Indirectly effective measures are also covered by GATT. In this regard, Article I (1) of GATT declares its application to customs duties and charges of any kind imposed on or in connection with importation or exportation. This ample scope extends to the method of levying duties and charges as well as to the entirety of rules and formalities in connection with importation and exportation.

Article III of GATT has a similarly extensive scope. Its first paragraph sets out a prohibition against internal taxes and other internal charges, and laws, regulations and requirements affecting the internal sale, offering for sale, purchase, transportation, distribution or use of products so as to afford protection to domestic production. As the WTO Appellate Body has repeatedly confirmed, moreover, these principles forbid both $de\ iure$ and purely factual $-de\ facto\ -$ discrimination. ¹³⁷

Against the backdrop of these ample concepts, GATT is **essentially applicable** to user charges. Consequently, it cannot be ruled out that user charges collected by states would be considered measures for the purposes of Articles I and III of GATT and thus be subject to the requirements thereof, even if they only result in an indirect burden on freight and baggage transportation by air and sea.

b.) Violation of the Principle of Non-Discrimination in Articles I and III of GATT

A violation of the **principle of non-discrimination** contained in Articles I and III of GATT presupposes that the measure in question:

It would appear that the Secretariat of the World Trade Organization shares this view, see *World Trade Organization*, Air Transport Services, WTO Doc. S/C/W/59 of 5 November 1998, 2.

World Trade Organization, Air Transport Services, WTO Doc. S/C/W/59 of 5 November 1998, 2.

For instance, the Appellate Body confirmed in a dispute involving Canada, Japan, and the European Community: "Neither the words "de jure" nor "de facto" appear in Article I:1. Nevertheless, we observe that Article I:1 does not cover only "in law", or de jure, discrimination. As several GATT panel reports confirmed, Article I:1 covers also "in fact", or de facto, discrimination." Canada – Certain Measures Affecting the Automotive Industry (Canada – Autos), WT/DS139/AB/R, WT/DS142/AB/R, Appellate Body Report, 31 May 2000, para. 78.

- confers **advantages** to foreign suppliers that are not immediately and unconditionally granted to all like products originating in or destined for the territories of all other WTO contracting parties (Article I of GATT), ¹³⁸ or
- places foreign products and suppliers at a **disadvantage** in relation to domestic products and suppliers (Article III of GATT). ¹³⁹

As regards user charges on aviation and shipping, the imposition of a charge would have to result in **advantages** for certain foreign providers or the domestic air and maritime transport industries which do not equally accrue to all suppliers in all other Members. That would be the case if a tax on aircraft fuel or shipping diesel were to afford benefits for the transportation of freight and baggage by certain domestic or foreign air and sea transport service providers only.

A user charge introduced on the international plane, however, is not likely to result in such benefits. Even if the user charge were only imposed within a limited group of states, it would **not result in advantages** for the affected aviation and shipping industries. In the contrary, carriers covered by the user charge would suffer an **economic burden** voluntarily imposed by their respective home states with the introduction of a user charge. As a result, carriers in other WTO Members are not discriminated against. Disadvantages much rather accrue to carriers in participating Members, who – it bears repeating – have consciously accepted the economic consequences when introducing the user charge. Such **self-imposed restrictions** do not, however, fall within the scope of non-discrimination under Articles I and III of GATT. Said provisions merely rule out the exclusive conferral of advantages to individual states or groups of states, as such advantages have to be extended to all Members pursuant to Article I and the most-favoured-nation principle contained therein.

Nor are **carriers from third states** subject to the user charge upon entry into the territory of a participating state discriminated against in relation to domestic carriers. After all, the user charge should apply equally to all relevant forms of use, irrespective of the country of origin. If states A and B were to jointly introduce a user charge on aviation

Accordingly, in a dispute involving Indonesia, Japan, the European Community and the United States, the panel stated that: "[T]o establish a violation of Article I, there must be an advantage, of the type covered by Article I and which is not accorded unconditionally to all 'like products' of all WTO Members', Case' Indonesia – Certain Measures Affecting the Automobile Industry (Indonesia – Autos), WT/DS54/R, WT/DS55/R, WT/DS59/R and WT/DS64/R, Panel Report, 2 July 1998, para. 14.138.

On this issue, the Appellate Body clarified that: "The broad and fundamental purpose of Article III is to avoid protectionism in the application of internal tax and regulatory measures. More specifically, the purpose of Article III is to ensure that internal measures 'not be applied to imported or domestic products so as to afford protection to domestic production'. Toward this end, Article III obliges Members of the WTO to provide equality of competitive conditions for imported products in relation to domestic products." *Japan – Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages* (Japan – Alcoholic Beverages II), WT/DS8/AB/R, WT/DS10/AB/R, WT/DS11/AB/R, Appellate Body Report, 4 October 1996, 16.

A potential discrimination arising from the earmarked expenditure of revenues is discussed in the following section on subsidies.

and shipping also covering carriers from state C, the latter would do not suffer disadvantages relative to carriers in states A and B, which would be subject to the same burden. As long as benefits are not afforded to certain states or groups of states only, for instance by way of an exemption clause, the principle of most-favoured-nation is not violated.

Applying the rationale of Article III (4) of GATT, which allows for the application of differential internal transportation charges based on the economic operation of the means of transport and not on the nationality of the product, it can also be argued that the burden incurred by a user charge is precisely intended to reflect the true costs of aviation and shipping in economic calculations. It does not, however, lead to a discrimination based on nationality.

c.) Violation of Freedom of Transit under Article V GATT

To finish, the question of whether the assessment of a user charge against carriers transporting goods across the territory of a WTO contracting party constitutes a violation of the **freedom of transit** set out in Article V of GATT needs to be addressed. Goods, including baggage, are deemed to be in transit when the passage begins and terminates beyond the frontier of a contracting party. Such traffic in transit is **exempt** from customs duties and from all transit duties or other charges imposed in respect of transit by Article V (3) of GATT, with the exception of charges for transportation or those **commensurate** with administrative expenses entailed by transit or with the cost **of services rendered**. All charges and regulations imposed on traffic in transit shall, moreover, be **reasonable**, having regard to the conditions of the traffic. Finally, Article V (5) also extends most-favoured-nation treatment to traffic in transit.

A charge imposed on air and sea vessels engaged in traffic in transit on the basis of fuel consumption, emissions or the distance traveled could, accordingly, face legal obstacles. Given that user charges – with the exception of airport and port fees – are not commensurate with the **costs of administrative services**, but instead seek to assign the costs of environmental damage, they are not covered by the exemption contained in Article V (3) of GATT. The **ample wording** of that provision, which – aside from transit duties – includes all charges imposed in respect of transit and other unnecessary delays or restrictions of traffic in transit, implies that its scope extends to all user charges not imposed in return for services. Accordingly, it applies to distance-, emissions- and fuel-based user charges, as well as ticket fees. It may therefore be concluded that no state is entitled to impose a user charge on flights and shipping routes merely passing from one contracting party to another contracting party via its territory. The right to collect a user charge would, instead, be limited to the country of origin and the destination of the carrier. Charges and contributions imposed on the use of ports and airports, in turn, have to be **reasonable**, which they will usually be if they are commensurate with actual expenses and do not have the effect of a strangling tax. Still, a violation of the freedom of transit may be justified under certain conditions outlined in GATT.

d.) Justification of Protective Measures under Article XX (b) and (g) of GATT

Inconsistency with the duties laid down in GATT does not, by necessity, result in the inadmissibility of the user charge: Article XX of GATT provides for several **exceptions** from the foregoing rules of free trade, for instance if the measure in question is

- necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health (Article XX (b) of GATT);
- relates to the conservation of exhaustible **natural resources** (Article XX (g) of GATT).

The **introductory clause** of this provision, often referred to as the *chapeau*, ¹⁴¹ sets out an additional requirement, pursuant to which such measures may not be applied in a manner which would constitute a means of arbitrary or unjustifiable **discrimination** or a disguised restriction on international trade. Ultimately, thus, the exceptions in this provision amount to a test of proportionality. ¹⁴² Their scope is comprehensive and extends to all duties arising for Members from GATT. ¹⁴³

da.) Requirements under Article XX (b) of GATT

In the course of past dispute settlement proceedings, three central requirements were identified in the context of Article XX (b) of GATT:

- the policy in respect of the measures for which the provision is invoked **must fall within the range** of policies designed to protect human, animal or plant life or health;
- the inconsistent measures for which the exception is invoked must be necessary to fulfil the
 policy objective;
- and the measure must be applied in conformity with the requirements of the **introductory** clause. 144

With a view to the far-reaching environmental impacts of aviation and shipping and the ensuing risks for human, animal and plant health, ¹⁴⁵ user charges – which aim at preventing these negative effects – comply with the first requirement.

See the report of the Appellate Body in *United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products* (US – Shrimp), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS58/AB/R, 12 October 1998, para. 156: "a balance must be struck between the right of a Member to invoke an exception under Article XX and the duty of that same Member to respect the treaty rights of the other MembeCase"

Birnie/Boyle, International Law and the Environment, 2nd ed., 701.

United States - Standards for Reformulated and Conventional Gasoline (US – Reformulated Gasoline), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS2/AB/R, 29 April 1996, 24.

See, for instance, *United States - Standards for Reformulated and Conventional Gasoline* (US – Reformulated Gasoline), Report of the Panel, WT/DS2/R, 29 January 1996, para. 6.20.

A more difficult assessment is needed when establishing whether such user charges are **necessary** measures in the sense of this provision. A measure is necessary if no alternative measure consistent with, or less inconsistent with, the rules of free trade and equally effective is available. Although the measure in question must also be reasonably available, a minor burden, such as administrative difficulties, does not result in an alternative measure ceasing to be reasonably available and the original measure being fully justified. 147

With a view to this requirement, it could be objected that other measures less inconsistent with free trade, such as national and international command-and-control obligations to reduce pollutant levels, are equally effective to protect the global atmosphere and High Seas. To date, however, it has proven impossible to reach an agreement on effective international measures, while unilateral measures – aside from resulting in serious, and arguably unreasonable, competitive distortions for domestic sectors of the economy – would **hardly be effective** in meeting this global challenge. What is more, the Appellate Body itself has declared that measures designed to achieve important common interests are more likely to be considered necessary. Finally, it must be kept in mind that command-and-control measures would not yield any revenues applicable towards environmental or development co-operation purposes; in that sense, too, these measures are not equivalent. Invoking Article XX (b) of GATT for the justification of a user charge is not, therefore, ruled out because equally effective and less inconsistent measures are unavailable.

- In this regard, one is reminded of the impacts of climate change forecast by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), including rising sea levels, altered precipitation patterns with increased flooding, droughts and water shortages, extreme whether events as well as the displacement of animal and plant habitats, including pathogens, see *IPCC*, Climate Change 2001, Vol. 4: Synthesis Report, 59 *et sqq*.
- See, fundamentally, the panel report in *Thailand Restrictions on the Importation of and Internal Taxes on Cigarettes* (Thailand Cigarettes), BISD 37S (1991), 7 November 1990, para. 75: "The import restrictions ... could be considered to be 'necessary' in terms of Article XX(b) only if there were no alternative measure consistent with the General Agreement, or less inconsistent with it, which Thailand could reasonably be expected to employ to achieve its health policy objectives."
- United States Standards for Reformulated and Conventional Gasoline (US Reformulated Gasoline), Report of the Panel, WT/DS2/R, 29 January 1996, para. 6.26: "an alternative measure [does] not cease to be 'reasonably' available simply because the alternative measure involve[s] administrative difficulties for a Member."
- Korea Measures affecting Imports of Fresh, Chilled and Frozen Beef (Korea Various Measures on Beef) Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS161/AB/R, WT/DS169/AB/R, 11 December 2000, para. 162: "The more vital or important those common interests or values are, the easier it would be to accept as "necessary" a measure designed as an enforcement instrument"; if one recalls that protective measures against health risks arising from asbestos were considered to be extremely vital and important by the Appellate Body, the sweeping consequences of climate change should also meet this requirement (see also supra, note 145), European Communities Measures affecting Asbestos and Asbestos-Containing Products (EC Asbestos), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS135/AB/R, 12 March 2001, paras. 170-172.

db.) Requirements under Article XX (g) of GATT

These considerations can also be applied to the second exception relating to the **conservation of exhaustible natural resources**. Under that provision, the measure and the policy in respect of that measure have to serve the conservation of such resources and be made effective in conjunction with restrictions on domestic production or consumption. The 'exhaustible resources' covered by this provision also include large-scale aspects of the **natural environment** such as air. The term 'exhaustible' has to be read in the light of **contemporary concerns of the community of nations** about the protection and conservation of the environment. Taking into account the manifold international efforts to protect and conserve the atmosphere and the High Seas, it can be safely assumed that the fragile and exhaustible nature of these environmental goods is widely recognised.

Applying this consideration to Article XX (g) of GATT, airspace and the High Seas can be considered an exhaustible resource. Earlier decisions, according to which the resource had to be located within the territory of the acting state, have been replaced in newer case law by the requirement of a mere nexus between the protected aspect of the environment and the state in question. International airspace and the High Seas are, by nature, transboundary, and their deterioration affects all states equally; even landlocked states with no access to the open sea have an interest in the environmental condition of these natural spaces as manifestations of a common heritage of mankind. There is, accordingly, no lack of a sufficient nexus between these resources and any states proposing to introduce a user charge.

The requirement that measures under Article XX (g) of GATT be made effective in conjunction with restrictions on **domestic production or consumption**, formerly subject to a strict interpretation, is no longer an obstacle given the recent judicial practice of the WTO dispute settlement mechanism. Accordingly, measures only have to be aimed at the conservation of resources – and not merely have coincidental or unintended conservation effects – while being accompanied by domestic restrictions. This general trend towards greater openness for environmental protection requirements has continued in recent WTO dispute settlement. As repeatedly stated, user charges are specifically intended to also cover the domestic economies of collecting states; their environmental purpose is beyond doubt.

See, for instance, the panel report in *United States - Standards for Reformulated and Conventional Gasoline* (US – Reformulated Gasoline), Report of the Panel, WT/DS2/R, 29 January 1996, para. 6.37: "In the view of the Panel, clean air was a resource (it had value) and it was natural. It could be depleted."

United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products (US – Shrimp), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS58/AB/R, 12 October 1998, para. 129: "The words of Article XX(g) ... must be read by a treaty interpreter in the light of contemporary concerns of the community of nations about the protection and conservation of the environment."

A "sufficient nexus" between the state adopting the measure and the exhaustible resource was held decisive by the Appellate Body in *United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products* (US – Shrimp), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS58/AB/R, 12 October 1998, para. 133.

United States - Standards for Reformulated and Conventional Gasoline (US – Reformulated Gasoline), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS2/AB/R, 29 April 1996, 18 et sqq.

dc.) Requirements of the *Chapeau* of Article XX of GATT

Finally, there is no reason to assume a violation of the **introductory clause** of Article XX of GATT, which rules out measures applied in a manner constituting arbitrary or unjustifiable **discrimination** or a disguised restriction on international trade. As the Appellate Body has stated in a seminal decision, serious and good faith efforts to negotiate an international agreement are necessary to meet this requirement, given that a multilateral approach is preferable from the perspective of free trade. The European Community and its Member States have repeatedly sought to reach an understanding within the International Civil Aviation Organization with the aim of finding a multilateral solution. In effect, the purpose of a user charge on global environmental goods is not to impede **free trade of products** in a manner discriminating foreign states and their carriers. Rather, depending on its design, the user charge is more likely to result in an economic burden for domestic air and maritime transport companies. Even if one were to differ with the legal opinion outlined above and find the user charge inconsistent with the principle of non-discrimination in Articles I and III of GATT or consider it a restriction of the freedom of transit guaranteed by Article V of GATT, said user charge would be **justified** as a protective measure under Article XX (b) and (g) of GATT.

3. Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures (SCM)

While a user charge may not result in a unilateral discrimination, given that it is imposed equally on all participants in sea and air traffic, the **expenditure** of revenues it generates for particular purposes, including environmental protection measures, could in itself result in a violation of world trade law. Depending on the manner of expenditure, it could be considered an **illegal subsidy** for particular areas of the economy. Pursuant to Article 1 of the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures (SCM),¹⁵⁴ a subsidy is a **financial contribution** by a government or any public body, be it by way of a direct transfer of funds, foregone revenue that would otherwise be due and is not collected, the provision of goods or services, or payments to a funding mechanism or private body entrusted with carrying out one or more functions normally vested in the government.

Moreover, a subsidy has to be **specific**, which – according to Article 2 of the SCM – means that it has to be limited to an enterprise or industry or group of enterprises or industries. Finally, the subsidy has to be contingent upon **export performance** or the use of domestic over imported goods. Under these conditions, Article 3 of the Agreement prohibits the subsidy.

See the Appellate Body reports in *United States – Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products* (US – Shrimps Products, Recourse to Art. 21.5), Report of the Appellate Body, WT/DS58/AB/RW, 22 October 2001, paras. 176 *et sqq.*; on the run-up to this dispute, see *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, Annot. 637 *et sqq.*

Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, opened for signature 15 April 1994, 1869 *United Nations Treaty Series* 14.

Regardless of whether the earmarked expenditure of revenues generated by a user charge constitutes a specific subsidy, it can be safely affirmed that the additional requirement, namely that they be contingent upon **export performance** or upon the **use of domestic over imported** goods, is not met in the case of user charges. Even the exclusive expenditure of revenues for the benefit of aviation and shipping would **not** be contingent upon the export performance or the use of domestic over imported goods, but rather draw on other criteria for its assessment, for instance the discharge of pollutants. To the extent that they even benefits individual enterprises or industries, the application of revenues discussed to date would, if at all, be linked to environmental and development criteria, not economic criteria. It follows that the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures does **not** apply to user charges. Neither does Article XVI of GATT apply, given that the use of revenues will not help increase exports are reduce imports of certain products.

4. Summary and Application to Individual User Charges

Although the transportation of passengers and freight in international shipping and aviation amounts to a the provision of a traditional service, the introduction of a user charge in these areas is excluded from the scope of the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) by way of two separate Annexes. This applies to all types of user charges, including **ticket fees**, since the exception also extends to the pricing of air transport services and setting of conditions. The European Community and its Member States have not entered any **specific commitments** which would warrant a different conclusion.

At the same time, the movement of freight and baggage constitutes a **movement of goods** and is thus covered by the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT). As a result, Articles I and III of GATT apply, imposing a general prohibition of discrimination on an ample range of measures, including different types of user charges. Due to the **absence of discrimination** against foreign air and maritime transport service providers, however, **no** design option of a user charge violates the principle of non-discrimination.

A user charge collected by the country of departure or destination will also **avoid inconsistencies** with the older under Article V of GATT. A different situation applies if a country of passage collects the user charge. Such a constellation is unlikely, however, given that a kerosene tax would be collected by the country of departure during the fuelling process, and a ticket fee would be assessed at the point of sale or departure, usually in the country of origin, whereas only the country of destination would typically possess the information required to impose a distance- or emissions-based user charge, namely the distance traveled or the emissions discharged. Even if one were to assume a violation of Article V of GATT, the inconsistency would be **justified** as a **protective measure** under Article XX (b) and (g) of GATT.

Likewise, the Agreement on **Subsidies** and Countervailing Measures (SCM) does not apply to user charges, unless the revenues are applied towards specific enterprises or industries contingent upon export performance or the use of domestic over imported goods. Currently discussed applications, such as environmental protection and development co-operation, do not faced any obstacles. Even a more specific expenditure of revenues generated by an environmentally motivated user charge for the benefit of affected transport sectors, however, would not be contingent upon **export performance** or the use of **domestic over imported** goods.

C. European Community Law

Several questions arise in the context of European Community law, notably: (I.) Does the Community itself have the power to introduce any type of user charge, and if so, what is the scope of that power? (II.) Which restrictions arise from the subsidiarity principle? (III.) Finally, does substantive law – and, in particular, freedoms and fundamental rights – impose any limitations on the introduction of a user charge?

I. Community Power to Introduce a User Charge (Epiney/Hofstötter)

Under the so-called **principle of conferred powers** (Article 5 (1) ECT), ¹⁵⁶ the Community may only act if and to the extent it has been given a legal mandate in the establishing treaties.

When applying this principle, the **nature of the treaties as a "preliminary constitution"**¹⁵⁷ must be born in mind; frequently, they do not lay down "static" duties and powers, but are instead designed to achieve rather comprehensive objectives, thus acquiring a functional and final character. For the interpretation and application of legislative powers, this primarily requires consideration of the aims of integration and not so much of a – somehow or other – defined issue area, with the consequence that every issue area can potentially fall within the ambit of Community law and (some) of its legislative powers..¹⁵⁹ Taken together, these two elements mean that, against the backdrop of the distribution of

On this issue, fundamentally and in depth *Kraußer*, Prinzip gegrenzter Ermächtigung, *passim*; with a summary Calliess/Ruffert-*Calliess*, Article 5 ECT, annot. 8 *et sqq*.

On this issue with further references and giving consideration to the rules of interpretation of Community law *Epiney*, Umgekehrte Diskriminierungen, 1995, 80 *et sqq*.

¹⁵⁸ Cf. e.g. Herdegen, FS Helmut Steinberger, 2002, 1193 (1202); Arnold, EWS 2002, 216 (221).

Cf. on the nature of the distribution of powers in the Union against the backdrop of the final-functional character of the establishing treaties Blanke, in: Die Europäische Verfassung, 2004, 39 (47 et sqq.); Boeck, Abgrenzung der Rechtsetzungskompetenzen, 62 et sqq.; Mosiek, Effet utile und Rechtsgemeinschaft, 92 et sqq.; Beneyto, in: Europäische Verfassungsordnung, 101 (104 et sqq.); see also v. Bogdandy/Bast, EuGRZ 2001, 441 et sqq.; Nettesheim, in: v. Bogdandy (Hrsg.), Europäisches Verfassungsrecht, 415 et sqq.; Dubey, La répartition des compétences au sein de l'UE, 2002, 49 et sqq.; specifically on the jurisprudence of the ECJ Colneric, EuZW 2002, 709 et sqq.; Everling, EuZW 2002, 357 et sqq.

powers between the Community and its Member States, hardly any issue area can be conceivably excluded from the scope of activities of the Community from the outset. 160

The introduction of user charges could be based on several legal bases whose scope needs to first be clarified (1.), before the study can proceed to delineate the different legal bases (2.) and the results can finally be summarised (3.).

1. (Potential) Legal Bases for the Introduction of User Charges on Global Environmental Goods

Against the background of the introductory outline¹⁶¹ of user charges – as understood in the context of this study – and their characteristics, the following legal bases, above all, come into consideration when introducing a user charge: Article 93, 71 (in connection with Article 80 (2)), 175 ECT.

Legal questions relating to the polity responsible for the expenditure of revenues (Member States or Community) shall not be addressed here. Such questions touch upon budgetary issues discussed elsewhere. Distinct relevance, however, for the (distinction of) different legal bases can accrue to the purpose of the environmental user charge (is the purpose primary financial or environmental in nature, or other).

a.) Article 93 ECT (Harmonisation of Indirect Taxes)

Article 93 ECT allows for a harmonisation of legislation concerning "indirect taxation" to the extent that such harmonisation is necessary to ensure the establishment and the functioning of the internal market. Clearly, thus, the scope of this legal basis depends on the concept of "indirect taxes" (aa.) and the link between the measure and the internal market (bb.). Following an analysis of these two aspects, the scope of Article 93 ECT can be assessed with a view to the introduction of user charges (cc).

aa.) On the Concept of "Indirect Taxation"

The notion of indirect taxation cannot be defined against the backdrop of any (specific) national understanding of this concept, but must rather be approached with a view to the object and purpose of Article 93 ECT and the **methods of interpretation** of Community law.¹⁶³

With this in mind, the following elements should prove decisive here:

- by necessity, "**indirect**" taxes are to be understood as an opposite of "direct" taxes; harmonisation of the latter is admissible on the basis of Article 94 ECT. Ultimately, it would seem expedient in this context to base the distinction on whether the tax is assessed against

Cf. already Epiney, EuR 1994, 301 (302 et seq.), with further references.

Supra Part 1, C. I.

See Part 3, C. III.

Regarding the methods of interpretation in Community law, see *Epiney*, in: Die Europäische Union, § 9, Annot. 16 *et sqq*.

income or property itself, or against the **use of income and property**. ¹⁶⁴ Unlike reliance on other criteria, such as tax shifting, drawing on the distinctive characteristic of "indirect" taxation – which obviously is not meant to affect income and property – allows for a conceptually stringent categorisation.

It is, moreover, unclear how the concept of "taxation" should be defined, in particular ¹⁶⁵ as to whether **charges assessed in return for benefits or services** (commonly referred to as fees and contributions ¹⁶⁶) should be included alongside with **taxes levied without any form of consideration or return service**. ¹⁶⁷ On this issue, the case law provides no final clarification. The starting point for an analysis of this issue is the realisation that the EC Treaty – also and particularly taking into account the different language versions ¹⁶⁸ – contains no clear legal doctrine on taxation and fiscal issues, and that, moreover, national conceptions and approaches cannot be directly applied to Community law.

Nonetheless, a distinction can be made between "taxes" and other charges to the effect that taxes are imposed as a payment obligation without individualised benefits or services rendered in return, whereas other charges are collected as compensation for an actual or potential (return) service of some sort; ¹⁶⁹ in Community law, these two categories are complemented by customs duties within the purview of Article 25 ECT.

The decisive criterion, therefore, is the **object and purpose** of the provision and its **systematic relationship** with other provisions in the Treaty (notably Article 95 (2) ECT): the object and purpose of Article 93 ECT is evidently to facilitate harmonisation measures necessary to **achieve the internal market**. In our view, this clearly suggests an extension to

Cf. also Kirchhof, EUDUR I, § 38, Annot. 74; in great detail on this issue, and arriving at the same conclusion, Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 39 et sqq.; Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit, 84 et sqq.; Amend, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 96 et sqq.; Ohler, Fiskalische Integration, 194 et seq.

Altogether, it is largely accepted that "taxes" are payment duties unilaterally imposed by public authorities and accruing to public budgets in some way (this does not, yet, contain any determination on the earmarking of revenues). Taxes are, thus, to be distinguished from other types of enforcement fines and sanctions of a penal nature. On this issue in great detail *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 100 *et sqq.*, 162 *et seq.*

Fees are typically levied for actual return services, whereas contributions merely remunerate a "potential" service. In the case law, see *e.g.* ECJ, Case 18/87, ECR 1998, 5427; ECJ, Case C-11/89, I-1735 (regarding fees); regarding a system of contributions, see for instance Regulation 1101/89 on structural improvements in inland waterway transport, OJ 1989 L 116, 25. *Cf.* at length on the terminology with further references *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der EG, 34 *et sqq.*, 56 *et sqq.*

In great detail on this problematic issue *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der EG, 256 *et sqq.*; *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 83 *et sqq.*; *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 69 *et sqq.*; see also *Kirchhof*, EUDUR I, § 38, Annot. 60 *et sqq.*

On this *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 86 *et seq.*; Schwarze-*Kamann*, Article 93, Annot. 3; *Kirchhof*, EUDUR I, § 38, Annot. 71; in depth *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 78 *et sqq*.

Similarly *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 38 *et seq.*; *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 83 *et sqq.*; at length *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der EG, 50 *et sqq.*

charges imposed in return for benefits or services, given that – depending on the design – these can also affect the functioning of the internal market to a significant degree. It does not appear reasonable to assume that such "special charges" generally affect the functioning of the internal market to a lesser degree than conventional taxes; decisive importance should rather accrue to the design of the taxes and charges than to the existence or non-existence of a return service.

This view is further corroborated by the interplay between Article 93 and Article 95 (1) and (2) ECT. Pursuant to Article 95 (2) ECT, the "internal market competence" of Article 95 (1) ECT does not apply to "fiscal provisions", thus excluding these from the general scope of Article 95 (1) ECT (which calls for the co-decision procedure). The rationale of this provision clearly has its origin in a desire of the Member States not to expose this "sensitive" area to a majority decision. Adding to that, the fact that – unlike Article 175 (2) ECT¹⁷² – this provision does not contain a limitation to measures "primarily of a fiscal nature" further supports a wide interpretation of the concept of fiscal provisions to include "taxes" imposed without return services as well as charges in return for actual services, given that the latter can noticeably determine the discretion afforded to Member States in the "taxation" area. 173

^{..}

With the same conclusion von der Groeben/Schwarze-Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek, Article 93, Rndr.15; Schwarze-Kamann, Article 93, Annot. 3; Lenz/Borchardt-Wolffgang, Article 93, Annot. 8; grundsätzlich auch Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 227 et sqq.; unklar Hof, Straßenverkehrsabgaben, 91; differing Grabitz/Hilf-Voβ, Article 93, Annot. 8; Kirchhof, EUDUR I, § 38, Annot. 72; Amend, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 88 et seq.; Ohler, Fiskalische Integration, 192. Differentiating (albeit not convincingly, if one considers the purpose of Article 93 ECT and the difficulties arising from this approach with regard to the separation of legal bases) Kreibohm, Begriff der Steuer, 163 et seq., who suggests excluding charges in return for services from the scope of Article 93 ECT, but only considers charges in return for services to be charges aimed at the compensation of a "concrete governmental effort". Under such an approach, user charges would, as a matter of principle, be taxes in the sense of Article 93 ECT, given that they impose a price on the use of an environmental good, but not – in all likelihood – a compensation duty for actual state efforts.

Cf. in this regard on the protection of the fiscal sovereignty of Member States as a "Treaty Principle" (although this wording is probably not suitable, given that no "Treaty Principle" is under discussion here, but rather the background of certain Treaty provisions) *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 46 *et seq.*; see also *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 187 *et sqq*.

On this provision, see *infra*. Apparently suggesting a parallel interpretation of Article 95 (2) and Article 175 (2) ECT in all situations, however, *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der EG, 259 *et sqq*.

Likewise *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 89 *et seq.*; *Wolf*, ZUR 2000, 123 (129); *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 227 *et sqq.*; probably also von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Pipkorn/Bardenhewer-Counciling/Taschner*, Article 95, Annot. 55 *et seq.*; differing *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der EG, 260 *et sqq.*, who suggests that harmonization provisions must have "special fiscal significance" comparable to that of conventional taxes. This approach, however, not only overlooks the difference to Article 175 (2) ECT, but also results in significant demarcation problems. With a differing opinion also *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 166 *et sqq.*, who generally rejects including charges in return for services in the scope of Article 95 (2) ECT.

Moreover, a differentiation between charges imposed in return for services and other charges is difficult, with different Member States applying highly divergent conceptions in this regard. In absence of a conceptual determination in Community law, one is inclined to conclude that the reference to fiscal provisions should find a wide interpretation. Consequently, charges in return for services are covered by the exception in Article 95 (2) ECT. If one were two exclude them from the scope of Article 93 ECT, the Community would possess no specific legislative competence to regulate charges imposed in return for individualised benefits or services with a view to harmonising these for the achievement of the internal market. Considering the objective of ensuring the establishment and the functioning of the internal market, however, this approach is unconvincing. Against the background of the internal market objective, therefore, Article 93 ECT will be given a wide interpretation in the sense outlined above.

From this, it follows for the application of Article 95 (2) ECT and – accordingly – of Article 93 ECT that the **purpose** of the tax or charge (revenues, modification of behaviour, or other) is **irrelevant** (to begin with), ¹⁷⁴ since the repercussions on the fiscal discretion of Member States need to be considered irrespective of the purpose and effects. Another consideration in support of this approach is the jurisprudence of the ECJ, which has generally relied on the effect – and not the purpose – of a measure when testing the applicability of Community law. ¹⁷⁵ The purpose of a measure may, however, become relevant when delineating its legal basis from other potentially pertinent legal bases. ¹⁷⁶

Consequently, Article 93 ECT can serve as the legal basis for harmonisation measures, including measures commonly referred to as fees and contributions imposed in return for an individualised, reciprocal benefit or service of some type.

ab.) Relevance for the Internal Market

A second requirement set out by Article 93 ECT – as a substantive parallel to Article 95 (1) ECT – is that harmonisation be "necessary to ensure the establishment and the **functioning of the internal**

Similarly *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 275; *Ohler*, Fiskalische Integration, 193. See also *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 162 *et seq.*, according to whom the generation of revenue must at least be a "secondary objective"; in the case of the user charges, however, that should regularly beat the case.

¹⁷⁵ *Cf. Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 45 *et sqq*., with further references

On this issue *infra* Part 1, C. I. 2.

market". ¹⁷⁷ While this is not an appropriate setting for an in-depth assessment of the relevance to the internal market, ¹⁷⁸ it may be affirmed for our purposes that:

- although the limitation of harmonisation to particular norms in Article 93 ECT may seem to suggest that the Community may only act on the condition that similar provisions already exist within one or more Member States, resulting in a substantive restriction of Community powers. Such a narrow view is problematic, however: Ultimately, it would result in an obligation to "wait" for Member State legislation even in the face of imminent disturbances of the internal market, thereby impeding both an effective establishment of the internal market as well as forward-thinking and innovative legislation by the Community. Against this background, the reference to a harmonisation of legislation may not be interpreted all too narrowly. Consequently, a Community measure may also contain **innovative elements**, provided it serves the establishment of the internal market.¹⁷⁹
- Harmonisation must occur with a view to the establishment of the internal market, which is why the definition of "**internal market**" is decisive for the applicability of Article 93 ECT.

Under Article 14 ECT, the internal market comprises an area without internal frontiers in which the four fundamental market freedoms are guaranteed. Undoubtedly, thus, the internal market includes elements such as the elimination of border controls and the implementation and guarantee of the fundamental freedoms. It has been subject to dispute, however, whether distortion-free competition also falls within the ambit of the internal market. ¹⁸⁰

According to the established caselaw of the ECJ,¹⁸¹ both market freedoms (achievement of the fundamental market freedoms) as well as market equality rights (ensuring distortion-free competition) are covered by the internal market, thereby applying a wide interpretation of the concept, given that nearly all provisions with transboundary effects also touch upon the competitive situation of market participants from different Member States and thus on the achievement of (or failure to achieve) distortion-free competition.

The reference to the time-limit laid down in Article 14 is of no significance. *Cf.*, *inter alia*, *Kuntze*, Kompetenzen der EG auf dem Gebiet des Steuerrechts, 182 *et sqq*.

Cf. in detail von der Groeben/Schwarze-Pipkorn/Bardenhewer-Counciling/Taschner, Article 95, Annot. 7 et sqq., with further references

Likewise von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Taschner*, Article 94, Rn. 33 *et sqq*.; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek*, Article 93, Rndr. 99; *Ohler*, Fiskalische Integration, 195 *et sqq*.; *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 91 *et sqq*.; Calliess/Ruffert-*Kahl*, EUV/ECT, Article 94, Rn. 7; in depth on this problem and with the same conclusions *Kuntze*, Kompetenzen der EG auf dem Gebiet des Steuerrechts, 183 *et sqq*.; a.A. *Kirchhof*, EUDUR I, § 38, Annot. 67; *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 276.

Cf. on the controversial scholarly debate Pernice, NVwZ 1990, 201 (204); Epiney/Möllers, Freier Warenverkehr und nationaler Umweltschutz, 8 et sqq.; Everling, FS Steindorff, 1155 (1163 et sqq.).

ECJ, Case C-300/89 (Commission/Council), ECR 1991, I-2867; ECJ, Case C-155/91 (Commission/Council), ECR 1993, I-939; ECJ, Case C-187/93 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1994, I-2857.

- Article 93 ECT does not require that measures **pertain to products**. ¹⁸² Unlike Articles 90 to 92 ECT, ¹⁸³ Article 93 ECT is clearly characterised by its reference to the internal market, which is both necessary and also sufficient. This view is further backed by the systematic relationship with Article 95 (2) ECT, which excludes fiscal provisions from the purview of Article 95 (1) ECT, thereby resulting in the application of Article 93 or 94 ECT (depending on whether indirect or direct taxes are to be harmonised). Having affirmed that, the substantive requirement of a connection to the internal market which both Article 93 ECT and Article 95 (1) ECT set out should be interpreted in a parallel manner. The object and purpose of Article 93 ECT also suggest this outcome, given that a limitation to measures with relevance for products would also compromise the ability of this provision to achieve its regulatory purpose, namely to allow a harmonisation of indirect taxes impeding the functioning of the internal market. In essence, thus, provided no other legal basis applies, Article 93 ECT allows for the adoption of provisions aimed at the achievement of other fundamental market freedoms (in this context, notably the free movement of services), as well as taxation measures relating to installations.
- The relevance for the internal market must be present with regard to both the "income" side and the "**expenditure**" side; in other words, should the application of revenues also be harmonised, such harmonisation must serve the attainment of the internal market. Only thus can the principle of conferred powers be upheld: if the application were defined arbitrarily and with no regard for the relevance to the internal market, the Community could appropriate powers at its own discretion in countless policy areas on the grounds that the collection of certain taxes had to be harmonised for the establishment of the internal market. Given that, generally, the functioning of the internal market will only be affected by differing fiscal burdens, not by the use of revenues, basing a mandatory application of fiscal revenues by the Member States on Article 93 ECT will regularly not be an option. Instead, such a definition would be incumbent on the Member States, unless a more specific legal basis such as e.g. Article 175 (1) ECT applies. Due to the distribution of powers between the EC and the Member States in the ECT, ¹⁸⁴ this would have to be determined with a view to the purpose of the expenditures.

ac.) Conclusions

Against this backdrop, the scope of Article 93 ECT – which calls for a **unanimous Council decision** after consultation of the European Parliament and the Economic and Social Committee -

Likewise *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 88 *et sqq.*; Schwarze-*Kamann*, Article 93, Annot. 4; vague Groeben/Schwarze-*Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek*, Article 93, Annot. 15; Grabitz/Hilf-*Voβ*, Article 93, Annot. 6.

At length on these provisions *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht, 183 et sqq.

Likewise *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 242.

with regard to the adoption of Community measures for the introduction of user charges on global environmental goods can be **summarised** as follows:

- Based on Article 93 ECT, the Community can only harmonised **indirect** taxes, that is: taxes not assessed against income or property, but against the use thereof.
- The wording "taxation" comprises both taxes *strictu sensu* i.e., payment duties not attached to any return services as well as **special compensation duties** imposed on the provisions of **benefits or services**. Following from this wide interpretation of the scope of Article 93 ECT, it would seem that Article 94 ECT does not apply to environmental user charges, given that a more specific legal basis is available. ¹⁸⁵
- As any necessary and also sufficient condition, moreover, the provision in question must pertain to the **functioning of the internal market** (notably to the achievement of the fundamental market freedoms and the guarantee of distortion-free competition), something that will generally only apply to the harmonisation of the rules on the collection and not on the expenditure of the tax.

In order for Article 93 ECT to apply, however, the measure need not somehow relate to goods. Likewise, it does not presuppose the existence of Member State rules. A contribution to the functioning of the internal market is sufficient.

As a rule, thus, the introduction of user charges will clearly fall within the scope of Article 93 ECT, regardless of whether they relate to products or are imposed in return for benefits or services. That applies to all types of user charges described earlier, ¹⁸⁶ including user charges primarily related to products (in particular, fuel taxes) as well as other user charges, given that Article 93 ECT also covers indirect taxes not relating to products. What is more, such measures will generally be relevant for the functioning of the internal market because of the economic impact of user charges on market participants and the resulting significance for distortion-free competition. Altogether, user charges do not amount to a taxation of income or property, but to a particular usage thereof, ¹⁸⁷ thus constituting an indirect tax in the sense of Article 93 ECT. As a matter of principle, however, Article 93 ECT merely allows for the harmonisation of rules on the introduction of charges, not of rules on the expenditure of revenues. Accordingly, user charges in the strict sense – whose revenues

On the delineation of legal bases, see also *infra* Part 1, C. I. 2. It should, however, be noted that authors proposing to interpret Article 95 (2) ECT extensively and Article 93 ECT narrowly (limiting the latter to charges not imposed in return for services, e.g. *Kirchhof*, EUDUR I, § 38, Annot. 72 *et seq.*; *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 88 *et sqq.*), have to draw on Article 94 ECT for fiscal measures not covered by Article 93 ECT.

^{186 1.} Teil A.

Cf. insoweit auch *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 90.

do not accrue to the general (public) budget, but are earmarked for particular purposes – could not be based on Article 93 ECT.

b.) Article 71 in Connection with Article 80 (2) ECT (Transport)

Given that user charges on global environmental goods are, by necessity, closely related to transport, their adoption at Community level on a legislative power in the transport sector would also appear viable. Article 80 (2) ECT grants the Community the power to adopt measures necessary for the implementation of the common transport policy in the sea and air transport sectors, which are of particular relevance in the context of this study. It follows that the **Community powers** in the areas of **transport by rail, road and inland waterways**, on the one hand (Article 80 (1) ECT), and in the area of **sea and air** transport, on the other hand (Article 80 (2) ECT), are ultimately **alike** in structure. In practice, at any rate, the distinction between different forms of transport should have no consequences ¹⁸⁹ for the scope of the legislative powers. ¹⁹⁰ In the following analysis, therefore, the general competences in the transport sector will be directly referred to also in the context of air and sea transport.

Against this backdrop, it is unnecessary to distinguish between transport by road or inland waterways and sea and air transport when determining the scope of Community powers, a question which would otherwise become relevant for the categorisation of sea ports and airports. In the end, however, it may be advisable to base such a determination on the central purpose of activities or services originating in the ports, and these will regularly relate to air and sea transport.¹⁹¹

Article 80 (2) ECT was amended by the Single European Act to refer to the procedural provisions of Article 71 ECT. Therefore, substantive measures need to be adopted in the procedure set out in Article 71 ECT. The first sentence of Article 80 (2) ECT should therefore be of primary importance for a fundamental determination; ¹⁹² such a fundamental determination will also have to be made with a view to individual measures, given that "appropriate provisions for sea and air transport" are to be laid down; in most cases, this determination will already be inherent to the substantive act of legislation. Somewhat unclear is the passage in Article 80 (2) ECT according to which the Council may decide "by what procedure" such appropriate provisions are to be laid down. The reference to the procedural provisions of Article 71 ECT contained in the second sentence of Article 80 (2) ECT will only retain its purpose and a practical effect if the procedural reference in the first sentence of Article 80 (2) ECT is considered subsidiary in nature, covering only

Zu den Rechtsgrundlagen im Verkehrsbereich ausführlich *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 77 *et sqq.*; *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht in der EU, 45 *et sqq.*; *Epiney*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot.50 *et sqq.*

Cf. von der Groeben/Schwarze-Erdmenger, preliminary remarks on Articles 70-80, Annot. 13; Schwarze-Stadler, Article 80, Annot. 1.

This does not apply to the provisions contained in Article 70 *et seq.* ECT, which are not in themselves applicable to care and sea transport, *cf.* Calliess/Ruffert-*Jung*, Article 80, Annot. 9.

On this issue with further references *Epiney*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot. 41.

Which ultimately grants the power to amend the Treaty to the Council, *cf.* also on the significance of the first sentence of Article 80 (2) ECT von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Erdmenger*, preliminary remarks on Articles 70-80, Annot. 12 *et seq.*

constellations which are not regulated by Article 71 ECT and the pertinent procedures of the bodies. ¹⁹³ Ultimately, this reference would acquire little practical significance.

Article 71 ECT generally charges the Community with the adoption of measures for the purpose of implementing the common transport policy and attaining the objectives of the Treaty in the areas covered by Article 71 (1) ECT in accordance with the procedure referred to in Article 251 ECT (codecision procedure) and after consulting the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. The choice of instrument is given to the discretion of the Community legislator.

Departing from the procedure in Article 71 (1) ECT, Article 71 (2) ECT requires a unanimous decision after consultation of the European Parliament and the Economic and Social Committee for certain areas; these are not relevant in the context of user charges, however.

Since Article 71 (1) lit. a)-c) ECT does not apply to the introduction of a user charge by the Community, ¹⁹⁴ pertinent legislation could only be based on **Article 71 (1) lit. d)** ECT, which allows the Community to adopt "any other appropriate provisions." The regulatory scope of this provision is limited in that it requires the measure in question to be substantively related to transport – a requirement that will regularly be met by the different conceivable types of user charges; in addition, however, the provisions adopted have to be "appropriate". As the systematic relationship with Article 71 (1) lit. c) ECT already shows, this provision must be interpreted as relating to such measures which serve the purposes of the common transport policy¹⁹⁵ and that of the Treaty. "Appropriate", in this context, is to be read as meaning "useful" and "necessary" for the achievement of the respective goal. ¹⁹⁶ Clearly, this affirms that "appropriate" measures in the purview of Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT are not only measures serving the achievement of the **fundamental market freedoms** in the transport sector, given that the provision would otherwise become largely obsolete: after all, this aspect is already covered by Article 71 (1) lit. a), b) ECT. ¹⁹⁷ Rather, Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT also allows for the adoption of **other measures in the transport sector**, provided these are **useful** for the attainment of Treaty objectives. ¹⁹⁸ Because the objectives of the Treaty have been

Thus also Grabitz/Hilf-*Frohnmeyer*, Article 80, Annot. 13, who even describes this reference as an "editorial oversight".

On the scope of these provisions and with further references *Epiney*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot. 58 *et sqq*.

¹⁹⁵ *Cf.* ECJ, ECR 1997, I-4475, Annot. 22 et seq.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 121; see also ECJ, ECR 1997, I-4475, Annot.27, 32, 37, 43.

Which form the legal basis for the adoption of Community measures on the attainment of the free movement of services in the transport sector.

Sharing the same outcome: Grabitz/Hilf-*Frohnmeyer*, Article 71, Annot. 33; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Erdmenger*, Article 71, Annot. 44 *et sqq.*; *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 104 *et seq.*; Streinz-*Schäfer*, Article 71, Annot. 79 *et sqq.*; in this direction also auch (with an emphasis on the wide discretion afforded to

given a fairly extensive definition, the scope of this legislative power is rather wide. Practically no transport-related measure (at least of a transboundary nature) *prima facie* excluded from the scope of Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT is conceivable.

Regarding the pursuit of environmental policy objectives, specifically, it needs to be born in mind that environmental protection requirements must be integrated and implemented in the context of other policies under the so-called **'Integration Principle''** (Article 6 ECT), ¹⁹⁹ with the result that, in principle, even primarily environmentally motivated Community measures may still be adopted on the basis of Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT.

Altogether, thus, Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT enables the Community to pursue an autonomous transport policy, albeit within the general Treaty objectives. Accordingly, the range of "useful" provisions includes e.g. measures to co-ordinate the financing of transport infrastructures, the introduction of a toll system to assign the costs of traffic infrastructures to transport users, and measures to approximate the domestic transport markets.²⁰⁰ Irrespective of the design chosen, the **introduction of user charges** can generally be based on Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT.

Nonetheless, with regard to the expenditure of revenues, it must be recalled that a determination of the **use of revenues** also has to be covered by Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT and thus – provided all other requirements are met – may only relate to the transport sector (for instance the promotion of cleaner transport options). Mandatory application of revenues to other purposes, in turn, would no longer fall within the scope of Article 71 (1) (together with Article 80 (2)) ECT; accordingly, the same considerations formulated with regard to Article 93 ECT apply here, too.²⁰¹

c.) Article 175 ECT (Environment)

In Title XIX ("Environment"), Article 175 ECT is the **legal basis** for Community action to achieve the objectives of Community environmental policy set out in Article 174 ECT. Article 175 (1) ECT is a general power to adopt environmental policy measures (in the co-decision procedure), whereas Article 175 (2) ECT provides for a special decision procedure for particular issue areas (unanimity in the Council).

Substantively, measures adopted under Article 175 (1), 2 ECT must relate to the **achievement of the objectives contained in Article 174 ECT**; the Community has discretion as to the choice of instruments. The Community notion of the environment acquires significance in this context, given that Article 175 (1), 2 ECT *et al.* can (only) be drawn on for such measures which serve

the Community legislator) ECJ, ECR 1997, 4475, Rndr. 23 *et sqq*.; see also already ECJ, ECR 1985, 1513, Annot. 49 *et sqq*.

On the significance of the Integration Principle: with further references *Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 108 *et sqq*.

Grabitz/Hilf-*Frohnmeyer*, Article 71, Annot. 33; see also *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 213 *et sqq*.; ambiguous: Lenz/Borchardt-*Mückenhausen*, Article 71, Annot. 16.

²⁰¹ Supra, Part 1, C. I. 1. a) bb).

Likewise e.g. von Borries, EUDUR I, § 25, Annot. 22.

On this issue *supra Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 3 *et sqq*.

environmental protection. The scope of Community legislative powers is not, however, constrained by this conceptual aspect, as the objectives of Article 174 ECT²⁰⁴ and, thus, the Community definition of "environment" are sufficiently wide. If a measure meets this requirement – that is, if it serves the attainment of the objectives laid down in Article 174 ECT – and other applicable provisions do not state of the ones,²⁰⁵ sent measure falls within the scope of Article 175 ECT and is thus covered by Community powers. Accordingly, no policy area can, *prima facie*, be excluded from the regulatory ambit of this provision; in other words, this legal basis may potentially justify the adoption of measures **in all issue areas**,²⁰⁶ given that only a contribution to the objectives of Article 174 ECT is decisive. That means that **user charges** may also, in principle, be based on Article 175 ECT, provided they serve the objectives of Article 174 ECT.²⁰⁷

This view is confirmed by Article 175 (2) ECT, which mentions policies – such as, for instance, measures concerning town and country planning as well as energy supply – that undoubtedly remain within the powers of the Member States; nevertheless, these can become the object of Community environmental measures, despite clearly not belonging to environmental policy *strictu sensu*.

Given that Article 175 (1), 2 ECT requires different decision procedures, the scope of the issue areas listed in Article 175 (2) ECT²⁰⁸ acquires great significance.²⁰⁹ It requires an interpretation and more detailed definition of the areas mentioned in Article 175 (2) ECT against the background and structure of Article 175 ECT: Article 175 (1) ECT is a general legislative power granted to the Community in order for it to act in pursuit of the objectives laid down in Article 174 ECT in

The wording of Article 175 (1) ECT, moreover, confirms the binding legal nature of the objectives in Article 174 ECT, *cf.* in this regard *Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 114 *et sqq*.

On this issue *infra*, Part 1, C. I. 2.

For a different view, however, *cf. Matuschak*, DVBl. 1995, 81 *et sqq*. (particularly 86 *et seq.*), who starts from a restrictive concept of the environment and argues that Article 175 ECT is a special legal basis which only covers the "core areas" of environmental law. This view does not take into account the extensive wording of Article 174 ECT referred to in Article 175 (1) ECT, no does it do justice to the concept of the environment in the Community; moreover, it does not serve the objectives sought with the introduction of a Title "Environment" into the ECT.

At length and with the same conclusions *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 169 *et sqq*.; see also *Kuntze*, Kompetenzen der EG auf dem Gebiet des Steuerrechts, 209; *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 94; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Krämer*, Article 175, Annot. 26.

Article 175 (2) ECT does not embody a separate legislative power, but merely introduces a special decision process for select areas, see aptly *Matuschak*, DVBI 1995, 81 *et sqq*. When the same author questions whether the Community can base its own energy and land-use policy on Article 175 ECT, however, he is addressing an illusionary problem, for naturally the scope of Article 175 ECT is curtailed by the objectives of Article 174 ECT (as was already mentioned). With a view to the reasons mentioned earlier, *supra*, note 206, a narrow interpretation of the latter does not appear justifiable.

Pursuant to the second subparagraph of Article 175 (2) ECT, the Council may, however, unanimously define those matters referred to in the same paragraph on which decisions are to be taken by a qualified majority.

application of a certain procedure. Article 175 (2) ECT excludes a number of explicitly mentioned issue areas from this general competence.²¹⁰ In case of doubt, however, exceptional clauses are to be **interpreted narrowly**, as this is most likely to do justice to the relationship of rules and exception.²¹¹ As soon as a measure is no longer covered by Article 175 (2) ECT and legislative competences in other policy areas do not state otherwise, Article 175 (1) ECT applies.

In the context of this study, the interpretation of "provisions primarily of a fiscal nature" is of central importance. The ECJ has not yet had one opportunity to rule on this passage. In scholarly literature, however, it is still under debate, 212 with the main point of contention again – as in the case of Article 93 ECT²¹³ – whether such provisions extend beyond taxes strictu sensu, i.e., payment duties not attached to any return services, so as to include charges imposed on the provisions of **benefits or services**. Considering that European Community law has not given rise to a uniform concept of taxation and national criteria may not be directly applied on the Community level, ²¹⁴ one may assume that – despite the need to interpret Article 175 (2) ECT narrowly – provisions of a fiscal nature comprise all payment duties imposed in exercise of public authority. Any interpretation deviating from that applied in the context of Article 93 and Article 95 (2) ECT would not do justice to the common background of these provisions, namely to protect the fiscal prerogatives of Member States. Nonetheless, Article 175 (2) ECT only refers to provisions primarily of a fiscal nature, clarifying that, within the purview of Article 175 (2) ECT, and contrary to Article 95 (2) ECT in this regard, fiscal provisions need not be categorically adopted by unanimous decision. This is where the principle of narrow interpretation of acquires a bearing: as a rule, a provision will only be "primarily of a fiscal nature" when it actually imposes a payment duty independent of any return benefits or services. Charges attached to an individualised return service, in contrast, will regularly – albeit not always – lack the "primary" fiscal nature, given that such charges are generally selective and do not affect the foundations of the economic and fiscal system,

-

Ultimately, this was based on political considerations: the Member States were not willing to introduce majority decision-making for the sensitive areas listed in Article 175 (2) ECT.

This conclusion is shared by *Calliess*, ZUR 2003, 129 (130); Lenz/Borchardt-*Breier/Vygen*, Article 175, Annot. 13; Calliess/Ruffert-*Calliess*, EUV/ECT, Article 175, Rn. 18; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Krämer*, Article 175, Annot. 28; with a different view *Scherer/Heselhaus*, in: Dauses (ed.), Hb. EU-WirtschaftsR, O, Rn. 63. Meanwhile, the ECJ appears to have implicitly subscribed to this view, *cf.* ECJ, Case C-36/98 (Spain/Council), ECR 2001, I-779, paras. 46 *et sqq*. With a very critical review of this judgment *Heselhaus*, EuZW 2001, 213, who censures the ECJ for departing from the wording of Article 175 (2) ECT on behalf of questionable systematic considerations.

Cf. the extensive overview of scholarly positions in academic literature by *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 197 *et sqq.*; see also *Kuntze*, Kompetenzen der EG auf dem Gebiet des Steuerrechts, 207 *et sqq.*

On this issue, *supra*, Part 1, C. I. a) aa).

²¹⁴ Supra, Part 1, C. I. a).

being instead a form of compensation for a "return service". Against this backdrop, it may be concluded that, as a rule, Article 175 (2) ECT covers **taxes imposed regardless of return services**, while it does not cover **charges paid in return for benefits or services** rendered. 216

Incidentally, it is also subject to dispute whether "**provisions primarily of a fiscal nature**" merely has to apply to the individual **fiscal provisions** contained in a Community **measure**, ²¹⁷ or whether the entire Community measure needs to meet this requirement. ²¹⁸ In the end, only the latter view seems reasonable, since Article 175 (2) ECT would otherwise always apply because the fiscal provisions within a measure are by necessity always "primarily" of a fiscal nature, unless they are – as outlined above – imposed in return for benefits or services. Objections against this approach based on the assertion that it would allow the Community legislative to circumvent the procedural requirements of Article 175 (2) ECT by "enriching" fiscal provisions with other provisions are not convincing. In particular, they overlook that, by all means, the Community legislator is entitled to adopt a coherent system of different substantive elements as part of one measure (frequently a more sensible approach), provided it has been granted a substantive legislative power; in such cases, the legal basis needs to be determined by way of a "centre of gravity" test applied to the measure. ²¹⁹ The is no reason not to apply this system to Article 175 (1), 2 ECT, in particular with a view to the narrow interpretation of Article 175 (2) ECT.

It should be noted, moreover, that Article 175 (2) lit. c) ECT calls for a unanimous decision for measures significantly affecting a Member State's choice between different energy sources and the general structure of its energy supply. The inclusion of this issue area in the purview of Article 175 (2) ECT should prevent environmental policy measures adopted with majority vote from influencing energy supply policy, which is, as a matter of principle, left to the competence of the Member States. However, Article 175 (2) lit. c) ECT only applies when the energy supply structure is "significantly" affected. At any rate, that is the case when certain energy sources are rendered unavailable or their availability is constrained. A "shift" between different energy sources will regularly not affect the general structure of energy supply, and is thus unlikely to be covered by this provision. ECT only applies when the energy supparent that Article 175 (2) lit. c) ECT does not apply to the introduction of user charges, given that these do not rule out the use of certain energy sources.

By way of conclusion, Article 175 (1) ECT is a sufficient legal basis for the introduction of user charges are global environmental goods, and it covers all conceivable designs of user charges

²¹⁵ Cf. however the slightly different reasoning – albeit not result – in Epiney, Umweltrecht in der EU, 58.

Sharing the same conclusion, albeit occasionally with slight differences in reasoning, what is apparently the majority view, cf. Müller, Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der indirekten Verhaltenssteuerung, 83 et seq.; Calliess, ZUR 2003, 129 (130 et seq.); von der Groeben/Schwarze-Krämer, Article 175, Annot. 26 et sqq.; Lenz/Borchardt-Breier/Vygen, Article 175, Rn. 13; Breier, EUDUR I, § 13, Annot. 22; Calliess/Ruffert-Calliess, EUV/ECT, Article 175, Annot. 19; differing in views Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben und Europarecht, 225; Kirchhof/Kemmler, EWS 2003, 217 (220 et seq.); Thiel, Umweltrechtliche Kompetenzen, 75 et sqq.; wit the same outcome suggested here, albeit with a different reasoning, Scherer/Heselhaus, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hb. EU-WirtschaftsR, O, Annot. 64 et sqq.; Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit, 205 et sqq.; ambiguous Kreibohm, Begriff der Steuer, 206 et sqq.

Thus in reliance on the wording of Article 175 (2) ECT *Scherer/Heselhaus*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hb. EU-WirtschaftsR, O, Annot. 65; *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 211 *et seq*.

Thus Lenz/Borchardt-*Breier/Vygen*, Article 175, Annot. 13; *Kreibohm*, Begriff der Steuer, 203 *et sqq*., observing that the ECT contains no consistent distinction between measures and provisions.

On this issue, see *infra*, Part 1, C. 2.

Sharing the same conclusion Calliess/Ruffert-*Calliess*, Article 175, Annot. 21a; *Scherer/Heselhaus*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hb. EU-WirtschaftsR, O, Annot. 70.

mentioned earlier.²²¹ After all, what is decisive is that the Community measure serve the objectives of Article 174 ECT. To the extent that this requirement is met and the user charge constitutes a compensation for services rendered, the Community is entitled to determine the application of revenues, although – in line with the objectives of Article 174 ECT – it is limited to applications which serve environmental policy purposes. Any other purpose of earmarked revenues could not be based on Article 175 ECT.²²² Moreover, it needs to be borne in mind that the pursuit of environmental objectives –in the sense outlined in Article 174 ECT – may also consist in the promotion of environmental projects in developing countries, with the result that environmentally relevant measures of development co-operation are not, *prima facie*, excluded as an application of earmarked revenues.

2. On the Differentiation of Legal Bases

The foregoing overview of available Community powers for the introduction of user charges has shown to large number of potentially applicable legislative competences. This raises the question of the relevant provisions for a specific course of action and, thus, of the mutual distinction of these powers. The answer to this question may, in turn, be decisive for the applicable legislative procedure. Moreover, the ability of individual Member States to maintain or introduce more stringent measures under primary Community law differs depending on the chosen legal basis.

a.) Multiple Legal Bases

The first question encountered in this connection is whether the Community may simultaneously base legislative measures on **two or more legislative competences**. In other words, when a measure falls within the scope of different legal bases, may several or all of these be simultaneously referred to for the adoption of that measure?

This question acquires particular relevance in the context of this study, given that – as shown above – all conceivable types of user charges can, in principle, be adopted on the basis of Article 71 (1) lit. d) in connection with Articles 80 (2), 93, 175 ECT.

The **jurisprudence of the ECJ** on this issue²²³ can be summarised as follows:

In a series of decisions, the ECJ apparently assumed that simultaneous recourse to several legislative competences was **not permissible**, for instance when – based on a wide interpretation of the scope of Article 43 ECT –its decided on the relationship of the formal

²²¹ Part 1 Λ

Sharing this view the based on an extensive line of reasoning *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 241 *et sqq*.

Cf. in academic literature on this issue and with further references *Ullrich*, ZEuS 2000, 243 *et sqq.*; *Heselhaus*, NVwZ 1999, 1190 *et sqq.*; see also the overview of case law at *Scheuing*, in: Umweltrecht im Wandel, 129 (143 *et sqq.*).

Articles 43 and 100 a ECT²²⁴, but also with a view to the relationship of Articles 175, 95 ECT.²²⁵

- One may, however, also find decisions in which the ECJ chose **not to exclude** the possibility of simultaneous reference to **multiple legal bases** on the condition that the issue under regulation was "inseparably" affected by more than one legislative competence, without a clear centre of gravity apparent.²²⁶ Withal, the ECJ has also emphasised that such multiple legal bases may not compromise the "essential point" of the respective legislative procedure; in other words, the **legislative procedures** have to be **reconcilable**.²²⁷ At any rate, the requirement of a unanimous decision was held to be irreconcilable with the co-decision procedure and qualified majority voting.²²⁸
- The Court is generally eager to determine the objective **centre of gravity**²²⁹ of a harmonisation measure, and in case of doubt tends to prefer drawing on a single legal basis, ²³⁰ with a twofold legal basis remaining the exception. ²³¹

In cases where the applicable provisions call for **irreconcilable legislative procedures** or contain other substantive differences (e.g. differences in the availability of more stringent measures for Member States, or substantive requirements imposed on the legislation to be adopted), a **twofold**

ECJ, Case 68/86 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1988, 855, paras. 4 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case 131/86 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1988, 905, paras. 11 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-131/87 (Commission/Council), ECR 1989, 3743, paras. 10; ECJ, Case C-269/97 (Commission/Council), ECR 2000, I-2257.

ECJ, Case C-300/89 (Commission/Council), ECR 1991, I-2867; ECJ, Case C-155/91 (Commission/Council), ECR 1993, I-939; ECJ, Case C-187/93 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1994, I-2857.

ECJ, Case C-42/97 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1999, I-869, paras. 38 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-36/98 (Spain/Council), ECR 2001, 829 *et seq.*; Legal Opinion 2/00 (Cartagena Protocol), ECR 2001, I-9713.

ECJ, Case C-491/01 (The Queen/Secretary for Health, ex parte: British American Tobacco Ltd. *et al*), ECR 2002, I-11453, paras. 108 *et seq.*; ECJ, Judgm. of 29 April 2004 – Case C-338/01 – Commission/Council.

ECJ, Judgm. of 29 April 2004 – Case C-338/01 – Commission/Council.

On this issue, see immediately *infra*

ECJ, joint Cases C-164/97, C-165/97 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1999, I-1139, paras. 12 et sqq.; ECJ, Legal Opinion 2/00 (Cartagena Protocol), ECR 2001, I-9713, paras. 22 et sqq.; ECJ, Case C-377/98 (Netherlands/Parliament und Council), ECR 2001, I-7079, paras. 10 et sqq.; ECJ, Case C-491/01 (The Queen/Secretary for Health, ex parte: British American Tobacco Ltd. et al.), ECR 2002, I-11453, paras. 94 et sqq.

Thus explicitly ECJ, Case C-491/01 (The Queen/Secretary for Health, ex parte: British American Tobacco Ltd. et al.), ECR 2002, I-11453, paras. 94; ECJ, Legal Opinion 2/00 (Cartagena Protocol), ECR 2001, I-9713, paras. 23; ECJ, Case C-281/01 (Commission/Council), ECR 2002, I-12049, paras. 35; ECJ, Judgm. of 29 April 2004 – Case C-338/01 – Commission/Council.

legal basis will generally be ruled out,²³² in spite of the more recent case law, which is – at least partially – unclear in this regard.²³³ To begin with, such recourse to two legal bases would result in uncertainties regarding the applicable procedure; simply applying the "stricter" procedure²³⁴ is not a satisfactory solution, given its determination would vary in line with different perspectives. Moreover, such an approach would fail to adequately meet the substantive requirements laid down in several legal bases, adding to the problem of differing options for more stringent unilateral measures. Finally, the simultaneous recourse to several legislative competences would incur a shift, if not even a collapse of the system of Community competences and factually circumvent the principle of conferred powers. After all, the general admissibility of a reference to multiple legal bases would allow for arbitrary combinations of different legal bases, resulting in the "fusion" of procedures. It would also render it impossible to determine the substantive scope of new legislation on the basis of the legislative competences set out in the Treaty. The differentiated system of powers and procedures set out in the Treaty on the basis of conferred powers would be left to the discretion or disposition of the Community organs.

If one applies these principles to the legislative competences potentially applicable to **user charges**, recourse to **multiple legal bases** is not an option. For Article 93 ECT requires unanimity, whereas Articles 71 (1), 175 ECT call for the co-decision procedure; simultaneous application of Article 93, on the one hand, and Articles 71 (1), 175 (1) ECT, on the other, is thus entirely ruled out. Likewise, Articles 71 (1), 175 (1) ECT may not be combined, since Article 176 ECT contains a special authorisation of more stringent unilateral protective measures and is thus not transferable by way of analogy.

b.) On the Criteria for a Differentiation of Legal Bases

Even though recourse to multiple legal bases is thus relegated to exceptional circumstances and would probably remain altogether inadmissible for the introduction of a user charge, it may become

Likewise Scheuing, EuR 1989, 152 (185); Calliess, ZUR 2003, 129 (133); Jarass, EuZW 1991, 530; Middeke, DVBI 1993, 769 (770 et seq.); Kahl, Umweltprinzip, 302 et seq.; see also Epiney, JZ 1992, 564 (568 et seq.); with a divergent view Everling, EuR 1991, 179 (181); Gundel, EuR 2003, 100 (103 et sqq.), who generally holds reference to multiple legal basis to be permissible; see also Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 257 et seq., who affirms the admissibility of multiple legal bases if all relevant provisions result in the application of parallel procedures; likewise Breier, EuR 1995, 46 (51).

²³³ Cf. for instance ECJ, Case C-281/01 (Commission/Council), ECR 2002, I-12049, paras. 35, where the ECJ generally affirmed that, "by way of exception", if it is established that a measures simultaneously pursues several objectives which are inseparably linked without one being secondary and indirect in relation to the other, two legal bases may be simultaneously relied upon. See since the clarification in this regard in ECJ, Judgm. of 29 April 2004 – Case C-338/01 – Commission/Council.

²³⁴ In this sense *Everling*, EuR 1991, 179 (181).

necessary to define criteria for the distinction of the scope of different legal bases.²³⁵ Two problematic issues may be discerned in this regard:²³⁶ the question of a "primacy" of individual legislative powers (aa) and the criteria of distinction (bb).

ba.) On the "Primacy" of Individual Legislative Competences

First, a clarification is needed as to whether certain provisions have a (relative) primacy in relation to other provisions, be it because of their character as *leges speciales* or because the other provisions are to be considered subsidiary norms.

For instance, Article 308 ECT is subsidiary with regard to all other legislative powers. According to the jurisprudence of the ECJ, Article 37 ECT – a specific provision concerning agricultural policy – takes precedence over the general provisions on the establishment of the common market, notably Article 94 ECT. ²³⁷

If one assumes the primacy of a legislative competence in the Treaty, it would always be applicable as soon as a measure falls within its purview, irrespective of whether said measure also falls within the scope of subsidiary norms or the *lex generalis*. Determination of this methodological relationship *in casu* must occur with a view to the object and purpose of the provision and the system of the Treaty, but also, in particular, based on the substantive scope of the legal competence in question. Community law contains no universal rules setting out a general principle guiding the distinction of legal bases in all situations.

Although the distinction of different legal bases may not, thus, be based on the formulation of a general rule, the question remains whether individual provisions take relative precedence (of application) over other individual provisions. Starting from the earlier discussion of conceivable legal bases for user charges, ²³⁸ three groups of problems may be distinguished:

- **Articles 175, 93 ECT** stand alongside with equal status; the Treaty provides no indication for any type of hierarchy or competition.²³⁹ The requirements of speciality are not met, nor

Cf. in this regard the overview of different distinction criteria applied in academic literature and pertinent case law of the ECJ at *Ullrich*, ZEuS 2000, 243 et sqq.; specifically on the case law, see also *Scheuing*, in: Umweltrecht im Wandel, 129 (143 et sqq.).

²³⁶ *Cf.* insofar also *Schröer*, Kompetenzverteilung, 113 *et sqq.*, who arrives at the same conclusion by distinguishing a relationship of "methodological competition" and isolated, parallel competences.

²³⁷ Cf. ECJ, Case 68/86 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1988, 855, paras. 4 et sqq.; ECJ, Case 131/86 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1988, 905, paras. 11 et sqq.

²³⁸ See Part 1, C. I. 1.

With the same outcome *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 276 et sqq.; Müller, Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der indirekten Verhaltenssteuerung, 84 et seq.; Amend, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 109 et seq.; Kuntze, Kompetenzen der EG auf dem Gebiet des Steuerrechts, 215 et sqq.; apparently also Schwarze-Kamann, Article 93, Annot. 12; differing (precedence of Article 93 ECT) e.g. Calliess/Ruffert-Calliess, Article 175, Annot. 16;

are any other indications apparent which would support generally subjecting Article 175 ECT to Article 93 ECT, in the contrary: by explicitly mentioning fiscal provisions, Article 175 (2) ECT clearly affirms that such provisions can, indeed, be based on Article 175 ECT. Then, however, Article 93 ECT is not a specific provision in the sense that it would always be relevant to measures with a fiscal aspect. Against this background, it would seem cogent to see Article 93 ECT as a legal basis primarily for indirect tax adjustments of domestic markets, whereas Article 175 ECT deals primarily with measures that serve to meet objectives pertaining to environmental policy.

This interpretation is supported by the fact that Article 175 and 95 ECT stand on equal footing. ²⁴¹

Moreover, it is worth noting that giving "precedence" to Article 93 ECT because of the prevailing wide interpretation of the internal market ²⁴² would lead to the conclusion that this provision applies in practically all cases of (indirect) environmental charges or taxes, given that competition will be regularly affected and Article 175 ECT would no longer apply; as a result, the first indent of subparagraph one of Article 175 (2) (1) ECT would lose all meaning.

- Ultimately, the relationship between **Article 175 ECT** and **Article 71 ECT** which represents a legislative competence in a particular policy field has to be seen as one of equal footing.²⁴³ It also involves legislative powers aimed at furthering different objectives in different issue areas,²⁴⁴ without any subordination apparent. Article 175 ECT should therefore be seen as an **independent competence** equal to the legislative powers contained in other policy areas.
- Finally, the relationship between **Article 93 ECT** and **Article 71 ECT** requires clarification (with the latter being a legislative competence based in a specific policy area). There is as little evidence for any type of subordination in the Treaty as there is for Article 93 ECT and

for a precedence of Article 175 (2) ECT *Jans/von der Heide*, Europäisches Umweltrecht, 52; Lenz/Borchardt-*Breier/Vygen*, Article 175, Annot. 8.

- With a different view, albeit regarding the legal situation under the SEA: *Breuer*, DVBl. 1992, 485 (494 *et sqq*.); see also *Hilf*, NVwZ 1992, 105 (107 *et seq*.), who starts out by assuming a general primacy of Article 93 ECT, but then suggests a somewhat ambiguous distinction based on substantive powers.
- On this issue *Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 69 *et seq*, who provides further references.
- *Cf.* on this issue *supra* Part 1, C. I. 1. a) bb).
- Cf. already Epiney/Furrer, EuR 1992, 369 (395 et sqq.); likewise Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit, 280; Schwarze-Kahl, Article 175, Annot. 72 et sqq.; disagreeing Calliess/Ruffert-Calliess, Article 175, Annot. 16. The ECJ has apparently taken the view outlined here, cf. ECJ, Joined Cases C-164/97, C-165/97 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1999, I-1139, paras. 12 et sqq.; ECJ, Opinion 2/00 (Cartagena Protocol), ECR 2001, I-9713, paras. 22 et sqq.; ECJ, Case C-377/98 (Netherlands/Parliament and Council), ECR 2001, I-7079, paras. 10 et sqq.
- The equal standing of Article 175 ECT and the legislative powers in substantive policy areas was already suggested by *Vorwerk*, Umweltpolitische Kompetenzen, 90 *et sqq*.; apparently with the same conclusions *Müller*, Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der indirekten Verhaltenssteuerung, 84 *et seq*.; disagreeing *Middeke*, DVBI. 1993, 769 (770).

Article 175 ECT. At issue here are two legal bases in different policy areas (achievement of the internal market on the one hand, and transport policy on the other), and there is no indication that Article 93 ECT would take "precedence" as a legislative power in fiscal matters.²⁴⁵

Legal practice seemingly attests to this trend, as Directive 99/62 (Motorway Tolls), ²⁴⁶ which specifically contains taxation-related aspects, was based on Article 71 ECT. Article 93 ECT was also referred to, although that raises concerns given the divergent decision procedures (unanimity and codecision procedure).

It cannot be argued that the principle of unanimity in Article 93 ECT would be undermined if one followed the foregoing interpretation; for that principle is limited to the approximation of indirect taxes for the achievement of the internal market. That does not change the fact that fiscal measures may be based on legislative powers in other issue areas, provided the conditions for such action are met.

Thus, the different **legal bases** potentially available for an introduction of **user charges** stand on a **"level playing field"**, such that none is in any way subordinate to another.

bb.) Criteria for a Distinction in casu

This raises the question as to how different potentially applicable legal bases are to be demarcated in scope. ²⁴⁷ If the criteria used to this end are to be both feasible and compatible with the Treaty and its systematic structure, one must side with the ECJ²⁴⁸ and assume that the applicable legal basis can only be determined through **objective** factors which are amenable to **judicial review**. Only thus may one preclude the Community legislator from deciding on the applicable legal basis of its own accord, thereby placing the determination of competences and applicable procedures within its discretion.

Likewise Schwarze-*Kamann*, Article 93, Annot. 12.

OJ 1999 L 187, 42.

Cf. the assessment of different views held in scholarly literature and the criteria applied by the ECJ at Ullrich, ZEuS 2000, 243 (255 et sqq.); Amend, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 114 et sqq.; Schröer, Kompetenzverteilung, 97 et sqq.; Kahl, Umweltprinzip, 275 et sqq.; Epiney/Möllers, Freier Warenverkehr und nationaler Umweltschutz, 13 et sqq.

See, *inter alia*, Case C-45/86 (Commission/Council), ECR 1987, 1493, para. 11; ECJ, Case C-62/88 (Greece/Council), ECR 1990, I-1527, para. 13; ECJ, Case C-155/91 (Commission/Council), ECR 1993, I-939, para. 7; ECJ, Case C-70/88 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1991, I-4529, para. 9; ECJ, Case C-187/93 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1994, I-2857, para. 17; ECJ, Joined Cases C-164/97, C-165/97 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1999, I-1139, para. 12 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Opinion 2/00 (Cartagena Protocol), ECR 2001, I-9713, paras. 22 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-377/98 (Netherlands/Parliament and Council), ECR 2001, I-7079, annot. 10 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-491/01 (The Queen/Secretary for Health, ex parte: British American Tobacco Ltd. *et al.*), ECR 2002, I-5463, paras. 94 *et sqq.*; see already ECJ, Case 68/86 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1988, 855, paras. 4 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case 131/86 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1988, 905, paras. 11 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-300/89 (Commission/Council), ECR 1991, I-2867, para. 10.

The subjective perception of legislative objectives by the Community legislator is thus ruled out as the sole criterion. Likewise, exclusive reliance on the objective effects of a measure would also be at variance with the foregoing system of Community powers. For that would ultimately give priority to the legal powers contained in specific policy areas, given that these would always apply when a measure objectively touches upon the substantive ambit of such provisions. Article 93, 95 (1), and 175 ECT would then be relegated to a role of "catch-all" provisions, a status that could not be reconciled with their described equal footing with other legislative bases

More aptly, determination should occur with a view to the **centre of gravity of a measure**, ²⁵⁰ which in turn can be inferred by drawing on the content and the purpose of said measure. These criteria must be objectively identifiable against the respective measure, however, as the subjective intent of the Community legislator would otherwise become at least partly decisive and be subject to the objections outlined above. The centre of gravity of a measure depends both on its substantive content, that is: the **objective proximity to a specific issue area**, as well as its (**objectively discernible**) **purposes**. ²⁵¹ Consideration of these two elements allows for a comprehensive appreciation of the content and scope of a measure. Ultimately, this approach thus requires a thorough assessment of the **regulatory ambit** and **objectives** of the legislative act in question. While this may incur difficulties and considerable uncertainties when distinguishing different legal bases *in casu*, frequently resulting in an ambiguous determination of the applicable legislative power, it is the only approach that ensures an equal standing of different legal bases as mandated by a wide interpretation of the internal market. ²⁵²

Although this ultimately calls for an assessment of the regulatory substance and objective of each individual measure, amounting to reliance on the **circumstances** *in casu*, certain criteria defined with a view to the premises and the system of the Treaty may be identified to guide the determination of the "centre of gravity" of a measure:

- Application of Article 93 ECT may not be solely based on the fact that a particular measure affects the **(production) costs accruing to an enterprise**, thereby affecting its competitiveness and operation in the internal market; after all, nearly all environmental policy measures have some form of repercussion on corporate expenses.
- Determination of the scope of Article 93 ECT may, however, draw on the relationship between that provision and the guarantee of fundamental freedoms: pursuant to Article 93 ECT, legal approximation has to serve the establishment of the internal market, which, in turn, is directly geared towards actual achievement of the fundamental freedoms. Adoption of Community legislation should thus help eliminate restrictions of the fundamental freedoms

With the same conclusion *Kahl*, Umweltprinzip, 283; *Middeke*, DVBl. 1993, 769 (774 et seq.).

Likewise Lenz/Borchardt-*Breier/Vygen*, Article 175, Annot. 5 *et sqq.*, and the case law of the ECJ, see the references in previous footnotes.

Thus already *Epiney/Furrer*, EuR 1992, 369 (396 *et seq.*); holding a similar view *Kahl*, Umweltprinzip, 283 *et sqq*.

On this issue *supra* Part 1, C. I. 1. a) bb).

which cannot be countered directly through the freedoms themselves. Accordingly, it would seem appropriate to generally rely on **Article 93 ECT for measures relating to products** (provided, of course, that the objective lies in harmonising indirect taxes). Under those circumstances, after all, a direct and close connection to the establishment of the internal market exists; in case of doubt, the centre of gravity will be located there.

- Application of the "genuinely environmental" legislative basis laid down in **Article 175 ECT** cannot be solely based on the general relevance for environmental protection.²⁵³ First, environmental protection is a "cross-sectoral" challenge,²⁵⁴ with measures in of the policy areas also affecting the environment; second, different provisions in the Treaty suggest in principle an applicability of other legislative competences (also) to issues of environmental policy.²⁵⁵ Accordingly, Article 175 ECT is, in effect, everything **but a conclusive legal basis** for measures of environmental law.
- When it comes to demarcating Article 93 and 175 ECT against **Article 71 ECT** as a legislative power set out within a specific policy area, the determination of the centre of gravity of a measure needs to take into account the significance of that measure in defining and implementing said policy. As soon as a secondary act of legislation can or needs to be considered an **integral element of the respective policy area**, it will have to be based on the specific legislative power for that policy. As such, the measure will then define and guide the conception of the affected policy, typically placing its centre of gravity in the same area, even if it was ultimately motivated by environmental considerations. The inclusion of specific legislative powers in different policy areas must also be understood as a way of providing the Community legislator with means²⁵⁶ to implement coherent strategies.
- Conversely, **isolated measures of transport policy** that are not inseparably linked to the remaining elements of the common transport policy and largely pursue or touch upon objectives of another policy area may be based on the pertinent legislative powers of said policy areas, including for our purposes **Article 175 ECT**.
- The **decision procedures** stipulated by these different legal bases should generally **not affect** their demarcation.

See already ECJ, Case C-62/88 (Greece/Council), ECR 1990, I-1527, paras. 19 *et sqq.*, where the Court emphasized that inclusion of a specific environmental competence in Article 175 ECT did not mean that all environmentally relevant measures had to henceforth be based on that provision. With a view to the foreign trade implications of the import restrictions for agricultural products originating in third states at issue, the Court considered Article 133 ECT to be the appropriate legal basis.

Cf. with further references *Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 55.

Article 95 (3) ECT and the "Integration Principle" set out in Article 6 ECT, in particular, bear mentioning.

Generally and in particular by drawing on parallel procedures.

Statements to the contrary by the ECJ in the *Titanium Dioxide* case²⁵⁷, where the Court placed particular emphasis on an extensive implementation of the principle of democracy, are thus not convincing.²⁵⁸ In the meantime, the ECJ has changed its practice: whereas it based its decision in Case C-155/91²⁵⁹ solely on the centre of gravity of Directive 91/156/EEC amending Directive 75/442/EEC on waste,²⁶⁰ concluding – after thorough analysis – that said measure primarily pursued objectives of environmental policy, and had only "ancillary" effects on the conditions of competition and trade. A similar line of argument was adopted by the Court in Case C-187/93 regarding Regulation (EEC) No 259/93 of 1 February 1993 on the supervision and control of shipments of waste within, into and out of the European Community:²⁶¹ the Regulation in question primarily aimed at preserving, protecting and improving the quality of the environment and the protection of human health.

3. Conclusion and Summary: Case Studies on the Determination of the Relevant Legal Basis

Regarding the existence and applicability of Community legal bases for the **introduction of user charges on aviation and shipping**, it can be concluded that, aside from **Article 93 ECT**, **Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT** and **Article 175 ECT** may apply. Reliance on **double- or triple** legal bases is **not permissible** under the criteria set out above, given differences in the procedural requirements and the admissibility of more stringent unilateral measures (*cf.* Article 176 ECT).

Determination of the legal basis is thus contingent on the **centre of gravity** of the measure in question, which, in turn, depends on the purpose and content of each individual measure and may thus only be identified *in casu* for a specific act of legislation and pursuant to the foregoing principles. Nonetheless, the principles set out in this section allow for identification of a set of **cases** covering the conceivable legal bases for measures available when introducing user charges.

a.) Product-related Measures

Environmental user charges related to **products** – in other words, imposed on certain products or their movement – will generally be closely linked with the internal market, given that they (also) essentially affect the achievement of free movement of goods and uniform competitive conditions, rendering a harmonisation of the fiscal burden relevant for the functioning of the internal market.

²⁵⁷ ECJ, Case C-300/89 (Commission/Council), ECR 1991, I-2867, paras. 20, 23.

On this issue *Epiney*, JZ 1992, 564 (568 *et seq.*); *Everling*, EuR 1991, 179 *et sqq*. Further statements by the Court regarding the criteria when determining the applicable legal basis are, to say the least, ambivalent: for instance, reference to the integration principle in Article 6 ECT (Article 130r (2) (2) EECT) and the objective of a high level of environmental protection obligation set out in Article 95 ECT is hardly helpful in this context. For while it may certainly be inferred from these provisions that Article 175 ECT is not the only legal basis for measures of environmental policy, they still contain no indication as to how different relevant legal bases should be demarcated against each other, *cf.* already *Epiney*, JZ 1992, 564 (569).

²⁵⁹ ECJ, Case C-155/91 (Commission/Council), ECR 1993, I-939, paras. 7 et sqq.

OJ 1991 L 78, 32.

²⁶¹ ECJ, Case C-187/93 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1994, I-2857, paras. 17 et sqq.

Such a **product bearing** may be established through various ways. Due to systematic considerations, and following the case law on Article 90 ECT,²⁶² the determination should be based on whether a discernible relevance for products exists, resulting in a financial burden imposed on goods. Such a "connection" to goods can, for one, lie in the taxable event; in other words, the taxable event may be a certain product or its production, distribution or use.²⁶³ Relevance for products can also arise from the respective definition of the calculation basis, for instance if the value or weight of a good is used as the reference value when determining the fiscal burden, as is the case with registration, storage and postal fees.

This results in a certain presumption for **Article 93 ECT** as the appropriate legal basis, not so much for the objectives pursued as for the objective centre of gravity of respective measures and their relevance for products. In any case, reliance on Article 93 ECT would not be precluded merely because the measure in question also seeks to further aims of environmental policy.

The relevance for the **internal market has to outweigh other considerations**, however; if that is not the case, Article 175 ECT will, instead, apply. If environmental policy objectives outweigh the promotion of the functioning of the internal market in a product-related measure, in other words, that measure may only be based on Article 175 ECT, given that its centre of gravity falls within the purview of Article 175 ECT.²⁶⁴

Such a "shifted" centre of gravity would, *inter alia*, occur in case of a measure including provisions on the expenditure of revenues for environmental purposes, especially since Article 93 ECT would not provide a suitable legal basis for such earmarking in the first place.²⁶⁵

Aside from the two foregoing legal bases, Article 71 (1) ECT may also apply, provided the respective measure forms an integral part of the pursuit of a certain policy objective, even when it also seeks to fulfil environmental policy objectives. Of decisive importance in this regard is the substantive relevance for transport policy. An inseparable connection to the overall conception of transport policy will, however, frequently be absent when it comes to product-related measures.

In depth and with further references *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht, 188 et seq.

In case-law, see, e.g., ECJ, Case 112/84 (Humblot), ECR 1985, 1317, Annot. 13 *et sqq*.; ECJ, Case 393/92 (Almelo), ECR 1994, I-1477; ECJ, Case C-213/96 (Outokumpu), ECR 1998, I-1777.

This also appears to be the opinion held by the ECJ, at least when it cimes to distinguishing Article 133 from Article 175 ECT, *cf.* ECJ, Opinion 2/00 (Cartagena Protocol), ECR 2001, I-9713; likewise *Breier*, RIW 1994, 584 (585); *Nettesheim*, EuR 1993, 243 (259); with a critical assessment relating to external competences, however, *Schwarz*, ZEuS 2003, 51 (65 *et sqq.*); *Herrmann*, NVwZ 2002, 1168 (1173 *et seq.*), who primarily rely on the trade law character and would always allow for application of Article 133 ECT when a treaty has relevance for products and a trade-regulating character. When separating Article 95 I from 175 ECT, the ECJ assumes the existence of product-related rules when the respective measure is dominated by environmental considerations, for instance in the case of certain waste-law measures. *Cf.* ECJ, Case C-155/01 (Commission/Council), ECR 1993, I-939, Annot. 7 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-187/93 (Parliament/Council), ECR 1994, I-2857, Annot. 17 *et sqq. Cf.* generally on the practice of Community bodiesregarding Article 95 (1) ECT *Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 75 *et seq.*

²⁶⁵ Supra, Part 1, C. I. 1. a) bb).

If one applies these criteria to user charges, which are at the centre of attention in this study, instruments linked to **fuel consumption** (notably mineral oil or kerosene taxes, but also the taxation of air and sea vessels as vehicles, possibly depending on the transport capacity are pollutant discharge) will generally result in the applicability of **Article 93 ECT**, given that the objective centre of gravity of such a measure is precisely aimed at harmonising these excise taxes; an added, (originally) even predominant environmental motive for such harmonisation does not change this outcome. As a rule, Article 175 ECT will not apply in such cases; the same can be said of Article 71 ECT, given that fuel taxes are unlikely to be an integral element of the common transport policy, inseparably linked to the other rules of that policy area.

This clearly shows how the substantive centre of gravity and the purpose of a measure, both determined objectively, can become separated; such cases require weighing the respective considerations, with the relevance of product-related excise taxes for the internal market regularly outweighing other aspects.

To the extent that the product bearing arises from a particular **basis of assessment** (as would conceivably be the case with fees imposed on the use of ports, for instance, when the value or weight of a good serves as the main point of reference for calculation of the fiscal burden), the relevance for the internal market no longer takes clear precedence over the relevance for other policy areas. Ultimately, thus, the centre of gravity of such a measure would be decisive; as evidenced by market conditions for the rendition of services by ports, to name but one example, the centre of gravity of such measures can rest with establishment of the internal market, but also with environmental or transport policy, depending on their actual design and primary purpose and effects.

b.) Charges for the Use of Transportation Routes or Infrastructures

Only in exceptional cases will **user charges** imposed on the **use of "transport routes"** (contingent on the duration of use) or **infrastructures** (contingent on the extent and/or timing of use) give precedence to the achievement of the internal market. As a rule, such measures will instead act as "prototypes" of environmental user charges by imposing a financial burden on the use of the environment as such. In line with the polluter-pays-principle, ²⁶⁶ thus, such measures will typically pursue **objectives of environmental policy**, as they impose a duty to "compensate" the use of a public good, aiming at lowered use as a result of (increased) prices – ultimately furthering the objectives of Article 174 (1) ECT. In such cases, **Article 175 ECT** will typically be the most suitable legislative power, unless an inseparable link to the fundamental tenets of Community transport policy can be demonstrated.

Drawing on the criteria set out above, ²⁶⁷ charges imposed on the use of infrastructures and transportation routes will commonly be based on **Article 175** (1) **ECT** (which calls for application

On its significance in this context, see *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 184 et sqq.

²⁶⁷ Cf. Part 1, C. I. 1. b).

of the codecision procedure), rather than Article 175 (2) ECT and the unanimous vote required pursuant to that provision. Since these measures involve charges imposed on individualised benefits, they are unlikely to constitute measures "primarily of a fiscal nature".

In this context, one might still question whether and to what extent provisions on the use of revenues collected through a user charge affect the centre of gravity of a measure. Whenever revenues are recycled into the general (state) budget or can accrue thereto, or are earmarked for environmental policy objectives, the centre of gravity is liable to remain with Article 175 ECT. A different assessment would apply when revenues are earmarked for other purposes, for instance for development co-operation. Such cases require an in casu determination: if an analysis of the measure reveals it to be primarily aimed at financing (public) tasks, the centre of gravity of that measure will shift to Article 93 ECT, a provision which does not grant the Community a power to specify the application of revenues.²⁶⁸ Accordingly, the respective measure will not be covered in its entirety by the legislative powers conferred on the Community. This outcome is by no means mandatory, however: if revenues should be merely used for a "sensible purpose", with environmental policy considerations simultaneously calling for a specific measure which needs to be adopted, there are sufficient reasons to assume that such measures may then be based on Article 175 ECT, given that the financing purpose is likely to be secondary to the primary purpose -i.e., that of protecting the environmental good by reducing unsustainable forms of use. Still, the general absence of a legislative power for other purposes – such as development co-operation – would remain, as they are not covered by Article 174 ECT. ²⁶⁹

As a side comment, it may be worth noting that Community powers on the harmonisation of charges do not generally include the power to regulate the expenditure of revenues; instead, that is a question that needs to be addressed separately. Whereas the expenditure of revenues for environmental purposes is generally possible under Articles 174 (1), 175 ECT, other applications – aside from budgetary aspects²⁷⁰ – require careful determination of whether the Community actually has the power to decide on the intended purpose.

In the area of development co-operation, it appears more than doubtful whether Article 179 ECT – which calls for the codecision procedure – may serve as a suitable legal basis for the earmarking of revenues collected by the Member States (primarily for a different purpose, in this case environmental protection); a more persuasive argument would deny this possibility, given that the Community could thus transfer revenues to any policy area by harmonising taxes without possessing an explicit legal power to that effect – ultimately undermining the principle of conferred powers.

Supra Part 1, C. I. 1. a) bb).

See above, Part 1, C. I. 1. b).

On this issue, see Part 3, C. III.

c.) Emissions Charges

Emissions charges – in this context, primarily as a CO₂-levy – are likely to have their centre of gravity in the pursuit of environmental policy objectives, given that they are assessed with a view to the amount of pollutants discharged and aim at protecting the affected environmental goods. The undeniable economic effects of such a charge – notably the ensuing harmonisation of market conditions – will typically play only a subordinate role. Objections against this understanding cannot be based on the fact that emissions charges – especially when implemented as a CO₂-levy – act like fuel taxes for all practical purposes, thus potentially calling for application of Article 93 ECT as a legal basis. While such a view might have the merit of accounting for the practical effects of user charges, it stands at variance with the foregoing principles governing the demarcation of legal bases, notably the substantive centre of gravity of the measure and, in particular, its objective purpose, calling for comprehensive appreciation of the measure and all its elements. In the case of emissions charges, which seek to impose a price on the use of environmental goods and thus ultimately aim at limiting their use so as to protect them, the centre of gravity will generally rest on contents and objectives of environmental law and policy, a fact that remains unchanged even when pursued by way of fiscal measures.

Having said that, it remains unclear whether Article 175 (1) or Article 175 (2) ECT then applies.

Seeking to introduce a CO_2 /energy tax, ²⁷¹ the Commission relied on Article 175 (2) ECT (as well as Article 93 ECT, an approach that seems implausible for the foregoing reasons²⁷²), without providing any form of justification. It should be noted, moreover, that the planned CO_2 /energy tax – which will hardly be introduced in the near future – is not a user charge in the sense analysed here.

If a CO₂ levy is merely applied to certain transport carriers, the view held here would suggest basing it on Article 175 (1) ECT: its proximity to user charges is evident, as it imposes a duty to compensate the use of a common good, with the level of compensation defined relative to the emissions of CO₂. As such, therefore, the resulting levy is not primarily of a fiscal nature.

The legislative competences of specific policy areas may also be drawn upon; in the event of overriding environmental policy aims, however, they can only apply to the extent that measures based thereon become integral elements of the respective policy – for instance, transport policy. This will hardly be the case with emissions charges.

d) Conclusion

Altogether, it can be affirmed that "product-related user charges" can generally be based on Article 93 ECT (requiring a unanimous Council decision) due to the strong objective connection with the internal market; other conceivable user charges, in turn, will commonly have their centre

²⁷¹ Cf. the revised Commission proposal COM (95) 172 final.

²⁷² See above, Part 1, C. I. 2. a).

of gravity in the area of environmental policy and thus be primarily based on **Article 175 ECT**. Due to the strong environmental bearing of such measures, this provision will also regularly "displace" Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT. If user charges are effectively designed as compensation for services rendered, the requirements of Article 175 (2) ECT will typically not be met, thus leading to an applicability of **Article 175 (1) ECT** (codecision procedure). Finally, it should be noted that, from the point of view of legislative competences, **earmarking the revenues** of user charges for purposes other than environmental protection is not unproblematic. Article 175 ECT – unlike Article 93 ECT – is a suitable legal basis for the earmarking of revenues for environmental purposes, the latter being amenable to a wide interpretation in accordance with Article 174 ECT. Accordingly, Article 175 ECT can also be used to regulate the funding of environmental projects in developing countries.

Should the Community legislator therefore choose to base a user charge on Article 175 ECT, a choice that would already seem expedient given the codecision procedure it entails, revenues should preferably be earmarked for environmental projects, in which case even measures with a direct product bearing would still have their centre of gravity within the ambit of Article 175 ECT.

II. On the Requirements of the Subsidiarity Principle (Epiney/Hofstötter)

While the principles discussed up to now support a Community power to adopt measures resulting in the introduction of a (specific type of) user charge, the Community can only exercise this power observing the requirements set out by the so-called **subsidiarity principle** (Article 5 (2) ECT), which is set out in the EC Treaty as a **rule governing the exercise of powers**.²⁷³

Given that the Community powers at issue here are not exclusive powers, the **scope** of this principle is affected.²⁷⁴

Article 5 (2) ECT renders Community action in its areas of competence conditional on a **twofold requirement**: for one, the objectives of the proposed action may not be sufficiently achieved by the Member States, and, by reason of the scale or effects of the proposed action, they also have to be

Consideration must, furthermore, be given to the principle of proportionality (Article 5 (3) ECT), a requirement which will not be further analysed here. *Cf.* in connection with the fundamental freedoms and fundamental rights *infra*, Section D. See also generally on this principle with regard to environmental user charges *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 314 *et sqq*.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 171 ff; Amend, Das Instrument der Umweltabgabe auf Communitysebene, 2001, 69 et seq.; Lenaerts/van Nuffel, Constitutional Law, Annot. 5-022; cf. also von Borries, EUDUR I, § 25, Annot. 26. With an extensive analysis of exclusive Community powers relating to environmental charges Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit, 286 et sqq.

better achieved by the Community. Both conditions have to be met cumulatively before action can be taken at the Community level.²⁷⁵

The Protocol on the Application of the Principles of Subsidiarity and Proportionality sets out guidelines for the determination of whether both conditions are met.²⁷⁶ For instance, consideration should be given to whether the issue under consideration has transnational aspects which cannot be satisfactorily regulated by action by Member States. Also, an assessment should be made as to whether actions by Member States alone would conflict with the requirements of the Treaty, such as the need to avoid disguised restrictions on trade, or would otherwise significantly damage the interests of Member States. And finally, action at Community level should produce clear benefits by reason of its scale or effects compared with action at the level of the Member States.

While the principle of subsidiarity is, without doubt, **legally binding**, and its observance subject to judicial review by the ECJ, the criteria set out in Article 5 (2) ECT have remained fairly vague, despite various attempts at specification.²⁷⁷ At any rate, the Community legislator is left with a **wide scope of discretion**. For instance, the ECJ also presumes the binding nature of the subsidiarity principle, but affords the Community legislator a substantial margin of discretion, limiting itself to a "cursory" review of challenged secondary legislation with a view to the reasons provided for its justification;²⁷⁸ a merely cursory assessment is made as to whether the objective specified in the reasons can be better achieved by the Community due to the scale of the measure,²⁷⁹ with – unsurprisingly – no violation affirmed to date. The – largely procedural – innovations contained in the draft Constitution would hardly curtail this ample discretion,²⁸⁰ although this should not be understood as putting to question the significance of these mechanisms.

Protocol (No. 30) to the Treaty of Amsterdam on the Application of the Principles of Subsidiarity and Proportionality, OJ 1997 C 340/105, para. 5. *Cf.* also *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 175 with further references.

Protocol (No. 30) to the Treaty of Amsterdam on the Application of the Principles of Subsidiarity and Proportionality, para. 5.

²⁷⁷ Cf. with further references Epiney, Umweltrecht in der EU, 87 et sqq.

Para. 4 of the Protocol (No. 30) to the Treaty of Amsterdam on the Application of the Principles of Subsidiarity and Proportionality specifies the general requirement of a reasoning for secondary legislation, stating that, for any proposed Community legislation, the reasons on which it is based shall be stated with a view to justifying its compliance with the principles of subsidiarity and proportionality.

Cf. ECJ, Case C-377/98 (Netherlands/Parliament und Council), ECR 2001, I-7079, paras. 30 et sqq.; ECJ, Case C-84/94 (Great Britain/Council), ECR 1996, I-5755, para. 47; ECJ, Case C-491/01 (The Queen/ Secretary for Health, ex parte: British American Tobacco Ltd. et al.), ECR 2002, I-11453, paras. 181 et sqq. On the case-law of the ECJ Calliess, EuGRZ 2003, 181 (186 et seq.).

²⁸⁰ Relating hereto *Oppermann*, DVBl. 2003, 1165 (1171).

Against this backdrop, an attempt to ascertain the relevance of the subsidiarity principle as an "obstacle" to user charges imposed an the Community level or through Community legislation will yield two insights:

- the (over-) use of global environmental goods is a **global problem** that clearly transcends the national boundaries of Member States. As such, therefore, it appears highly doubtful whether Member States could achieve the intended protection "satisfactorily" through domestic measures, particularly since it is equally unclear whether Member States would be willing to proceed unilaterally.²⁸¹
- Regulation of the use of these global environmental goods through a user charge would also appear to be the "better" solution, in particular with a view to the **functioning of the internal market**, given that divergent measures adopted by the Member States are more likely to result in distortions of competition.

All in all, it is clearly not conceivable that Community measures on the introduction of a user charge would go beyond the **discretion afforded to the Community legislator**, ²⁸² even though only an *in casu* assessment can, of course, provide a definite answer to this question.

Whether – and to what extent – provisions on the **use of revenues** can be reconciled with the principle of subsidiarity is a more difficult question. Ultimately, the answer will depend on the application mandated for revenues and the design of the respective rules. In any case, it can be surmised that, given the absence of sufficient political will in some Member States, achievement of the environmental objectives of the revenue use may be more likely on the Community level. Accordingly, provisions on the use of revenues may be – in principle – consistent with the requirements of the principle of subsidiarity, at least insofar as a substantive connection to the reasons for collecting the user charge remains.²⁸³

III. Budgetary Aspects (Ecologic)

Given that the introduction of a user charge necessarily involves the **collection**, **administration** and **expenditure** of substantial revenues, **budgetary provisions** can acquire relevance alongside the rules in sectoral policies. For Community principles of budget law to apply, however, certain

Whether the "satisfactory" achievement of objectives on the level of Member States relates to the "abstract ability" of Member States or to "concrete action" is subject to debate. Better reasons support the latter alternative. On this problem *Epiney*, Umweltrecht in der EU, 88, with a summary of the discussion.

More sceptical: *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit, 295 *et sqq.*, albeit based on an understanding of the discretion left to the Community legislator which is significantly curtailed as opposed to the case-law of the ECJ. See also the reasoning by *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 174 *et sqq.*, who (likewise) seems to assume a wide discretion for the Community legislator.

On this isse, see the earlier section on the distribution of powers, *supra*.

conditions have to be met regarding the collection and use of user charges. In principle, the participation of the European Community could be confined to the mere definition of general **framework provisions** implemented by the Member States in the course of their – otherwise independently executed – collection and administration of revenues.²⁸⁴ In such a scenario, the revenues accruing from a user charge would remain within the purview of Member States, removed from access by the Community; budget rules of the Community would not apply, but rather the budget and financial provisions of the respective Member State.²⁸⁵

If collection of the user charge by Member States is to occur as uniformly as possible and centrally guided, however, it would stand to reason that the Community should be given a wider mandate. To that end, the power to collect and apply revenues could be directly conferred on the supranational level. Inasmuch as the European Community can collect and apply a user charge as part of its **own responsibilities**, the legal framework governing the **Community budget** needs to be observed. Community budget law thus only becomes relevant once the Community implements the user charge itself. The legal evaluation of a user charge under budgetary law, in turn, depends on its legal characterisation and whether it can be included in the Community budget plan as "own resources", possibly subject to a maximum limit.

As for the **enforcement** of a user charge, it makes no difference whether collection and administration occur **directly** through Community bodies or **indirectly** and decentralised by the Member States, provided the Community retains the authority to decide on the design and use of revenues. With a view to the organisational implementation, however, there has been some debate as to whether Community bodies can have the prerogative of deciding on the applicable procedure. Due to the enforcement challenges incurred by a user charge on global environmental goods and the limited enforcement capacities of Community bodies, collection of revenues is only feasible through the Member States. As a result, the foregoing question will not be further dealt with.

Additionally, a determination is needed as to the compatibility of a separate **special fund** with the budget rules of the European Community. On all foregoing issues, the Treaty establishing the European Community already contains a number of precepts in Articles 268 *et sqq*. ECT. GV. Likewise, secondary legislation contains pertinent requirements, including the Council Decision on the European Communities' own resources²⁸⁷ and the Financial Regulation,²⁸⁸ which primarily

These include, for instance, excise and turnover taxes as well as other indirect taxes of Member States harmonised pursuant to Article 93 ECT; an example of this approach is, for instance, Council Directive 2003/96/EC of 27 October 2003 restructuring the Community framework for the taxation of energy products and electricity, OJ L 283 of 31 October 2003, 51 *et sqq*.

See on this issue regarding Germany Part 3, D.

In depth on this controversy *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik, 322 *et sqq*. with further references

Council Decision 2000/597/EC, Euratom of 29 September 2000 on the system of the European Communities' own resources, OJ L 253/42.

Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No. 1605/2002 of 25 June 2002 on the Financial Regulation applicable to the general budget of the European Communities, OJ L 248/2.

governs the establishment and implementation of the budget. This legal framework is the starting point for the following analysis.

1. Collection and Administration of User Charges by the European Community

Budgetary requirements can significantly constrain the design of a user charge collected at the Community level. Based on the Community legislative powers affirmed earlier, different forms of public charges are conceivable at the Community level. A prerequisite for the applicability of its budget provisions, however, is that the European Community possess the authority to independently collect, administer and spend a user charge on global environmental goods. Only if these conditions are met, the analysis may proceed to whether revenues arising from such a charge should be collected by the European Community and count against its budget. The following subsections will address these questions in greater detail.

a.) Collection by the European Community

The **power** to **impose a user charge** goes hand in hand with the right to define the ensuing compensation duty and its amount, including, in particular, the entitlement to payment which ultimately results in revenues.²⁹⁰ Generally, the Community only plays a **subordinate role** to Member States when it comes to the collection of taxes and other charges. Community action in this area is limited to the **powers conferred** by the Treaty.²⁹¹ Unlike the legal systems of Member States, which contain originary legislative powers for taxes and other charges, the Community neither possesses a comprehensive financial constitution nor a stringent fiscal doctrine.²⁹²

Instead, Community law uses the concept of charges in numerous provisions, without being able to draw on a **legal definition**.²⁹³ As a result, both case-law and legal scholarship have largely backed the view that charges denote "unilaterally imposed pecuniary charges", introduced by the **public administration**, ²⁹⁵ covering different manifestations such as taxes, customs, fees,

On this issue, see Part 3, C. I.

Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik, 154.

F. Kirchhof, in Rengeling (ed.), EUDUR, Vol. 1, § 38, Annot. 32.

²⁹² Kreibohm, Der Begriff der Steuer im Europäischen Gemeinschaftsrecht, 37.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben and Europarecht, 13 et seg.

On this conceptualisation ECJ, Case 24/68 – *Italian Statistics Fee*, ECR 1969, 193 (201); Case 87/75 – *Bresciani*, ECR 1976, 129, head note 1.

ECJ on Article 90 ECT, Case 20/76 – *Schöttle*, ECR 1977, 247 (258 *et seq.*); Case 45/75 – *REWE*, ECR 1976, 181 (197); Case 4/81 – *Andresen*, ECR 1981, 2835 (2850).

contributions and special charges.²⁹⁶ According to the European Court of Justice and its case-law, the **use of revenues** is not decisive for this classification.²⁹⁷ The provisions of the Treaty, notably the fiscal provisions in Articles 90 *et sqq*. ECT, allow for identification of several types of charges.²⁹⁸ Aside from fees and contributions imposed in return for the use of public facilities or services, taxes and fiscal charges as well as a wide category of "parafiscal charges" – which do not accrue to the general budgets – are covered by the concept of charges.²⁹⁹

The European Court of Justice has applied this generic term both to Member State charges as well as Community charges. No distinction has occurred at the conceptual stage, at any rate. Given the patchy legal framework for fiscal measures by the Community, the **financial** and **budgetary principles** of **Member States** tend to be more influential at the Community level compared to domestic precepts in other policy areas. Still, the substance of concepts set out in Community law has to be generally interpreted with a view to the overall *acquis*, not only because the latter is independently valid, but also because of the imperative of coherent implementation. Accordingly, the European Court of Justice has not referred to domestic terminology in the Member States when classifying different types of charges.

Although European Community law thus refers to different types of charges, the conditions for Community action in this area have not been conclusively clarified. This applies, in particular, to user charges in the environmental arena, where the requirements imposed on the collection and expenditure of such charges are **not explicitly** specified. Instead, the power to introduce such a charge must be drawn from the general powers set out in primary Community law, with consideration also given to Article 6 ECT (given that user charges on global environmental goods are at issue) that calls for an integration of environmental protection requirements in all policies. Legislative competences applicable to user charges have already been identified at length in an earlier section. Action of the conditions of the conditi

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben und Europarecht, 14; see also *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik, 34 with further references.

²⁹⁷ ECJ, Case 7/68, ECR 1968, 633 (643); Case 29/72, ECR 1972, 1309 (1318).

The multiplicity of charges currently applied at the Community level cannot be described in detail here; for an overview, see *Lienemeyer*, Die Finanzverfassung der Europäischen Union, 112 et sqq.; Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik, 50 et sqq.; Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben and Europearecht, 14 with further references

On this concept ECJ, Case 78-83/90 – *Compagnie Commerciale de l'Ouest*, ECR I-3899 (3901); see also *Heselhaus*, Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik, 67 *et sqq*. with further references.

Schoo, in Schwarze (Hrsg.), EU-Kommentar, Art. 268 Annot. 10.

³⁰¹ ECJ, Case 44/79 – *Hauer*, ECR 1979, 3724 (3744).

ECJ, Case 7/68, ECR 1968, 633 (643).

See already *Schröder*, in P. Kirchhof, Umweltschutz im Chargen- and Steuerrecht, 88.

See above, Part 2, C. I.

Despite systematic concerns, a number of scholars have supported the view that these provisions confer no **legislative power** on the Community to introduce environmental charges of its own, the revenues of which would directly accrue to its budget. According to these views, the introduction of new Community taxes supposedly disrupts the institutional balance in Community financing and violates the principle of democracy by shifting fundamental Member State prerogatives to the Community without an explicit mandate in the Treaty. Accordingly, the Community is denied the authority to "invent" new taxes. Instead, it is supposedly limited to **harmonising** environmental taxes of its Member States, a prerogative which may only be exercised once several Member States have implemented different rules on the same category of charge. Harmonisation should then be limited to ensuring uniform competitive conditions and a high level of environmental protection, but not seek achievement of identical provisions. 307

Critics have countered that the Community has introduced **sectoral charges** in a variety of policy areas, ensuring their collection and administration.³⁰⁸ Such sectoral charges do not constitute resources in the sense of Article 269 (2) ECT; rather, they are charges introduced within the ambit of substantive Community powers.³⁰⁹ They include production and storage levies, additional or compensatory amounts on agricultural products³¹⁰ as well as levies imposed in the coal and steel sector.³¹¹ The European Court of Justice has repeatedly confirmed the **legal admissibility** of such charges collected within the substantive ambit of a Community policy and used to finance the latter.³¹² In a judicial opinion, it also upheld the legality of a charge in the transport sector to establish a laying-up fund for inland waterway vessels.³¹³

See, for instance, *F. Kirchhof*, in Rengeling (ed.), EUDUR, Vol. 1, § 38, Annot. 33.

On this discussion *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 140 *et sqq*.

See, for instance, *F. Kirchhof*, in Rengeling (ed.), EUDUR, Vol. 1, § 38, Annot. 33.

See generally *Lienemeyer*, EuR 1998, 478 (490 *et sqq.*); *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 137.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 146.

The formerly imposed coresponsibility levies on milk and cereals, which were not agricultural levies pursuant to Article 2 (1) lit. a of Council Decision 2000/597/EC, are frequently cited as examples, see *Bieber*, in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union and Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft - Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Article 269 Annot. 38; in this context, see also the production levies on the production of sugar under Articles 15 *et seq.* of Council Regulation (EC) No 1260/2001 of 19 June 2001 on the common organisation of the markets in the sugar sector, OJ L 178/1, which is intended to secure the self-financing of the sugar sector and imposes financial responsibilities by way of levies assessed against producers.

See Article 49 of the – no longer valid – Treaty establishing the European Coal and Steel Community (ECSC).

See ECJ, Case 138/78 – Stölting/Hauptzollamt Hamburg – Jonas, ECR 1979, 713, para. 9; Case 265/87 – Schräder Kraftfutter/Hauptzollamt Gronau, ECR 1987, 2237, para. 7.

³¹³ ECJ, Opinion 1/76 – *Laying-up Fund*, ECR 1977, 741 para. 5.

Since the decision procedures under substantive powers often deviate from the strict requirement of unanimity under Article 269 subpara. 2 ECT, however, the introduction of Community charges on another basis is occasionally rejected for circumventing the procedure in Article 269 subpara. 2 ECT.³¹⁴ At any rate, advocates of this view contend, the revenues thus achieved would have to be limited to a small side-income.³¹⁵ In a decision on the co-responsibility levy on cereals imposed under Article 37 ECT, however, the European Court of Justice explicitly stated that, "regardless of the amount of the levy", it had found "an appropriate and adequate legal basis" in the respective policy area.³¹⁶

Under this adjudication practice of the European Court of Justice, the legality of such measures is conditional on their **expediency** and **effectiveness**; given the **discretionary powers** afforded to the Council, however, only a "patently unsuited" measure would provide sufficient grounds to call into question its admissibility.³¹⁷ The level of the rate of a charge also has to be **proportionate** in relation to the objectives it pursues.³¹⁸ The Court as justified its case-law with the Community powers conferred by the Treaty to make use of charges as an instrument within its substantive policies.³¹⁹

User charges on aviation and shipping seek to further **environmental objectives**, which are recognised by Community law as an independent task.³²⁰ Introduced as a levy within a substantive policy, thus, a user charge on global environmental goods would primarily appear feasible within the ambit of **Community environmental policy**. The required **bearing** on environmental protection can be achieved by various means, for instance by designing it as a levy guiding the behaviour of payers (as a guidance charge), but also by funding measures of environmental protection (as a financing charge) or compensating environmental damage (compensation charge). Another conceivable option would be to link the charge to **consumption** of an **environmental good** (user charge in the narrow sense),³²¹ again resulting in a guidance effect on behaviour.³²²

The **purpose** of such user charges will typically consist in guiding human behaviour by defining a price for the use of vulnerable environmental goods, notably the atmosphere and the High Seas.³²³

Breuer, DVBl. 1992, 485 (496).

³¹⁵ Hilf, UTR 1992, 121 (135).

ECJ, Case 265/87 – Schräder Kraftfutter/Hauptzollamt Gronau, ECR 1989, 2237, para. 9.

ECJ, Case 138/78, ECR 1979, 713 – Stölting/Hauptzollamt Hamburg – Jonas, para. 7.

ECJ, ibid.

Lienemeyer, Die Finanzverfassung der EU, 121; cf. on the EECT Hilf, who refers to special charges based on "accessory substantive powers" (sachkompetenzannexe Sonderabgaben), UTR 1992, 121 (135).

See already ECJ, Case 240/83 - *ADBHU*, ECR 1985, 531 para. 13; nowadays in the ECT in Articles 2 and 174 ECT.

On this issue at length *Meßerschmidt*, Umweltabgaben als Rechtsproblem, 36.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben and Europearecht, 30 et seq.

If, for once, the generation of revenues is the main purpose of a user charge, reference may also be made to the behavioural guidance effect towards more sustainable behaviour patterns resulting from its collection to establish the required environmental link.

As such, they serve to achieve substantive aims of Community environmental policy. Although different design options of user charges on environmental goods may differ substantially in their environmental policy effects, there is no reason to doubt their general **expediency** and **effectiveness** in achieving environmental policy objectives and raising (earmarked) revenues through a price on environmentally detrimental behaviour. Given the environmental threats arising from the use of airspace and the High Seas, user charges are also likely to be suited, necessary, and appropriate, with the ensuing burden proportionate to their objective. No equally effective, but less constraining measures are available; indeed, economic incentives such as user charges afford a certain flexibility to take into account individual cost-benefit-calculations. In principle, therefore, the requirements set out by the European Court of Justice should be met by a suitably designed user charge.

Incidentally, this conclusion applies to **all conceivable design options** for user charges on global environmental goods, notably to user charges imposed on emissions, fuels, use of certain facilities such as airports and seaports, as well as tickets. While these exert different guiding effects on environmentally relevant behaviour in practice, with staggered charges generally guiding behaviour more strongly than flat charges, and while a variety of other influential factors exist, such as the price elasticity of demand and the feasibility of evasive action, their general expediency and effectiveness as measures of environmental policy **cannot** be questioned. Only user charges designed in a way that raises doubts as to their effectiveness, for instance by imposing too low rates, would prove inadmissible. Given the judicial practice of the European Court of Justice, that would, at best, apply to symbolic user charges. In conclusion, thus, the **user charge level** may not be so low as to exert negligible guidance effects from the point of view of environmental policy; nor may it yield revenues which are so low that their expenditure does not allow for funding of environmental projects. These requirements already arise from the chosen legal basis.

Irrespective of their design, all user charges generate revenues which may be used for particular purposes. Different such **purposes** are conceivable.³²⁴ If the user charge is introduced as a levy within the framework of Community environmental policy, the foregoing case-law will only allow for expenditure of revenues within that substantive policy to achieve the objectives set out therein, in other words: for purposes of environmental protection. A user charge introduced at the Community level as a environmental policy charge would preclude the application of revenues to purposes other than environmental protection, even if its collection already exerts a substantial guiding effect towards more sustainable patterns of behaviour.

If the revenues of a user charge should accrue to other purposes, such as funding of **development co-operation**, its collection and administration by the European Community cannot be based on the legal basis contained in Community environmental policy. In the event of such a designation of revenues, the legal basis for the introduction of the user charge would have to be drawn from the respective policy area and the user charge be expedient and effective in achieving the substantive objectives of that policy. Invariably, however, user charges on global environmental goods will have an environmental bearing, thereby rendering such expediency and effectiveness in the achievement of other policy objectives unlikely. After all, the proceeds of such user charges will hardly ever be used in such a manner as to clearly outweigh the environmental policy benefits arising from the behavioural changes they induce. In other words, the inevitable guidance effects of user charges imposed on global **environmental** goods will rarely be entirely superseded by the subsequent application of revenues, with the act of collecting the user charge – intentionally or coincidentally – always promoting an environmental policy objective. If nothing else, application of revenues to other purposes will then compromise the achievement of uniform objectives. As a result, one is faced with difficult, often intrinsically political value judgements. At the very least, when revenues of a user charge on global **environmental** goods are used for purposes other than environmental protection, their comprehensive assessment must demonstrate that, in their entirety, the achievement of said other purposes still predominates. Clearly, then, the introduction and

expenditure of a user charge within the purview of Community environmental policy and based on the powers conferred by that policy are subject to less legal uncertainty.

Even when revenues are used for environmental protection measures, they will not benefit only those **liable to payment of the user charge**, unless such measures are exclusively adopted within the area of aviation and shipping. Scholars have occasionally held that revenues from an environmental user charge must always benefit those subject to payment, for instance by accruing to a fund or financing measures benefiting the **interests of payers**. This view is not convincing, given that neither Community rules nor the case-law of the European Court of Justice require such a connection; instead, it has its origins in the financial rules set out by the German constitution, and cannot, thus, be simply applied at the Community level. As such, thus, it can be challenged on systematic grounds, given that legal doctrines recognised by individual Member States cannot be directly translated to the Community level.

b.) Expenditure of Revenues by the European Community

As the preceding section showed, the Community can choose to introduce environmentally motivated user charges under **its own responsibility**. Accordingly, the question arises as to how the **expenditure of revenues** can be reconciled with Treaty provisions on the Community budget.

In a first step, an assessment has to be made as to whether proceeds of a user charge form part of the so-called "own resources" of the Community. Under Article 269 subpara. 1 ECT, the budget shall be financed wholly from own resources without prejudice to "other revenue." ³²⁸ The position of the European Community and its financial independence *vis-à-vis* the Member States is clearly contingent on the ability to raise own resources. ³²⁹ Such resources are **fiscal revenues** accruing directly to the Community to finance its budget, and they require no for further decisions by the authorities of Member States. ³³⁰ They are governed by Community law and are thus removed from the autonomy of Member States. Instead, Member States are under an obligation to grant the Community access to payments within the framework established by the budget plan.

Pursuant to Article 269 subpara. 2 ECT, more detailed provisions on the collection of own resources are to be adopted through a **special procedure**. On 29 September 2000, the Council adopted the fifth Decision on the system of the

³²⁵ Schröder, in P. Kirchhof, Umweltschutz im Abgaben- and Steuerrecht, 95.

³²⁶ See below, Part 2, D. I. 3. b.)

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 150.

This source of revenues will be addressed again at the end of this section.

On the collision of interests between the Community – which is entitled to revenues - and the Member States Vogel/Rodi, Probleme bei der Erhebung von EG-Eigenmitteln aus rechtsvergleichender Sicht, 21 et sqq.

See, generally, *Reister*, Budget and Finanzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, 29 *et sqq.*; *Strasser*, Die Finanzen Europas, 123 *et sqq*.

European Communities' own resources,³³¹ which has been in force since 1 January 2002.³³² It does not constitute an instrument of derived legislation, but is rather adopted by the Member States unanimously and supplements the Treaty.³³³ As such, it is commonly considered Community legislation with the effect of primary Community law.³³⁴ Only such Community revenues may be considered own resources which accrue to it on the basis of this decision.³³⁵

Under Article 2 (1) of the decision on the system of the European Communities' own resources, the latter shall primarily consist of **four types of income**, notably:

- payment duties imposed within the framework of the common agricultural policy,
- customs tariff duties,
- income from VAT,
- and a rate determined pursuant to the GNP of Member States.

The introduction of a user charge on aviation and shipping is unlikely to fall within these categories as listed in Article 2 (1) of Decision 2000/597/EC, given that environmental user charges would neither constitute agricultural levies, customs tariffs, VAT or a rate of Member States' GNP. Under Article 2 (2) of said decision, however, other own resources entered in the budget of the European Union can be "revenue deriving from **any new charges** introduced within the framework of a common policy." In other words, such income includes all Community revenues obtained on a legal basis other than Article 269 subpara. 2 ECT, or – essentially – an independent source of funding. As a category of own resources, only these would appear to accommodate the proceeds of a user charge on aviation and shipping.

In that case, the revenues accrued to the general budget of the Community, placing the decision on their **expenditure** in the hands of the budgetary legislator. Pursuant to Article 8 (1) of Decision 2000/597/EC, the latter are collected by the Member States for the Community.³³⁸ Under Article 2

Currently Council Decision 2000/597/EC, Euratom of 29 September 2000 on the system of the European Communities' own resources, OJ L 253/42.

On the evolution of EC-/EU-budgetary policy *Lienemeyer*, Die Finanzverfassung der EU, S. 179 et sqq.

See *Niedobitek*, in Streinz, EUV/ECT, Art. 269 Annot. 9 et seq.

Waldhoff, in Calliess/Ruffert, Kommentar zu EU-Vertrag and EG-Vertrag, Art. 269 Annot. 3.

Bieber, in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union and Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft - Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Art. 269 Annot. 7.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 140.

On this issue *Bieber*, in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft - Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Art. 269 Annot. 34; *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 137, 146.

Details can be found in Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No. 1150/2000 of 22 May 2000 on the implementation of Decision 94/728/EG, Euratom on the system of the European Communities' own resources, OJ L 130/1.

(3) of Decision 2000/597/EC, Member States shall retain 25 % of the amounts referred to in Article 2 (1) (traditional own resources), which shall be established after 31 December 2000, to cover **collecting expenses**. The revenues of a user charge – which would constitute revenue from new charges under Article 2 (2) of Decision 2000/597/EC – would **not be affected**.

A further important corollary of the classification as own resources is the **ceiling** imposed on the **total amount** by Article 3 of Decision 2000/597/EC. Linking the development of resources to the development of the GNPs of Member States, this provision sets quantified limits. A fixed amount of **1,27** % of the GNP of Member States serves as the starting point, adjusted by certain factors affecting the calculation. Commitments entered in the general budget are also subject to a ceiling currently fixed at **1,35** % of the overall GNP in the Community, again with adjustment factors determining the calculation. ³³⁹

Pursuant to Article 3 (3) of Decision 2000/597/EC, the Commission shall communicate to the budgetary authority the new **ceilings for own resources**, which are currently set at 1,24 % of the GNP of Member States for own resources and 1,31 % of the overall GNP in the Community. The During 2000, the overall GNP of Member States amounted to €8,3 trillion, which 1,24 % would have been roughly €103 billion and 1,31 % roughly €109 billion. For the same year, the own resources of the Union totalled €88 billion. Both the own resources and commitments were thus far from reaching the ceiling, with a substantial gap of more than €15 bio., which is unlikely to change significantly in the future. Given the expected income of a user charge on aviation and shipping introduced at the Community level, which – even based on generous assumptions – would not exceed €14 billion for the air transport sector and €800 billion for sea transport, these ceilings will not prove an obstacle for now.

With a view to the general review of the own resources system required from the Commission by 1 January 2006 under Article 9 of the decision on the system of the European Communities' own resources, the Commission published a communication on 6 September 2004, discussing several basic options to improve the system of own resources. At On that occasion, the Commission also proposed a new source of revenues based on **taxes** and potentially covering up to 50 % of the budget, thereby lessening the dependence on VAT. Such a step would also help improve the financial autonomy of the budget, creating a more direct financial link between the budget of the European Union and its

Cf. Bieber in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft - Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Art. 269 Annot. 23.

European Commission, Adaptation of the ceiling of own resources and of the ceiling for appropriations for commitments following the entry into force of Decision 2000/597/EC, Euratom, COM(2001) 801 final, 3.

European Commission, ibid., 6.

European Commission, Financing the European Union – Commission report on the operation of the own resources system, COM(2004)505 final, 3.

³⁴³ See Part 1, C. II.

European Commission, ibid.

citizens. 345 As a category of taxes already subject to harmonisation by the Community, **energy taxes** 346 are referred to as ideally suited, with a possible emphasis on taxes on transport carriers as well as – with explicit mention – a charge on aircraft fuel or the ensuing emissions. A European charge on air travel is even described as a reasonable supplement to charges on road transport fuel, given that "the European air transport system is highly integrated" and its emissions transcend national borders. An additional advantage listed by the Commission is that taxing such emissions at the European level would allow "internalising the external socio-economic costs of climate change and other environmental effects caused by aviation into the price of air travel". Such charges could be introduced within a relatively **short time-frame of three to six years**. So far, however, no specific legislative proposals have been submitted in this regard. Instead, European decision makers are currently discussing the inclusion of aviation in the European emissions trading scheme as a more favourable option. 349

Categorisation of user charge revenues as own resources of the Community can be **avoided** by counting them as "**other revenues**" as defined in Article 269 subpara. 1 ECT; for, as this provision states, the budget "shall be financed wholly from own resources without prejudice to other revenue." Other revenue under this provision have already been collected in a variety of sectors, for instance by way of the aforementioned co-responsibility levies on agricultural products, but also as taxes on Community employees, bonds and administrative income. So far, however, they have only played a **subordinate** role. It is subject to debate, moreover, whether they might be used to balance the budget.³⁵¹ Occasionally, they are defined as income arising from Community activities that is not primarily applied to balancing the budget.³⁵² While this category of revenues may afford greater **flexibility** when compared to own resources, for instance by its absence of ceilings, the increased transparency and universality of the budget – both of which are budgetary principles mentioned in Article 3 of the Financial Regulation – support inclusion of user charge proceeds in the budget as own revenues. As an added advantage, this would accommodate critics

European Commission, ibid., 10.

This is a reference to Council Directive 2003/96/EC of 27 October 2003 restructuring the Community framework for the taxation of energy products and electricity, OJ L 283/51.

European Commission, Financing the European Union – Commission report on the operation of the own resources system, COM(2004)505 final, 12.

³⁴⁸ *Ibid*.

See the references contained in note 51.

Not identical with the "new charges" mentioned in Article 2 (2) of the fifth decision on the system of the European Communities' own resources, which specifically are own resources.

Rejecting this option, for instance, *Bieber*, in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft - Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Art. 269 Annot. 36; *Schoo*, in Schwarze (Hrsg.), EU-Kommentar, Art. 268 Annot. 20; backing it, in turn, this *Niedobitek*, in Streinz, EUV/ECT, Art. 269 Annot. 23.

Bieber, in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft - Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Art. 269 Annot. 36.

who reject "other revenues" beyond a minimum level as distorting the **distribution of burdens** between the Community and the Member States.³⁵³

By way of an interim conclusion, it may be affirmed that user charges on global environmental goods can be introduced as a sectoral charge within the framework of Community environmental policy. The proceeds of such a charge may then either be categorised as **new charges** under Article 2 (2) of Decision 2000/597/EC and thus as **own resources**, or as **other revenues** pursuant to Article 269 subpara. 1 ECT, both with differing legal consequences.

c.) Entering User Charges in the Budget

As Community revenue, the proceeds of a user charge introduced by the Community have to be shown in the **budget** pursuant to Article 268 subpara. 1 ECT.³⁵⁴ Proceeds of such a user charge would constitute an item of revenue, whereas earmarked application of such proceeds an expenditure for the purposes of Articles 268 (1) and 3 ECT.

According to Article 272 (9) ECT, all expenditure other than that necessarily arising form the Treaty is subject to a **maximum rate of increase** fixed annually by the Commission. Application of the proceeds of a user charge would fall within this category of "**non**-obligatory **expenditure**."³⁵⁵ A budgetary increase of such expenditure relative to the preceding year would thus have to be covered by the maximum rate declared by the Commission after consultation of the Economic Policy Committee; this maximum rate is communicated by 1 May of each year. It takes into account the economic development in Member States, notably the trend of the gross national product, the average variation in the budgets of the Member States, and the trend of the cost of living during the preceding financial year. What is more, the Council and the European Parliament may agree on a higher rate under Article 272 (9) subpara. 5 ECT if the activities of the Community require that the original rate be exceeded. Each of these bodies can initiate the relevant procedure, with the decision ultimately taken by the Council acting by qualified majority and the European Parliament by a majority of its members and three-fifths of the votes cast.

2. Expenditure of Revenue and Creation of a Special Fund

Aside from the collection of a user charge, questions arise as to whether the Community is constrained in **administering** its revenues and **earmarking the expenditure**, and whether a **special fund** may be established to administer the application of proceeds.

On this issue with further references *Schröder*, in P. Kirchhof, Umweltschutz im Abgaben- and Steuerrecht, 98.

On the budget and the applicable principles and procedures, see generally *Strasser*, Die Finanzen Europas, 19 *et sqq.*, 35 *et sqq.*; *Reister*, Budget und Finanzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, 133 *et sqq.*

Cf. on the distinction of obligatory and non-obligatory expenditure, see Bieber in von der Groeben/Schwarze (Hrsg.), Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft – Kommentar, 6th ed., Vol. 4, Art. 272 Annot. 25 et sqq.

³⁵⁶ Geiger, EUV/EGV, Art. 272 Annot. 6.

On the agreement necessary for this purpose, see ECJ, Case C-41/95 – *Council/European Parliament*, ECR 1995 I-4411.

Charges collected by the **Member States** – also through taxes harmonised at the Community level – can accrue both to the general budget of those states as well as to specific bodies subject to designation by the government, including special funds. Proceeds of a user charge collected by the Community itself are subject to the restrictions set out below.

As a rule, the powers relating to expenditure – along with the powers relating to the use of revenues from a user charge – in connection with a substantive Community task correlate with the requirements of the respective task; the **powers of expenditure** are, in other words, a necessary consequence of the **substantive powers**. Pursuant to Article 6 of Decision 2000/597/EC, however, the Community revenue – including new charges – shall be used without distinction to finance all expenditure entered in the budget. Such application of proceeds from a user charge may be avoided by earmarking these. In view of the case-law of the European Court of Justice, moreover, user charges imposed as a sectoral charge on the basis of a substantive competence presuppose expenditure within the same substantive area as a matter of law. Despite the principle of comprehensive coverage set out in Article 6 of Decision 2000/597/EC and in Article 4 (2) of the Financial Regulation, earmarking of revenue is permissible and has already been occasioned with several sectoral charges. ³⁶¹

An expedient and – to the extent possible – transparent administration of proceeds may occur through an independent **fund**, such as the environmental fund proposed by the European Parliament in connection with the introduction of an energy tax. By far the largest part of the expenditure entered in the Community budget has been assigned to various funds which are shown in the budget and governed by the pertinent budgetary rules of Community law. Their existence can be partly traced back to the provisions of the **Treaty** itself, for instance in the case of the European Agricultural Guidance and Guarantee Fund (EGGF) based on Article 34 (3) ECT, the European Social Fund (ESF) based on Article 146 ECT, and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) based on Article 160 ECT. Creation of an environmental fund on this basis would require a separate amendment of the Treaty. Sec.

Heselhaus, Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik, 47.

Niedobitek, in Streinz, EUV/EGV, Art. 268 Annot. 2.

³⁶⁰ See *supra*, Part 2, C. III. 1. a.)

Examples can be found in *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 153.

See the 3rd Interim Report of the Institutional Affairs Committee on the Intergovernmental Conference of 31 Oktober 1990, Doc. PE 144.177 final.

Providing an in-dpeth description of these individual funds: *Reister*, Budget und Finanzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, 66 *et sag*.

A similar concern is expressed by *Wit/Dings*, Economic Incentives to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Air Transport in Europe, 96, who instead propose establishing an autonomous fund.

Introducing a fund on the basis of derived legislation promises to be both more expedient and successful. For instance, the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) was formerly based on a regulation adopted in exercise of the supplementary power contained in Article 308 ECT. A condition for Community action under this provision has to appear necessary for achievement of Community objectives within the internal market. What is more, the Treaty may not contain the necessary powers elsewhere.

For the creation of a fund relating to the **environment**, Article 175 (4) ECT may seem a suitable legal basis, given that it charges the Member States with financing and implementing the environment policy. The purpose of this provision is unclear, however, and the establishment of an environmental fund thus widely considered permissible. The primary objective of Article 175 (4) ECT is much rather to ensure implementation of Community environment policy even in times of budgetary constraints in the Member States, and not to prevent independent measures by the Community. Indeed, the environmental funds already created at the Community level serve as an illustration for the way in which the Community participates in financing its own environment policy.

As the European Development Fund (EDF) demonstrates, a fund may also be created on the basis of an **international agreement**.³⁶⁹ As the European Court of Justice affirmed in this regard, Community powers in the area of development co-operation are not exclusive, entitling the Member States to enter into commitments themselves *vis-à-vis* non-member States, "either collectively or individually, or even jointly with the Community." The underlying agreement establishes the European Development Fund and specifies the contributions from individual Member States. Since all necessary expenditure for Community financial aid is directly borne by the Member States, ³⁷¹ such aid is not classified as Community expenditure, thereby obviating the necessity of adoption on the basis of Article 279 ECT and inclusion in the Community budget. Individual procedural elements reminiscent of the provisions on Community expenditure do not challenge this inference.³⁷²

Another design option aside from creating a new fund would be to let revenues from a user charge accrue to an existing fund within the ambit of Community environmental policy, which would also allow targeted and expedient administration of revenues for purposes of environmental protection. Current measures in this regard include the financial instrument **LIFE**. It has three major themes and promotes projects of Community interest, including projects in third states in the Mediterranean and Baltic Sea area aimed at building necessary capacities and administer to

See Regulation (EEC) No 724/75 of the Council of 18 March 1975 establishing a European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), OJ 1975 L73/1.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 152.

³⁶⁷ See ECJ, Case C-42/89 – *Commission/Belgium*, ECR 1990 I-2821.

See von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Krämer*, Art. 175, Annot. 54.

In depth on the European Development Fund: *Reister*, Budget und Finanzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, 162 *et sqq*.

³⁷⁰ ECJ, Case C-316/91 – *Parlament/Rat*, ECR 1994 I-625, Para. 26.

In greater detail: http://europa.eu.int/comm/budget/fed/index_de.htm.

ECJ, a.a.O., Para. 39 et sqq.

structures in the environmental sector (LIFE-third states). An amendment of the pertinent regulation would allow inclusion of the proceeds from a user charge in future promotion measures adopted under the financial instrument LIFE.

The options outlined above are geared towards very different approaches with clearly divergent consequences for the budgetary implementation of a user charge. Different degrees of integration in the Community budget – all the way to nearly complete independence by way of a fund created through an international treaty – result in a more or less ample **power of discretion** when designing the user charge. Given that such special funds only affect the proceeds of a user charge, the foregoing requirements apply equally to all conceivable types of user charge.

3. Summary and Application to Individual User Charges

Provided it acts within the boundaries of an existing Community policy, the Community may introduce a user charge on its own responsibility if it is expedient and effective in achieving a proportionate objective. Revenues must be applied within the respective sectoral policy to further the objectives set out therein. Expenditure for purposes beneficial to the entities covered by the payment duty is not a condition. Sectoral charges introduced within the ambit of Community environment policy may, thus, be collected relative to fuel consumption, the distance traveled or emissions discharged, as well as in connection with the purchase of passenger tickets, all provided that proceeds are applied towards environmental protection objectives. Given the substantive proximity of the user charges on global environmental goods and the objectives of Community environment policy, expenditure for purposes other than environmental protection is only permissible if the user charge itself was introduced under a separate policy and the mere expenditure of revenues is an effective and expedient means of achieving the (non-environmental) objectives of a rule or that policy.

User charges imposed **in return for the use of certain infrastructures**, for instance airports and seaports, appear to be **a less suitable** option, given that the Community possesses no facilities of its own in the decisive areas of aviation and shipping. If, however, the legal framework adopted at the Community level merely seeks to regulate the use of Member State facilities, it would not constitute an originary Community charge and would therefore not be subject to Community budget rules.

Once a user charge has been introduced at the Community level, however, rather than the level of individual Member States (for instance through a harmonised tax), its collection, administration and expenditure are governed by the **budgetary principles of the Treaty** and applicable secondary legislation. Accretion to the own resources of the Community pursuant to Article 269 subpara. 1 ECT, in particular, is subject to additional constraints, for instance the procedure set out in Article 269 subpara. 2 ECT and the ceilings defined in Article 3 of Decision 2000/597/EC. These requirements apply equally to all types of user charges.

Finally, the principles guiding the establishment and implementation of the budget under Article 3 of the Financial Regulation need to be observed, along with the – dynamic – **ceiling** for non-obligatory expenditure. Proceeds may be administered through a **special fund** based on existing

powers under primary and secondary Community law as well as an international treaty. The latter does not necessitate inclusion in the Community budget. Again, the same conditions apply to all types of user charge.

IV. Community State Aid Rules (Ecologic)

At this point, the analysis will also extend to the **Community rules on competition**, notably the **prohibition of state aid** contained in Article 87 ECT. This assessment will be largely limited to ascertaining whether the **use** of proceeds from a user charge **for certain political objectives** is compatible with the prohibition of distortionary state aid set out in Article 87 ECT.

1. The Concept of State Aid

Article 87 (1) ECT sets out a general **prohibition** of state aid which distorts or threatens to distort competition in the European Community. The object and purpose of this provision is to safeguard the **competition** in the common market against distortion and establish general guidelines for the alignment of state aid practices in Member States as well as for the prevention of distorting state aid.³⁷³ Not all state aid is routinely precluded, however. The European Court of Justice has developed a comprehensive case-law on this matter. Drawing on the doctrines developed in this process, the **applicability** of Community state aid rules to proceeds from a user charge on global environmental goods will be assessed with a view to identifying legal requirements imposed on the expenditure of revenues.

State aids are advantages voluntarily granted by public authorities to the benefit of certain undertakings or the production of certain goods without customary compensation, thereby distorting competition in the common market. With a view to the wording of Article 87 ECT ("in any form whatsoever"), the concept of advantage must be interpreted widely to comprise any financially relevant benefit for the recipient. Such an advantage may also consist of a burden imposed on other economic sectors. Whether such an advantage has been granted has to be determined from the perspective of an investor acting rationally under normal market conditions. What is more, state aid has to be granted through state resources, that is, at the expense of public budgets, although it is irrelevant whether this occurs directly through the state or through a public or private body designated or established by the state. Finally, state aid has to be granted to specific undertakings or the production of specific goods, in other words: to a sufficiently

Geiger, EUV/EGV, Art. 272 Annot. 6.

Herdegen, Europarecht, 6th ed., § 22 Annot. 366; cf. also ECJ, Case 241/94 – France/Commission, ECR 1996,
 I-4575, para. 20 and I-4578, para. 34

Koenig/Kühling, in Streinz, EUV/EGV, Art. 87 ECT, Annot. 28.

ECJ, Case 234/84 – *Belgium/Commission*, ECR 1986, 2263 para. 14; in greater detail *cf.* Rydelski, Handbuch des EU-Beihilfenrechts, 66.

ECJ, Case 379/98 – *PreussenElektra*, ECR 2001 I-2099 para. 58 et sqq.

Koenig/Kühling, in Streinz, EUV/EGV, Art. 87 ECT, Annot. 43 et sqq.

determinate "economic unit",³⁷⁹ or sector (principle of specificity ³⁸⁰). General promotion and infrastructure measures serving the economy as a whole do not meet this requirement.

2. Earmarked Expenditure as State Aid

As the foregoing section has shown, earmarked application of the proceeds from a user charge on global environmental goods can only be categorised as **state aid** if:

- the aid accrues to **certain** undertakings or the production of **certain** goods as a financially relevant advantage;
- the aid is granted through **state budgets** of the Member States and not the Community;
- the advantage granted **benefits** said undertakings or production of goods.

Accordingly, these requirements are met if the proceeds of a user charge are collected, administered and spent by **Member States** in such a manner that the aid has to be at least temporarily considered part of the public budget.³⁸¹ By definition, the administration of user charge revenues by the **Community** – which was described in an earlier section – cannot constitute state aid.³⁸² Moreover, the advantages have to accrue to **certain** undertakings or the production of **certain** goods within the Community.

With a view to a resolution of the International Civil Aviation Organization of 9 December 1996, which recommended applying the proceeds of a charge on aviation to an improvement of propulsion technologies and research on the environmental impacts of aviation, ³⁸³ the question

ECJ, Case T-234/95 – DSG Dradenauer Stahlgesellschaft mbH, ECR 2000, II-2603 para. 124 with further references.

On this issue *Rydelski*, Handbuch des EU-Beihilfenrechts, 69.

See, in greater detail, *Koenig/Kühling/Ritter*, EG-Beihilfenrecht, 72. Exemption regulations adopted under Article 89 ECT for sectors such as education-related state aid or state aid for small and medium-sized enterprises will not be discussed here, given that a user charge on global environmental goods is unlikely to affect these addressees as beneficiaries of its proceeds.

Since the state aid provisions of Articles 87 *et sqq*. ECT aim at safeguarding the common market, and not the competitiveness of third states, expenditure of proceeds from a user charge by the Community will, if at all, only be subject to international trade rules on subsidies, see *supra*, Section 3; on the relationship of international subsidy rules to the state aid rules of the Community, see *e.g. Koenig/Kühling*, in Streinz, EUV/EGV, Art. 87 ECT, Annot. 9.

See *ICAO*, Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, adopted by the Council on 9 December 1996 at the 16th meeting of its 149th session, para. 4: "*Stongly recommends* that any environmental levies on air transport which states may introduce should be in form of charges rather than taxes and that the funds collected should be applied in the first instance to mitigating the environmental impact of aircraft engine emissions, for example to:

a. addressing the specific damage cause by these emissions, if that can be identified;

arises whether such application would also constitute an **advantage** for affected aviation undertakings. Given the proposed purpose of such application, however, an advantage in the sense set out above is unlikely: despite indirect advantages that may arise for individual aviation companies, the measures funded in this manner are primarily geared towards serving the **common interest** in an improved environment; moreover, faithful implementation of this recommendation would not benefit actual airline operators, but rather entities in the area of research and development.³⁸⁴

Such application of revenues would only constitute an advantage for the latter entities if it was not granted as a **customary compensation** in return for services provided by the research and development bodies. The same applies to proceeds granted to "green" companies for reasons of environmental policy, for instance by subsidy programmes, tax exemptions or other market incentives.

Expenditure of proceeds towards public measures of environmental protection adopted in the common interest or for purposes of development co-operation do not, in turn, result in an advantage for certain undertakings or the production of certain goods, given the absence of a specifically granted benefit. Only applications benefiting very **specific** enterprises or sectors, for instance through subsidies, tax exemptions or other advantages, meets the conditions for classification as state aid; even if revenues were to be returned to the entire aviation sector, for instance, the required specificity would be missing. Central applications are thus beyond the scope of the rules on state aid.

3. Distortion of Competition in the Common Market

Article 87 (1) ECT also presupposes that advantages granted result in a **distortion of competition**. Such a distortion will occur whenever changed market conditions improve the **competitiveness** of beneficiaries relative to other competitors, or give market access for new entrants is made more difficult.³⁸⁵ Additionally, Article 87 (1) ECT requires that such distortion affect trade between Member States.³⁸⁶

Whether the application of revenues from a user charge amounts to incompatible state aid or not depends on the **type of application** and its **beneficiaries**. Granting financially relevant advantages

b. funding scientific research into their environmental impact; or

c. funding research aimed at reducing their environmental impact, through developments in technology and new approaches to aircraft operations (...)."

This obviates the need to address the difficult question of granting state aid as compensation for compliance with obligations in the common interest, see *Herdegen*, Europarecht, 6th ed., § 22 Annot. 366.

Geiger, EUV/EGV, Art. 272 Annot. 13; *Rydelski*, Handbuch des EU-Beihilfenrechts, 72; *Koenig/Kühling/Ritter*, EG-Beihilfenrecht, 83.

Given the increase in trade and capital flows as well as the provision of services across national borders, such a distortion will only be absent in exceptional cases, see *Koenig/Kühling/Ritter*, EG-Beihilfenrecht, 86.

to certain undertakings or the production of certain goods will typically **distort competition** if it does not accrue equally to all competitors in the affected sector. In the foregoing examples of an expenditure benefiting "green" companies or entities in the area of research and development, an incompatible distortion of competition in the common market could only be assumed if the other conditions of state aid – for instance the absence of customary return services – are simultaneously met. At any rate, the establishment of a special fund to promote general measures in the area of environmental protection or development co-operation with not constitute state aid, given that it would not benefit certain undertakings or the production of certain goods.

4. Discretionary Decision under Article 87 (3) ECT

Moreover, the prohibition set out under Article 87 (1) ECT does not apply directly,³⁸⁷ as it first requires the Commission to **declare the incompatibility of state aid with** the review procedure described in Article 88 ECT. New state aid, in turn, is exempted from this rule pursuant to Article 88 (3) 3rd sentence ECT.³⁸⁸ This provision requires national authorities to submit plans for the grant of new state aid to the Commission for a preliminary review prior to implementation. State aid requiring notification, which essentially includes all new or altered state aid, may only be granted after the Commission has issued a **final decision** or the state aid is presumed compatible due to lapse of time.³⁸⁹

Individual Member States may not **disregard** Article 88 (3) ECT, even if they consider the state aid measure to be compatible with the common market.³⁹⁰ Violation of this duty voids the domestic legislation granting state aid,³⁹¹ and incurs various procedural consequences as well as benefits granted being recalled.³⁹² Since the application of proceeds from newly introduced user charges on global environmental goods could, if at all, only be ascribed to this category of state aid (provided it also meets all the other conditions outlined above), notification of the Commission by Member States would be necessary prior to the introduction of said user charge.³⁹³

After being informed of plans by Member States, the Commission will initiate a preliminary review procedure based on Article 87 ECT to determine whether an ordinary review subject to Article 88 (2) ECT is necessary. If the exemptions listed in Article 87 (2) ECT are inapplicable, giving rise to

Cf. on the debate on direct effect already ECJ, Case 78/76, ECR 1977 595 (613); also, see Metaxas, Grundfragen des europäischen Beihilfenrechts, S. 84.

³⁸⁸ ECJ, Case C-17/91 – *Lornoy/Belgium*, ECR 1992 I-6523 Para. 30.

On this issue, see the procedure outlined in Council Regulation (EC) No 659/1999 of 22 March 1999 laying down detailed rules for the application of Article 93 of the EC Treaty, OJ L 83/1.

Metaxas, Grundfragen des europäischen Beihilfenrechts, 84.

ECJ, Case C-354/90 – Fédération Nationale du Commerce Extérieur des Produits Alimentaires, ECR 1991, I-5505 paras. 16 et seq.

Koenig/Kühling, in Streinz, EUV/EGV, Art. 88 ECT, Annot. 21 et sqq.

In federally organised Member States, this requirement only applies to the federal level, not that of federate entities.

concern that the state aid will prove incompatible with the common market, the Commission will apply its mandatory discretion and determine whether the state aid, for once, is justified under Article 87 (3) ECT. Here, too, the Commission has a wide scope of discretion. The following justifications may apply:

- 1. aid to promote the economic development of areas where the standard of living is abnormally low;
- 2. aid to promote the execution of an **important project** of common European interest or to remedy a serious disturbance in the economy of a Member State; as well as
- 3. aid to facilitate the **development** of certain economic activities or of certain economic areas.

State aid in the area of **environmental protection** will typically meet the description in Article 87 (3) lit. b) ECT, which pertains to aid to promote **important projects** of common European interest.³⁹⁵ When exercising its discretion, the Commission will adhere to the guidelines and Community frameworks it has adopted to provide principles for the application of this discretionary provision. Due to the ample powers of discretion, such guidelines and Community frameworks acquire particular importance bordering on a *de facto* binding effect.³⁹⁶

For the area of **environmental protection**, the Community has also adopted such guidelines listing different categories of state aid for environmental protection and setting out requirements for their admissibility.³⁹⁷ The *in casu* approach of this Community framework obviates the need for a detailed reproduction, given that the proceeds from a user charge will, in all likelihood, not be granted to certain undertakings only. Worth noting, however, is the high standing afforded to the polluter-pays principle in the Commission guidelines, given that this principle also underlies the objective of **internalising external environmental costs** through user charges.³⁹⁸ The guidelines also concede that state aid will frequently become necessary to achieve a high level of environmental protection.³⁹⁹

See most recently ECJ, Case C-355/95 P – *Textilwerke Deggendorf*, ECR 1997, I-2549 para. 26; also *Oppermann*, Europarecht, Rn. 1120.

Koenig/Kühling, in Streinz, EUV/EGV, Art. 87 ECT, Annot. 79; Metaxas, Grundfragen des europäischen Beihilfenrechts, 84.

See on this issue *Koenig/Kühling*, *ibid.*, Annot. 7.

European Commission, Commission Guidelines on State Aid for Environmental Protection, OJ 2001 C 37/3; regarding research and development, see OJ 1996 C45/5.

European Commission, ibid., para. 4, 10, 14 et sqq.

European Commission, ibid., para. 5.

In other words, state aid for environmental protection is most likely to be compatible with the common market if current circumstances do not allow for full internalisation of environmental costs and compliance with applicable rules calls for supplementary measures or incentives for overcompliance with improved environmental behaviour are needed. Generally, however, a **strict standard of review** will apply. The second part of these guidelines contains additional requirements specified for individual types of state aid, for instance regarding financial support in the energy sector or to promote the clean-up of contaminated sites. To the extent that revenue from a user charge is to be applied for environmental purposes, thus, this second part may contain pertinent requirements.

It has already been established that an expenditure of user charge proceeds for purposes of environmental protection or development co-operation will **almost never** constitute **incompatible state aid**. Only the assignment of revenues by Member States to certain undertakings or the production of certain goods can violate the Community prohibition of state aid, provided it also results in a distortion of competition. Even then, however, aid for important projects of common Community interest may be exempt from that prohibition, given that complete internalisation of environmental costs of aviation and shipping will significantly affect the competitive position of affected undertakings, therefore justifying such application of revenues. At any rate, state aid for **environmental purposes** is not generally ruled out.

5. Summary and Application to Individual User Charges

Community rules on state aid do not apply to the introduction of a user charge; if at all, they can impose requirements on the **expenditure** of proceeds. The foregoing assessment has shown that application of revenues from a user charge on aviation and shipping may, under certain circumstances, be considered state aid under the pertinent provisions of Community law. Only aid directly benefiting **certain** undertakings or the production of certain goods without appropriate return services may give rise to legal challenges. That may be the case, for instance, with the targeted promotion of individual research and development activities or particularly sustainable behaviour without requiring a commensurate return service. A recommendation by the International Civil Aviation Organization may prove problematic in this regard, however, given that it calls for expenditure of revenues within the aviation sector only to reduce the environmental impact of aircraft, for instance through promotion of research and development or the development of more efficient propulsion technologies. Even if the use of proceeds from a user charge were to be considered state aid, however, its compatibility with the common market would first have to be determined with the state aid review procedure set out in Article 88 (3) ECT, with particular attention given to the exception clauses contained in Article 87 (3) ECT and the Community

European Commission, ibid., para. 18.

European Commission, ibid., para. 20.

guidelines on state aid for environmental protection. The outcome will largely depend on the purpose of expenditure, with environmental protection and other common interests likely to obtain Commission approval.

V. Substantive Requirements for the Design of User Charges under European Community Law: Fundamental Freedoms and Fundamental Rights (Epiney/Hofstötter)

Aside from formal aspects, European Community law also sets out a number of substantive requirements for the design of a user charge on global environmental goods. This section will focus on such requirements to the extent that they originate in primary Community law, whereas legal aspects arising from secondary legislation will be outlined in the sectoral chapters. In primary Community law, substantive requirements primarily arise from the **fundamental freedoms** (1) and **fundamental rights** (2).

Substantive requirements set out specifically for Community and Member State transport policy in the transport Title of the Treaty (Articles 72 *et sqq*. ECT)⁴⁰³ do not apply to aviation and shipping (see Article 80 (1) ECT)⁴⁰⁴, unlike the general Treaty provisions (with the exception of the freedom of services⁴⁰⁵).

The significance of these fundamental guarantees differs in relation to their **scope of application**:

- The **fundamental freedoms of the Community** apply in their entirety both at the **Member State** and the **Community** level, 406 rendering their observance mandatory when introducing user charges at the Community and at the Member State level.

The wording of these fundamental freedoms and the obligations arising from them are, first and foremost, directed at the Member States. With a view to Article 3 (1) lit. a and c ECT and the very explicit case-law of the ECJ in this regard, 407 they also apply to the Community legislator and provide "normative guidance" for, *inter*

403 In this regard

See below, Part 2.

In this regard, see *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrspolitik and Umweltschutz, 47 *et sqq.*; *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht in der EU, 107 *et sqq.*; *Epiney*, in: Dauses (ed.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot. 122 *et sqq.*, 151 *et sqq.*

Cf. only von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Erdmenger*, Vorbem. zu den Art. 70-80, Annot. 12 *et seq.*, who – from a contemporary point of view – criticises the divergent structure of Treaty provisions on road transport, shipping in internal waters and rail transport, on the one hand, and aviation and international shipping, on the other.

On this isse, see also *infra* Part 1, C. III. 1., at the beginning.

It is generally recognised that the fundamental freedoms apply equally to the Member States and the Community and its organs. *Cf.* for instance Calliess/Ruffert-*Kluth*, Art. 50, Annot. 44; *Müller-Graff*, EUDUR I, § 10, Annot. 87; *Jarass*, EuR 1995, 202 (211); as regords the free movement of goods, see ECJ, Case 15/83, Denkavit, ECR 1984, 2171, para. 15; ECJ, Case C-51/93, ECR 1994, I-3879, para. 11. Consequently, however, the Community should enjoy the same restriction powers afforded to the Member States.

Cf. ECJ, joint Cases C-80 and 81/77, Commissionaires Réunis, ECR 1978, 927, para. 35; ECJ Case C-108/01,
 Consorzio del Prosciutto di Parma, ECR 2003, I-5121, para. 53; ECJ, Case 15/83, Denkavit, ECR 1984, 2171,
 para. 15; ECJ, Case C-51/93, ECR 1994, I-3879, para. 11.

alia, secondary legislation. This also follows from the hierarchical structure of Community law, with Community primary law at the top of the normative hierarchy in the Community. Likewise, Article 90 ECT can be applied to the action of its institutions. 409

Regarding Article 25 ECT (the prohibition of customs duties and charges having equivalent effect), it should also be noted that the ECJ has, in effect, considered charges imposed by Member States when implementing inspection measures required under Community law compatible with Article 25 ECT. This line of argument is unlikely to extend to all types of charges required by the Community legislator, however, notably because the ECJ has apparently interpreted such inspection fees as promoting the free movement of goods, an argument that would not apply directly to user charges and their tendency to exert a constraining impact. Given that, as a matter of principle, Article 25 ECT does not apply to user charges, however, this issue will not be further pursued here.

- The applicability of **Community fundamental rights**, in turn, is clearly restricted to the **Community legislator**, thus rendering them pertinent only for user charges imposed by the Community legislator. 413

Member States are only bound to the Community fundamental rights when implementing or applying Community law. 414

Accordingly, the **Community legislator** is bound to **strict observance** of the **entirety of primary law**, which is removed from its disposition. Community measures motivated by environmental policy, such as user charges on global environmental goods, are thus also constrained by the written and unwritten rules of primary Community law.

It should be noted, however, that the ECJ has afforded the Community legislator relatively wide **powers of discretion** when ascertaining the compatibility of Community secondary legislation (directives and regulations adopted by the Council or by the Council and the Parliament) and primary law,⁴¹⁵ at any rate wider than will typically be available to national legislatures. This is of particular importance when determining the

⁴⁰⁸ Müller-Graff, EUDUR I, § 10, Annot. 87; see also Jatzke, IStR 1999, 137 (138).

⁴⁰⁹ Cf. ECJ, Case C-475/01, Commission/Greece, Judgment of 5 October 2004, para. 15-18.

⁴¹⁰ Cf. ECJ, Case 46/76, Bauhuis, ECR 1977, 5, paras. 27-30; ECJ, Case 18/87, Commission/Germany, ECR 1988, 5427, para. 8.

ECJ, Case 46/76, Bauhuis, ECR 1977, 5, para. 30.

See below, V. 1. a) aa).

On the relevance of Community fundamental rights for the Community legislator, see, for instance, *Szczekalla*, EUDUR I, § 12, Annot. 30.

In the case-law, see particularly ECJ, Case 5/88 (Wachauf), ECR 1989, 2609; ECJ, Case C-260/89 (ERT), ECR 1991, I-2925; ECJ, Case C-386/95 (Familiapress), ECR 1997, I-3689; ECJ, Case C-309/96 (Annibaldi), ECR 1997, I-7493; ECJ, Case C-292/97, ECR 2000, I-2737, Annot. 37; extensively on this problematic issue *Epiney*, Umgekehrte Diskriminierungen, 125 *et sqq.*; *Wallrab*, Die Verpflichteten der Gemeinschaftsgrundrechte, 43 *et sqq.*, 90 *et sqq.*; *Szczekalla*, EUDUR I, § 12, Annot. 31, all with further references, although the latter – departing from the case-law of the ECJ – argues in favour of a comprehensive application of Community fundamental rights to Member States. See also Art. 51 of the Charta of Fundamental Rights and Art. II-111 of the Constitution.

⁴¹⁵ Cf. e.g. ECJ, Case C-280/93, Banana Market, ECR 1994, I-4973; ECJ, ECR 1994, I-555.

proportionality of Community measures as part of the compatibility with fundamental freedoms and fundamental rights of the Community. 416

1. On the Fundamental Freedoms of the Community

Depending on the design of user charges, these may fall within the **scope of application** of one or more **fundamental freedoms** of the Community. As a matter of principle, all fundamental freedoms may apply, and only a detailed analysis based on the actual design of a user charge would allow determination of specifically affected fundamental freedoms.

The **free movement of workers** will not, as a rule, be affected, given that user charges will hardly ever restrict the free movement of workers. After all, their design is geared towards application to companies, not individuals. Even if one were to assume an indirect restriction in exceptional cases, the restriction of other fundamental freedoms would likely dominate.

The **freedom to provide services**, on the other hand, may indeed be affected, given that transport services can be categorised as services and therefore fall within its scope.

Pursuant to the definition contained in Article 50 (1) ECT, services shall be considered such where they are "normally provided for remuneration". Article 50 (2) ECT lists several examples, including industrial and commercial activities as well as those of craftsmen and the professions. As for the freedom of movement for goods, capital and persons, Article 50 (1) ECT declares the freedom to provide services subsidiary to the foregoing freedoms. It is characteristic of the freedom to provide services that such services are only temporarily provided within another state (*cf.* Article 50 (3) ECT), whereas the right of establishment covers a permanent integration in the economic activities of the host state. The freedom to provide services is a freedom enjoyed by nationals of Member States pursuant to Article 49 (1) ECT, with companies or firms formed in accordance with the law of a Member State treated in the same way as natural persons due to Article 55 ECT and Article 48 ECT.

Against this background, transport services temporarily provided within other Member States may be freely subsumed under the Community definition of services. ⁴¹⁷ If the provision of services is subjected to a charge, the latter may constrain the provision of services in another Member State or render it less attractive, ⁴¹⁸ thereby raising the possibility of a violation of the freedom to provide services.

Article 51 ECT exempts transport from the scope of the Treaty Title on services, however. Instead, the freedom to provide services in the field of transport shall be governed by the provisions of the Title relating to transport (Article 51 (1) EGV). This exemption extends to transport by road, rail and inland waterway, as well as to aviation and sea transport, ⁴¹⁹ regardless of the differentiation of

On this issue and the judicial review standards of the ECJ *Pache*, NVwZ 1999, 1033 *et sqq*.; *Pache*, DVBl. 1998, 380 *et sqq*.; *Nettesheim*, EuZW 1995, 106 *et sqq*.; *Lenaerts/van Nuffel*, Constitutional Law, Rn. 5-084; in depth on this issue *Pache*, Tatbestandliche Abwägung and Beurteilungsspielraum, *passim*.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 257 et sqq.; Müller-Graff, EUDUR I, § 10, Annot. 60.

⁴¹⁸ Cf. on port fees, for instance, ECJ, Case C-49/89, Corsica Ferries, ECR 1989, 4441, paras. 7 et sqq.; ECJ, C-381/93, Commission/France, ECR 1994, I-5145, paras. 14 et sqq.

⁴¹⁹ Cf. von der Groeben/Schwarze-Troberg/Tiedje, Art. 51, Annot. 1; Epiney, in: Dauses (ed.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot. 181; Grabitz/Hilf-Frohnmeyer, Art. 51, Annot. 19; Schwarze-Müller-Graff, Art. 51, Annot. 3.

these modes of transport set out in Article 80 ECT, a differentiation which, incidentally, does not otherwise affect the existence of Community powers. 420

This provision was drawn upon as the basis for Council Regulation (EEC) No 4055/86 of 22 December 1986 applying the principle of freedom to provide services to maritime transport, ⁴²¹ for instance, in order to realise the freedom to provide services in the field of shipping. ⁴²²

Given this sectoral approach to implementation of the freedom to provide services, 423 its compatibility with user charges on global environmental goods will be assessed specifically with a view to the means of transport 424 outlined in the third part of this survey, giving consideration to the secondary legislation implementing this freedom in said areas.

With that in mind, the following sections will address the free movement of goods (a), the freedom of establishment (b) and the free movement of capital (c) and ascertain their relevance for the introduction of a user charge. As a "fall-back clause", the general prohibition of discrimination on grounds of nationality – Article 12 ECT (d) – will also be briefly analysed.

When it comes to analysing the fundamental freedoms *strictu sensu* (Article 28 *et sqq.*, 43 *et sqq.*, 56 *et sqq.* ECT), it should already be noted at this point that their – essentially divergent – substantive scope has increasingly converged as a result of the case-law of the ECJ ("convergence of the fundamental freedoms", Even though the scope and substance of the fundamental freedoms have not yet been fully clarified in the sense of a uniform doctrine, a consensus on central requirements pertaining to the introduction of user charges can be inferred from the case-law of the

⁴²⁰ *Cf.* already *supra*, Part 1, C.I.1.b).

OJ 1986 L 378/1.

⁴²² Cf. ECJ, Case C-49/89, Corsica Ferries, ECR 1989, 4441, para. 13.

In this context, it must be born in mind that the Community legislator has to observe the freedom to provide services when implementing it through secondary legislation, *cf.* ECJ, Case 13/83, ECR 1985, 1513, para. 64; ECJ, Case C-17/90, Wieger, ECR 1991, I-5253; *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht, 101 *et sqq.*; GA *van Gerven*, final pleadings in Case C-18/83, Corsica Ferries, para. 23; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Troberg/Tiedje*, Art. 51, Annot. 3.

Which also suggests that the question of whether – and to what extent – Articles 49 *et sqq*. ECT can have direct effect in the transport sector under certain circumstance (especially in the event of an inactive Community legislator) no longer is current. *Cf.* on this issue *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht, 103 *et sqq*.; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Troberg/Tiedje*, Art. 51, Annot. 2. In the case-law, notably ECJ, Case C-17/90, Wieger, ECR 1991, I-5253, paras. 11 *et sqq*.

On this issue *Behrens*, EuR 1992, 145 et sqq.; Füller, Grundlagen and inhaltliche Reichweite der Warenverkehrsfreiheiten, 165; Classen, EWS 1995, 97 et sqq.; Eberhartinger, EWS 1997, 43 et sqq.; Jarass, EuR 1995, 202 et sqq.; Jarass, EuR 2000, 705 et sqq.; Kingreen, Struktur der Grundfreiheiten, 74 et sqq.; Kingreen, EuGRZ 2004, 570 et sqq.; Classen, EuR 2004, 416 et sqq.; Steinberg, EuGRZ 2002, 13 et sqq.; Weiß, EuZW 1999, 493 et sqq.; Oliver/Roth, CMLRev. 2004, 407 et sqq.

European Court of Justice and legal scholarship. Without being able to explore the general doctrine of the fundamental freedoms in this context, ⁴²⁶ the following considerations can be identified:

- To the extent that market access itself is affected or the measure significantly affects such access, the fundamental freedoms are to be interpreted as a **prohibition of restrictive measures**, 427 meaning that not only measures (directly or indirectly) linked to nationality are covered by their scope, but also measures generally restricting the exercise of each freedom. 428
- Building on this interpretation of the fundamental freedoms as prohibitions of restrictive measures, a restriction of the fundamental freedoms can be justified both for the reasons expressly mentioned in the Treaty as well as other public interests;⁴²⁹ the latter may not, however, be purely of an economic nature.⁴³⁰
- Finally, measures encroaching on the fundamental freedoms always have to suffice the requirements under the principle of proportionality.⁴³¹

Cf. on the doctrine relating to fundamental freedoms the references in note 412.

On Article 28 ECJ, see Case 120/78, Rewe/Bandesmonopolverwaltung für Branntwein, ECR 1979, 649 ("Cassis de Dijon"); ECJ, Case C-470/93, Mars, ECR 1995, I-1923; on the freedom to provide services ECJ, Case 33/74, van Binsbergen, ECR 1974, 1299, para. 10; ECJ, Rs C-76/90, Säger, ECR 1991, I-4221, para. 12; ECJ, Case C-275/92, Schindler, ECR 1994, I-1039, para. 43; on the freedom of establishment ECJ, Case C-212/97, Centros, ECR 1999, I-1459; ECJ, Case C-255/97, Pfeiffer, ECR 1999, I-2835; ECJ, Case C-55/94, Gebhard, ECR 1995, I-4165; on the free movement of capital ECJ, Judgment of 23 September 2003 - C-452/01 - Ospelt and Schlössle Weissenberg Familienstiftung; ECJ, ECR 2003, I-4581 - Commission/Spain; ECJ, ECR 2003, I-4641 - Commission/United Kingdom; ECJ, Case C-503/99 (Commission/Belgium), Judgment of 4 June 2002, EuZW 2002, 429; ECJ, Case C-483/99 (Commission/France), Judgment of 4 June 2002, EuZW 2002, 433; ECJ, Case C-367/98 (Commission/Portugal), Judgment of 4 June 2002, EuZW 2002, 437.

It is still unclear and subject to debate whether the "Keck-doctrine" developed in application of Article 28 ECT (ECJ, joined Cases C-267, 268/91, Keck and Mithouard, ECR 1993, I-6097) can be applied to the other fundamental freedoms. On this issue Calliess/Ruffert-*Epiney*, Art. 28, Annot. 57. This aspect of the fundamental freedom doctrine should not become relevant in connection with user charges, however, given that the latter are hardly "modalities of the exercise of the fundamental freedoms".

Cf. the references contained in note 488.

On this requirement, see with further references Calliess/Ruffert-*Epiney*, Art. 30, Annot. 14 *et sqq*.

From the case-law, see, for instance, ECJ, Case 8/89, Zardi, ECR 1990, 2515; ECJ, Case C-296/94, Pietsch, ECR 1996, I-3409; ECJ, Case verb. C-133/93, C-300/93 and C-362/93, Crispoltini *et al.*, ECR 1994, I-4836; ECJ, Case C-180/96, BSE, ECR 1998, I-2265, para. 96. In depth on the principle of proportionality in Community law *Emmerich-Fritsche*, Grundsatz der Verhältnismäßigkeit, *passim*; *Koch*, Grundsatz der Verhältnismäßigkeit, *passim*.

a.) Free Movement of Goods

An introduction of user charges would seek to compensate external costs caused by air and sea transport. Both in aviation and shipping, the provision of transport services will generally dominate quantitatively, with goods transported aside from passengers. Against this backdrop, even if a user charge is not directly imposed on goods, it can raise a variety of questions relating to the movement of goods whose answer may be decisive for the compatible design of a user charge. The following analysis will therefore cover implications of user charges for the movement of goods, distinguishing between the Articles 25 and 90 ECT (aa.), bb.)), which directly relate to charges, and Article 28 ECT with its prohibition of quantitative restrictions imports and all measures having equivalent effect (cc.)

aa.) Article 25 (Prohibition of Customs Duties and Charges Having Equivalent Effect)

A user charge could violate the prohibition of customs duties on imports and exports and charges having equivalent effect (Article 25 ECT). Since user charges are not customs duties in the sense of this provision, given that they are not referred as such, only the prohibition of **charges having equivalent effect** to customs duties might prove relevant. Pursuant to the jurisprudence of the European Court of Justice, which draws on the "typical" characteristics of customs duties, such charges having equivalent effect presuppose that:

- a unilaterally compensation duty
- of a **pecuniary** nature
- is levied at the time of, or by reason of, the **transboundary movement**
- of a **product**.

On the concept of customs duties *strictu sensu*, see ECJ, joined Cases 2, 3/69, Diamantarbeiders, ECR 1969, 211, paras. 15/18; siehe also on this issue *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 245, with further references.

Cf. from the seminal case-law ECJ, joined Cases 2, 3/62, Commission/Luxembourg, Belgium, ECR 1962, 869; and furthermore ECJ, joined Cases 2, 3/69, Diamantarbeiders, ECR 1969, 211, paras. 15/18; ECJ, Case C-72/92, Scharbatke/Bandesamt für Ernährung und Forstwirtschaft, ECR 1993, I-5509, para. 16; ECJ, Case C-266/91, Celulose Beira Industrial SA/Fazenda Pública, ECR 1993, I-4337, para. 10; in the scholarly literature, see *inter alia* von der Groeben/Schwarze-Vaulont, Art. 25, Annot. 5 et sqq., with further references.

Even in the absence of an examination of all substantive elements contained in Article 25 ECT, ⁴³⁴ it can already be affirmed that **user charges** do not constitute charges having equivalent effect, given that they are not levied by reason of the transboundary movement of products and thus fail to meet that criterion: in order to fall within the scope of the prohibition set out through Article 25 ECT, a charge – however small – would have to be imposed precisely because of the "transboundary movement", irrespective of the object and purpose of the measure. ⁴³⁵ By definition, a user charge on the use of global environmental goods will not be imposed on the transboundary movement. Instead, it implements the polluter-pays principle (*cf.* Article 174 (2) ECT⁴³⁶) in order to achieve compensation for the use of certain environmental goods. In other words, the event giving rise to the compensation duty is typically not the transboundary movement of a product, but the use of an environmental good. ⁴³⁷

Incidentally, it bears noting that user charge geared towards "compensating" the use of an environmental good, also aiming at a certain behavioural effect in the process, are precisely not linked to the importation of products, given that such a measure would neither be suited nor necessary to achieve said objective, rendering it ultimately disproportionate.

Furthermore, any attempt to finance environmental policy by subjecting imported products to a compensation duty would violate Article 25 ECT and thus Community law. 438

With the charge not linked to the transboundary movement of products, it cannot be classified as a charge having equivalent effect for the purposes of Article 25 ECT. By way of conclusion, it can be affirmed that a user charge may not, at any rate, be imposed on the transboundary movement of products, nor will it typically do so. Accordingly, the prohibition set out in Article 25 ECT will not apply to user charges, provided these are not linked to the criterion of a transboundary movement of products.

Such a user charge imposed on the transboundary movement of products could not be **justified** as such, since the prohibition contained in Article 25 ECT applies "absolutely"; its violation is not amenable to justification. 439

Aside from the criterion of transboundary movement, the link to products, in particular, might be doubtful. Although it would not be decisive that the charge be directly imposed on a product, given that it suffices if the fee imposes an added burden on the transboundary movement of goods, *cf.* von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Vaulont*, Art. 25, Annot. 10, certain categories of user charges would not allow for any sort of product bearing. *Cf.* on this issue in connection with Article 90 ECT *infra* Part 1, C. III. 1. a.) bb.)

ECJ, Case C-24/68, Commission/Italy, ECR 1969, 193, para. 16; see also ECJ, joined Cases 2 and 3/69, Diamantarbeiders, ECR 1969, 211, paras. 11/14.

On the significance of the polluter-pays-principle for the introduction of environmental charges, see in depth *Heselhaus*, Chargenhoheit, 184 *et sqq*. See also *supra* C. I. 1. c).

⁴³⁷ Cf. above, Introduction, Part 1 A., regarding the notion of user charges applied here.

Müller-Graff, EUDUR I, § 10, Annot. 38; Seeger, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 165 (171).

Cf. ECJ, Case 78/76, Steinike & Weinlig, ECR 1977, 595; ECJ, Case C-242/95, GT-Link, ECR 1997, I-4449;
 in academic literature Balke, Steuerliche Gestaltungsfreiheit, 149 et seq.; Calliess-Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 25,
 Annot. 11; Seeger, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 165 (171).

ab.) Article 90 ECT (Prohibition of Discriminating Internal Taxation)

Pursuant to Article 90 ECT, products of other Member States may not be subjected to **internal taxation in excess** of that imposed on similar domestic products. The object and purpose of this provision is to ensure the **competitive neutrality** of internal taxation for imported and domestic products. It also follows that this provision does not preclude the collection of internal, product-related charges as such, but (merely) aims at preventing discrimination arising from the ensuing fiscal burden. Accordingly, Article 90 (1) ECT can be considered a special manifestation of the general prohibition of discrimination already contained in Article 12 ECT, albeit drawing on the origin of products as the inadmissible grounds for differentiation.

"Internal taxation" presupposes that the tax is not a charge having equivalent effect within the meaning of Article 25 ECT, 442 given that cumulative application of these two provisions is already ruled out with a view to their differing legal consequences ("absolute" prohibition in Article 25 ECT 443, possibility of justification in Article 90 ECT 444). When it comes to demarcating the scope of both provisions, the decisive criterion is the **transboundary movement** of a product, as it sets apart "charges having equivalent effect" as customs duties from "internal taxation" in the sense of Article 90 ECT, which forms part of a **comprehensive internal fiscal system**. Such internal taxation applies to the respective products on the basis of objective criteria, 445 irrespective of their origin and at the same trade level. 446 Internal taxes, in other words, apply both to domestic and foreign products, 447 albeit not necessarily imposing the same rates; charges having equivalent effect, in contrast, ultimately only affect products of foreign origin. 448

ECJ, Case C-101/00, Tulliasiamies and Antti Siilin, ECR 2002, I-7487, para. 52; ECJ, Case C-47/88, Commission/Denmark, ECR 1990, I-4509, para. 9. See also *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 126.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 127; Hof, Straßenverkehrsabgaben, 193; Ohler, Fiskalische Integration, 99. Other than that, Article 90 (1) ECT is directly applicable, cf. ECJ, Case 57/65, ECR 1966, 258 (265 et seq.) – Lüttike GmbH; ECJ, Case 34/67, ECR 1968, 363 (373) – Lück; Grabitz/Hilf-Voβ, Art. 90, Annot. 52 et seq.; Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 90, Annot. 11.

ECJ, Case 57/65, Lütticke, ECR 1966, 267. See also von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Vaulont*, Art. 25 ECT, Annot. 18; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek*, Art. 90 ECT, Annot. 4; *Welzel*, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 1996, 197.

See above, Part 1 C. III.

On this issue, see the following passages.

ECJ, Case 90/79, ECR 1981, 283, paras. 13 et seq. – Commission/Frankreich; ECJ, Case 105/76, ECR 1977, 1029 – Interzuccheri/Rezzano; ECJ, Case 193/85, ECR 1987, 2085 – Cooperativa CO-Frutta; Grabitz/Hilf-Voβ, Art. 90, Annot. 57; in depth Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 106 et sqq.; Balke, Steuerliche Gestaltungsfreiheit, 149 et sqq.; Wiebe, Abgaben zollgleicher Wirkung, 122 et sqq., each with further references.

ECJ, Case 39/82, ECR 1983, 19 – Donner/Niederlande; ECJ, Case C-149/91, ECR 1992, I-3899, paras. 17 *et seg.* – Sanders; *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 117; *Jobs*, Steuern auf Energie, 261.

ECJ, Case 90/79, Commission/France, ECR 1981, 283, paras. 12 *et sqq*.; ECJ, Case 32/80, Kortmann, ECR 1981, 251, para. 20; ECJ, Case 15/81, Schul, ECR 1982, 1409, para. 20.

On individual aspects of this distinction, see, for instance, Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 25, Annot. 11; von der Groeben-Vaulont, Art. 25, Annot. 18 et sqq.

(1) Legal Scope of Article 90 (1) ECT

The legal scope of Article 90 ECT primarily depends on its **scope of application**. Drawing on the wording of Article 90 ECT, the scope of application can be described as follows:

- Article 90 ECT is based on an extensive **concept of taxation**, ⁴⁴⁹ as can already be inferred from the choice of language in Article 90 (1) ECT: "internal taxation of any kind." For the purposes of this provision, "taxation" can be understood as any charge collected by a body governed by public law, ⁴⁵⁰ irrespective of its designation ⁴⁵¹ as a tax, fee, or contribution, *i.e.* its classification under domestic law, and the type and purpose of its expenditure. ⁴⁵²
- Given that Article 90 (1) ECT only covers taxation "of products", ⁴⁵³ application of this provision presupposes a **product bearing**, which does not, however, require direct and specific taxation of a product. ⁴⁵⁴ Rather, a distinction is necessary: on the one hand, the object of taxation can itself be a product. Accordingly, a progressive tax on motor vehicles based on their fiscal power rating would fall within the purview of Article 90 ECT. ⁴⁵⁵ The same applies to taxes on mineral oil and energy, ⁴⁵⁶ which the European Court of Justice has classified as products. ⁴⁵⁷ On the other hand, taxation of the movement of goods is itself product-related if

Cf. Ohler, Fiskalische Integration, 106; Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 90, Annot. 10; Grabitz/Hilf-Voβ, Art.
 90, Annot. 14 et sqq.; ECJ, Case 20/76, ECR 1977, 247, Ziff. 13 – Schöttle & Söhne.

ECJ, Case 74/76, Ianelli and Volpi, ECR 1977, 557, para. 19; *Müller*, Abgaben im Umweltrecht, 109; *Ohler*, Fiskalische Integration, 106.

von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek*, Art. 90 ECT, Annot. 18 *et sqq*.; *Seegers*, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 165 (173); Grabitz/Hilf-Voβ, Art. 90, Annot. 14; *Ohler*, Fiskalische Integration, 106; *Müller*, Abgaben im Umweltrecht, 109; Calliess/Ruffert-*Walfhoff*, Art. 90, Annot. 10. A sanction imposed in the event of a violation of applicable fiscal provisions can also fall under the concept of taxation. See ECJ, Case C-276/91, ECR 1993, I-4413, para. 28 – Commission/France.

Proceeds could accrue to the state budget or be appropriated separately for a specific purpose as special charges. ECJ, Case 74/76, Iannelli & Volpi, ECR 1977, 557, paras. 18 *et seq.*; Grabitz/Hilf-Voβ, Art. 90, Annot. 14 *et seq.*

Charges on capital and services are thus excluded. *Cf.* ECJ, Case 267/86, van Eycke, ECR 1988, 4769, para. 25. An analogous application of Article 90 (1) ECT has to be rejected, *cf.* Calliess/Ruffert-*Waldhoff,* Art. 90, Annot. 10; *Balke*, Steuerliche Gestaltungsfreiheit, 24 *et sqq.*

von der Groeben/Schwarze-Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek, Art. 90, Annot. 23, 27.

ECJ, Case 112/84, Humblot, ECR 1985, 1367, paras. 12 et sqq.

ECJ, Case C-213/96, Outokumpu Oy, ECR 1998, I-1777; *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 92; *Jobs*, Steuern auf Energie, 254 *et sqq.*; *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht in der EU, 188 *et seq*.

A product is defined as being valued in money and thus able to be the subject of commercial transactions, see ECJ, Case 7/68, Commission/Italien, ECR 1968, 633, para. 6. In ECJ, Case C-393/92, Almelo, ECR 1994, I-1477, para. 28, the Court considered electricity a product. The same would have to apply to oil and gas; see Grabitz/Hilf-*Leible*, Art. 28, para. 45.

it can be "ascribed" to the product. That would be the case, for instance, if a feature of the transported product (notably its weight or size) determined the rate of the charge, ⁴⁵⁹ not, however, if the overall weight of the motor vehicle in question serves as the basis for calculation. A product bearing can also follow otherwise from the calculation basis, for instance when the weight or value of a product serves as a reference value for the fiscal burden; such indirect taxation of products is, for instance, common when assessing fees on registration, storage and postal services. ⁴⁶¹

Substantively, Article 90 (1) ECT contents a fiscal **prohibition of discrimination** for products from other Member States, with "**similar domestic products**" providing the standard of comparison. The likeness of products has to be determined on the basis of a comprehensive normative assessment of objective product features and the subjective impressions of consumers. Within the ambit of Article 90 (1) ECT, likeness thus depends on whether products have similar features and serve the same needs of consumers. At any rate, products are not like if they differ in the method of their manufacture or their essential characteristics, something the European Court of Justice upheld in the case of liqueur wines fortified with spirits and wines resulting from natural fermentation.

Article 90 (1) ECT does not apply in the absence of comparable domestic production, ⁴⁶⁵ given that such circumstances cannot give rise to a discrimination of imported products relative to domestic products. Accordingly, Article 90 (1) ECT does not generally rule out imposing a burden on foreign products.

A violation of Article 90 (1) ECT occurs when charges imposed on imported products and similar domestic products are calculated differently and based on divergent modalities, resulting in imported products being subjected to a higher burden – even in very exceptional cases – and thus in

von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Eilers/Bahns/Sedlaczek*, Art. 90 ECT, Annot. 31.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben and Europarecht, 94ff.; Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 189.

Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 199 et seq.

ECJ, Case 32/80, Kortmann, ECR 1981, 251; ECJ, Case 34/37, Variola, ECR 1973, 981; ECJ, Case 39/82, Donner/Niederlande, ECR 1983, 19.

Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 90, Annot. 12; Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 193.

ECJ, Case C-302/00, Commission/Frankreich, ECR 2002, I-2055, para. 23; ECJ, Case C-265/99, Commission/Frankreich, ECR 2001, I-2305, para. 42; ECJ, Case C-101/00, Tulliasiamies and Antti Siilin, ECR 2002, I-7487, para. 56.

ECJ, Case 104/81, ECR 1982, 3641, para. 46.

⁴⁶⁵ ECJ, Case C-47/88, Commission/Denmark, ECR 1990, I-4509, para. 10.

a **discrimination** of the latter. Both direct and indirect discrimination are covered by this provision. 467

A protectionist approach to internal taxation, for instance by imposing the lowest tax rates to all domestic products and the highest rates to all foreign products, would clearly meet the concept of discrimination set out in Article 90 (1) ECT. 468

Fiscal measures imposed equally on domestic ad foreign products can still be discriminating if "return services" or reimbursements of any kind mainly (or exclusively) benefit domestic companies, or if tax exemptions merely or primarily apply to domestic producers. 469

A differentiation of taxes on like products may be **justified** by **legitimate public interests** which are themselves compatible with the objectives of the Community, provided they are based on objective criteria and not the mere state of origin.⁴⁷⁰ Article 90 (1) ECT does not, in other words, contain an absolute duty to afford equal treatment.⁴⁷¹ Member States are thus given the possibility to guide behaviour in desired ways by differentiating tax rates on the basis of objective criteria.⁴⁷²

Accordingly, the ECJ considered an electricity tax which varied in accordance with the manner in which the electricity was generated and the raw materials used for its production compatible with Article 90 (1) ECT if ecological considerations motivated such differentiation; purely practical difficulties cannot be considered legitimate public interests, however. 473

Likewise, the **proportionality** of differentiation – as measured against the objective thereby pursued – is of decisive importance.⁴⁷⁴

(2) On the Significance of Article 90 (1) ECT for the Design of User Charges

If one attempts to frame more concrete requirements arising from Article 90 (1) ECT for user charges against the foregoing analysis of its legal scope, the following will generally apply:

ECJ, Case C-101/00, Tulliasiamies and Antti Siilin, ECR 2002, I-7487, para. 53; ECJ, Case C-213/96, Outokumpu, ECR 1998, I-1777, para. 34; ECJ, Case C-393/98, Gomes Valente, ECR 2001, I-1327, para. 21; ECJ, Case C-302/00, Commission/France, ECR 2002, I-2055, para. 21.

ECJ, Case 112/84, Humblot, ECR 1985, 1367, para. 13-16; ECJ, Case C-302/00, Commission/Frankreich, ECR 2002, I-2055, para. 30; *Craig/de Búrca*, EU Law, 593 *et seq.*; Calliess/Ruffert-*Waldhoff*, Art. 90 ECT, Annot. 13.

⁴⁶⁸ *Jatzke*, EWS 2000, 491 (495).

⁴⁶⁹ *Pieper*, DÖV 1996, 232 (238 et seq.); Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 132.

ECJ, Case 140/79, Chemical Farmaceutici, ECR 1981, 1, para. 15; ECJ, Case 196/85, Commission/France, ECR 1987, 1597, para. 9; ECJ, Case C-90/94, Haahr Petroleum, ECR 1997, I-4085, paras. 30 *et seq.*; *Jatzke*, EWS 2000, 491 (495); *Hof*, Straßenverkehrsabgaben, 207 *et sqq.*; Grabitz/Hilf-*Voβ*, Art. 90, Annot. 33 *et sqq.*; *Jobs*, Steuern auf Energie, 264.

Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrspolitik, 195 et seq.

⁴⁷² Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 90 ECT, Annot. 13; Craig/de Búrca, EU Law, 597 et seq.

ECJ, Case C-213/96, Outokumpu Oy, ECR 1998, I-1777, para. 31.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 136; Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 195; Seegers, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 165 (175).

- **User charges** must definitely be considered **taxation** within the purview of Article 90 ECT, given the (undisputedly) wide scope of taxation as a concept.
- Application of Article 90 (1) ECT to user charges will typically depend on whether the latter **relate to a product**; depending on the design of the user charge, such a product bearing may be present or not. Different user charge models need to be distinguished with a view to this characteristic. Only if the user charge is related to products in the sense outlined above will Article 90 (1) ECT set out certain requirements for the design of user charges.
- What is more, for Article 90 (1) ECT to apply, the user charge would have to demonstrably possess a **discriminating effect** linked to the origin of products.
- Even in the event that Article 90 (1) ECT proves applicable, objective public interests Including environmental protection might justify the measure in question.

Against this backdrop, different design options for a user charge may now be assessed with a view to Article 90 (1) ECT:

A charge imposed on **freight** relative to a certain distance (**toll**) will generally relate to products in a manner sufficient to incite application of Article 90 (1) ECT, given that the charge is then calculated on the basis of freight volumes. In the case of a user charge based on objective criteria, however, a violation of Article 90 (1) ECT is unlikely given the absence of discrimination, which is one of the required criteria. Aside from that, it would still be difficult to ascertain how such an instrument could discriminate against certain products, seeing how it is linked to freight capacities as such and not the actual products being transported.

At best, one might assume a substantive discrimination if the user charge is imposed solely on the transport of certain (foreign) products, an design that is hardly likely to be implemented.

Altogether, thus, the conditions for a violation of Article 90 (1) ECT will typically not be met by such a user charge design.

- User charges collected relative to the distance traveled (toll), the load capacity or the passengers transported ("Ticket Charge") do not possess the required product bearing, given that they are not imposed on the transported products as such. An analogous reasoning applies to time-based user charges.
- Fees imposed on the use of infrastructures (port-/landing fees) do not have a product bearing, as they are solely geared towards the use of infrastructures by a certain vehicle. Application of Article 90 (1) ECT might result from a product bearing established through the means of transportation, which is a product in itself.⁴⁷⁵ In the case of port and landing fees, however, the linkages with free movement of goods will commonly be too indirect and uncertain: after all, the fees are not intended as compensation for the vehicles as such, but for

Thus in relation to motorway tolls *Hof*, Straßenverkehrsabgaben, 200; *Epiney/Gruber*, Verkehrsrecht, 200 *et seq.*

the service rendered; generally, therefore, such charges will not affect trade and the free movement of products. A different view could only apply if the fee was designed to be so high as to result in a breakdown of demand in the market for transportation services. At any rate, it bears noting that port and landing fees will generally fail to have a discriminating effect given that they relate to the use of infrastructures, with differentiation in accordance with origin of vehicles unlikely. As a rule, thus, Article 90 (1) ECT will not apply to fees on infrastructure usage.

Emissions-based user charges and charges imposed on the **consumption of fuel** have a **product bearing**. In the case of charges linked to the fuel consumption, the product bearing follows directly from the capacity of fuel as a product. An indirect bearing may also arise in the event of emissions-based charges, however, given the direct correlation between fuel consumption and resultant emissions.⁴⁷⁷

Thus, the ECJ qualified a Danish tax determined by reference to fuel consumption and emissions as an excise tax imposed on the consumption of products for purposes of secondary legislation. A product bearing may also follow from reference to the means of transportation. Emissions-based user charges may, after all, affect the free movement of goods by guiding users towards less emitting means of transportation.

A system of environmental tariffs based on objective criteria should not give rise to any objections under Article 90 (1) ECT, provided it is proportionate to the environmental objectives it seeks to achieve. In such a case, objective differentiation relative to pollutants emitted would also be permissible if it benefited means of transportation meeting strict domestic pollutant ceilings by affording them a preferential rate.⁴⁷⁹ Indeed, a system of user charges cannot be considered discriminating merely because products imported from other Member States fall within the highest tax category.⁴⁸⁰ Protectionist charges, in turn, which grant preferential treatment to domestic means of transportation despite their being more polluting, would clearly violate the prohibition of discrimination set out in Article 90 (1) ECT. Otherwise, however, Article 90 (1) ECT generally allows for measures to guide behaviour towards less emitting means of transportation.

For the sake of completeness, mention should also be made of **Article 90 (2) ECT**: aside from prohibiting discrimination of similar products, this provision also contains a **prohibition of protectionism**. The comparison of fiscal burdens necessitated by Article 90 (2) ECT relates to products – directly or indirectly – competing within the same market and thus susceptible to mutual substitution.⁴⁸¹ A charge can prove protectionist both by differentiating relative to the origin of imported products, or by their effect (products subject to a higher burden are primarily imported,

Cf. Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 200.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 311 et seg.

ECJ, Case C-346/97, Braathens Sverige, ECR 1999, I-3419, paras. 22 et sqq.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 136.

⁴⁸⁰ ECJ, Case C-132/88, Commission/Greece, ECR 1990, I-1567, para. 18.

Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 90, Annot. 18.

rather than produced domestically). 482 Article 90 (2) ECT supplements Article 90 (1) ECT by precluding protectionist effects of charges to the benefit of domestic production.

Whether the objective of a charge is compatible with Article 90 (2) ECT has to be determined by way of a comprehensive **test of proportionality**. The pursuit of a legitimate common interest will typically rule out a protectionist effect, however. As Charges based on objective criteria, with no link to the origin of products, do not give rise to objections under Article 90 (2) ECT.

ac.) Article 28 ECT (Prohibition of Quantitative Restrictions and Measures Having Equivalent Effect)

Article 28 ECT prohibits quantitative restrictions on trade and all measures having equivalent effect between Member States. Like the foregoing provisions, Article 28 ECT is designed as a prohibition of restrictions. 484 Generally, however, **Article 25 ECT** will be classified as *lex specialis* in relation to **Article 28 ECT** whenever the free movement of goods is restricted by customs duties and charges having equivalent effect. 485 Charges not prohibited by Article 25 ECT may not, then, be precluded by Article 28 as a fall-back clause. In that sense, charges only need to be tested with reference to Article 25 ECT (or Article 90 EGV).

If at all, only internal taxes prohibited neither by Article 25 ECT nor by Article 90 ECT might be reviewed pursuant to Article 28, and then only, if the taxes are sufficiently high to restrict the free movement of goods within the common market. Only measures amounting to a *de facto* import or export prohibition would be affected, however, for instance because the tax rates are so high as to have a prohibitive effect; that is not likely in the case of user charges. Article 28 ECT will thus only apply under very limited circumstances and are thus of little relevance for the questions addressed in this study, 487 obviating the need for more detailed analysis.

Calliess/Ruffert-Waldhoff, Art. 90, Annot. 19.

Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 205.

ECJ, Case 120/78, Cassis de Dijon, ECR 1979, 649, para. 8.

Standing case-law: *Cf.* ECJ, Case 74/76, Iannelli and Volpi, ECR 1977, 557, paras. 9/10; ECJ, joined Cases C-78-83/90, Compagnie Commerciale, ECR 1992, I-1847, para. 20; ECJ, Case C-266/91, Celulose Beira, ECR 1993, I-4337, para. 26. See also *Epiney*, ZUR 1995, 24 (30); *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 104; *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 256; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Müller-Graff*, Art. 28 ECT, Annot. 328.

Thus, for instance, the ECJ in an *obiter dictum*, *cf.* ECJ, Case 47/88, Commission/Denmark, ECR 1990, I-4509, paras. 12-13.

Likewise *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben, 257. Critically as regards the aforementioned tendencies in the case-law of the ECJ *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 112, who considers an application of Art. 28 ECT alongside the more specific provisions set out in Art. 25 and 90 ECT unnecessary.

b.) Article 43 ECT (Freedom of Establishment)

ba.) Principles

Article 43 ECT prohibits restrictions on the freedom of establishment of nationals of a Member State in the territory of another Member State. Pursuant to Article 43 (2) ECT, the **freedom of establishment** includes the right to take up and pursue activities as self-employed persons and to set up and manage undertakings. What is more, the freedom of establishment implies the opportunity of participating, on a stable and continuous basis, in the economic life of another Member State. Article 43 ECT only applies to **measures not related to products**, given that product-related charges are already conclusively regulated by Articles 25 and 90 ECT.

Although Article 43 (2) ECT only refers to taking up and pursuing activities as self-employed persons "under the conditions laid down for its own nationals by the law of the country where such establishment is effected", initially rendering it a requirement of equal treatment, the European Court of Justice has largely approximated the freedom of establishment and the product-related freedoms. Accordingly, the freedom of establishment extends to national legislation which – despite not being discriminatory on the basis of origin – may prove suited to restrict or render less attractive the exercise of a fundamental freedom set out in the Treaty, ⁴⁹¹ at least to the extent it restricts the establishment itself (**prohibition of restriction**).

Again, however, restrictive measures may be **justified** – even if they are additionally discriminatory in an indirect sense⁴⁹² – under the following conditions.⁴⁹³

- They must be justified by an **overriding reason relating to the public interest**;
- They must be **appropriate** for achievement of the pursued objective;
- They may not go beyond what is **necessary** to achieve the pursued objective.

Under the case-law of the ECJ, **direct discrimination** will probably only be justifiable with the reasons outlined in the Treaty (that is, reasons of public order, security or health, *cf.* Article 43 ECT);⁴⁹⁴ given the restrictive interpretation of

In depth on the freedom of establishment *Lackhoff*, Niederlassungsfreiheit, passim.

⁴⁸⁹ Cf. ECJ, Case C-55/94, Gebhard, ECR 1995, I-4165, para. 25.

Seeger, in: Rechtsprobleme von Umweltabgaben, 165 (171); Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 161.

ECJ, Case C-19/92, Kraus, ECR 1993, I-1663, para. 32. *Cf.* auch *Epiney*, Umgekehrte Diskriminierungen, 69; *Lenaerts/van Nuffel*, Constitutional Law of the EU, Annot. 5-129; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Tiedje/Troberg*, Art. 43 ECT, Annot. 87ff.

⁴⁹² Grabitz/Hilf-*Randelzhofer/Forsthoff*, Art. 43 ECT, Annot. 109.

Siehe ECJ, Case C-55/94, Gebhard, ECR 1995, I-4165, para. 37; ECJ, C-424/97, Haim, ECR 2000, I-5123, para. 57; ECJ, Case C-19/92, Kraus, ECR 1993, I-1663, para. 32.

Cf. Lenaerts/van Nuffel, Constitutional Law, para. 5-111 and para. 5-144.

these concepts by the ECJ, directly discriminating measures will typically not be amenable to justification on environmental protection grounds. 495

bb.) On the Significance of Article 43 ECT for the Design of User Charges

To the extent that they are not related to products, in which case Articles 25, 90 ECT would apply, the **introduction of user charges** may generally fall under the **prohibition** set out in **Article 43** ECT:

That would be the case if the introduction of the user charges still results in **indirect discrimination**, despite being applied without distinction for reasons of origin.

That would be the case, for instance, if entrepreneurs from other Member States encounter greater difficulties in meeting the conditions of a tax exemption than domestic entrepreneurs. ⁴⁹⁶ Although such provisions might apply indiscriminately to both domestic and foreign entrepreneurs, foreign companies would still suffer discrimination in the end, given that only domestic companies will commonly benefit from the tax exemptions.

Direct discrimination arising from a charge, for instance by differentiating rates on the basis of nationality, will not *prima facie* preclude suitability for the achievement of environmental policy objectives, setting aside the fact that justification on environmental grounds is likely to fail given the case-law of the ECJ. Against this backdrop, measures discriminating on grounds of nationality will, at best, be a political option in exceptional cases only.

Additionally, it should be borne in mind that any measure capable of **restricting the establishment** in other Member States or rendering it **less attractive**, thereby affecting the choice of location of a company, is covered by the prohibition of restrictions inferred from Article 43 ECT. This also applies to fiscal measures which may restrict the freedom of establishment.

Deciding on French legislation affording a tax credit to French insurance companies for dividends from stocks held by these companies, but not to agencies of insurance companies with registered offices in another Member State, the Court found a violation of Article 43 ECT. 498

A user charge assessed against transport undertakings may, in principle, result in a restriction of their freedom of establishment, given that it incurs additional expenses and thus

Although the Court has relativised this principle somewhat with a view to the free movement of goods, *cf.* ECJ, Case C-379/98, Preussen Elektra/Schleswag AG, ECR 2001, I-2099; it appears doubtful that this case-law has general application and can be "extended" to Art. 43 ECT, especially since it was inspired by the specific constellation of the underlying case. Other than that, direct discrimination would likely prove unsuitable or at least unnecessary for the achievement of the objectives pursued with a user charge, obviating the need for additional analysis of this issue. *Cf.* on the scope of said ECJ judgment for instance *Scheuing*, in: Umweltrecht im Wandel, 129 (156 *et sqq.*); *Skouris*, Festschrift Rodriguez Iglesias, 497 (503 *et seq.*).

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 263 et seq.

Cf. the references provided in note 482.

ECJ, Case 270/83, Commission/Frankreich, ECR 1986, 273, para. 11 *et sqq.*; *cf.* auch ECJ, Case C-1/93, Halliburton, ECR 1994, I-1137, paras. 14 *et sqq.*; ECJ, Case C-264/96, Imperial Chemical Industries, ECR 1998, I-4695, para. 18. On the compatibility of a fiscal provision on the taxation of motor vehicles with the freedom of establishment of workers, see also ECJ, EuZW 2004, 413, Weigel. On this issue *Sutter*, EuZW 2004, 590 *et sqq*.

impairs their competitive position (for instance in relation to undertakings from third states). 499 It would stand to reason that Article 43 ECT applies to fees on the **use of infrastructures** (port and landing fees), in particular, as these are liable to influence the choice of location and have no product bearing; emissions- and time-based user charges as well as charges on fuel consumption commonly lead to an application of Article 90 (1) ECT. 500 In the case of tolling systems, insofar as they are not already governed by Article 90 (1) ECT, pertinence for the freedom of establishment will likely be superseded by the freedom to provide services, which has yet to be outlined below; after all, the toll will not be imposed on the establishment as such, but rather be a charge assessed in connection with the provision of a service, thus largely precluding a restriction of the freedom of establishment.

The possibilities of a **justification** by an overriding reason relating to the public interest remain to be determined, drawing on the foregoing principles, notably the need to give particular consideration to the principle of proportionality:

The **overriding reasons relating to the public interest** are entirely based on judicial decisions and do not form part of an exhaustive catalogue; accordingly, they can be expanded to include additional justifications of a non-economic character. In the area of free movement of goods, the European Court of Justice has explicitly recognised environmental protection as an overriding reason suited to restrict the application of Article 28 ECT. A similarly explicit recognition has yet to be declared in the area of freedom of establishment. Still, with a view to the largely analogous development of the personal freedoms as a ban on restrictions, it would seem to follow that overriding reasons of environmental protection should also serve to justify restrictions of the freedom of establishment. Such an interpretation would also find support in Article 3 lit. 1 ECT, which charges the Community with implementation of a policy in the sphere of the environment. In the absence of Community harmonisation measures, moreover, Member States are not prevented from relying on environmental protection as a justification. Other than that, however, user charges are generally compatible with the objectives of the Treaty in that they seek to

Cf. also *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 163 *et sqq*.

Supra, Part 1, C. III.

Grabitz/Hilf-*Randelzhofer/Forsthoff*, Art. 43 EGV, para. 108 and Vorbemerkungen zu Art. 39-55, para. 162 *et sqq*.

For the seminal case, see ECJ, Case 302/86, Commission/Denmark, ECR 1988, 4607, para. 9; confirmed, for instance, by the ECJ in Case C-379/98, Preussen Elektra/Schleswag AG, ECR 2001, I-2099.

Likewise Müller-Graff, EUDUR I, § 10, para. 84; Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 262.

Cf. on this approach AG *Jacobs* in Case C-112/00, Schmidberger, ECR 2003, I-5659, para. 102, who (regarding the fundamental rights in the Treaty) states that: "Community law cannot prohibit Member States from pursuing objectives which the Community itself is bound to pursue."

implement a central tenet of the environmental principles set out in Article 174 (2) EGV, the principle that the polluter should pay. ⁵⁰⁵

Generally, therefore, **user charges** restricting the freedom of establishment may be justified on **environmental grounds** – including the need to **protect the global commons** by limiting their exploitation in accordance with the principle that the polluter should pay.

As for the requirement that a measure be **appropriate**, the (Community or national) legislator will possess ample powers of discretion. The legislator may choose among different approaches for the achievement of a set objective, provided the chosen approach is generally conducive to such achievement. Phrased differently, the measure may not be manifestly unsuitable for achievement of the pursued objective. As such, then, a plausibility test is called for. Altogether, it needs to be borne in mind that this involves testing a means-end-relation, with the suitability of a measure only ascertainable relative to the objectives set out by the national or the Community legislator.

Exact determination of the **objective** is thus decisive for an assessment of the suitability of a **user charge** on global environmental goods: if the user charge is only meant to guide behaviour towards environmentally less detrimental means of transportation, the chosen design would have to be evaluated with a view to its conduciveness to said objective. If, however, the guiding effect cannot be achieved, for instance because the specific design of the charge creates an incentive to engage in environmentally detrimental behaviour or because the rates it imposes are so low that it cannot influence behavioural choices, it cannot be considered appropriate. If, on the other hand, the purpose of the charge is to redress environmental damages or provide funds for the promotion of research on environmental technologies, its appropriateness would have to be determined with a view to this financing objective. The decisive factor, thus, would seem to be the expenditure of proceeds: a user charge imposed without earmarking for specific purposes and thus merely accruing to the general budget would not, accordingly, be conducive to achievement of a certain purpose, all the more since it does not yield revenues which can be use for said purpose. If the user charge

⁵⁰⁵ *Cf. Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 185 *et sqq*.

Cf. only ECJ, Case C-293/93, Houtwipper, ECR 1994, I-4249, para. 22 (for the national legislator); ECJ, Case 265/87, Schräder, ECR 1989, 2237, paras. 22 *et seq.* (for the Community legislator).

von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Müller-Graff*, Art. 30 ECT, Annot. 130.

von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Tiedje/Troberg*, Art. 43, Annot. 106; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Müller-Graff*, Art. 30 ECT, Annot. 130; ECJ, Case 265/87, Schräder, ECR 1989, 2237, para. 22; see also ECJ, Case C-341/95, Safety Hi-Tech, ECR 1998, I-4801; ECJ, Case C-284/95, Bettati/Safety Hi-Tech, ECR 1998, I-4335. At length *Epiney*, in: Klimaschutz durch Emissionshandel, 207 (235 *et seq.*).

⁵⁰⁹ *Cf.* von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Tiedje/Troberg*, Art. 43 ECT, Annot. 106.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 185 et seq.

solely aims at "compensating" the use of an environmental good in accordance with the principle that the polluter should pay, however, it will likely prove appropriate, unless it is designed in a way that it provides an incentive for more intense use of the environmental good.

Lacking appropriateness, clearly, is a charge whose proceeds would be used purely to finance measures of development co-operation, despite the charge being imposed for environmental policy purposes. Likewise, a charge on shipping which incurs a shift to more detrimental means of transportation and thereby counteracts the environmental policy objectives would have to be considered inappropriate. And finally, a system of charges which, although based on the distance traveled, is merely charged on the negligibly small fraction of the overall distance traveled within a specific area, would tend to be inappropriate. In either case, the appropriateness has to be determined with a view to the legislative purpose only.

The criterion of **necessity** requires that measures taken be commensurate with the objectives they pursue or, in other words, that these objectives not be met by less onerous measures.⁵¹¹ Put differently, the means chosen to reach a specified objective have to be proportionate.⁵¹² This necessitates a comparison of alternative means. If these are less onerous than the measure ultimately taken, the latter is not necessary and thus not justified; again, the legislative definition of objectives is decisive, given that any determination of the least restrictive means can only occur in relation to the pursuit of specific objectives. By all means, the legislator enjoys a wide scope of discretion.⁵¹³ Command-and-control regulation prohibiting the use of certain routes of transportation is, as a rule, not less onerous as a means,⁵¹⁴ nor are regulatory approaches generally the mildest instrument; instead, the legislative powers of discretion also – and precisely – extend to the choice between different environmental policy instruments.

At any rate, when assessing the necessity of a user charge, the rate it imposes is of crucial importance. A "strangling charge" amounting to a *de facto*-prohibition of the activities it is imposed on cannot be considered necessary. Other than that, however, no general inferences can be made regarding the necessity and – in consequence – the admissibility of rates. Again, the determination has to occur against the background of relevant economic factors and the objective pursued with the introduction of the charge. If a desired behaviour can only be achieved with a certain rate, this rate will generally be necessary.

See recently with regard to the free movement of goods ECJ, Case C-41/02, Commission/Netherlands, Judgment of 2 December 2004, para. 46.

von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Tiedje/Troberg*, Art. 43, para. 107.

Freytag, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 187.

⁵¹⁴ Kirchhof, DVB1. 2000, 1166 (1172).

Certainly, strangling charges fail to meet the necessity test. Aside from the rates of a user charge, moreover, the chosen calculation basis can also rule out its necessity. Here, however, a differentiating view is called for: despite the discretion basically afforded to the legislator, preference must be given to the calculation basis which is least restrictive for the affected fundamental freedoms while still being appropriate in the achievement of specified objectives. A flat-rate, time-based user charge – for instance an annual fee collected in the transport sector irrespective of actual usage – would not be necessary when calculation based on the actual distance traveled allows for a more targeted and typically lower fiscal burden. Still, an abstract hierarchy of charges and their ability to meet the necessity test can hardly be compiled. Against the background of environmental protection, a high fiscal burden imposed on certain categories of sea vessels for reasons of transport policy, for instance, would not be necessary, unless the distinction of affected vessels from other sea vessels can be directly based on reasons derived from the policy objective (environmental protection).

A separate criterion of **disproportionateness** can occasionally be found in the case-law of the ECJ, requiring an assessment whether the burden imposed is disproportionate to the aims pursued.⁵¹⁵ This can only be understood as requiring a comprehensive balancing of values and interests.⁵¹⁶ As a rule, the judicial practice of the ECJ has integrated this test within that of necessity,⁵¹⁷ obviating the need for further discussion here.

When performing the balancing test to assess whether a measure is justified, consideration also needs to be given to the fundamental rights, as these guide both the interpretation and application of reasons for justification⁵¹⁸ and are mandatory for Member States when restricting fundamental freedoms of the Community.⁵¹⁹

Overall, environmental protection may serve as an overriding public interest justifying possible restrictions of the freedom of establishment; at any rate, however, the contribution of the user charge to environmental protection has to be actually demonstrated relative to the specified objective. "Symbolic" user charges, whose conduciveness to achievement of environmental policy objectives is doubtful or not apparent, are thus ruled out. As for the necessity of the rate of charges, only a "strangling charge" will generally fail to pass the proportionality test, given that it is based on the necessity for achievement of a certain, specified objective. Against this backdrop and the

⁵¹⁵ *Cf.* ECJ, Case 265/87, Schräder, ECR 1989, 2237, para. 21.

Epiney/Möllers, Freier Warenverkehr und nationaler Umweltschutz, 88; See also Kingreen, Struktur der Grundfreiheiten, 173.

Grabitz/Hilf-*Verfasser*, Vorbemerkungen zu Art. 39-55, para. 158.

ECJ, Case C-23/93, TV 10/Commissariaat voor de Medi, ECR 1994, I-4795, Annot. 23 *et sqq*.; ECJ, Case C-260/89, ERT, ECR 1991, I-2925, para. 43; ECJ, Case C-368/95, Familiapress, ECR 1997, I-3689, para. 24; see, in detail, *Craig/de Búrca*, EU Law, 341 *et sqq*.; on the implications of the Community fundemantel rights for user charges see below, Part 1, C. III. 2.

⁵¹⁹ Szczekalla, EUDUR I, § 12, Annot. 31.

discretionary powers afforded to the legislator,⁵²⁰ it can be affirmed that, in principle user charges are **compatible** with the requirements set out through **Article 43 ECT** if they meet certain design criteria.⁵²¹

For the sake of exhaustiveness, it bears noting that cases in which one measure pursues several objectives simultaneously (for instance guiding behaviour and yielding revenue for a specific purpose) will be disproportionate if it fails to meet the requirements with a view to all objectives.⁵²²

c.) Article 56 ECT (Free Movement of Capital)

Movements of capital are all **financial operations** which are not incurred by the free movement of goods and services, notably as compensation for services rendered.⁵²³ These are financial transactions essentially concerned with the investment of funds.⁵²⁴ Article 56 (1) ECT prohibits all restrictions on the movement of capital between Member States and between Member States and third countries. As with the earlier fundamental freedoms, the free movement of capital also extends beyond a mere prohibition of discrimination on grounds of nationality.⁵²⁵

The free movement of capital may be affected by a user charge, notably in connection with branch operations in other Member States. After all, the establishment of branch operations will frequently necessitate application of foreign capital; meanwhile, Article 43 (2) ECT provides that investments and financing measures relating to operations in other Member States are not covered by the freedom of establishment, but are subject to the free movement of capital. Free movement of capital may also be affected in the event of charges imposed on income from investments and other activities. On the one hand, thus, it needs to be asked whether the collection of user charges serves to restrict investment in the Member States; on the other hand, the question arises whether a charge on capital yield would be compatible with Article 56 ECT.

Cf. on this issue in great detail with reference to the free movement of goods Calliess/Ruffert-*Epiney*, Art. 30, Annot. 21 *et sqq.*, 51 *et sqq.*

See, in this regard, the comments of *Sutter*, which point in the same direction (albeit with a specific focus on road transport), EuZW 2004, 590 (593): "Das vorliegende Urteil zeigt, dass der ECJ in sich stringente and diskriminierungsfreie Besteuerungsmodelle der Mitgliedstaaten, die der Verwirklichung eines einheitlichen Besteuerungsgedankens dienen, als grundfreiheitenkonform akzeptiert," with reference to ECJ, EuZW 2004, 413, Weigel.

⁵²² Cf. only Amend, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 191.

ECJ, joined Cases C-286/82 and 26/83, Luisi and Carbone, ECR 1984, 404, para. 21; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Kiemel*, Art. 56 ECT, Annot. 1.

⁵²⁴ ECJ, joined Cases C-286/82 and 26/83, Luisi and Carbone, ECR 1984, 404, para. 21.

ECJ, Case C-483/99, Commission/France, ECR 2002, I-4801, para. 40; ECJ, Case C-503/99, Commission/Belgium, ECR 2002, I-4830, para. 39.

von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Tiedje/Troberg*, EUV/EGV, Art. 43 EGV, Annot. 20.

In this context, it needs to be recalled that restrictions of the free movement of capital do not include the **general fiscal framework.** ⁵²⁷ Instead, the determination must be based on formal or substantive differences in the internal legislation on transboundary movement of capital and domestic movement of capital. ⁵²⁸ This is complemented by the exception clause set out in Article 58 (1) lit. a ECT, which allows Member States to apply pertinent tax rules distinguishing between taxpayers who "are not in the same situation with regard to their place of residence or with regard to the place where their capital is invested."

Against this backdrop, the free movement of capital should generally not preclude the introduction of a charge which imposes a variable burden on capital yield for reasons of environmental policy and irrespective of origin. The same is likely to apply to other restrictions on the movement of capital.

d.) On the General Prohibition of Discrimination on Grounds of Nationality (Article 12 ECT)

Article 12 ECT sets out a **general prohibition of discrimination** banning any form of **discrimination on grounds of nationality** within the scope of the Treaty. Article 12 ECT only applies "without prejudice to any special provisions" contained in the Treaty. From this **subsidiary application of Article 12 ECT**, it follows that the prohibition of discrimination included as an element of the prohibition of restriction set out under the fundamental freedoms takes precedence. San As already outlined earlier, product-related charges have to be measured against the provisions on free movement of goods, notably against Article 90 ECT. Charges imposed relative to installations or locations may touch upon the freedom of establishment. Subject to a precise sectoral analysis, the freedom to provide services may be affected when charges are imposed on the temporary provision of services in another Member State. Comparatively little leeway remains for an application of the **general prohibition of discrimination**. The latter can only apply in the absence of charges relating to products or lacking applicability of the freedom of establishment and the freedom to provide services, a situation which might arise if, for instance, restrictions are imposed on private traffic. In the context of user charges on global environmental goods at issue here, this provisions will generally not acquire great importance.

Altogether, it bears noting that – pursuant to the case-law of the ECJ – Article 12 ECT is an expression of a general principle of equality which reaches beyond a mere prohibition of differentiation on the basis of nationality, requiring that "comparable situations … not be treated

Hence the majority opintion, *cf.* only Calliess/Ruffert-*Bröhmer*, Art. 56 EGV, Annot. 51.

Calliess/Ruffert-*Bröhmer*, Art. 56 EGV, Annot. 52; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Kiemel*, Art. 56 EGV, Annot.
 7.

Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 168. See also Seeger, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 173, who altogether assumes that movement of capital offers no link to ecologically motivated rules on taxation.

⁵³⁰ ECJ, Case C-20/92, Hubbard and Hamburger, ECR 1993, I-3777, para. 10.

Likewise *Seeger*, in: Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 165 (179).

Cf. also *Wasmeier*, Umweltabgaben, 190 et seq.

differently and different situations not be treated in the same way". Treatment which is at variance with this general requirement of equal treatment can be justified, however, if it is based on **objective considerations** and is not motivated by **nationality**, and, moreover, is proportionate to a **legitimate objective**. A staggered taxation of identical means of transport for reasons of environmental policy may amount to unequal treatment, but it could still be justified on legitimate grounds of environmental protection. Again, the proportionality of the measure would prove decisive for its admissibility. Identical considerations apply here to those expounded in the section on the freedom of establishment.

If at all, Article 12 ECT might apply to capacity-based user charges imposed on the distance traveled, as these would not have a bearing on products as required by Article 90 ECT. Still, an assessment would be required as to whether applicable secondary legislation on the freedom to provide services takes precedence. At any rate, factual discrimination of foreign entrepreneurs would only be conceivable if certain capacity classes typically used abroad and not by domestic transport service providers are subjected to a higher charge. *Mutatis mutandis*, this would also be the case with abatements for certain capacity categories which are typically used by domestic providers. In either case, such a rule could not be challenged under Article 12 (1) ECT if the factual discrimination was only the result of objective criteria uniformly applied for purposes of environmental protection, with the criteria proportionate to the objective.

2. On the Fundamental Rights of the Community

Although the European Community is not a party to the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), the European Court of Justice has – prompted, in part, by the tenacity of the German Federal Constitutional Court – recognised fundamental rights as general principles under Community law since the 1960s. The judicial practice of the Court in this regard has evidenced a strong reliance on the ECHR and the case-law of the European Court of Human Rights, whose jurisprudence has essentially served as an inspiration to the ECJ.

With the Maastricht Treaty, this judicial development also found its reflection in the Treaty on European Union (TEU). Article 6 (2) TEU codifies case-law in that it declares that the Union shall respect fundamental rights, as guaranteed by the ECHR and as they result from the constitutional traditions common to the Member States, as general principles of Community law. ⁵³⁹

The fundamental rights of the Community were later incorporated in the so-called Charter of Fundamental Rights, which has now been included in the second part of the Constitution for Europe.

ECJ, Case C-354/95, National Farmers' Union *et al.*, ECR 1997, I-4559, para. 61; ECJ, Case C-148/02, Garcia Avello, ECR 2003, I-11613, para. 31.

ECJ, Case C-148/02, Garcia Avello, ECR 2003, I-11613, para. 31.

Supra Part 1, C. III. 1. b). Cf. otherwise on the relevance of Article 12 ECT in the transport sector Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 68 et sqq.

⁵³⁶ *Cf. supra* Part 1, C. III. 1. a.) bb.).

On this issue *infra*.

⁵³⁸ Cf. Wasmeier, Umweltabgaben, 136.

Cf. in depth on the development of fundamental rights doctrines in the European Union *Rengeling/Szczekalla*, Grundrechte in der EU, § 1, Annot. 1 *et sqq*.

Community legislation violating such fundamental rights recognised at the Community level are illegal⁵⁴⁰ and may challenged before the ECJ with an action for annulment (*cf.* Article 230 ECT).

Secondary measures introducing a user charge on global environmental goods could *prima facie* violate both the freedom of occupation as well as the right to property. According to the case-law of the ECJ, both guarantees belong to the general principles of Community law⁵⁴¹ and will therefore be now assessed with a view to their implications for the design of user charges.

a.) Freedom of Occupation

The **freedom of occupation** has been recognised as a general principle of Community law and been afforded ample attention in the case-law of the ECJ.⁵⁴²

In the Charter of Fundamental Rights and the Constitution for Europe, this freedom is laid down in Articles 15 *et seq.* and II-75 *et seq.*, respectively, although it bears emphasising that this extend beyond the mere freedom of occupation to comprise a "right to conduct a business." ⁵⁴³

The freedom of occupation governs both the **freedom to choose an occupation**⁵⁴⁴ as well as the **right to engage in an occupation**, thereby affording a comprehensive protection of participation in economic life. Imposing a fiscal burden on a certain activity, namely that of providing commercial transport services for passengers and freight through aircraft and sea vessels, can generally restrict the freedom to engage in a certain occupation and the right to conduct a business. Accordingly, the **introduction of a user charge will generally restrict the freedom of occupation**, an assessment that applies to all forms of user charges discussed here. At any rate,

⁵⁴⁰ Cf. ECJ, Case C-404/92 P, X/Commission, ECR 1994, I-4737, paras. 24-25.

ECJ, Case 265/87, Schräder, ECR 1989, 2237, para. 15; ECJ, joined Cases C-248/95 and C-249/95, SAM Schiffahrt, ECR 1997, I-4475, para. 72.

⁵⁴² Cf. in depth on the freedom of occupation Rengeling/Szczekalla, Grundrechte in der EU, § 20, Annot. 773 et sqq.; Wunderlich, Grundrecht der Berufsfreiheit, passim, both with further references to case-law and academic literature.

⁵⁴³ Cf. specifically on these provisions Rengeling, DVBl. 2004, 453 et sqq.

ECJ, Case 116/82, Commission/Germany, ECR 1986, 2519, para. 27.

⁵⁴⁵ ECJ, joined Cases C-248/95 and C-249/95, SAM Schiffahrt, ECR 1997, I-4475, para. 72.

⁵⁴⁶ Cf. Wunderlich, Berufsfreiheit, 105 et seq.

This direction has also been assumed by the ECJ. *Cf.* with a view to the payment of contributions to a scrapping fund ECJ, joined Cases C-248/95 and C-249/95, SAM Schiffahrt, ECR 1997, I-4475, paras. 72-74; on the case-law on freedom to engage in a business, see ECJ, joined Cases 63/84 and 147/84, Finsider/Commission, ECR 1985, 2857, paras. 13 *et seq.*; ECJ, joined Cases C-143/88 and C-92/89, Zuckerfabrik Süderdithmarschen, ECR 1991, I-415, paras. 72 *et sqq.*; in academic literatures, *Wolf*, ZUR 2000, 125; *Amend*, Das Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 211; *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 193.

⁵⁴⁸ *Cf. supra*, Part 1, A.

the cost of providing the transport services covered by the charge will incur a restriction – at least indirectly ⁵⁴⁹ – of the work and business of affected transport operators.

Nonetheless, restrictions of the freedom of occupation can be **justified** by objectives of general interest pursued by the Community, as long as such restrictions do not constitute a disproportionate and intolerable interference, impairing the very substance of the rights guaranteed.⁵⁵⁰ The **collection of user charges** will generally be justified by its pursuit of objectives of general interest to the Community: last, if not least, both the integration principle laid down in Article 6 ECT and the aim set out in Article 3 (1) lit. 1 ECT demonstrate the legitimacy of the Community objective of internalising external costs through user charges.⁵⁵¹ As a matter of principle, thus, the introduction of user charges cannot be challenged on behalf of the freedom of occupation. User charges need to be proportionate, however, especially with regard to the rates they impose. Insofar, they call for similar consideration as were outlined in connection with the freedom of establishment.

b.) Right to Property

The extent to which a **charge on assets** may affect the **scope of the right to property** has been discussed controversially in academic literature, with the majority view arguably opposing the review of public charges against the right to property.⁵⁵²

Support for this view⁵⁵³ is generally sought by reference to the judgement in *Zuckerfabrik Süderdithmarschen*, in which the ECJ affirmed that "[t]he obligation to pay a levy cannot ... be regarded as a measure restricting the right to own property"⁵⁵⁴

It has remained subject to debate, however, whether and to what extent indirect restrictions of fundamental rights are covered by the latter. The case-law arguably suggests including such indirect restrictions, *cf.* ECJ, Case C-84/95, Bosphorus, ECR 1996, I-3964, paras. 22 *et seq.* Also tending towards inclusion of indirect restrictions *Rengeling/Szczekalla*, Grundrechte in der EU, § 7, Annot. 516; Calliess/Ruffert-*Kingreen*, Art. 6 EUV, Annot. 68.

Standing case-law: *cf.* for instance ECJ, Case 5/88, Wachauf, ECR 1989, 2609, para. 19; ECJ, Case C-404/92 X/Commission, ECR 1994, I-4737, para. 18; ECJ, Case C-62/90, Commission/Germany, ECR 1992, I-2575, para. 23; specifically relating to the freedom of occupation *cf.* ECJ, joined Cases C-248/95 and C-249/95, SAM Schifffahrt, ECR 1997, I-4475, para. 72. On the issue of guaranteeing the "very substance" of Community fundamental rights, see, *e.g.*, *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 194 *et seq*.

Regarding environmental protection as a constitutional objective of the Community, see, for instance, *Schröder*, EUDUR I, § 9; *Müller-Graff*, EUDUR I, § 10, Annot. 15 *et sqq*.; specifically with a view to environmental charges and applying an environmental economics approach, *Amend*, Instrument der Umweltabgabe, 185 *et sqq*.; for an overview of Treaty provisions with relevance to the environment, see *Epiney*, Umweltrecht, 17 *et sqq*.: as for affected transport issues, see *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 194.

Grabitz/Hilf-*Pernice/Mayer*, Art. 6 EUV, Annot. 148; Calliess/Ruffert-*Kingreen*, Art. 6 EUV, Annot. 146; von der Groeben/Schwarze-*Beutler*, Art. 6 EUV, Annot. 79; disagreeing *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 193.

To back up this interpretation, Freytag points to the fourth recital of the judgment, which affirms that the levy in question "by virtue of its nature" cannot be regarded as an infringement of the right to own property.

Based on this view, user charges would raise no difficulties with regard to the right to property. Only fiscal measures with a strangling or confiscatory effect compromising the use of property itself could be challenged on grounds of the fundamental right to property.⁵⁵⁵

And yet, the case-law of the ECJ has displayed tendencies to include fiscal measures within the scope of the right to property. To this end, *e.g.*, the ECJ has reviewed mandatory contributions to a scrapping fund as to their compatibility with general interests of the Community and, moreover, their proportionality.⁵⁵⁶ Apparently, the Court has operated on the assumption that fiscal measures can, in principle, affect the scope of the right to property. This same tendency can be discerned in another judgement on co-responsibility levies in the cereal sector: in that case, the ECJ held that passing the levy on from the processors to the producers did not, in any way, infringe the processors' property rights.⁵⁵⁷

What is more, the view held in the judgement on *Zuckerfabrik Süderdithmarschen* should be amenable to a different interpretation from that commonly held in academic literature. As a preface to the stated absence of a violation of the right to property, the ECJ referred to the judgement in *Schräder* and declared that "the right to property and the freedom to pursue a trade or profession may be restricted, particularly in the context of a common organisation of the market, provided that those restrictions in fact correspond to objectives of general interest pursued by the Community and that they do not constitute a disproportionate and intolerable interference which infringes upon the very substance of the rights guaranteed." From a systematic point of view, this passage could be understood as a abridged proportionality test (the ECJ merely refers to the submission of the United Kingdom), without including a statement that fiscal measures are generally exempt from review against the right to property.

Altogether, given the judicial practice of the ECJ, several reasons support adopting an **ample concept of property** in line with the case-law of the European Court of Human Rights, covering infringements of personal wealth by way of **fiscal charges**; accordingly, **user charges** can generally incur a restriction of the right to property. ⁵⁵⁹

Again, however, restrictions of the right to property can be **justified** by general interests of the Community, subject to the same considerations mentioned in the context of the freedom of occupation. ⁵⁶⁰

This clearly shows that the existence or absence of a restriction of the right to property through user charges is ultimately not highly relevant, given that, at any rate, the user charge will typically infringe on the freedom of occupation, necessitating an assessment of the conditions for a justification of restrictions of fundamental rights.

ECJ, joined Cases C-143/88 and C-92/89, Zuckerfabrik Süderdithmarschen, ECR 1991, I-415, para. 74.

⁵⁵⁵ Calliess/Ruffert-*Kingreen*, EUV/EGV, Art. 6 EUV, Annot. 146.

⁵⁵⁶ ECJ, joined Cases C-248/95 and C-249/95, SAM Schiffahrt, ECR 1997, I-4475, paras. 73-74.

⁵⁵⁷ ECJ, Case 265/87, Schräder, ECR 1989, 2237, paras. 15-17.

ECJ, joined Cases C-143/88 and C-92/89, Zuckerfabrik Süderdithmarschen, ECR 1991, I-415, para. 73.

Sharing this conclusion *Freytag*, Europarechtliche Anforderungen, 193.

⁵⁶⁰ *Cf. supra*, Part 3, C. III. 2. a).

3. Summary

By way of conclusion, the following requirements can be inferred from the Community fundamental rights and freedoms with regards to the design of user charges:

- **Article 90** (1) **ECT** (prohibition of discriminating internal taxation) generally applies to the following types of user charges due to the existence of a product bearing, and irrespective of the purpose and expenditure of the user charge:
 - user charges imposed on freight;
 - emission-based user charges;
 - user charges based on fuel consumption;
 - time-based user charges for the use of certain vehicles (akin to the model of a motor vehicle tax).

Given that this provision rules out discriminating charges, direct reliance on the origin of affected products is, at any rate, precluded when designing user charges, something that is however unlikely to occur. While indirect discriminations are also, in principle, prohibited, they may be justified for general reasons of public interest, which include considerations of environmental policy in the sense applied here. The existence of indirect discrimination – which should prove to be an exception in the case of user charges – an assessment is needed as to whether the differentiation is based on objective criteria and passes the test of proportionality. A design of user charges to meet these requirements does not really seem possible, but – given their objective and its achievement – altogether expedient and necessary. As seen earlier, objective differentiation based on pollutant emissions is permissible, notably when means of transportation meeting stringent national standards are afforded reduced rates. In contrast, a system which ultimately aimed at protectionism, for instance by granting preferential treatment to more detrimental domestic means of transport, would be ruled out by Article 90 (1) ECT.

To the extent that they have no bearing on products (in which case Articles 25 and 90 ECT would apply), user charges may also fall within the scope of the **prohibition** set out in **Article 43 ECT** (**freedom of establishment**).

User charges imposed on transport operators are, in principle, able to restrict the freedom of establishment, given that they raise corporate expenses and may thus affect the competitive situation (for instance in relation to foreign companies) in a detrimental way.

Article 43 ECT would appear applicable, in particular, to the introduction of fees for the use of infrastructures (landing or port fees).

Still, environmental protection can justify a potential restriction of the freedom of establishment as an overriding reason of public interest, provided the measure is proportionate relative to the pursued objective.

The fundamental guarantee of **freedom of occupation** will typically be affected by a user charge introduced at the Community level; under the view held here, the same applies to the **guarantee of property**. Again, however, such restrictions may be justified by general interests of the Community. Given their suitability to achieve the principle that the polluter should pay, be it by guiding behaviour or (additionally) providing revenues to fund certain environmental projects, user charges will generally be compatible with these fundamental rights as long as they are proportionate.

Altogether, this shows that neither the Community fundamental freedoms nor the Community fundamental rights rule out the introduction of a user charge; an infringement of individual fundamental freedoms and fundamental rights can, in principle, be justified. Because the requirement of **proportionality** is of crucial significance, the admissibility of a specific "model" of user charges essentially depends on its design. The following general criteria may, however, be formulated:

- In principle, all "models" of user charges outlined above⁵⁶¹ may meet the requirements of the fundamental freedoms and fundamental rights.
- Measures incurring formal discrimination for instance by relying on nationality or the origin of products can never be proportionate.
- Measures incurring substantive discrimination may, in principle, be justified, provided they are a necessary consequence of a chosen, objective criterion of differentiation. Objective differentiation based on the emission of pollutants, for instance, would not be precluded even when resulting in a greater burden for carriers from certain Member States due to their higher emissions, thereby resulting in indirect discrimination.
- An assessment of the appropriateness and necessity of actual measures may, of course, only occur with a view to the specified primary objectives. In principle, however, the Community legislature is afforded a wide power of discretion. The appropriateness of a measure will be absent whenever the actual design suggests that it will be counterproductive in achieving the pursued objective, notably if it provides an incentive for a different type of behaviour.

D. Domestic Law: Constitutional Requirements for Environmental User Charges (Klinski)

Under the German Constitution, or Basic Law (*Grundgesetz*), a number of questions relating to the **financial chapter of the Basic Law** and – closely linked thereto – to **legislative powers** arise. In Germany, federal constitutional law sets out a fairly strict corset for fiscal measures, with clearly specified requirements and legislative powers. As a result, the discretionary powers of the (federal)

legislature relating to the design of fiscal instruments is strongly determined. In a first step, the following section will outline the general constitutional framework relating to different types of fiscal measures (Chapter I.), before proceeding to a fiscal categorisation of different conceivable design options for environmental user charges in a second step, with a view to their constitutional admissibility (Chapter II.)

In this context, it bears noting that the comprehensive jurisprudence of the Federal Constitutional Court (*Bundesverfassungsgericht*) only provides guidance for fiscal measures adopted **domestically** and within national responsibility. Charges determined in form and design by higher-ranking **European Community law** are only constrained to a limited extent by Community law. Consequently, the latter constellation will be addressed separately in Chapter III., after having considered provisions adopted within the ambit of domestic powers in the two preceding chapters.

The implications of **fundamental rights** are altogether limited, given that they primarily arise on the level of specific design options, with solutions generally available to comply with their requirements. Issues relating to fundamental rights are dealt with in greater detail in Chapter IV.

I. Fiscal Measures and their Classification under Constitutional Law

Under German law, the state may introduce three different types of payment duties generically designated as "charges", each affording a distinct capacity to induce behavioural change: taxes, fees imposed in return for services, and other non-fiscal charges (special charges in the widest sense).

All three types of charges are, in principle, available to pursue the objectives of an environmental user charge on aviation and shipping. Depending on the instrument chosen, different legal requirements apply. Altogether, it needs to be borne in mind that the term "environmental user charges" used in the context of this study is not meant to prejudice a particular form of charge. Rather, the study will seek to ascertain which types of payment duties may be legitimately introduced. From the point of view of the constitutional provisions on public finance, the following analysis will draw on the generic term "charges". Considering the substantive intentions linked to the introduction of an environmental user charge, it would seems appropriate to apply the concept of "user charges" – rather than any other terms, such as taxes or fees – when referring to them on a general level.

And anyway, it bears noting that a distinction of the different types of charges is not so much dependent on the wording chosen by the legislator. Rather, according to the Federal Constitutional Court, the substantive core of the measure in question is decisive.⁵⁶²

Federal Constitutional Court Reports (*BVerfGE*) Vol. 55, 274 (304 *et seq.*); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 67, 256 (276); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 92, 91 (114).

1. Taxes and Permissible Types of Taxes

a.) The Concept of Taxes

Taxes are the classical means of financing state budgets. The Basic Law does not define the concept of taxes, but rather presupposes it. As such, therefore, it draws on the established definition of taxes which is also included in Fiscal Code (*Abgabenordnung*) gebrauchten Steuerbegriff an. ⁵⁶³ Pursuant to that definition, taxes are "payments collected by a public authority for **revenue purposes** and imposed by that authority on all those who fulfill the conditions establishing liability for payment, without constituting **remuneration for services** rendered; the collection of revenue may be a secondary objective." (Section 3 (1) of the Fiscal Code).

A central feature of taxes, thus, is their contribution to meeting **public funding requirements**. Under the Basic Law, they are designated the standard financing instrument for public expenditure, prompting many to describe the Federal Republic of Germany as a "tax state." Given this public funding purpose, the state requires no further legitimation for the assessment of taxes against its citizens.

Given the financial burden arising from taxes for citizens and their fundamental rights, however, every tax must also draw legitimacy from taxing a behaviour reflecting the **economic capability** of the citizen. The point of departure of a tax, in other words, is to siphon off part of the economic capability of citizens. This also serves as the reason for taxation, which, in turn, allows classification to one of the different categories of taxes.⁵⁶⁵

b.) Behavioural Guidance as a Purpose of Taxes

Aside from the purpose of generating revenue, **political guidance of behaviour** may also be a legitimate purpose of taxes, provided the fiscal purpose is still discernible – in other words: the guidance purpose does not amount to a behavioural command in scope and effects⁵⁶⁶ or *de facto* prohibit the behaviour it is imposed on ("strangling tax").⁵⁶⁷ Behavioural guidance may result from

With an insightful analysis of the concept of taxes *Vogel/Waldhoff*, in: BK-GG, Vorbem. Art. 104a – 115 (looseleaf: 1999), Annot. 373 *et sqq.*, 394 with further references

Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (342); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 91, 186 (201); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 82, 159 (178); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 78, 249 (266 et seq.).

On this issue at length *Vogel/Walther*, in: BK-GG, Art. 105 Annot. 68c *et seq.*

Similarly Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 98, 106 (118).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 16, 147 (161); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 38, 61 (79 et sqq.); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 96, 272 (276); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 98, 106 (118).

both the **collection** of the tax (*e.g.*, targeted introduction of higher tax rates for undesired or lower tax rates for desired behaviour as in the case of mineral oil taxation) as well as the **expenditure** of revenue (by earmarking proceeds). The mere pursuit of certain behavioural guidance effects by way of taxation does not preclude classification of a measure as a tax, let alone necessitate classification as a special charge. Caution is necessary when earmarking revenues, however, given that the Federal Constitutional Court has declared an *overly strong limitation* of the rights of disposal assigned to the budget legislator a reason to presume that the measure in question is not a tax, but a special charge (especially if proceeds accrue to a special fund). ⁵⁶⁹

c.) Categories of Taxes: Excise, Transaction and Expenditure Taxes

According to the predominant view in legal scholarship, the Basic Law contains a conclusive catalog of admissible **tax categories** available for introduction on the federal level or that of individual federate states (the *Länder*, *cf.* Article 105 of the Basic Law), with detailed constitutional provisions on the apportionment of tax revenue (*cf.* Article 106 of the Basic Law). If one subscribes to this view (notwithstanding considerable arguments against it ⁵⁷⁰), the constitution does not grant the respective budget legislator a right to invent new taxes, ⁵⁷¹ that is to say, the legislature may not "devise" new taxes at will. That does not, however, imply that the legislator is prevented from introducing new taxes. Pursuant to the majority view, the restriction on "inventing" new taxes merely applies to the spectrum of available tax *categories*. ⁵⁷² Without question, it may introduce new taxation provisions, provided they can be assigned to the various tax categories set out by the Basic Law.

Admissible taxes would, notably, include (also new) excise, expenditure and transaction taxes. Careful distinction of these three categories of taxes – the only categories suitable for implementation of environmental user charges – is important, as the Basic Law contains detailed provisions on the legislative powers and the apportionment of revenue for each category. In effect, the legislative power of the Federation largely depends on the apportionment of revenue.

Three categories of taxes can be summarily described as follows:

• Excise Taxes

Federal Constitutional Court (*BVerfG*) – Cases 1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00 – (ecotax), C II 2. (Annot. 65 *et sqq.*), DVBl. 2004, 705.

⁵⁶⁹ Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (348).

⁵⁷⁰ Forcefully *Tipke*, Steuerrechtsordnung, Vol. 3, Section 25, 1088 *et sqq*.

In-depth *Heintzen*, in: von Münch/ Kunig, GG, Art. 105 Annot. 45 *et seq.* with further references; *Pieroth*, in: Jarass/ Pieroth, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 2 with further references.

⁵⁷² *Cf. Wolf*, ZUR 2000, 123 (126).

According to the Federal Constitutional Court, an excise tax is a tax imposed on the **consumption** of **consumer goods**.⁵⁷³ Excise taxes are taxes on goods imposed on the consumption of fungible goods regularly destined for quick consumption or use.⁵⁷⁴ As such, they target consumption as an indicator of the solvency of final consumers.⁵⁷⁵

One of the typical features of current excise taxes, such as mineral oil or electricity taxes, is that they are commonly assessed against the entrepreneurs offering the consumer goods for general demand, but are designed to be passed on to **final consumers**. Significantly, thus, this shifting potential allows for a tax to be imposed on those who distribute the taxed goods to final consumers rather than the consumers themselves, and still be classified as an excise tax. That is the case, for instance, with mineral oil taxes, which are collected from producers and importers, and are then passed on by these to final consumers. It is subject to dispute whether an excise tax can also be designed in a manner that does not involve such shifting, but rather is collected from final consumers directly. Such a design is most likely permissible. At any rate, the Federal Constitutional Court has left sufficient leeway for such an interpretation by declaring that excise taxes are (only) "regularly" geared towards being passed on from the taxpayer to consumers.

The basis for calculation of an excise tax will generally relate to the (consumed) **amount**; nonetheless, taxation of the economic value is not altogether precluded.⁵⁷⁹

• Transaction Tax

By contrast, the transaction tax does not relate to an act of consumption or use, but rather an act or event in **legal traffic**. S80 Occasionally, they are therefore also referred to as "legal traffic taxes",

⁵⁷³ Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 14, 76 (96); 27, 375 (384).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 98, 106 (123) – municipal packaging taxes.

Jachmann, in: v. Mangoldt/ Klein/Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 48 with further references; cf. also Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (786).

Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 98, 106, 123 et seq.; most recently Federal Constitutional Court,
 Judgment of 20 April 2004 – 1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00 – (ecotax), C II 2. (Annot. 62 et sqq.), DVBI. 2004, 705.

With a detailed analysis *Hidien*, in: Bonner Kommentar zum Grundgesetz (BK-GG), Art. 106 Annot. 1413 *et sqq*. with further references; *cf.* also *Heintzen*, in: von Münch/ Kunig, GG, Vol. 3, Art. 105 Annot. 56 with further references

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 98, 106, 124.

⁵⁷⁹ Cf. Jachmann, in: v. Mangoldt/ Klein/ Starck, GG III, 4. Ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 49 with further references

Fundamentally, Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 16, 64 (73); in detailed on the distinction of excise and transaction taxes *Kirchhof*, in: HdStR Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 156 *et seq.* with further references; likewise *Jachmann*, in: v. Mangoldt/Klein/ Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 50 with further references

differing from excise taxes in that they are meant to be imposed on specific legal positions rather than specific consumable goods.⁵⁸¹

They place a fiscal burden on the economic capacity of taxpayers, as expressed in specific types of transactions.⁵⁸² Transaction taxes typically apply to both parties to the respective legal transaction;⁵⁸³ likewise, they are typically calculated on the basis of **value criteria**.⁵⁸⁴ Generally recognized examples for transaction taxes include insurance taxes and land transfer taxes.⁵⁸⁵

• Expenditure Taxes

Expenditure taxes, in turn, are similar to excise taxes in that they place a burden on private consumption. Nonetheless, they do not relate to the *consumption* of goods, but rather to certain types of **use**. The Federal Administrative Court has described consumption taxes as taxes on goods or services which are, as a rule, not amenable to consumption. Similarly, in its decision on the taxation of second homes, the Federal Constitutional Court applied a wide definition of expenditure taxes to include the act of using services. The tax is linked to ownership of a certain object or a factual or legal set of circumstances.

The practical implementation of recognized expenditure taxes is evidence of how these can, in principle, also be linked to different usages: for instance keeping of a physical object (as in the case of the dog tax), ownership or use of an object (as in the case of the tax on second homes⁵⁹⁰), but

Thus persuasively *Hidien*, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 Annot. 1425.

Jachmann, in: v. Mangoldt/ Klein/Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 50 with further references.

⁵⁸³ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 98, 106, 124. Cf. also Kirchhof, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 157.

⁵⁸⁴ Cf. Jachmann, in: v. Mangoldt/ Klein/Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 50.

Cf. Heintzen, in: von Münch/Starck, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 24; Kirchhof, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999,
 Section 88 Annot. 158 et sqq. with further references

Cf. Kirchhof, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154 with further references; Jachmann, in: v. Mangoldt/ Klein/Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 51.

Federal Administrative Court Reports (*BVerwGE*) 98, 272 (281) – municipal packaging taxes.

⁵⁸⁸ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (785 et seq.) with further references

Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785; *cf. Kirchhof*, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154 with further references.

Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785.

also the exercise of a right (as in the hunting tax^{591}) or the enjoyment of services (as in the case of the entertainment tax^{592}).

The reason for taxation is the personal economic capacity expressed by the respective expenditure. Expenditure taxes, thus, are similar to excise taxes in that they impose a burden on the economic capacity of consumers to apply income for the satisfaction of **personal needs**. Like excise taxes, they are meant to be borne by (final) consumers. Accordingly, the Federal Constitutional Court soon recognized expenditure taxes as a (sub-)category of **excise taxes**. While this categorisation of expenditure taxes as a subcategory of excise taxes is largely backed in academic literature and also suggests itself in view of recent case-law of the Federal Constitutional Court, it is still occasionally disputed.

• Categorisation Problems with Existing Taxes

The constitutional **assignment of individual taxes** to tax categories may occasionally give rise to serious differentiation problems, given that many taxes have properties of more than one tax category. Very different views on this issue are held in academic literature.

This notably applies to the **Turnover Tax**, which, on the one hand, relates to a legal transaction (namely the provision of contractual services), with the Turnover Tax thus traditionally assigned to

⁵⁹¹ Federal Constitutional Court NVwZ 1989, 1152.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 40, 56; *cf.* also *Kirchhof*, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154.

⁵⁹³ Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 16, 65 (74); Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (786).

Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (786); expressly also *Jachmann*, in: v. Mangoldt/Klein/ Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 52; moreover *Kirchhof*, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154; *cf. also Hidien*, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 Annot. 1416 *et sqq*. with further references

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 16, 64 (74). This decision was adopted before the financial reform of 1969, which first resulted in the inclusion of expenditure taxes in the Basic Law.

In detail and convincing *Hidien*, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 of the Basic Law Annot. 1416 *et sqq*. (1418); moreover *Maunz*, in: Maunz/Dürig, GG, Art. 105 Annot. 49 und Art. 106 Annot. 24; *Pieroth*, in: Jarass/Pieroth, GG. Art. 106 Annot. 4; *Fischer-Menshausen*, in: von Münch/Kunig, GG (3rd ed. 1996), Art. 106 Annot. 16; *Heintzen*, in: von Münch/Kunig, GG, Art. 105 Annot. 57 (note, however, his commentary on Art. 106 Annot. 18).

Cf. Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (786); additionally Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 49, 343 (353); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 65, 325 (344, 347).

Heintzen (in: von Münch/Kunig, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 18), for instance, claims that expenditure taxes are not merely a subcategory of excise taxes, and infers that, in the absence of an express provision in Art. 106 of the Basic Law regarding the apportionment of revenue for regional expenditure taxes, the federation does not possess legislative power to adopt federal expenditure taxes.

the category of transaction taxes.⁵⁹⁹ On the other hand, it cannot be overlooked that the Turnover Tax is nowadays geared towards taxation of the (final) consumption of goods (and other services). Consequently, given this substantive burdening effect, it would seem more appropriate – in line with the majority view in scholarship – to consider it (altogether) as a "general excise tax" imposed both on the consumption of goods and the use of services, thereby possessing elements of an expenditure tax. In the context of European Community law, the Turnover Tax is therefore classified as a general excise tax, ⁶⁰¹ even though it is not subject to the special EC-directives on excise taxes. Likewise, the ECJ has conceptually approached the Turnover Tax as an excise tax.

Similar uncertainty arises when attempting a classification of the **motor vehicle tax** (*Kfz-Steuer*). As such, it is imposed on the keeping of a motor vehicle, subjecting the economic capacity of the keeper (reflected in the keeping of a motor vehicle) to a fiscal burden. Strictly speaking, it should be classified as an expenditure tax.⁶⁰³ In judicial practice (albeit not that of the constitutional courts), however, it is considered a transaction tax.⁶⁰⁴ The legal act incurring the duty to pay this tax is the vehicle registration, even though the mere act of registration does not mirror the economic capacity of the taxpayer.⁶⁰⁵

d.) Legislative Powers and Apportionment of Revenue for the Tax Categories

Whether the power to introduce new tax legislation belongs to the federation or the *Länder* is determined by Article 105 (2) in connection with Article 106 of the Basic Law, which govern the apportionment of revenue from different categories of taxes. Under these provisions, the following rules apply:

- if the tax is an **excise tax**, revenue accrues (entirely) to the federation pursuant to Article 106 (1) No. 2 of the Basic Law, given the absence of a provision setting out a different apportionment in

Thus the standing case-law of the Federal Fiscal Court (*Bundesfinanzhof*), *cf.* BFH, Official Gazette of the Federal Ministry of Finance (*BStBl.*) II 1987, 95, 96; sharing this view, for instance, *Heintzen*, in: von Münch/Kunig, Art. 106 Annot. 24; *Pieroth*, in: Jarass/Pieroth, Art. 106 Annot. 5.

With convincing reasons *Tipke*, Steuerrechtsordnung, Vol. II, Section 19 S. 894 *et seq.* with further references; *Reiβ*, in: Tipke/Lang: Steuerrecht, 17th ed. 2002, Section 14 Annot. 1; *Jachmann*, in: v. Mangoldt/Klein/Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 50 with further references; *Seer*, in: BK-GG, Art. 108 Annot. 61 with further references; *Kirchhof*, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 156 with further references

Art. 2 (1) of the first VAT-Directive 67/227/EEC, OJ EC No. 71, 1301.

 ⁶⁰² Cf. ECJ. Case 89/81 (Hong Kong Trade) ECR 1982, 1277 Annot. 6 et seq.; Case C-317/94 (Elida Gibbs), ECR 1996, I-5340 Annot. 18 et sqq.

Reiβ, in: Tipke/Lang: Steuerrecht, 17th ed. 2002, Section 15 Annot. 48; likewise Kirchhof, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154.

⁶⁰⁴ Cf. only Federal Fiscal Court Reports (BFHE) 110, 213, 217.

With persuasive criticism *Reiß*, in: Tipke/Lang: Steuerrecht, 17th ed. 2002, Section 15 Annot. 48 *et seq*.

the Basic Law. As a result, the federation may also introduce such a tax pursuant to Article 105 (2) (1st Alt.) of the Basic Law, if and to the extent that the maintenance of legal or economic unity renders federal regulation necessary in the national interest.

- If the tax is a **transaction tax**, however, the legislative power again rests with the federation pursuant to Article 105 (2) (3rd Alt.) of the Basic Law, but the revenue accrues solely to the *Länder* (Article 106 (2) No. 4 of the Basic Law).
- As for **expenditure taxes**, Article 106 of the Basic Law containsif it provision on the apportionment of revenue. With a view to Article 105 (2) of the Basic Law, this is occasionally interpreted as a general prohibition of federal expenditure taxes. ⁶⁰⁶ If one takes the majority view, however, which is also the view held by this author, expenditure taxes are to be treated as a particular type of excise tax due to their structural similarity; ⁶⁰⁷ accordingly, Article 105 (2) (1st Alt.) of the Basic Law again applies in connection with Article 106 (1) No. 2 of the Basic Law, resulting in a federal power to legislate and dispose of revenue (provided there is sufficient need for federal regulation).

e.) Consequences for Environmental User Charges

The objectives discussed in connection with environmental user charges may thus only be pursued at the federal level by way of a tax if it is designed as an excise or expenditure tax, not however if it is introduced as, or has to be considered, a transaction tax. Accrual of tax revenue to the federate *Länder* is not an option in this regard.

A certain degree of uncertainty remains if the user charge is implemented as an expenditure tax, given the divergent view that such taxes are not a (mere) subcategory of excise taxes. Considering the clear predominance of opposing tendencies both in case-law and scholarly literature, however, the remaining risk is clearly limited.

The fiscal categorisation of different design options for environmental user charges and their consequences for the constitutional admissibility will be discussed in further detail below (see *infra*, Chap. 3.2).

⁶⁰⁶ Cf. Heintzen, in: von Münch/Kunig, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 18.

⁶⁰⁷ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 16, 64 (74); in legal scholarship, moreover, Hidien, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 GG Annot. 1416 et sqq. (1418); furthermore Maunz, in: Maunz/Dürig, GG, Art. 105 Annot. 49 und Art. 106 Annot. 24; Pieroth, in: Jarass/Pieroth, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 4.

2. Charges Imposed in Return for Services

a.) Conceptual Aspects

The second type of charge generally recognized as permissible under the Basic Law are charges imposed in return for services. These are payment duties justified by an **individual advantage** afforded by the state to those liable for payment.

Typical (if not exclusive) examples of charges imposed in return for services are fees and contributions, which used to be summarily referred to under the generic term of "preferential burdens". Fees and contributions are, by nature, remuneration for services rendered by the state, with fees presupposing actual utilization of the service, whereas contributions already are collected for the mere opportunity to benefit from public services.

Aside from the traditional charges imposed in return for services, one might also conceive of charges imposed by the state for the use of certain commons, absorbing the benefits thereby incurred. In several *Länder*, for instance, the extraction of water incurs a duty to pay a charge. Such a charge, designated a **benefit setoff charge** (*Vorteilsabschöpfungsabgabe*)⁶⁰⁹ by the Federal Constitutional Court, could also be applied to the use of global airspace or the High Seas.

b.) Behavioral Guidance through Fees and Contributions

It is widely recognized that charges imposed in return for services may also seek to **guide behavior**. ⁶¹⁰ Both the Federal Constitutional Court and a majority of scholars ⁶¹² deem it admissible for the legislator to set rates for fees and contributions in excess of the expenses incurred, provided they seek to influence behaviour in a certain way. Other than that, the general restrictions arising from the principles of equality and proportionality, notably in its manifestation as a principal of reasonableness (*Angemessenheitsprinzip*), apply. ⁶¹³ The latter renders

Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319; confirmed by the Federal Constitutional Court, NVwZ
 2003, 467.

⁶⁰⁹ Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (345).

⁶¹⁰ Fundamentally, Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 50, 217 (226).

⁶¹¹ Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 50, 217 (226 et seq.).

⁶¹² Cf. P. Kirchhof, in: Isensee / Kirchhof, HdStR IV, Section 88 Annot. 207 with further references; Murswiek/Wilms, Die Entlastung der Städte vom Individualverkehr, 111 with further references; Selmer/Brodersen, Rechtliche Probleme der Einführung von Straßenbenutzungsgebühren, 24; more reticent, Kodal/ Krämer, Straßenrecht, Chap. 16 Annot. 19.3.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 50, 217 (227); fundamentally *Wilke*, Gebührenrecht und Grundgesetz, 241 *et sqq.*, 301 *et sqq.*

constitutional admissibility contingent on the means-end-relation rather than cost recovery or equivalence. ⁶¹⁴

Although the Federal Constitutional Court held in its decision on the "water penny" (*Wasserpfennig*) that the state may not set the rates of benefit setoff charges so high as to exceed the value of the public services to be compensated, effectively not in excess of the individual advantage afforded by the service, ti should be recalled that this decision solely concerned a constellation involving a benefit setoff charge. In the case of a charge aimed at guiding behaviour, the purpose of that charge would clearly reach further than that of a mere benefit setoff charge. It would strain the limits of the principle of proportionality to extend the cap for benefit setoff charges – which is the value of the advantage conferred – to charges pursuing additional purposes, such as guidance of human behaviour. If one considers the end-means-relationship, which is decisive for the application of the test of proportionality, the economic value of the advantage conferred may only be the decisive criterion when the charge pursues no further objective than offsetting this advantage.

c.) Focus: The Benefit Offset Charge

For these charges, the legal terminology and conceptualization has undergone an evolution in recent years. Scholarly literature continues to apply the fairly rigid concept of preferential burdens. Meanwhile, with its landmark judgment on the "water penny" levied in Baden-Württemberg, the Federal Constitutional Court clarified in 1995 that no constitutional definition of fees or contributions existed. Rather, so the Court, any type of charge assessed in return for an individual benefit conferred to the citizen paying the charge will meet no constitutional obstacles. This jurisprudence was confirmed by the Court in its later decision on the groundwater-levies imposed in Schleswig-Holstein.

The legal justification for charges imposed in return for services is the compensation of an advantage and/or passing on the expenses incurred by the person paying the charge. 620 If one of

⁶¹⁴ Cf. already Wilke, Gebührenrecht und Grundgesetz, 301 et sqq.; in depth Kloepfer, in: AöR 93, 232 (247 et sqq.).

⁶¹⁵ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (347). Wolf, ZUR 2000, 123 (127); cf. in detail on the "water penny" judgment also Murswiek, NVwZ 1996, 417 et sqq.

⁶¹⁶ Cf. for instance Kodal/ Krämer, Straßenrecht, Kap. 16 Annot. 9 et seq.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (345); *cf.* also Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 50, 217 (225 *et seq.*).

⁶¹⁸ Clarifying: Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (343 *et seq.*) with further references.

⁶¹⁹ Federal Constitutional Court, NVwZ 2003, 467 (469 et seq.).

⁶²⁰ Cf. P. Kirchhof, in: Isensee / Kirchhof, HdStR IV, Section 88 Annot. 208 et seq. with further references.

these reasons for the introduction of a charge is meant, the charge cannot be, in principle, challenged on constitutional grounds.

The surprisingly liberal position adopted by the Federal Constitutional Court with regard to benefit offset charges is based on the fact that the Court does not determine the admissibility of non-fiscal charges on formal or historical grounds, but rather on the sole question of constitutional relevance, namely whether the respective charge threatens the **principles set out in the constitutional chapter on finance**. In the course of this assessment, the Court has arrived at the conclusion that these principles cannot be threatened as long as the charge absorbs an **individually attributable advantage conferred by the state**. 621

Three fundamental principles of the constitutional chapter on finance monitored by the Federal Constitutional Court may be endangered by non-fiscal charges:

- (1) The ordering function of the constitutional chapter on finance. The legislative powers and apportionment of revenue for taxes are governed by the constitution in Articles 104 a *et sqq*. of the Basic Law. Introduction of new taxation act will on the basis of the general legislative powers (Articles 71 *et sqq*. of the Basic Law) would undermine these provisions. Exceptions are thus admissible under strict conditions only.
- (2) The principle of equitable burden sharing. Those required to pay the charge are regularly also taxpayers. Imposing an additional financial burden for a specific substantive task therefore requires a special justification. 623
- (3) The constitutional principle of a comprehensive budget plan. This principle may be affected if the legislator organizes revenue and expenditure outside of the public budget. As a rule, public finances are subject in their entirety to the budget planning and decision making of the budget legislature. Only that will ensure that both revenue and expenditure are completely subjected to the applicable planning, control and public account procedures. Breaches of this principle require a special justification and will typically remain an exception. 624

In this context, it is important to clarify the difference between non-fiscal charges and taxes. Non-fiscal charges differ from taxes in that, unlike taxes, they are not imposed unconditionally.⁶²⁵ "Unconditional", in this context, stands for a constitutive trait of taxes, notably that the payment

⁶²¹ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (346 et seg.).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (342 f).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (343).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (343, 348).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (343, 346).

duty does not depend on conferral of a (public) return service. 626 If, however, the citizen is granted an (individually attributable) public return service, the payment duty is not a tax by nature and thus cannot threaten the constitutional provisions on finance.

A relationship involving **services** and **return services** was recognized by the Federal Constitutional Court in the case of water extraction levies. To quote the relevant passage:

"The assessment of water extraction levies is legitimate in relation to the principle of the fiscal state (*Steuerstaat*). It is irrelevant whether this already follows from the behavioral guidance function of these charges. At any rate, the substantive legitimation arises from its character as a benefit offset provision introduced within the framework of public rules governing the use of certain goods. Scarce natural resources, such as water, are public goods. If individuals are granted access to such resources subject to public management (...), they are given the possibility of partaking in a public good (...). They are thus afforded a specific advantage $vis-\dot{a}-vis$ all those who are not granted the same access to the respective good. It is legitimate to offset this advantage entirely or in part (...)"

Although the Federal Constitutional Court draws on its earlier case-law in this regard, declaring that Articles 105 and 106 of the Basic Law may **not** be surrendered to the discretion of the legislature by introducing a **right to choose** between fiscal and non-fiscal charges, 628 it denies such a threat in connection with charges imposed in return for services. According to the Court, the criterion of conditionality on a return service is meant when the charge is imposed for an "individually attributable public service", for instance the "opportunity to extract water". 629

In addition, the Federal Constitutional Court has emphasized that the rate of the charge may not exceed the **value of the public service** rendered. Otherwise, the charge would be imposed unconditionally like a tax, as it would go beyond offsetting the benefit and encroach upon the general economic capacity of those liable for payment, an exclusive purpose of taxes. The decision on the "water penny" does not contain more detailed criteria relating to the value of the public service, given that the rate in question was comparatively low.

d.) Consequences for Environmental User Charges

Conceptually, "environmental user charges" are very similar to the category of "charges imposed in return for services". In either case, those paying the charge are paying "for something" obtained individually, as it were. In the case of environmental user charges, however, the problem arises that the state imposing the payment duty cannot directly point to financial expenses mirroring that same

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (346).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (345 et seq.) < translation by the author>.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (346) with reference to Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 55, 274 (302).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (346).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (347).

payment duty. The legitimacy of an individually imposed environmental user charge is thus not, *prima facie*, ensured.

Still, the collection of water extraction levies by the *Länder*, explicitly condoned by the Federal Constitutional Court, evidences that the state is not generally precluded from imposing charges in return for services which do **not correspond to public expenses**. Admittedly, this decision of the Federal Constitutional Court met with fairly sharp criticism from parts of scholarship.⁶³¹ Moreover, there is some manner of disagreement on the interpretation of various aspects of the "water penny" decision.⁶³² This does not, however, change the central insight that the only constitutional body charged with authoritative interpretation of the Basic Law has acknowledged the legitimacy of charges in return for services, including charges for individual advantages conferred by the state.⁶³³ From the point of view of the Federal Constitutional Court, a charge can be considered imposed in return for services if it corresponds to an advantage individually granted by the state, with the payment not exceeding the value of the service conferred. According to the "water penny" decision, that is explicitly the case when the charge serves to offset a benefit within a public system for the management of natural resources, and the charge does not exceed the value of the specific advantage.

Against this background, the prospects for an introduction of "real" environmental user charges on aviation and shipping as part of climate policy can be generally considered favorable under constitutional finance law. That notably applies if the legislator goes beyond simply introducing a new payment duty and designs the charge after the model of the water extraction levies to become part of a **management system** for airspace and the sea.

In principle, the simple introduction of a **new charge** in the area of aviation and shipping would also be admissible. After all, a distinct, already existing individual benefit could be offset from the very outset. Indeed, those burdened by such an environmental user charge enjoy such a (**special**) **advantage**: they are not required to pay **mineral oil taxes** for the consumption of aircraft and shipping fuel. For whatever reasons, the legislature has refrained fro taxing these fuels. Users of these means of transportation (be it as providers of transport servicesor as their customers) are afforded a measurable economic advantage relative to the "normal" means of transport by road and

Rejecting this view notably *Birk*, in: FS Ritter, 41 *et sqq*.; *Tipke/Lang*, Steuerrecht, Section 4 Annot. 19; differentiating *Jachmann*, StuW 1997, 299, 307 *et sqq*.; positive notably *Murswiek*, NVwZ 1996, 417 *et sqq*.; *Vogel/ Waldhoff*, in: BK-GG (1999), Vorbem. Art. 104 a – 115, Annot. 408 *et sqq*.; *Heimlich*, DÖV 1997, 996 *et sqq*.; *Schmidt*, ZUR 1996, 88 *et sqq*.; *Pieroth*, in: *Jarass/*Pieroth, GG (5th ed.), Art. 105 Annot. 17; in depth, furthermore, *Klinski*, Die novellierten Stellplatzregelungen (2000), 232 *et sqq*.

⁶³² Cf. on the one hand Murswiek, NVwZ 1996, 417 et sqq. and Klinski, ibid.; on the other hand v. Mutius/Lünenburger, NVwZ 1996, 1061 et sqq.; Raber, NVwZ 1997, 219 et sqq.

Expressly confirmed by the Federal Constitutional Court, NVwZ 2003, 467 (469 *et seq.*).

rail, and this advantage is due to a conscious governmental choice (albeit in the form of an omission).

By establishing an all-too-loose connection to this advantage, however, the legislator would run the risk of further classification problems. In effect, it would place itself at the center of the questions which remained unanswered in the "water penny" decision, that is: whether the legislature possesses the right to **choose** between introducing a tax (in this case by expanding the scope of mineral oil taxes) and introducing a charge in return for services when the special benefit to be offset merely consists in the absence of taxation. It cannot be entirely ruled out that the Federal Constitutional Court, if invoked in the course of judicial proceedings, might consider the charge a fiscal measure given its inherent dependence on (the absence of) a tax – resulting in the charge being subject to the legislative powers and apportionment of revenue set out in **Articles 105 and 106 of the Basic Law**. If, moreover, the charge proved to be a transaction tax in view of its content, it could not be introduced without a constitutional amendment unless the revenue were surrendered to the *Länder* by the Federation.⁶³⁴ It would not give rise to this risk as an excise tax or (with the foregoing restrictions) an expenditure tax. If the actual charge were to meet the requirements of constitutional law even as an excise tax, however, respective action by the the legislator would not face any constitutional obstacles.

Yet more interesting, in perspective, is the notion of establishing a type of **management system** for the use of airspace and the sea, subjecting those forms of use incurring a particular environmental impact to a charge. Such a regulatory approach could be modeled after the existing institutions of public use of streets and roads, on the one hand, and separate use, on the other. Conceivably, a law could set out that use of airspace or the sea for certain purposes is public use (free of charge), but that use resulting in particularly large amounts of emissions is separate use permissible only upon payment of an offset charge, thereby ensuring that no over-use of the environmental could occurs. By opening airspace and the sea to separate use, the latter becomes an individual advantage that can be offset by a charge. In contrast to the separate use of streets, it would not appear feasible to render such use conditional on a regulatory permit.

Structurally, the special advantage created by such a design would go beyond a mere offset of the difference to mineral oil taxes. Essentially, the special advantage conferred within the framework of such a management system would be to afford those paying the charge an individual opportunity to use the environmental space in excess of the average use, thereby reducing the ability of all other community members to use the environmental space for other purposes. Such separate use incurs significant external costs for the state as the trustee of the community. From an economic point of view, thus, the special benefit consists in not having to individually cover the costs incurred by one's own behavior. This advantage could be offset by a charge imposed in return for services; such compensation need by no means occur only by way of a fiscal measure addressing social costs.

⁶³⁴

Constitutional law provides no convincing reason generally preventing the state from applying the principle that the polluter should pay and adopting measures to separate individually attributable environmental impacts from the common responsibility of the state, assigning them, instead, to the responsibility of the polluter.

Likewise, the creation of new management systems for environmental spaces such as airspace or oceans does not face any convincing obstacles in legal doctrine, provided the transition to such a system does not result in violations of fundamental rights which prove to be disproportionate upon closer analysis. The latter, however, largely depends on the actual design of the management system. In the area of climate protection, at any rate, the Federal Republic of Germany will generally possess the power to initiate such a systemic transition. It is, after all, required to reduce the emission of greenhouse gases within its jurisdiction by international agreements. That calls for a systemic – and not only sporadic – national climate policy. With Article 20a of the Basic Law, the introduction of a type of management system at the national level can be justified with recourse to high-ranking, constitutionally vested considerations. Although individual scholars have voiced opposition against the introduction of a management system for the air, ⁶³⁶ they have overlooked or given insufficient consideration to the evident connections between such a management system and international climate policy, which pursues the same objectives.

Against the background of the "water penny" decision, there is no reason to assume that the state will be generally prevented from subjecting other environmental goods besides water to a management system.⁶³⁷ In this connection, it should be borne in mind that existing rights could very well be taken into consideration within a management system and, given the applicability of the principle of proportionality, might even have to be taken into account. Likewise, the coordination with other legal instruments would not pose major problems. For instance, it is clearly possible to design a system in which the separate use of the air – manifested as particularly intense use by certain industrial activities – is offset by mandatory participation in an emissions trading system or, in the case of transport, by imposition of mineral oil taxes. With that as a starting point, the conceptual transition to a management system for the environmental goods "air" and "sea", while accompanied by restrictions on the exercise of fundamental rights, would by no means constitute a disproportionate restriction of individual freedom.

In practice, the creation of a management system would also require uniting existing instruments of environmental protection in the affected area within a coherent system pursuing common

In depth *Klinski*, Die novellierten Stellplatzregelungen, 233; *cf.* also *Murswiek*, NVwZ 1996, 417 (419 *et sqq.*); furthermore *Jachmann*, StuW 1997, 299 (308 *et seq.*); critically *v. Mutius/ Lünenburger*, NVwZ 1996, 1061 (1064 *et seq.*).

Thus, for instance, *Burgi*, NVwZ 2004, 1162 (1164).

More reticent *v. Mutius/ Lünenburger*, NVwZ 1996, 1061 (1064), who only recognize such a possibility where an existing permit requirement can be drawn upon.

management objectives; if needed, moreover, remaining *lacunae* would have to be filled with additional instruments. Such an approach would seem equally suited for the area of climate protection as well as for the pursuit of a comprehensive protection of natural resources or conservation of valuable natural spaces (such as the marine environment).

In the area of climate policy, where the creation of a comprehensive management system would appear particularly expedient, existing instruments aimed at limiting or reducing greenhouse gas emissions could be combined with new instruments under a type of "umbrella legislation" on climate protection. As has already occurred to some extent with the National Allocation Act (*Zuteilungsgesetz*) (albeit without covering aviation and without achieving coordination between different legal instruments), such legislation would have to define specific management objectives on the one hand, and set out suitable instruments to achieve these objectives (to the extent necessary) or integrate existing instruments (as far as these are available) on the other hand. One element of such a system could be a user charge on aviation.

Given the international commitments entered by the Federal Republic, it bears noting that a management system for the "airspace" (or the "sea") would by no means imply the extension of sovereign powers to these respective areas. Although the management system would be motivated by the intention of reducing the overall environmental impact on the environmental space in question, its "management", in this context, merely refers to the establishment of a regime comprising different instruments for impacts **originating and caused in Germany**. To be precise, the management does not relate to the environmental space as such, but to the impacts it is subjected to from Germany. It follows that Germany does not stake any sovereign claims regarding the respective environmental space. Consequently, a delimitation of areas covered by such a management system is obviated.

Practical design options for the introduction of charges imposed in return for services within such a setting will be outlined below.⁶³⁸

3. Special Charges (Other Non-Fiscal Charges)

a.) Conceptual Aspects

A third category of charges not explicitly mentioned in the Basic Law is commonly referred to a special charges. Frequently, a distinction is made between special charges focused on the creation of revenue ("financing special charges") and special charges where the legislator is seeking to provide an incentive for behavioral change ("guiding special charges"). 639 In its "water penny"

⁶³⁸ *Cf.* sections II. 4. and II. 5.

⁶³⁹ Cf. Smeddinck/ Schomerus, ZUR 1995, 75 et seq.; differentiating Pieroth, in: Jarass/ Pieroth, GG, Art. 105 Annot. 9 et seq. with further references.

decision, which reflects the main tenets of its jurisprudence on the financial provisions of the constitution, the Federal Constitutional Court simply referred to non-fiscal charges aiming at behavioral change as "further charges" of a non-fiscal nature, rather than using the term "special charges." One might therefore generalize and designate them as **non-fiscal charges without an** (**individual**) **return service character**. In its recurrent case-law, however, the Court emphasizes that the designation or classification are not decisive, but rather the substantive content of the respective charge. 641

Like taxes, special charges differ from charges imposed in return for services by not corresponding to an individually attributable return service. By nature, they are thus very similar to taxes, differing from the latter in that they do not generate (general) revenue, but serve to provide funding for specific sectoral tasks. The earmarking of revenue alone does not yet prompt classification of a charge as a special charge. A certain degree of earmarking is also permissible and common in connection with taxes. Instead, special charges are characterized by the extent of earmarking, which goes so far as to restrict the discretionary powers of the budget legislator.

Whenever financial flows are organized outside of the general public budget,⁶⁴⁶ for instance by creation of a special fund not subject to the disposition of the budget legislator, one may speak of a special charge. That is unreservedly the case with special charges resembling taxes. Regarding charges imposed in return for services, however, the Federal Constitutional Court also felt the need to address the question in its "water penny" decision whether revenue was (illegally) channeled past the public budget.⁶⁴⁷ It would be premature, thus, to interpret the "water penny" decision so as to imply that this aspect was of no relevance for charges imposed in return for services.

To date, it has not been conclusively clarified where the threshold lies for an excessive restriction of the discretionary powers of the budget legislator by way of provisions on funds. After all, the Federal Constitutional Court clearly stated in its decision on the ecotax that, in the event of

⁶⁴⁰ Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (344) with further references.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 55, 274 (304 *et seq.*); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 67, 256 (276); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 92, 91 (114).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 81, 156 (186 *et seq.*); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 78, 249 (267); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 75, 108 (147).

Fundamentally Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 55, 274 (299 et seq., 310 et seq.); cf. auch Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 67, 256 (277 et seq.).

⁶⁴⁴ Cf. most recently Federal Constitutional Court – 1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00 –, Annot. 61, DVBl. 2004, 705.

⁶⁴⁵ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (347 et seq.).

Fundamentally Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 91, 186 (201, 202) – coal penny –.

Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (347f.).

relatively small revenue, the restriction of budgetary powers would not be large enough to turn a tax into a special charge.⁶⁴⁸ The same reasoning can be inferred from the "water penny" decision with regard to the category of charges imposed in return for services.⁶⁴⁹

b.) Admissibility Requirements for Special Charges

The Federal Constitutional Court has defined **extremely strict admissibility requirements** for special charges with a financing function. As they are considered a problematic foreign body in the context of the financial provisions in the constitution, they are only permissible if

- first, the payment obligation applies to a clearly distinguishable *homogenous group*,
- which, second, bears a *common group responsibility* for the achievement of the respective sectoral task,
- and, third, revenue is expended at least primarily with a view to benefiting the entire group required to pay the charge (group benefit). 650

The strict stance of the Federal Constitutional Court *vis-à-vis* special charges aiming at the generation of revenues can be explained with the "principle of the fiscal state." This principle states that the public polity has to generally finance itself by way of taxes, given that the Basic Law only provides conclusive rules for taxes.⁶⁵¹ According to the Federal Constitutional Court, this principle may not be undermined or rendered meaningless. Its deeper purpose is to provide the community with a permanent and reliable source of revenue that is amenable to political decision-making.⁶⁵²

c.) Consequences for Special Charges on Environmental Use

If introduced under domestic responsibility, the types of environmental user charges discussed earlier will always constitute a special charge if proceeds are fed past the regular budget into a special fund.

The domestic introduction of special charges for environmental purposes will only meet the requirements set out by the Basic Law if it can ensure that proceeds accrue primarily or entirely to the group bound by the payment obligation. Current initiatives to introduce an environmental user

⁶⁴⁸ Federal Constitutional Court – 1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00 –, Annot. 65, DVBl. 2004, 705.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93. 319 (347 et seq.).

Fundamentally on the admissibility requirements for special charges Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 55, 274 (274 *et seg.* und 305 ff, notably 307 *et seg.*).

Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (342); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 91, 186 (201); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 82, 159 (178); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 78, 249 (266 et seg.).

In depth Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 93, 319 (342 *et seq.*) with further references.

charge and do not provide for such expenditure benefiting those who pay the charge. Instead, revenue is to be used for purposes of development cooperation or climate mitigation policies. Funneling the proceeds back to those burdened by the user charge (for instance through a fund for the promotion of research on low-emission aircraft or sea vessels) is not currently an option under discussion.

On the level of national decision-making, thus, regulatory approaches channeling revenue to a special fund outside the public budget are not permissible.

II. Classification and Assessment of Individual Environmental User Charges under the Financial Provisions of the Constitution

The foregoing description of the constitutional chapter on finance as it relates to fiscal and non-fiscal charges has shown that classification of individual user charges will depend on two criteria:

- first, as regards **expenditure** of proceeds, the question arises whether the charge leaves sufficient decision-making powers to the budget legislator. If that is not the case (for instance because of the creation of a special fund), the charge will be classified as a special charge. That applies irrespective of how the charge might be otherwise classified.
- if the user charge is not a special charge, the modalities of its introduction need to be assessed; if the charge is imposed in return for an individual advantage conferred by the state, then it is a charge in return for services; if not, it is a tax.

On this basis, the following section will classify and assess the admissibility of the various types of environmental user charge currently under discussion.

For better comprehension, it will be noted at this point that the discussion on the introduction of environmental user charges has been geared towards different **calculation models**, whereas the classification under the constitution solely depends on the **reason** for their introduction.⁶⁵³ Consequently, it may happen that one and the same approach to calculation of a user charge fulfills the criteria of different types of charges in the legal sense.

1. Charges on Fuel

Charges on fuel (such as kerosene taxation as a specific type of mineral oil tax) are legally classified as **taxes**, unless they are assigned to a fund.

⁶⁵³

Pursuant to Article 105 (2) in connection with Article 106 (1) Nr. 2 of the Basic Law, they are typical **excise taxes**⁶⁵⁴ and as such subject to the concurrent legislative power of the federation. Revenue from a tax on bunker fuels would accrue to the federation under Article 106 (1) Nr. 2 of the Basic Law.

To some extent, the introduction of a tax also allows for earmarking of revenue. Legislative assignment of proceeds to a fund, however, would render the tax a special charge; given that expenditure is not likely to benefit only the group against whom the special charge is assessed, such a design would be illegal. If proceeds are to be used for certain purposes, the only permissible option would be to include a general specification of its use in the implementing legislation. The decision on the use of revenue may not be entirely withdrawn from the budget legislator.

Accordingly, the constitution does not preclude the introduction of a tax on aircraft and shipping fuel. It could be implemented by simply eliminating current exemptions within the framework of the mineral oil tax (*cf.* Section 4 MinÖStG).

2. Charges on Emissions

A more varied picture arises when assessing charges on emissions. Several design options are conceivable for emissions-related charges. Reliance on emissions can translate into calculation of the amount of fuel consumed, the individual trip or the emissions performance of the aircraft or sea vessel in question. Depending on the chosen basis, very different consequences may result from a legal perspective.

Whenever proceeds from an emissions charge are assigned to a **fund**, the charge will have to be classified as a **special charge**. As such, it would be subject to the strict criteria elaborated by the Federal Constitutional Court, which requires that revenue be expended to benefit the group paying the charge, *i.e.* in the overall interest of the group burdened by the charge. In practice, however, this requirement will hardly ever be met if proceeds are applied towards purposes of development cooperation or climate policy measures. The requirement of expenditure in the group's interest would, if at all, be only met if proceeds were exclusively used for climate policy measures benefiting the group burdened by the charge.

If revenue is to accrue to the general budget, the charge would be generally classified as a **tax**. After all, none of the alternative design options outlined just now would correspond to an individually attributable service by the state; instead, its collection is simply based on the emission of particular substances. As a tax, an emissions charge would be subject to the strict classification rules set out

Thus explicitly Federal Constitutional Court – 1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00 –, Annot. 62 et sqq., DVBl. 2004, 705.

⁶⁵⁵ Cf. on this concept supra, Part 1, D. I. 1. c).

⁶⁵⁶ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 55, 274 (274 et seq. and 305 ff, notably 307 et seq.).

by the Basic Law. As mentioned earlier,⁶⁵⁷ it is generally held that the federation possesses no power to invent taxes, being instead limited to the categories of taxes listed in Articles 105 und 106 of the Basic Law (unless the constitution were to be amended).

- a tax on emissions cannot be assigned to any of these tax categories. In particular, it would be neither an excise, nor an expenditure or transaction tax. As such, therefore, an "emissions tax" would **not be permissible**.
- Still, the regulatory framework for taxes would leave ample space to amend an existing or otherwise permissible tax in such a way as to reflect emissions, given that classification of taxes does not depend on the calculation basis as much as it depends on the reason for its assessment. A suitable starting point might be existing mineral oil taxes (which so far largely exempt aviation and shipping) as well as vehicle taxes, which could be extended to aircraft and ships.
- Being a typical excise tax, mineral oil taxes are justified by the presumption that consumption of mineral oil reflects a financial capacity that is sufficiently high to impose an additional burden as a contribution to the community finances. From a constitutional point of view, the chosen basis for calculation of rates is largely irrelevant. Since the fiscal legislator is (fairly) free to pursue a politically desirable behaviour through taxation, it cannot be prevented from choosing an emissions-related calculation basis to this end (as is the case *e.g.* with the motor vehicle tax). It needs to be borne in mind, however, that current mineral oil taxes (in areas outside of aviation and shipping), being an excise tax already in existence, carefully differentiate between different categories of fuel and thereby permit achievement of a reasonable correlation between fiscal burden and emissions volume. Additional emissions-related aspects are likely to increase the administrative expenses associated with a user charge without noticeably furthering its objectives.
- An emissions charge linked to the **emissions performance of individual aircraft or seavessels** would resemble the motor vehicle tax, which also contains emissions-related elements. In both cases, the justification of the tax lies in tapping the economic capacity of the operator, which, in turn, is expressed by his or her keeping of the respective vehicle. Although motor vehicle taxes relate to a property asset, a common view in judicial practice and legal scholarship holds such taxes to be transaction (and not expenditure) taxes, claiming that the keeping of a motor vehicle is a legal act. The introduction of an aircraft or sea vessel tax linked to emissions would face the same categorisation problem. If one were to depart from the view

⁶⁵⁷ *Cf.* Part 1, D. I. 1. c).

Thus Federal Fiscal Court Reports 110, 213 (217); *Heintzen*, in: von Münch/ Kunig, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 24; with a differing opinion (expenditure tax) *Pieroth*, in: Jarass/ Pieroth, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 5 as well as *Hidien*, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 Annot. 1416.

submitted here⁶⁵⁹ and classified such taxes as a transaction tax, proceeds would be apportioned to the *Länder*. Altogether, however, the introduction of such a tax is likely to be of little political interest, given that it would create an incentive to shift the vehicles affected by the tax abroad.

For a genuinely emissions-related charge, only the model of a "real" charge imposed in return for the use of the environmental space would appear feasible; this design option would be addressed in greater detail below. ⁶⁶⁰

From all this, it follows that an emissions charge imposed by the federation under national responsibility would be precluded as a special charge, would not be practical if designed as a variation on fuel taxes (excise tax) and would hardly be interesting as a tax imposed on the respective aircraft or sea-vessel. Only as a benefit offset charge would it meet the specifically emissions-related objectives.

3. Charges on the Use of Facilities (Airports, Harbours)

Charges imposed on the use of public facilities such as airports or ports belong to the classic **charges imposed in return for services**. They are based on a relationship of service and return service. If the charge is geared towards actual use, it would be classified as a fee. If the charge already imposes a burden on the mere opportunity of use, it would be a contribution.

In this context, however, it needs to be recalled that charges imposed in return for services may only be applied to services provided by the recipient of proceeds. In other words: the state may only introduce a fee or contribution for use (or the opportunity of use) of **its own facilities**, not for services provided by private entities. That is of particular significance for passenger airports, given that these are typically operated by private companies (as opposed to ports).

Regarding the expenditure of proceeds, into bears noting that revenue from the charge will be apportioned to whoever provides the service. Even if the facility in question is operated by a public entity, revenue will by no means automatically accrue to the federation. That would only be the case if the federation operated the facility itself. *A fortiori*, it would not be possible to assign the revenue from a fee or a contribution directly to a special fund.

The permissible rate of such a charge is, in principle, limited to the value of the advantage conferred. The legislator is not prevented from going beyond mere compensation of the service rendered and pursuing behavioural change through fees and contributions. To some extent, therefore, it may include environmental criteria in the determination of the charge rates (for instance relating to CO₂-emissions or noise levels of engines). It may not, however, depart entirely from the

660 *Cf.* Part 1, D. II. 2. and 4.

⁶⁵⁹ *Cf.* Part 1, D. I. 1. c).

underlying idea of an exchange of advantages, merely applying the fee or contribution as a means to achieve far more extensive environmental objectives.

4. Charges on the Use and Pollution of Environmental Spaces

Charges imposed on the use and pollution of airspace and the sea may be designed in various conceivable ways. Their calculation may, for instance, be based on distances travelled (as in the case of a toll) or the amount of harmful pollutants discharged into the environmental space (calculation based on emissions), but also by applying flat rates to certain incidences of use (for instance departure and landing fees).

Conceptually, collection of the charge may occur with the carrier (airlines, shipping companies) or its customers (passengers, freight customers). In this context, only such design options will be addressed which may be imposed against airlines and shipping companies.

As with other types of "environmental user charges", constitutional law prevents assignment of revenue to a special fund unless expenditure occurs in the common interest of the group burdened with the charge.

In principle, a charge on the use of environmental space would be conceivable as a tax, but it would not correspond to any tax category outlined in the Basic Law (excepting fuel taxation, which could basically be harnessed for similar purposes) and thus find no appropriate legal basis in the constitution.

Of particular interest, however, would be an introduction of environmental user charges as a benefit offset charge imposed in return for services. Currently, the required legislative framework does not yet exist. To the extent that it falls within Germany jurisdiction, use of airspace and the sea are not subject to a **public management regime**. Such use is free. To date, the legislator has not considered it necessary to render the use of these environmental goods conditional on particular requirements, let alone to introduce quota rules. Against that backdrop, the provision of such use cannot be currently considered a "service" provided by the state that may be offset.

A different situation would apply, however, if the state decided to introduce a comprehensive management system for certain environmental spaces, subjecting pollution and environmental impacts originating in Germany – which constitute *de facto* "environmental uses" – to a regime in accordance with their amount and origin, adopting suitable legal instruments for actual achievement of the quantitative targets set out within such a system. An **umbrella law** specifically adopted to this end, allowing domestic management of greenhouse gases, could bring together various pertinent instruments (such as emissions trading, regulatory reduction obligations or – to draw on the subject of this study – financial instruments). If the "environmental user charge" were assigned a specific control function within this framework, it would become part of the overall management system.

Such a system does not necessarily have to be designed so as to place forms of environmental use covered by it under an individualized licensing and permitting requirement. Given the legal typology of charges imposed in return for services, however, it would have to be ensured that only such use of the protected environmental space are subjected to a charge which correspond to an **individual advantage** for the user arising from the legally vested **possibility** of **using the environment to a greater extent** within the management system.

When adopting such legislation, of course, the legislator would have to indicate its serious intent to create a management system rather than merely introduce new sources of financial revenue. That should pose no serious problem, however, given that Germany is held to limit its emissions of greenhouse gases under international law for one, and because a series of measures already exist which may be considered a first step towards (and later elements of) a comprehensive management system, such as emissions trading and the electricity tax. As shown above, a majority of reasons support the introduction of such a management system, at least with regard to airspace, which is particularly sensitive from the point of view of climate policy. 661

In practice, the creation of a management regime would incur the challenge of bringing together existing instruments for the limitation and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions under some sort of "**umbrella law**" on climate change. As already has occurred to some extent with the National Allocation Act (*Zuteilungsgesetz*) (albeit without covering aviation and without achieving coordination between different legal instruments), such legislation would have to define specific management objectives and set out suitable instruments for the achievement of these objectives (to the extent necessary) or integrate existing instruments (as far as these are available).

Again, it needs to be emphasized that such a system would not seek to manage the environmental space as such. Instead, it would manage impacts on the affected environmental space **originating** and caused in Germany. Ultimately, thus, the system would seek to manage emissions and impacts, but not the environmental space as such. The environmental space is the object of protection, in other words, but not the substance of regulation. It follows that Germany does not raise any sovereign claims regarding the respective environmental space. Consequently, a delimitation of areas covered by such a management system is obviated.⁶⁶²

Within such a management regime, it would constitute an individually attributable advantage for the owners or operators of aircraft and sea vessels to be allowed to use the environmental space protected by said regime to a particular degree, that is: beyond common public use. This advantage could be offset by a charge imposed in return for services.

It would meet with legal difficulties, however, if such a charge were introduced prior to the creation of a management system as described above. A charge designed in this manner would enter the

⁶⁶¹ *Cf.* in detail *supra*, Part 1, D. I. 2. d).

⁶⁶² *Cf.* already *supra*, Part 1, D. I. 2. d).

problematic area between charges and taxes. Because the legislator may not "choose" between taxes and charges imposed in return for services, such a design is not recommended.

5. "Ticket Charges"

a.) Background

It is a characteristic trait of "ticket charges" that their substantive effect is not supposed to impact airlines and shipping companies (unlike charges imposed on the respective means of transport), but rather the individual person benefiting from the transport services of the airline or shipping company. The economic burden is supposed to unfold with the (end) consumer.

Designating such charges as "ticket charges" could easily result in a **misunderstanding** that it is a flat fee imposed on each ticket purchase. Caution is called for in this regard, both to avoid limiting the range of available design options and to prevent a problematic classification under constitutional law. Aside from a flat fee, such a charge could equally be calculated based on the distances travelled, an alternative which would appear preferable as the more expedient and equitable choice. Less suited, although not categorically precluded, would be calculation based on the pricing of tickets. From a regulatory perspective, a "ticket charge" may assume very different designs. In principle, both and consumers and airlines could be conceivable addressees of such a charge, with airlines passing on the compensation duty to their (end) customers. The designation as "ticket charges" is not applied here as a synonym for a specific mode of collection or calculation, but rather as an open **collective** term for charges imposing an additional payment duty on end customers for each flight or trip.

Aside from solutions which involve the creation of a special fund and thus render the charge a special charge in the constitutional sense, incurring its inadmissibility under the Basic Law, such ticket charges could be imposed by way of a **tax** or a **charge in return for services**. Both types of charges need to be distinguished systematically:

b.) "Ticket Charges" as Taxes

The different design options available for a "ticket charge" imposed as a tax are all located at the contentious nexus between **expenditure** and **transaction taxes**. Categorisation as an excise tax is ruled out, however, given that – regardless of the design chosen – ticket charges are not imposed on the consumption of an economic good.

Starting from the criterion of the material burden effected by the charge, it would appear far more convincing to classify "ticket charges" as **expenditure taxes**. According to the view posited here (which builds on the case-law of the Federal Constitutional Court, but is partially disputed in

academic literature), the federation has the legislative power for, and is also entitled to the revenue from, expenditure taxes.⁶⁶³

The reason for classification as an expenditure tax lies in the fact that "ticket charges" are geared towards travel by airplane and ship as a specific manifestation of personal consumption. In keeping with both excise and expenditure taxes, they place a burden on the economic capabilities of airline and ship passengers in their capacity as consumers, capabilities expressed by the **application of income to cover personal needs**. ⁶⁶⁴ They differ essentially from transaction taxes in that they do not seek to tax a special legal transaction (such special transactions would be, for instance, an insurance contract or the purchase of real estate) as opposed to daily transactions to cover personal needs; instead, they impose a charge on expenditure for a specific type of consumption. Irrespective of additional (admissible) behavioural guidance purposes, they are thus based on the assumption that expenses incurred for air- or sea-travel reflect the economic capacity of the respective individuals.

Charges imposed on air- and sea-travel are expenditure taxes because they inherently seek to place a burden on expenses incurred for daily livelihood. This conclusion does not lose its validity because such expenses are geared towards enjoyment of third-party **services** rather than the use of an object. The case-law of both the Federal Constitutional Court and the Federal Administrative Court contains indications that expenditure taxes can also be imposed on the enjoyment of services. An example which is both practiced and recognized are enjoyment taxes. Likewise, hunting taxes, which are also categorized as expenditure taxes under the constitution, are evidence for the fact that classification as an expenditure tax is not conditional on the use of a physical object.

In its decision on the constitutionality of municipal hunting taxes, the Federal Constitutional Court maintained its classification as an expenditure tax, arguing that the decisive criterion was "**consumption** in the form of a discernible situation involving the application of financial means". The Court considered expenses incurred in the "exercise of hunting rights" to be an

⁶⁶³ *Cf. supra*, Part 1, D. I. 1. d).

Cf. notably Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (786); BVerwGE 98, 272 (281); furthermore Jachmann, in: v. Mangoldt/Klein/Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 52; Kirchhof, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154. On these issues, see also supra, Teil 1, D. I. 1. c).

⁶⁶⁵ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1984, 785 (785 et seq.); Federal Administrative Court Reports (BVerwGE) 98, 272 (281).

⁶⁶⁶ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 40, 56.

⁶⁶⁷ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1989, 1152.

⁶⁶⁸ Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1989, 1152 (1152) < emphasis and translation by the author >.

expression of such consumption.⁶⁶⁹ Accordingly, the Court has applied and ample interpretation (in line with the factual circumstances) of "consumption", leaving no room for conceptions which would only include the use and consumption of physical goods.

While the "ticket charge" can be generally classified as an expenditure tax, given the wide definition of consumption, such classification would not extend to **freight** included in the taxation system. Applying the criteria outlined above, the tax would then leave the realm of income expenditure characteristic for expenditure taxes. No difficulties are raised by an inclusion of **business travel**, however. As in the case of excise taxes, the inclusion of corporate transactions does not put to question the nature of the tax and its objective of imposing a burden on personal consumption. ⁶⁷⁰

Still, it cannot be ignored that a widely held view distinguishes between transaction and expenditure taxes by drawing on the **regulatory point of reference** of the tax in question rather than its substantive justification.⁶⁷¹ If a tax has as its point of reference a legal transaction, it will always be a transaction tax under this view. From the perspective submitted here, such an interpretation does not seem convincing, as it gives insufficient consideration to the shared substantive scope of excise and expenditure taxes, both of which impose a fiscal burden on general acts of consumption.⁶⁷² In this regard, they differ from transaction taxes, which neither seek to place a burden on consumption or consumer-like use of goods, nor constitute a tax on the enjoyment of services within the framework of general livelihood.

Still, the continuing debate on the classification of turnover and motor vehicle taxes, in particular, reveals how the distinction of expenditure and transaction taxes still **lacks clarification**.⁶⁷³ Decisions by the Federal Constitutional Court to date do not to Fort certainty, given the that the Court has not yet adopted a decisive position on the demarcation of transaction and expenditure taxes. Existing case-law merely contains an indication of certain tendencies which – in the view of

⁶⁶⁹ Federal Constitutional Court NJW 1989, 1152 (1152).

⁶⁷⁰ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court (1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00) – ecotax–, C II 2 und 4 (Annot. 63 et sqq.).

Thus the long-standing case-law of the Federal Fiscal Court relating to turnover taxes (*cf.* Federal Fiscal Court, Official Gazette of the Federal Ministry of Finance Vol. II 1987, 95, 96) and motor vehicle taxes (*cf.* Federal Fiscal Court Reports (*BFHE*) 110, 213, 217); see also *Heintzen*, in: von Münch/ Kunig, Art. 106 Annot. 18 and 24 (relating to turnover and motor vehicle taxes); *Pieroth*, in: Jarass/Pieroth, Art. 106 Annot. 5; ambivalent *Hidien*, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 Annot. 1441 *et seq.*

Explicitly in this direction (on the distinction of excise and transaction taxes) *Jachmann*, in: v. Mangoldt/ Klein/ Starck, GG III, 4th ed. 2001, Art. 105 Annot. 50; *Tipke*, Steuerrechtsordnung, Vol. II, Section 19, 894 *et sqq*. (on the turnover tax); heading in the same direction *Hidien*, in: BK-GG, Art. 106 Annot. 1425 (distinction of excise and "legal transaction taxes" based on whether specific goods or specific legal positions are taxed); vague in this regard *Kirchhof*, in: HdStR, Vol. IV, 2nd ed. 1999, Section 88 Annot. 154 und 157.

⁶⁷³ *Cf.* already *supra*, Part 1, D. I. 1. c).

this offer – suggest classification of "ticket charges" as expenditure taxes. A case in point, notably, is the decision on the hunting tax, where the Federal Constitutional Court did not categorize a tax linked to a legal act (the "exercise of hunting rights"; in that sense, the hunting tax resembles the motor vehicle tax, which is linked to vehicle registration) as a transaction tax (without, however, providing explicit guidance on the demarcation of transaction taxes). Given the widely held view that motor vehicle taxes are transaction taxes, it would have at least suggested itself to also categorize the hunting tax accordingly.

Important criteria for the distinction of expenditure and transaction taxes may also follow from the individual **design properties** of the respective charge, notably with a view to the **mode of calculation and collection**. If one followed the view (opposed here) that classification as a transaction tax (which results in apportionment of revenue to the *Länder*) does not depend on the justification of the fiscal burden, but rather on the regulatory point of reference, such criteria may acquire particular relevance. Aiming to limit the constitutional risks, the following section will briefly address the significance of such criteria:

- a construction where the duty to pay arises with the **purchase of the ticket** should be avoided. The purchase of a ticket should not be the taxable event, but rather the **departure** (or arrival) in Germany of a flight or journey by sea, also because trips booked abroad would otherwise not be covered. If the arrival is chosen as the taxable event, questions relating to proof of purchase would need to be clarified. Otherwise, if the payment duty is incurred at the point of departure, it can easily be linked to the issue of the boarding pass. No other concerns arise under constitutional law relating to the separation of an arrival and a departure tax. From a technical point of view, it will likely prove easier to impose only a departure tax. That should also tackle the potential challenge of double taxation in different countries introducing similar charges.
- Regarding the classification under different categories of taxes, it would seem advisable to designate the respective transport carrier as the **taxable entity** and provide for reimbursement (as in the case of mineral oil taxes) if the carrier provides suitable evidence that available seats remained unoccupied during the respective trip. This might necessitate clarification of suitable forms of evidence (especially relating to return trips).
- As for the modalities of collection, transaction taxes are typically (if not always) geared towards addressing **both sides** of the transaction subjected to the tax. That could be achieved by defining the individual passenger as the taxpayer of the "ticket charge", but requiring the company to disburse the tax to the state. If a tax modelled after the mineral oil tax does not appear feasible, it might become necessary to implement a variation of this kind, given that direct taxation of passengers will likely prove impracticable.

⁶⁷⁴

With a view to general reasons of equal treatment and the behavioural guidance effects, it would seem recommendable to avoid lumping the rates of the charge (a flat rate on each trip), even though it would not result in unconstitutionality of the charge. By power of association, however (notably if it included designation as a "ticket charge"), such a design would probably favour classification as a transaction tax. Still, that is by no means certain. In principle, calculation based on the value of the individual trip (i.e. the concrete transportation service) would seem an option for both expenditure and transaction taxes, yielding no useful criteria for classification. The same is likely to apply to calculation based on the (possibly staggered) length of the journey. Although the legislator would then compromise the strict link between tax rates and economic capacity of taxpayers, the (legitimate) behavioural changes it would seek to induce are likely to justify continued categorization of the tax as an expenditure tax.

In conclusion, it can be affirmed that "ticket charges" – understood as **taxes on flights and trips by sea** – can be classified as expenditure taxes for purposes of constitutional law, with convincing reasons supporting such classification. The federation would possess the power of legislation and be entitled to all proceeds. The pertinent law in this regard is somewhat ambiguous, however, with classification as a transaction tax also conceivable. The Federal Constitutional Court has not yet established decisive criteria for such a distinction.

These problems should be considered when addressing the **specific design** and **name** of such a flight- or sea travel tax. Establishing a legal connection between the tax and the ticket purchase does not seem advisable, given that it might evoke an unwarranted association with a transaction tax. Likewise, formal designation as a "ticket levy" or "ticket tax" is not to be recommended.

c.) "Ticket Charges" as Charges in Return for Services

A "ticket charge" would represent an admissible **benefit offset charge** if it were imposed as compensation in return for an individual advantage conferred by the state. As such, it would appear feasible as part of a newly created **management system**, in particular (given the view held here that such a management system is generally admissible). As in the parallel case of environmental user charges on aircraft and sea vessels, the individual advantage would consists allowing the individual passenger (or freight customer) to use an environmental space in a particularly intense manner corresponding to separate use.

In principle, use the charge on flights and sea travel could also be imposed in **the absence of a special management regime**, given that consumption of mineral oils for aviation and shipping is not subject to mineral oil taxation. The decision not to include such fuel in current mineral oil taxation could also be interpreted as an individual advantage conferred to passengers by the state.

⁶⁷⁵ *Cf.* also *infra*, Teil 1, D. II. 4.

⁶⁷⁶ Cf. already supra, Part 1, D. I. 2. d) sowie D. II. 4.

Bearing in mind the earlier observations,⁶⁷⁷ it is worth noting that a "ticket charge" based solely on that line of reasoning would face the risk of being classified as a tax. It is well possible, thus, that a "ticket charge" based on such justification would be perceived as a tax by the Federal Constitutional Court. And that would bring us back to the insight that, by nature, "ticket charges" are most likely expenditure taxes as a subcategory of excise taxes – with the result that, pursuant to the view held here, they would be subject to federal legislative power (whether they are classified as a tax or not).

6. Other Compensation Duties

The categories of environmental user charges discussed just now do not exhaust the entire range of possible design and calculation options for environmental user charges. Additional variations on the type of instrument are certainly conceivable. Still, the central criteria for their classification and assessment illustrated here should also apply to other manifestations of user charges.

With regard to the delimitation from other economic instruments of environmental policy, it may still bear mentioning that all categories of user charges described here are "real" charges in that they impose a compensation duty requiring payment to the state or other entities endowed with public authority. Barring such charges, other specific instruments are conceivable to subject particular forms of environmental use to a more generally defined "compensation system" with the aim of exerting political control. Examples from other areas of law include the feed-in tariffs guaranteed under the Renewable Energies Act (EEG), which are subject to private law, and the recently launched emissions trading scheme.

Such variations would all be located outside the formal corset set out by the constitutional chapter on finance; consequently, this cannot be the place for an assessment of their compatibility with constitutional law. According to the Federal Constitutional Court, a charge in the sense outlined by the constitutional provisions on finance presupposes a monetary compensation duty generating revenue for the public budget.⁶⁷⁸ That is not the case if the state imposes payment duties on citizens which can only be met *vis-à-vis* other citizens, for instance the feed-in tariffs under the Renewable Energies Act.⁶⁷⁹ Said reservation applies all the more to indirectly incurred payment duties between citizens, for instance within a market for tradable permits. Such regulatory structures are altogether exempted from the constitutional regime on finance. From a constitutional point of view, they could merely be assessed from the perspective of basic rights (and, if applicable, legislative powers).

⁶⁷⁷ *Cf.* already Teil 1, D. I. 2. d).

This aspect was emphasized by the Federal Constitutional Court in its court order of 9 January 1996, rejecting the submission of the Regional Court (*Landgericht*) Karlsruhe regarding the constitutionality of the Electricity Feed-in Act (*StrEG*) (NJW 1997, 573).

⁶⁷⁹ Cf. Federal High Court of Justice (BGH) ZUR 2003, 411 (413 et seq.) – on the StrEG 1998 and the EEG 2000 – as well as BGHZ 134, 1 (27 et sqq.) – on the StrEG 1990 –.

III. Stipulations under Community Law

It was already mentioned at the outset that the case-law of the Federal Constitutional Court on financial issues only applies to charges imposed under German national responsibility. The same applies to the lively academic debate in German scholarly literature.

Should the situation arise that Germany is faced with stipulations imposed by Community law, the foregoing conclusions would apply to a limited extent only. They would be valid in their entirety if Community law did not require specific action from Germany (that differed from the fiscal rules under the constitution). In that regard, Community law may itself contain a limitation of powers (*cf.* notably Article 5 ECT). Beyond the clause set out in Article 23 of the Basic Law, however, German constitutional law does not provide any further means of limiting the influence of EC law on domestic law.

More specifically, the Community disposes of essentially two different ways of exerting an influence in the area of fiscal instruments: by imposing charges directly at the Community level, and by exercising its power to adopt directives Requiring certain measures from the Member States.

In the former case, which involves the **introduction of a charge directly at the European level**, Article 106 (1) No. 7 of the Basic Law explicitly states that revenue originating from "levies imposed within the framework of the European Communities" accrues to the federation. This provision, which has not acquired great importance so far given the limited number of fiscal measures imposed at the European level, is even considered superfluous by representatives from academia, who argue that revenue from such levies will always be but an item in transit for the federation. Still, it may play a role in the context of environmental user charges because it affirms that the Basic Law recognizes a general category of Community charges which goes beyond the national concept of taxes laid down in Articles 105 and 106 of the Basic Law. Consequently, there can be no question that Article 106 (1) No. 7 of the Basic Law would also apply to Community charges which meet the description of a special charge under national law. Provided Community law does not state otherwise, the perspective proceeds would be first collected by the federation and then possibly transferred to a fund established at the European level.

If the Community merely adopts a **directive** requiring Member States to introduce a certain type of charge, the general rules governing the relationship of domestic and Community law would stipulate that Community law would take precedence over domestic law in the event of a collision.⁶⁸¹

⁶⁸⁰ Cf. only Heintzen, in: von Münch/ Kunig, GG, Art. 106 Annot. 22.

Fundamentally on this issue Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 73, 339 ("Solange II"); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 89, 155 (Maastricht).

Given that European Community law ensures a protection of fundamental rights which is, at least in essential regards, comparable to the guarantee of basic rights under the Basic Law, the Federal Constitutional Court ruled on 7 June 2000 in a decision on the organization of the banana market that mandatory Community law could not be measured against the German basic rights, unless European fundamental rights doctrine had fallen below the necessary level of protection and was therefore unable to guarantee the indispensable protection of fundamental rights.⁶⁸²

Although this decision has only an indirect bearing on the protection of basic rights, without clarifying the relationship between European Community law and the German constitutional provisions on finances, please no apparent reason why a substantively different conclusion should apply when faced with divergent requirements under Community law and the financial provisions of the constitution.

The backdrop to this "EC-friendly" stance of the Federal Constitutional Court is the explicit wording in this regard of Article 23 (1) of the Basic Law, which allows the federation to transfer sovereign powers to organs of the European Union. As long as the Community legislator does not exceed these sovereign powers transferred by Germany under Article 23 (1) of the Basic Law, Community legislation will always take priority over domestic law. That applies to the entirety of domestic law⁶⁸³ and therefore also to domestic constitutional law.⁶⁸⁴

Pursuant to Article 23 (1) of the Basic Law, this primacy finds its limitations in the so-called "eternity clause" of Article 79 (3) of the Basic Law. Consequently, only such provisions of EC law may be tested for their constitutionality which affect the division of the federation into *Länder*, the participation on principle of the latter in the legislative process, or the principles laid down in Articles 1 and 20. Clearly, none of these circumstances will arise in the context of environmental user charges – even taking into account the principle of federalism laid down in Article 20 (1) of the Basic Law. Partial departure from the constitutional principles on finance does not suffice to compromise the normative substance of the federal tax structure.⁶⁸⁵

Altogether, thus, it is fairly evident that restrictions imposed by the German constitution relating to the admissibility of charges are of no relevance whatsoever when Community law mandates a departure from these restrictions:

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 102, 147 (164) = NJW 2000, 3124 (3125), drawing on Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 73, 339 (387) and Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 89, 155 (174 *et seg.*).

⁶⁸³ Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 73, 339 (375).

Explicitly *Jarass*, in: *Jarass*/ Pieroth, GG, Art. 23 Annot. 34.

⁶⁸⁵ Cf. on these issues Jarass, in: Jarass/Pieroth, GG, Art. 23 Annot. 35 et sqq. with further references; Pieroth, ibid., Art. 79 Annot. 9 et sqq. with further references.

- that notably concerns the important postulation under German Law that **special charges** are only permissible to the extent that revenue is expended for the benefit of the group burdened by the charge. From the point of view of Germany, it would indeed be conceivable to create a mandatory fund for an environmental user charge through the European Community. Such a scheme would also be mandatory for Germany, even though a correspondent domestic scheme introduced under national responsibility would fail because of constitutional constraints.
- it would also have relevance for the foregoing⁶⁸⁷ restrictions imposed on "real" **emissions charges**. Such restrictions would also become irrelevant if confronted with divergent requirements under Community law (which, after all, enjoy primacy over domestic law).
- And finally, it would also obviate the necessity of assigning the environmental user charge to a particular **tax category**. If the precepts in Articles 105 and 106 of the Basic Law prevented unambiguous classification of a charge mandated by the Community, the constitutional legislator would probably be forced to amend the constitution to accommodate the new type of charge based on higher-ranking Community law.

Mention should be made of the fact that this "special case" of mandatory Community law requiring the introduction of a certain charge cannot be applied to other international arrangements, whether these are concluded between Member States of the European Union or also include third states. If such arrangements contain obligations for Germany, and these prove incompatible with the financial provisions of the constitution, it is likely that the ratification legislation will require approval of two thirds of the members in both houses of Parliament, *Bundestag* and *Bundesrat* (*cf.* Article 79 (2) of the Basic Law).

IV. Basic Rights

From the point of view of basic rights, the different design options available for user charges raise the question of their proportionality *vis-à-vis* the affected basic rights as well as their compatibility with the principle of equality.

If the regulatory scope of the charge in question specifically relates to occupational aspects, it has to be assumed that the charge will (objectively) infringe upon the freedom of occupation protected by **Article 12 (1) of the Basic Law.** Furthermore, the Federal Constitutional Court has held that, on principle, fiscal duties infringe only on the general freedom of action (**Art 2 (1) of the Basic**

688 Cf. Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 38, 61 (85 et sqq.).

⁶⁸⁶ *Cf. supra*, Part 1, D. I. 3.

⁶⁸⁷ In Part 1, D. II. 2.

Law). 689 None of the design options discussed earlier suggest an infringement of the right to property (Article 14 (1) of the Basic Law).

Of the design options discussed earlier, none of the more promising options would seem to incur a restriction of basic rights that could not be sufficiently legitimized by the objectives pursued with the measure:

- under the established case-law of the Federal Constitutional Court, provisions encroaching upon the freedom of occupation can be sufficiently justified by all **reasonable considerations of public interest**, 690 with wide powers of discretion and judgment afforded to the legislator. 691 The objectives of climate policy pursued with environmental user charges are undoubtedly reasonable considerations of public interest. Indeed, they contribute to achievement of the state objective laid down in **Article 20a of the Basic Law** in a targeted way and are thus of particular constitutional merit. Thus, for instance, the Federal High Court of Justice emphasized the importance of Article 20a of the Basic Law in legitimising the feed-in tariffs of the former Electricity Feed-in Act (*Stromeinspeisungsgesetz*, StrEG) 1998 and the Renewable Energies Act (*Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz*, EEG) 2000 with regard to the freedom of occupation. 692
- Although an infringement on the freedom of action (Article 2 (1) of the Basic Law), the introduction of fiscal charges is on principle already legitimized by the objective of generating revenue for the community. In the case of charges imposed in return for services, the legitimacy follows from the purpose of offsetting benefits. Only special charges require a specific substantive justification; with a view to the foregoing conclusions, however, the introduction of a special charge is already ruled out for reasons of constitutional law.
- The burden incurred by the charge must be **proportionate**, irrespective of its design. To this end, the charge has to be substantively related with the objective it pursues (appropriateness), needs to appear necessary for achievement of that objective (necessity), and the rates it imposes may not be disproportionate with regard to the objective pursued (disproportionateness). ⁶⁹³ Given the design options discussed earlier, it would seem that none of these criteria give rise to significant obstacles.

⁶⁸⁹ Cf. Jarass, in: Jarass/ Pieroth, GG. Art. 2 Annot. 21 with further references.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 70, 1 (28); Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 95, 173 (183).

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 81, 156, 186; on these issues *Tettinger* in: Sachs, GG, Art. 12 Annot. 101 *et seq*.

⁶⁹² Federal High Court of Justice (*BGH*) ZUR 2003, 411 (412).

Summarizing the three elements of proportionality Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 67, 157 (173 *et sqq.*).

Finally, all design options need to observe the **principle of equality** (Article 3 (1) of the Basic Law). Of particular relevance in this regard is the chosen **calculation basis**. As a rule, the Federal Constitutional Court affords fairly ample powers of discretion to the legislator when it comes to determining the addressees and calculation methods of charges. Usually, the Court has also allowed for application of flat fees. It needs to be borne in mind, however, that this discretion shrinks to the same extent that unequal treatment under the charge impacts the exercise of basic rights. In its recent decision on the ecotax, the Federal Constitutional Court endowed the legislator with a particularly extensive scope of discretion when determining the addressees of said tax, given that the contested measure conferred a benefit to a certain group (namely exemptions from electricity taxation for the producing sector). When assessing a burden imposed on certain addressees, however, the Federal Constitutional Court will apply a far stricter standard. To that end, it will apply a test of proportionality by which it also assesses compatibility with the principle of equality. Passing this test depends on whether the reason for differentiation is (still) proportionate to the degree of unequal treatment. 695

Application of predominantly **flat rates** (for instance in the case of ticket charges by imposing the same rate on each ticket) would already prove less than ideal as a basis for calculating environmental user charges because it does not accurately reflect the actual use of the respective environmental space. It is possible that such a simplified design would still remain within the ambit of permissible options. Far more appropriate in-substance, and thus also more defensible from a legal point of view, would be to calculate rates on the basis of criteria which reflect more accurately the degree of environmental use.

V. Conclusion

The outcome of the constitutional assessment can be summarized as follows:

- (1) With their substantive approach and as an instrument, environmental user charges do not, on principle, face constitutional challenges.
- (2) If the charge is to be implemented under national responsibility, it would be advisable not to choose a design which appoints revenue to a special fund. Under constitutional law, such an approach would be classified as a special charge with a financing purpose and would only be justified if proceeds were expended in a way benefiting the group of burdened taxpayers. Since such expenditure would not serve the intended purpose of an environmental user charge, a domestic fund scheme compatible with the requirements of constitutional law appears to be ruled out.

⁶⁹⁴ Federal Constitutional Court – 1 BvR 1748/99 and 1 BvR 905/00 – (Annot. 68 *et sqq.*.) DVBI. 2004, 705.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports, Vol. 102, 68 (74); cf. also Jarass, in Jarass/ Pieroth, GG, Art. 3 Annot. 27.

- (3) Given the primacy of European Community law, however, it should be borne in mind that the constitutional constraints applying to special charges would be overruled by mandatory requirements imposed under Community law. At the level of Community law, thus, it remains worthwhile to consider the establishment of such a fund.
- (4) Likewise, a genuine Community charge (that is, a charge imposed by the European Union itself) would not be subject to the requirements set out under the German constitution.
- (5) No constitutional concerns would arise from the inclusion of currently exempted aircraft and shipping fuel in mineral oil taxation ("kerosene tax"). By nature, such a tax would constitute an excise tax, with the federation possessing both the power to legislate and an entitlement to revenue. Of the different compensation duties assessed here, fuel taxes appear to be the safest option available from a constitutional point of view.
- (6) Introduction of a (real) emissions tax is ruled out by the financial provisions in the constitution. Emissions cannot be construed as an expression of the economic capacity of emitters. Constitutional law requires such a justification for taxes, however. Again, this conclusion only applies if the tax is to be introduced under national responsibility. Should, in turn, its introduction be mandated by higher-ranking European Community law, such constitutional constraints would lose all relevance.
- (7) Categorisation challenges arise with regard to taxation of aircraft or sea vessels (even if emissions performance is taken into account). Depending on the point of view, such a tax could either be classified as an expenditure tax or as a transaction tax. Politically, however, a tax imposed on the keeping of a vehicle (modelled after existing motor vehicle taxes) would seem to possess little attraction, given that its introduction would result in evasive reactions to third countries.
- (8) Environmental user charges imposed on the use of airports or seaports are largely ruled out; being charges imposed in return for services, they would call for the state to impose rates which do not significantly exceed the value of advantages conferred by it. In the case of airports, moreover, an added difficulty arises from the fact that these are very often privately owned, thus preventing the state from collecting such a charge.
- (9) Conceptually of particular interest would be charges directly imposed on the pollution (use) of environmental spaces. The Federal Constitutional Court has outlined the options available in this regard with its "water penny" decision:
 - such a charge is unlikely to be classified as a tax or as a special charge if it serves to offset an advantage individually conferred by the state. Instead, such a charge will be a charge imposed in return for services and will thus pose no threat for the constitutional provisions on finance.
 - the Federal Constitutional Court has confirmed the admissibility of a scheme to offset such benefits in the case of the water extraction fees imposed by the *Länder* within their

- public management systems for water resources. The starting point in this context is strikingly similar with the only difference that a comparable management system has not yet been created for airspace or the sea.
- given current international commitments in the area of climate policy, it would appear reasonable to subject environmental impacts on the atmosphere to a management system. Such a management system, framed by an "umbrella law" on climate protection, could also accommodate other instruments such as emissions trading. It is emphasizing that such a system would not seek to manage the environmental space as such, but instead would manage atmospheric impacts originating in Germany.
- On the basis of such a management regime (which, according to the view held here, is clearly permissible), one might notably consider introducing a "ticket" or "freight" charge (addressed at the passengers or freight customers), or a user charge directed at the transport carrier. If possible, the assessment of such a charge should be based on the distance travelled or actual emissions.
- To ensure that the charge is not classified as a special charge, revenue from the "management charge" would have to accrue to the general budget (which does not rule out some degree of earmarking of proceeds).
- (10) In the absence of such a management system, introduction of a "ticket charge" would seem particularly appealing. Such a charge would involve placing a burden on passengers as end customers; designating it as a "flight charge" or "sea travel charge" would therefore seem more appropriate. In this context, one must distinguish:
 - a "ticket charge" may conceivably be introduced as a tax. In that case, revenue would also have to accrue to the general budget. By its concrete nature, such a "ticket tax" or "flight tax" would probably have to be classified as an expenditure tax, given that it is linked to the economic capacity of citizens expressed by their consumption of a non-physical service. According to the majority view, expenditure taxes result in the federation possessing both the power to legislate and an entitlement to revenue. It bears noting, however, that a significant number of legal scholars has instead suggested classifying such taxes as transaction taxes, with the result that revenue would not accrue to the federation. A certain classification risk thus remains. The actual design may prove of relevance for the categorisation. Legal reference to the ticket purchase and formal designation as a "ticket charge" or "ticket tax" should therefore be avoided.
 - freight does not constitute a permissible object of taxation by expenditure taxes.
 - a final option would be to design the charge as a benefit offset charge. To avoid being categorized as a special charge, its revenue would have to accrue to the general budget.
 The legislative decision not to impose mineral oil taxes on the affected fuel can be construed as the individually attributable advantage, allowing consideration of the ticket

charge as a charge imposed in return for services. Due to the inseverable link to the mineral oil tax, however, it could also be considered a special type of mineral oil taxation. Ultimately, this brings us back to the insight that, by nature, a "ticket charge" (probably) needs to be understood as a subcategory of excise taxes implemented as an expenditure tax – which, under the view upheld here, would render it a permissible object of federal legislation, including fiscal legislation.

(11) Finally, given its essential importance, a decisive aspect bears mentioning: fundamentally different consequences ensue if the charge is implemented under national responsibility or, instead, as a mandatory consequence of European Community law. To the extent that a European Community directive contains mandatory requirements relating to the type of charge, the use of revenue or the concrete design, these provisions will take precedence over the provisions of the German constitution in the event of a collision (so-called primacy of European Community law). It needs to emphasized, however, that this particular legal situation follows from Article 23 of the Basic Law and cannot, thus, be extended to other international treaties.

Part 3: Sectoral Requirements for User Charges on Aviation and Shipping

Drawing on the analysis of general requirements for user charges on aviation and shipping,⁶⁹⁶ the following sections will address requirements specifically arising for shipping (A.) and aviation (B.) (with interpretation potentially guided by the principle that the polluter shall pay⁶⁹⁷). In each case, requirements under international law, European Community law and domestic (German) law need to be distinguished.⁶⁹⁸

A. Shipping (Scheyli, Hofstötter, Epiney)

It was already outlined in the introductory section of this study that shipping is responsible for increasing **environmental impacts** in coastal waters and the high seas, accounting for nearly 7 % of CO₂-emissions in the transport sector or roughly 2 % of global CO₂-emissions.⁶⁹⁹ Moreover, transport by sea is not only expected to grow further as part of general economic development, if the European Commission has its way, it will also enjoy further support relative to other transport

On the relevance of this principle in the Law of the Sea, see *Dupuy*, Mélanges Lucchini et Quéneudec, 205 *et sqq*.

Supra Part 2.

On these different regulatory planes, see *supra* Part 1.

⁶⁹⁹ See Part 1, A. I. 2.

sectors.⁷⁰⁰ In contrast to other environmental threats originating from shipping, for instance oil spills, emissions of greenhouse gases and thus its atmospheric impact have not yet been subjected to an international legal arrangement. The relevant international agreement in this regard, the **Kyoto Protocol** to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change,⁷⁰¹ merely states in its Article 2 (2) that "[t]he Parties included in Annex I shall pursue limitation or reduction of emissions of greenhouse gases not controlled by the Montreal Protocol from (...) marine bunker fuels working through the (...) International Maritime Organization."

The introduction of user charges on shipping in the high seas promises to close an important regulatory gap. The following analysis will identify the legal framework of such user charges by addressing requirements under the international Law of the Sea and regional agreements on marine environmental protection as well as generally on maritime transport. What is more, the analysis will include primary rules and derived secondary legislation of European Community law.

I. International Law of the Sea

When addressing the introduction of user charges on the use of maritime resources, this study, at any rate, refers to "compensation" for use of the oceans as a global environmental good and thus relates to the use of maritime waters in their entirety, irrespective of their territorial status under the international Law of the Sea.⁷⁰² It already bears mentioning at this point, however, that the hierarchically staggered sovereign powers in the high seas (which are entirely exempted from territorial sovereignty) and coastal waters (which are subject to territorial sovereignty) under the international Law of the Sea can have legal consequences for the admissibility and design of user charges.

Against this backdrop, the following analysis of legal requirements for the introduction and design of user charges under international maritime law has to distinguish between the geographically and substantively most comprehensive⁷⁰³ international agreement, the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)⁷⁰⁴ (1), and – drawing on the conclusions of that assessment – the

European Commission, European Transport Policy for 2010 – Time to Decide: White Paper, COM(2001)370 final, 46 et sqq.

Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Kyoto Protocol), Kyoto, December 10, 1997, in force February 16, 2005, 37 International Legal Materials (1998), at 22.

Likewise, the WBGU has based its study on user charges on global environmental goods on this premise, *cf. WBGU*, Entgelte, 24.

On the universal character of UNCLOS, see, for instance, *Proelβ*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 74 *et sqq.*, 124 *et sqq.*, with further references.

Vinited Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), Montego Bay, December 10, 1982, 21 International Legal Materials (1982), at 1261.

most important sectoral and regional maritime conventions (2); in the process, the analysis will be limited to such aspects which might be of relevance within the scope of this study.

In the context of the study, attention will focus on the legal status of sea vessels, on the one hand, and on the legal status of coastal states, on the other. Outside of the high seas, the sovereign rights of flag states and of coastal states need to be related to each other, a relationship that varies and affords coastal states increasing rights as the ships approach its sovereign territory.

1. Mandatory Requirements of International Maritime Law (Convention on the Law of the Sea)

Any analysis of pertinent requirements under the Convention on the Law of the Sea has to distinguish between the Law of the high seas (a) and the law of maritime zones subject to certain sovereign rights and state authority (b). This will be followed by an analysis of obligations relating to marine environmental protection (c).

a.) The Law of the High Seas

Pursuant to Article 86 and 89 UNCLOS,⁷⁰⁵ the high seas are all parts of the sea that are not subject to state sovereignty and jurisdiction, and are characterised by the **principle of the freedom of the high seas**.⁷⁰⁶ According to Article 87 (1) UNCLOS, the later includes, *inter alia*,⁷⁰⁷ the freedom of navigation, the freedom of overflight and – subject to certain conditions and restrictions – the freedom to lay submarine cables and pipelines, the freedom to construct artificial islands and other installations, the freedom of fishing, and the freedom of scientific research. These freedoms extend to all states, also land-locked states.⁷⁰⁸

Regarding the international regulation of the high seas, an additional issue-specific convention, the Geneva Convention on the Law of the Sea of 1958, needs to be mentioned. Despite the entry into force of UNCLOS in 1994, it has remained in force. Nonetheless, pursuant to Article 311 (1) UNCLOS, the latter prevails over the Geneva Convention; it is justifiable, thus, to limit the following analysis to the relevant provisions of UNCLOS. On the relationship of the Geneva Convention and UNCLOS *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 341; *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (824 *et seq.*).

On the law of the high seas, see generally *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 223 *et sqq*.; *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 340 *et sqq*.; *Evans*, in: International Law, 623 (637 *et sqq*.); *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (877 *et sqq*.); *Jennings/Watts*, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 722 *et sqq*.; *Pancracio*, Droit international des espaces, 173 *et sqq*.; *Shaw*, International Law, 542 *et sqq*.; *Verhoeven*, Droit international public, 554 *et sqq*. Specifically on the freedom of the high seas, see *Anand*, in: Marine Issues, 19 *et sqq*., who emphasizes problematic aspects of this principle.

The list in Article 87 (1) UNCLOS is not conclusive in that regard.

Article 87 (1) 3rd sentence UNCLOS; *cf.* also Article 125 UNCLOS, pursuant to which land-locked states have a right of access to and from the sea.

Generally, however, it needs to be borne in mind that the modern international regime relating to oceans provides for staggered sovereignty and usage rights of coastal states⁷⁰⁹ and - by necessity - incurs a reduction of maritime spaces subject to no state sovereignty⁷¹⁰.

Of the various features of the freedom of the high seas, **freedom of navigation** (Article 87 (1) lit. a UNCLOS) bears emphasizing in this context.⁷¹¹ Pursuant to Article 90 UNCLOS, the freedom of navigation affords every state, whether coastal or land-locked, the right to sail ships flying its flag on the high seas. Coupled with the fact that the high seas are not subject to territorial sovereignty, the freedom of navigation further implies a prohibition of the exercise of jurisdiction with regard to foreign ships on the high seas.⁷¹² Die Freedom of navigation ist unbestrittenermaßen Teil des Völkergewohnheitsrechts⁷¹³.

By no means, however, is the freedom of navigation in the high seas absolute,⁷¹⁴ with the following restrictions acquiring particular relevance:

- first and foremost, the rights arising from the freedom of the high seas freedoms are to be exercised by all states with due regard for the interests and rights of other states (Article 87 (2) UNCLOS),⁷¹⁵ a clause, that extends to all dimensions of the freedom of the high seas.
- furthermore, the freedom of the high seas and, indeed, the freedom of navigation are to be generally exercised under the conditions laid down by the convention and by other rules of international law (Article 87 (1) UNCLOS).
 - With regard to such "other rules," it may be worth mentioning that restrictions of the freedom of navigation can also originate from other conventions adopted to ensure the safety of navigation and protection of the marine environment.
- and finally, the freedom of navigation is subject to a number of exemptions related to abuse of the freedom of the high seas, which set aside the freedom of navigation to the extent that other states enjoy extraordinary enforcement powers.⁷¹⁶

On these different levels of sovereignty, see the following sections.

Cf. Evans, in: International Law, 623 (641); Schrijver, Sovereignty over natural resources, 202 et sqq. In this regard, Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (853), points out that roughly one third of global ocean surfaces are assigned to the different zones subject to exclusive economic sovereignty of coastal states.

Vitzthum, ZaöRV 2002, 163 (163 et seq.), refers to the freedom of navigation as a principle of "ius cogens."

See *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 350 et sqq.

Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 350, with further references.

See, on this issue, *Brown*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 293 *et sqq*.; *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 362 *et sqq*., 376; *Johnson*, in: EPIL, Vol. III, 528 (529 *et seq*.).

On this particular issue *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 347 et seq.

Mention can be made of piracy, slavery and drug traffickin, although such occurrences can be ruled out within the scope of this study. *Cf.* on these events *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 364 *et sqq*.

The **flag state principle** acquires importance when addressing the issue of legal rules applying on the high seas (in the absence of territorial sovereignty). On the one hand, the flag is an indication of the nationality of a ship and thus a starting point for national jurisdiction on the high seas, even in the absence of territorial sovereignty. On the other hand, the freedom of navigation corresponds to the right of states to issue a flag. The flag state principle affords a number of **rights** to the flag state and to ships flying its flag, with three connected aspects of particular noteworthiness in this context:

- first, pursuant to Article 91 (1) UNCLOS, ships have the "nationality" of the state whose flag they are entitled to fly.
- likewise and, in that sense, as a direct consequence of the freedom of the high seas Article 92 (1) UNCLOS provides that ships shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state under whose flag they are legitimately sailing.
- barring certain exceptional cases in which other states enjoy a corresponding right of intervention, 720 thus, only the flag state is ultimately entitled to adopt sovereign measures on the high seas against ships flying its flag. 721

Aside from the foregoing rights arising from the jurisdiction of the flag state, the flag state principle also brings about certain **duties of the flag state** regarding the adoption and enforcement of legislation.

Pursuant to Article 94 (1) to (5) UNCLOS, flag states are subject to no small number of administrative, technical and social obligations seeking to uphold certain minimum standards in social matters and environmental protection. Notably, the flag state is required to conform to generally accepted international regulations, procedures and practices and to take any steps which may be necessary to secure their observance when adopting measure to this end (Article 94 (5) UNCLOS). And finally, the convention contains further specific obligations for flag states, for instance, pursuant to Article 211 (2) UNCLOS, a duty to adopt laws and regulations for the prevention, reduction and control of pollution of the marine environment from vessels flying their flag or of their registry. Again, this provision contains a clause pursuant to which such laws and regulations shall at least have the same effect as that of generally accepted international rules and standards.

Altogether, with a view to compliance with its international commitments, the flag state must actually exercise its jurisdiction over ships flying its flag. Postulation of such duties in the

Cf. on the following issues Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 352 et sqq.; Evans, in: International Law, 623 (637 et seq.); Jennings/Watts, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 731 et sqq.; Kamto, in: Mélanges Lucchini et Quéneudec, 343 et sqq.; Shaw, International Law, 545 et sqq.

Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 353.

⁷¹⁹ *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (879).

Cf. the references contained in note 716.

On the jurisdiction of flag states, see for instance *Marston*, in: EPIL, Vol. III, 316 (317 et seq.).

convention may face the problem, however, that no flag state can be forced to actually adopt and enforce these international rules.⁷²²

This inability under international law to enforce the duty of flag states to actually exercise their jurisdiction over ships flying their flag is also partly responsible for the **problem of so-called flags of convenience**. As an expression of the right of navigation set out in Article 90 UNCLOS and the general principle of sovereign equality of states, a flag state is largely free to fix the conditions for the grant of its nationality to ships and for the right to fly its

flag (freedom of registration,⁷²⁶ see Article 91 (1) UNCLOS). By and large, the challenge in this regards⁷²⁷ is that flag states considered "flags of convenience",⁷²⁸ are frequently not in possession of the administrative resources to effectively implement and enforce domestic and – notably – international rules pursuant to Article 94 (1) to (5) UNCLOS. By contrast, the incentive for registration with such low-cost flag states is based on the opportunities this affords to reduce operating expenses, in particular employment costs, by applying the lower social and labour standards of the state issuing the flag of convenience.⁷²⁹

b.) The Law of the Sea in Areas subject to the Sovereignty and Jurisdiction of Coastal States

The high seas, which – aside from the rights attached to the flag flown by a ship – are free from national sovereignty and jurisdiction and thus constitute an area "subject to international

See *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 356, 358.

⁷²³ Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 360.

On the latter issue, see *Wolfrum*, BerDGV 1990, 121 (122).

The requirement of a genuine link between a state and the ships flying its flag set out by Article 91 (1) UNCLOS has not proven an effective constraint in practice; *cf.* the decision of the International Tribunal of the Law of the Sea in the case of the M/S Saiga, St. Vincent und die Grenadinen vs. Guinea (ILM 38 [1999], 1322 [Para. 75 *et sqq.*]); see also *von Brevern/von Carlowitz*, RIW 1999, 856 [859 *et seq.*]). A convention adopted on this issue in 1986, the United Nations Convention on Conditions for Registration of Ships, has not yet entered into force for lack of sufficient ratifications.

On this issue *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 357 et sqq.; Wolfrum, BerDGV 1990, 121 (122 et sqq.).

Cf. generally Behnam, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 123 (124 et sqq.); Brown, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 287 et sqq. Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 360 et sqq.; Ignarski, EPIL, Vol. II, 404 et seq.; Wolfrum, BerDGV 1990, 121 (130 et sqq.); on this problem against the backdrop of German domestic regulation of flags Federal Constitutional Court Reports 92, 26 et sqq.; on these legal issues from the viewpoint of German law furthermore Basedow, BerDGV 1990, 75 et sqq.

The most important states according to registered tonnage are currently Panama, Liberia and the Bahamas; *cf. WBGU*, Entgelte, 24.

On this issue, for instance, *Drobnig*, BerDGV 1990, 31 (32 *et sqq*.); *Ignarski*, EPIL, Vol. II, 404 (404); *cf.* also Federal Constitutional Court Reports (*BVerfGE*) 92, 26 (29 *et seq*.).

administration",⁷³⁰ have to be distinguished from those parts of the sea which are subject – in varying degrees – to the territorial sovereignty of coastal states.⁷³¹ Such parts of the sea with (different) sovereign rights of coastal states are listed in Article 86 UNCLOS as the exclusive economic zone, the territorial sea and the internal waters of a state as well as the archipelagic waters of an archipelagic state.

At this point, one may already anticipate the following general trait of all these zones relative to the high seas: by necessity, the existence of staggered sovereign rights of coastal states incur restrictions of the freedom of navigation⁷³² and thus of the legal position of vessels from other states. Of particular interest for the purposes of this study is the sliding scale between sovereign rights of coastal states, on the one hand, and the freedom of navigation, on the other.

aa.) Exclusive Economic Zone

Article 55 UNCLOS defines the exclusive economic zone as an area beyond and adjacent to the territorial sea, under which the rights and jurisdiction of the coastal state and the rights and freedoms of other states are governed by a specific legal regime. The main feature of this regime is that coastal states enjoy the exclusive right to exercise certain sovereign rights in this part of the sea, as opposed to in the high seas.⁷³³

As the catalogue of rights listed in Article 56 UNCLOS shows, the coastal state does not exercise unrestricted sovereignty in the exclusive economic zone, a situation that also extends to the continental shelf.⁷³⁴ Instead, these sovereign rights are limited to rights for the purpose of exploiting and conserving the natural resources, whether living or non-living, of the waters superjacent to the seabed and of the seabed and its subsoil.⁷³⁵ It is, indeed, mostly⁷³⁶ the economically relevant

⁷³⁰ Cf. the categorization in this regard by Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 339 et sqq.

Cf. on this distinction, for instance, Verhoeven, Droit international public, 527 et sqq., 539 et sqq., 554 et sqq., who distinguishes the high seas as a common sea (mer 'commune'), on the oner hand, and the exclusive and (entirely) sovereign parts of the sea, on the other hand. Similarly Pancracio, Droit international des espaces, 67 et sqq., 77 et sqq., 173 et sqq.

⁷³² *Cf. Johnson*, in: EPIL, Vol. III, 528 (529): "The existence of these zones may have a serious effect upon freedom of navigation."

Cf. on the following Brown, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 216 et sqq.; Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (852 et sqq.); Gündling, 200 Seemeilen-Wirtschaftszone, 114 et sqq.; Jennings/Watts, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 782 et sqq.; Oda, EPIL, Vol. II, 305 et sqq.; Orrego Vicuna, Exclusive economic zone, passim; Pancracio, Droit international des espaces, 142 et sqq.; Schrijver, Sovereignty over natural resources, 211 et sqq.; Verhoeven, Droit international public, 539 et sqq.

On this issue immediately below.

In this context, *Gündling*, 200 Seemeilen-Wirtschaftszone, 277, suggests that a coastal state does not exercise sovereign rights as such in the economic zone, but rather sovereign rights for particular purposes, notably exploration and exploitation of living and non-living resources and other economic purposes. *Cf.* on this issue

exploitation of the sea which is subjected to the control of coastal states within an area up to 200 nautical miles from the coast (Article 57 UNCLOS).⁷³⁷ In this regard, one may legitimately refer to a "principle of functional sovereignty" superseding the principle of the freedom of the high seas in parts of the sea adjacent to the coast.⁷³⁸

By being limited to usage of resources, the maritime regime governing the exclusive economic zone affords other states the opportunity to continue using the sea in ways which are not related to resources, always subject to the foregoing prerogatives of coastal states.⁷³⁹ It follows that, in this zone, Article 58 (1) UNCLOS affords all states, whether coastal or land-locked, the freedoms referred to in Article 87 UNCLOS, including the freedom of navigation, albeit subject to the restrictions arising from the specific purposes of the exclusive economic zone (Article 58 (3) UNCLOS)⁷⁴⁰. In line with this conception, the coastal state may only enforce national legislation and other provisions to the extent necessary for enjoyment of its rights to explore, exploit, conserve and manage the living resources (Article 73 UNCLOS).

bb.) Continental Shelf

Likewise, the notion of a continental shelf set out by the Law of the Sea is based on the exploitability of natural resources, albeit specifically with a view to the seabed and subsoil adjacent to the coast.⁷⁴¹ In essence, the legal regime relating to the continental shelf is identical with that of the exclusive economic zone⁷⁴² in that it also provides for different sovereign rights of coastal

Schrijver, Sovereignty over natural resources, 212. With regard to the powers of coastal states to exploit natural resources, moreover, attention must also be given to Article 62 UNCLOS.

- The sovereign rights mentioned in Article 56 (1) lit. b UNCLOS regarding marine scientific research and the protection and preservation of the marine environment would seem secondary or, if at all, meant to support the economic forms of use.
- Only of passing interest is the fact that states with no coastal areas as well as geographically disadvantaged states have the right to participate, on an equitable basis and subject to further conditions, in the exploitation of the living resources (Articles 69 to 72 UNCLOS).
- ⁷³⁸ Thus *Lagoni*, GS Martens, 803 (814).
- Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (859). *Cf.* also *Oda*, EPIL, Vol. II, 305 (306); *Verhoeven*, Droit international public, 549.
- According to *Gündling*, 200 Seemeilen-Wirtschaftszone, 271, the reference in Article 87 UNCLOS does not imply that the same freedoms apply in the exclusive economic zone that apply in the high seas. *Cf.* on this issue also *Brown*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 235 *et seq.*
- On the background to the concept of continental shelf, see *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 205 *et seq.*; *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (860 *et seq.*).
- See *Verhoeven*, Droit international public, 549; on the distinction of the regimes of exclusive economic zone and continental shelf, see also *Gündling*, 200 Seemeilen-Wirtschaftszone, 197 *et sqq*.

states.⁷⁴³ Pursuant to Article 77 (1) and (2) UNCLOS, for instance, the coastal state exercises over the continental shelf sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring it and exploiting its natural resources. The definition of resources used in the context of the continental shelf differs from that applied within the exclusive economic zone in that Article 77 (4) UNCLOS merely (on the one hand) covers the non-living resources of the seabed and subsoil, as well as (on the other hand) living organisms belonging to sedentary species, that is to say, organisms which either are immobile on or under the seabed or are unable to move except in constant physical contact with the seabed or the subsoil.

In line with this definition of resources and the uses afforded to coastal states, Article 78 (1) UNCLOS provides that the legal regime relating to the continental shelf does not affect the legal status of the superjacent waters. Insofar, the rights of ships from other states – at least to the extent they do not interfere with the sovereign rights of coastal states relating to the continental shelf – do not differ from those under the regime on the exclusive economic zone. It bears mentioning that, conversely, the foregoing prerogatives of coastal states are granted under the condition that exploration and exploitation of the continental shelf does not infringe or result in any unjustifiable interference with navigation and other rights and freedoms of other states as provided for in the Convention, see Article 78 (2) UNCLOS.

cc.) Territorial Sea and Contiguous Zone

While the sovereign rights and jurisdiction of coastal states in the exclusive economic zone and the continental shelf are confined to certain aspects, as shown above, to ensure central interests relating to the exploitation of resources, the **territorial sea** is characterised by actual **territorial sovereignty of the coastal states**:⁷⁴⁴ pursuant to Article 2 (1) UNCLOS, the sovereignty of a coastal state⁷⁴⁵ extends beyond its land territory and internal waters to an adjacent belt of sea not

Cf. on the following issues generally, for instance, Brown, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 255 et sqq.; Brownlie, Principles of Public International Law, 205 et sqq.; Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (860 et sqq.); Jennings/Watts, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 764 et sqq.; Pancracio, Droit international des espaces, 151 et sqq.; Rozakis, EPIL, Vol. I, 783 et sqq.; Schrijver, Sovereignty over natural resources, 207 et sqq.; Verhoeven, Droit international public, 539 et sqq.

On the following, for instance, *Brown*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 43 et sqq.; Brownlie, Principles of Public International Law, 205 et sqq.; Evans, in: International Law, 623 (629 et sqq.); Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (830 et sqq.); Jennings/Watts, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 599 et sqq.; O'Connell, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 59 et sqq.; Pancracio, Droit international des espaces, 77 et sqq.; Shaw, International Law, 493 et sqq.; Sharma, EPIL, Vol. IV, 818 et sqq.; Verhoeven, Droit international public, 527 et sqq.

For instance of an archipelagic state, whose respective sovereignty extends to the so-called archipelagic waters (Article 2 (1) UNCLOS).

exceeding 12 nautical miles,⁷⁴⁶ described as the territorial sea. The sovereignty of the coastal states is exclusive and comprehensive, as it is only limited by the right of innocent passage through the territorial sea enjoyed by all states.⁷⁴⁷ Aside from the right of innocent passage – which comprises different aspects requiring consideration⁷⁴⁸ – it is essentially a prerogative of the coastal state to decide how and to what extent it should exercise its territorial sovereignty.⁷⁴⁹

The **right of innocent passage** (Article 17 UNCLOS) through the territorial sea for ships of all states is an important restriction of the sovereignty of coastal states.⁷⁵⁰ Basically, it implies that coastal states may not impede the passage⁷⁵¹ of ships flying a foreign flag, provided such passage is innocent, that is: so long as it is not prejudicial to the peace, good order or security of the coastal state (Article 19 (1) UNCLOS). Pursuant to Article 18 (1) UNCLOS, it makes no difference whether such passage through the territorial sea occurs with the intention of entering or leaving internal waters, or calling at a roadstead or port facility outside internal waters.

An important consideration for the purposes of this study relates to the regulatory prerogatives left to coastal states in the context of innocent passage – aside from the exceptions listed in Article 19 (2) UNCLOS, which are of no relevance in this context.⁷⁵² On the one hand, the Convention on the Law of the Sea leaves room for legislation on a variety of issue areas, subject to certain conditions; on the other hand, it also places restrictions on this regulatory prerogative:

pursuant to Article 21 (1) UNCLOS, coastal states may adopt laws and regulations relating to innocent passage through the territorial sea, in respect of certain issues, provided this occurs in conformity with the provisions of the convention and other rules of international law. Of the issue areas that may be of potential relevance in this context, the following bear mentioning: conservation of the living resources of the sea⁷⁵³ and preservation of the

Article 3 UNCLOS.

⁷⁴⁷ See *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (836); *Sharma*, EPIL, Vol. IV, 818 (818, 821).

Relevant aspects of the right of innocent passage in the context of this study will be addressed in the following passages.

See also *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (835 *et seq.*).

On the following issues see generally *Brown*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 53 *et sqq.*; *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 186 *et sqq.*; *Evans*, in: International Law, 623 (633 *et sqq.*); *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (837 *et sqq.*); *Jennings/Watts*, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 614 *et sqq.*; *Johnson*, EPIL, Vol. II, 994 *et sqq.*; *Lagoni*, LA Eitel, 605 (614 *et sqq.*); *O'Connell*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 259 *et sqq.*; *Pancracio*, Droit international des espaces, 90 *et sqq.*; *Shaw*, International Law, 507 *et sqq.*

For a more detailed definition of the concept of passage, see Article 18 UNCLOS.

These notably include threats to the peace, good order or security of the coastal state, wilful and serious marine pollution and forbidden fishing activities. The catalogue in Article 19 (2) UNCLOS is conclusive; *cf. Lagoni*, LA Eitel, 605 (615, 616).

Article 21 (1) lit. d UNCLOS.

environment of the coastal state and prevention, reduction and control of pollution thereof.⁷⁵⁴ The regulatory powers of coastal states regarding the latter are additionally outlined in Part XII of UNCLOS on protection and preservation of the marine environment: under Article 211 (4), for instance, coastal states may, in the exercise of their sovereignty within their territorial sea, adopt laws and other regulations for the prevention, reduction and control of marine pollution from foreign vessels. Under the condition that such laws and regulations do not hamper innocent passage of foreign vessels,⁷⁵⁵ the regulatory prerogative of coastal states also extends to vessels exercising the right of innocent passage.

- When exercising these regulatory prerogatives, coastal states need to observe a number of "restrictions", of which the following, in particular, are worth noting here:
 - the right of innocent passage under Article 21 (2) UNCLOS precludes application of laws and regulations relating to the design, construction, manning or equipment to foreign ships by coastal states, unless they are giving effect to generally accepted international rules or standards.⁷⁵⁶
 - of yet greater significance in this context, it would seem, is, of course, the provision of Article 26 UNCLOS, pursuant to which **no charge**⁷⁵⁷ **may be levied upon foreign ships by reason only of their passage through the territorial sea**; under the second paragraph of this provision, only such charges are permissible which are levied as payment only for specific services rendered to the ship, such as piloting, towing or salvaging services.⁷⁵⁸
 - in this connection, attention must also be given to Article 24 (1) UNCLOS and the obligation it stipulates for coastal states not to hamper the innocent passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea. Lit. a of said provision particularly highlights that coastal states may not impose requirements on foreign ships (unless in the cases

Article 21 (1) lit. f UNCLOS.

On the difficulties of interpreting these restrictions within the system of UNCLOS, see *infra*, Part 3, A. I. 2. b.) bb.).

These include rules or standards developed by the IMO and adopted through internationalen conventions; see *Blanco-Bazán*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 31 (34); *Lagoni*, LA Eitel, 605 (616). Examples include the diverse IMO-conventions on the protection of safety at sea and protection of the marine environment; for an overview in this regards, see, for instance, *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 376 *et sqq*.

The German translation (as published in the Federal Gazette (*BGBl*.) 1994 II, 1798) of Article 26 UNCLOS refers to both "Gebühren" (title and para. 2) as well as "Abgaben" (para. 1). Given that the English version – which is one of six authoritative language versions pursuant to Article 320 – only mentions "charges", the distinction in the German version is likely of no significance.

See *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (838).

provided for by UNCLOS itself) which have the practical effect of denying or impairing the right of innocent passage.

- Article 24 (1) lit. b UNCLOS, moreover, confirms the **principle of non-discrimination** for foreign ships of different flags.

zone defined in Article 33 UNCLOS relative to the territorial sea and reaching up to twice the breadth of the latter. The particularity of this zone lies in the right it affords to coastal states to exercise the control necessary to prevent and, if necessary, punish infringement of their customs, fiscal, immigration or sanitary laws within their territory or territorial sea. Within the context of this study, the contiguous zone acquires particular significance in that legislation on user charges might be understood as part of domestic customs or fiscal legislation. Article 33 UNCLOS merely affords coastal states the right to prevent or punish the aforementioned types of infringement. On the one hand, thus, the provisions relating to the contiguous zone do not give rise to arguments against an introduction of user charges by coastal states. On the other hand, however, that is the only conclusion supported by the wording of Article 33 UNCLOS, with no indication that the regimes relating to adjacent zones, notably the exclusive economic zone and the territorial seas are in any way affected. The provisions relating to adjacent zones, notably the exclusive economic zone and the territorial seas are in any way affected.

For the sake of completeness, two additional comments are called for at this point: a special variation of the right of innocent passage is separately framed in UNCLOS in Articles 34 *et sqq*. as the right of passage through straits used for international navigation. The pertinent provisions contain no stipulations of particular relevance in the context of this study, however, and will thus not be described any further. The same applies to the special regime on so-called archipelagic states pursuant to Article 46 *et sqq*. UNCLOS.

dd.) Internal Waters

The sovereign rights and jurisdiction of coastal states regarding waters adjacent to their landmasses reach their greatest extent in the internal waters. These, ⁷⁶³ along with **sea ports** located at the

Pursuant to Article 33 (2) UNCLOS, the contiguous zone may not extend beyond 24 nautical miles from the coast, allowing for partial overlap with the exclusive economic zone.

Cf. on this issue Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (846 et seq., with further references); Woolridge, EPIL, Vol. I, 779 et sqq.

On the other hand, one might agree with *Paust*, LA Oda, 1255 (1266 *et seq.*), that the powers of coastal states in the contiguous zone – which, after all, lies closer to the coast than the exclusive economic zone – must at least include those (additional) sovereign rights they enjoy in the exclusive economic zone. Conversely, one cannot assume that coastal states enjoy the same degree of territorial sovereignty in the contiguous zone – beyond the limited scope of Article 33 UNCLOS – that they enjoy in nearby territorial waters.

On the following issues, see *Brown*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 37 *et sqq*.; *Brownlie*, Principles of Public International Law, 116 *et seq*.; *Evans*, in: International Law, 623 (630 *et seq*.); *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (825 *et sqq*.); *Jennings/Watts*, Oppenheim's International Law, Vol. I, 572; *Lagoni*, in: EPIL, Vol. II, 1034

coast, form part of the **sovereign territory of the coastal state**; indeed, with regard to their internal waters, as with any other part of their territory, coastal states enjoy **unrestricted and exclusive sovereignty**.

With certain legal exceptions,⁷⁶⁴ foreign ships enjoy no right of innocent passage through internal waters, as opposed to the territorial sea. In other words, the freedom of navigation is revoked within internal waters. It follows that, on principle,⁷⁶⁵ ships neither have a right to enter foreign internal waters, nor call at foreign port facilities, and, conversely, that coastal states have no duty to allow foreign ships to enter their internal waters or call at their port facilities.⁷⁶⁶ In effect, the International Court of Justice held in a decision that coastal states may regulate access to their ports by virtue of their sovereignty.⁷⁶⁷ Restrictions only apply insofar as the legislation adopted by coastal states governing access to their internal waters and port facilities may not discriminate against foreign ships flying a certain flag.⁷⁶⁸ Still, from the point of view of general maritime law, even after such access rights have been granted, the coastal state retains the right to render access to its ports

et sqq.; ders., in: EPIL, Vol. II, 1036 et sqq.; Pancracio, Droit international des espaces, 67 et sqq.; Peters, Innere Gewässer, 81 et sqq.; Shaw, International Law, 493 et sqq.

- See Article 8 (2) and Article 35 lit. a UNCLOS; on these exceptional cases, see *Lagoni*, EPIL, Vol. II, 1034 (1035).
- This applies, even though the interest of the coastal state and all other states in upholding the freedom of trade and navigation *de facto* favour open ports; *cf. Badura*, EPIL, Vol. III, 1068 (1070). Legally, this interest has resulted in a great number of bilateral international agreements on reciprocal rights of access to ports; see *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 351.
- The only multilateral agreement explicitly referring to the right to call at foreign port facilities is the Geneva Convention and Statute on the International Regulation of Ports of 1923, which has only been ratified by a handful of seafaring nations and never acquired great legal relevance. *Cf.* in this regard *Lagoni*, AVR 1988, 261 (275 *et sqq.*). The appeal contained in Article 255 UNCLOS to contracting states to facilitate access to their harbours merely relates to marine scientific research vessels.
- Judgment in the Case *Nicaragua* v. *USA*, ICJ Reports 1986, 14 (111). By contrast, an arbitration of 1958 (*Saudi Arabia* v. *Arabian American Oil Company*; see ILR 27 [1963], 117 [212]) proposed that customary international law conferred a right of access to foreign ports, but this view neither prevailed in judicial practice, nor did it gain footing in international legal scholarship; *cf. Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 351.
- On this issue *Badura*, in: EPIL, Vol. III, 1068 (1070); *Lagoni*, EPIL, Vol. II, 1036 (1037). From the point of view of general maritime law, thus, the refusal by New Zealand to allow foreign nuclear-powered vessels access to ist ports cannot be challenged, provided that restriction is applied against ships of all flags; on this example, *inter alia*, *Pancracio*, Droit international des espaces, 72.

On the geographical delimitation of internal waters against the territorial sea, see Article 8 UNCLOS.

conditional on observance of certain standards, for instance relating to ship safety or environmental protection.⁷⁶⁹

The extensive sovereignty of coastal states in their internal waters also affects their power to impose certain restrictions on the right of passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea: for instance, Article 25 (2) UNCLOS entitles coastal states "in the case of ships proceeding to internal waters or a call at a port facility outside internal waters (...) to take the necessary steps to prevent any breach of the conditions to which admission of those ships to internal waters or such a call is subject."

The rights of coastal states specifically relating to operation of their port facilities also flow from territorial sovereignty. Additionally, the monitoring and enforcement rights of port and coastal states are constantly being expanded by way of international agreements. Departing from the conventional view that only flag states may enforce internationally recognized rules on ship safety and marine environmental protection, the Convention on the Law of the Sea also contributes to enforcement of international rules on the prevention of marine environmental pollution by ships Pursuant to Articles 218 and 220 UNCLOS, port and coastal states have the right to undertake investigations and institute proceedings against vessels voluntarily located within one of its ports or at one of its off-shore terminals. Furthermore, port states are required by Article 219 UNCLOS to take administrative measures against vessels in violation of applicable international rules relating to seaworthiness of vessels and thereby threatening damage to the marine environment in order to prevent these from sailing.

It bears noting, moreover, that the foregoing principle of non-discrimination vis- \grave{a} -vis foreign ships not only applies to access to ports, but also to any other use of port facilities. ⁷⁷²

Finally, Article 211 (1) UNCLOS stipulates that "states, acting through the competent international organization or general diplomatic conference, shall establish international rules and standards to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment from vessels." The legislative action required by this provision and complementing the general maritime law of UNCLOS has been, and continues to be, largely carried out by the International Maritime Organization (IMO). The actual bearing of powers (and obligations) of port states to enforce international rules on the

Cf., for instance, Behnam, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 123 (132); König, in: Marine Issues, 37 (38); Pancracio, Droit international des espaces, 72; Ringbom, RECIEL 1999, 21 (23). On corresponding powers of coastal and port states resulting from specific conventions, see infra, Part 3, A. I. 4.

Cf. Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 354; Gloria, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (830); Lagoni, EPIL,
 Vol. II, 1036 (1038 et seq.).

On the following issues *cf. Proelβ*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 96 *et sqq.*; *Schiano di Pepe*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 137 (140 *et sqq.*).

On this issue *Badura*, EPIL, Vol. III, 1068 (1071).

On the relationship between UNCLOS and the international conventions elaborated by the IMO, see *infra*, Part 3, A. I. 3.

safety of navigation and the protection of the marine environment will be addressed in connection with the specific conventions.⁷⁷⁴

c.) Obligations relating to Marine Environmental Protection

As mentioned earlier, the sovereign rights of states in the various maritime zones assigned to them include certain powers to enforce existing international and national rules on the protection of the marine environment. Under Articles 218 and 220 UNCLOS, port states enjoy the most extensive rights of enforcement in relation to ships located at their ports.

Correlating with these rights are the obligations set out for contracting states in Part XII of UNCLOS relating to protection and preservation of the marine environment, with the following worthy of separate mention:⁷⁷⁵

- a general obligation to protect and preserve the marine environment (Article 192);
 - an obligation to adopt measures to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment, comprising pollution from any source (Article 194 (1) to (4));
 - a general obligation to protect and preserve ecosystems as well as marine life (Article 194 (5));⁷⁷⁶
- an obligation to adopt national legislation to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment from various sources (land-based sources, seabed activities, dumping, from vessels and from or through the atmosphere) (Articles 207 to 212);
- the obligation to enforce national and international rules with respect to pollution from various sources (Articles 213 to 222).

Again, when meeting these obligations, contracting parties of UNCLOS needs to observe the principle of non-discrimination *vis-à-vis* foreign vessels.⁷⁷⁷

⁷⁷⁴ See Part 3, A. I. 4. d.)

Cf. generally, for instance, Beyerlin, Umweltvölkerrecht, 122 et sqq.; Heintschel v. Heinegg, in: Völkerrecht, 973 (998 et sqq.); ders., EUDUR, Vol. I, 750 (775 et sqq.); Proelβ, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 77 et sqq.; Sands, Principles of International Environmental Law, 395 et sqq.; Wolfrum/Röben/Morrison, in: International, Regional and National Environmental Law, 225 (226 et sqq.).

As opposied to the UNCLOS-provisions relating to marine pollution (contained in Part XII), the rules relating to preservation of the marine environment – aside from Article 194 Abs. 5 – are contained in the zone-specific Parts V (on the exclusive economic zone) and VII (on the high seas); *cf. Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 105 *et sqq*.

Article 227 UNCLOS.

2. Interim Conclusions: Restrictions on the Introduction of User Charges arising from General Maritime Law

a.) Summary of the Central Requirements under UNCLOS

Given how the introduction of charges on the use of the oceans for shipping might potentially infringe upon the freedom of navigation, the exact scope of this freedom acquires central importance within the context of this study. Based on the foregoing analysis, the central requirements arising from general maritime law in this regard can be summarized as follows:

- The **high seas** are characterized by freedom of navigation, which reaches its greatest extent here, if not without any restriction (Article 87 (1) lit. a and Article 90 UNCLOS). Accordingly, the exercise of sovereign authority on the high seas against foreign vessels is generally prohibited. In the absence of national sovereignty, the flag state principle constitutes the only point of reference for the exercise of national jurisdiction on the high seas. This principle goes hand in hand with the obligation of flag states to adopt and enforce certain rules, including rules to protect the marine environment against pollution, with effect for ships flying their flag. Still, no flag state can be forced to adopt and effectively enforce such international rules.
- As opposed to the high seas, the **exclusive economic zone** marks the first opportunity of coastal states to exercise a set of sovereign rights arising from their territorial sovereignty. These sovereign rights are limited in scope, however, by merely extending to the exploitation and protection of living and non-living natural resources within the respective zone, including the seabed and subsoil. By contrast, other states still enjoy all uses not related to these resources, including the freedom of navigation to the extent that it is not linked to a certain use.
- The legal regime relating to the **continental shelf** is comparable to that governing the exclusive economic zone in that it has no consequences for the freedom of navigation, provided coastal states are not prevented from exercising their sovereign rights relating to use of resources.
- In the **territorial sea**, the rights of coastal states are no longer confined to use of marine resources, but already resemble actual territorial sovereignty. Still, the national sovereignty of coastal states is restricted by the right of all the other states to innocent passage through the territorial sea (Articles 17 to 19 UNCLOS). That means that the coastal state may not impede the passage of ships flying foreign flags as long as such passage is innocent. It makes no difference whether such passage through the territorial sea occurs with the intention of entering (or leaving) internal waters, or calling at a port facility (or leaving it).

Pursuant to Article 21 (1) UNCLOS, coastal states may may adopt national rules, in conformity with the provisions of the convention, relating to innocent passage through the territorial sea, in respect of certain matters; these matters include protection of the environment, including the prevention, reduction and control of pollution, including by ships. With a view to the conceivable measures regulating innocent passage through the territorial sea, the following

restriction of coastal state authority through UNCLOS requires mentioning: with certain exceptions, no charges may be levied upon foreign ships by reason only of their passage through the territorial sea (Article 26 UNCLOS). Likewise, except in the cases provided for by the convention, coastal states may not impose requirements on foreign ships which have the practical effect of denying or impairing the right of innocent passage (Article 24 (1) lit. a UNCLOS).

- in certain cases, the rights of control available to coastal states within their territorial sea lichen extend to the **contiguous zone**, which is located somewhat further away from the coast. Here, too, coastal states possess the power to prevent and, if necessary, punish infringement of their customs and other fiscal laws, immigration or sanitary laws within their territory or territorial sea.
- In the **internal waters**, the sovereign rights and jurisdiction of coastal states reach their greatest extent, given that this maritime zone along with sea ports forms part of state territory. With certain exceptions, this unrestricted sovereignty results in foreign ships enjoying no right of innocent passage, thus revoking the freedom of navigation. Based on their sovereignty, coastal states are free to render access to their ports contingent on fulfilment of certain conditions, for instance observance of standards relating to navigational safety or environmental protection. Restrictions only apply insofar as the legislation adopted by coastal states governing access to their internal waters and port facilities may not discriminate against foreign ships flying a certain flag.

b.) Consequences under General Maritime Law for Specific Maritime Zones

Drawing on the foregoing observations, the following can be inferred: the closer a maritime zone is located to the coast, and the more extensive thus the sovereign rights of coastal states, the larger the opportunity for far-reaching legislation and the wider the scope of discretion relating to introduction of a user charge. Against this backdrop, the following specific inferences can be derived for different "types of waters" regarding requirements under international law and restrictions on the regulatory powers of states.

aa.) Consequences for the Internal Waters, Including Ports

Given the unrestricted territorial sovereignty available to coastal states regarding their internal waters, the international Law of the Sea does not prevent these states from subjecting access to their internal waters and ports to certain conditions, as long as the general principle of non-discrimination is observed. Likewise, no provision within UNCLOS would seem to preclude such coastal state regulation from aiming at, or at least resulting in, the collection of a charge from ships; nor does general maritime law, on principle, prevent the port state from declaring a charge imposed on ships entering their internal waters or ports as compensation for the use of the ocean as such, rather than for the use of its port facilities. An additional question which may arise in this regard, namely

whether charges can be admissible unless they relate to use of port services, will, if at all, become relevant under the specific maritime conventions. General maritime law codified by UNCLOS set out no obstacles in this regard. The conventions of the conventi

bb.) Consequences for the Territorial Sea

By contrast, important restrictions apply to the introduction of user charges in the territorial sea, given that the right of innocent passage goes hand-in-hand with a prohibition for coastal states to levy charges by reason only of passage through the territorial sea (Article 26 UNCLOS). Compared to the freedom of port states to render access by foreign ships to their internal waters and ports conditional on observance of certain requirements, which may also include payment of certain charges, the sovereign rights of coastal states in the area of the territorial sea are clearly curtailed in one aspect: in the territorial sea, the freedom of navigation, coupled with the respective flag sovereignty, takes precedence over the sovereignty of coastal states to introduce charges for the navigational use of the territorial sea.⁷⁸⁰

The question arises whether Article 26 UNCLOS has effects – and, if so, what these effects are – on the right of port states to impose charges on foreign ships based on the unrestricted sovereignty within their internal waters. If a foreign ship is located in the internal waters, a **potential conflict** arises between the unrestricted sovereignty of the port state, on the one hand, and the prohibition on levying charges by reason only of passage through the territorial sea (by which the foreign ship entered the internal waters), on the other hand.

With a view to the legal assessment of this conflict, two aspects need to be considered:

four one, as soon as a foreign ship enters the internal waters or calls at a port facility rather than merely passing through the territorial sea (as stipulated by Article 26 UNCLOS), it also subjects itself to the unrestricted sovereignty of the coastal state. Within the ambit of this sovereignty, and without prejudice to general maritime law and the international league concept of sovereignty, the coastal state is generally free win this thing restrictions on access to its territory. If the legal scope of territorial sovereignty within internal waters were the only

This question will be revisited in the respective context, see *infra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. d.).

The following section will ascertain whether restrictions perhaps arise from Article 26 UNCLOS (which stipulates the right of innocent passage through the territorial sea).

Albeit with the exception explicitly mentioned in Article 26 (2) UNCLOS, according to which charges may be levied upon a foreign ship as payment for specific services rendered to the ship. Furthermore, it bears mentioning in this regard that parallel provisions relating to the freedom of navigation also apply to internal navigation: for instance, Article 3 of the Mannheim Rhine Shipping Act of 1868 (revised version, see Federal Gazette 1969 II, 597) states that – starting from the principle of freedom of navigation (Article 1 (1)) – no charges solely based on the fact of navigation may be imposed on ships navigating on the Rhine and the other watercourses covered by the convention.

consideration, it would follow that the respective coastal state could also, in theory, refer to passage of its territorial sea with the intention of calling at one of its ports as a reason for the introduction of charges on ships voluntarily entering its internal waters and ports.

- On the other hand, the coastal state imposing a charge on foreign ships when these call at its ports, with the charge linked to passage of the territorial sea (for instance as a toll), would risk being vulnerable to accusations of having undermined Article 26 UNCLOS – and, with it, the right of innocent passage through the territorial sea (Article 17 UNCLOS) – and thus exercised its territorial sovereignty in an abusive manner.⁷⁸¹

From a legal perspective, it appears doubtful whether Article 26 UNCLOS actually extends beyond the territorial sea and also affects actual sovereign territory. Instead, the object and purpose of this provision lies in regulating the relationship between the sovereign rights of coastal states and the freedom of navigation in the territorial seas – and not in the internal waters or ports. Ultimately, it can be presumed that Article 26 UNCLOS does not incur a restriction of the sovereignty of coastal and port states within their state territory. As a result, there is no reason to assume that exercise of unrestricted territorial sovereignty within internal waters could constitute an abuse of rights because of Article 26 UNCLOS.

If at all, such abusive behavior might be conceivable if the coastal state, drawing on Article 26 (2) UNCLOS (according to which charges may be levied for specific services rendered to the ship), imposed a charge on foreign ships by reason only of their use of the territorial sea for passage. Linking such a charge to the mere passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea would incur an inadmissible expansion of the concept of service – which refers to actual services rendered by the coastal state, such as piloting, towing or salvaging.⁷⁸²

From a **legal perspective**, thus, the **central inference from Article 26 UNCLOS** for this study is that mere passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea (without being followed by a voluntary call at a port facility) is not a suitable event to base a charge on by the coastal state; for a charge may not be levied by reason only of passage through the territorial sea, or, in other words, the coastal state does not have jurisdiction over foreign ships whose presence in the territorial sea solely serves the purpose of innocent passage. By contrast, the coastal or port state is generally free to exercise his unrestricted sovereignty (albeit with a view to the principle of non-discrimination) in its internal waters and ports to impose any requirements on foreign ships.

Aside from the purely legal appreciation of Article 26 UNCLOS, however, a further aspect needs to be taken into consideration: **politically**, the respective coastal state may weaken its position as a

On abuse of law and its significance when exercising port state control *cf. Ringbom*, RECIEL 1999, 21 (23 *et seq.*).

⁷⁸² *Cf. Brown*, International Law of the Sea, Vol. I, 62, with further references; *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (838); *Nandan/Rosenne/Grandy*, UNCLOS Commentary, Vol. II, 235 *et seq*.

user of the oceans relative to other states if it unilaterally exercises its sovereign right to design requirements for entrance into its internal waters and ports as it chooses. The foregoing argument of abuse, although refutable as a matter of law, is likely to acquire distinct significance at the political level. To some extent, a preemptive effect might be achieved by way of explicit declaration that only such ships would be subject to a user charge which voluntarily enter the internal waters or ports, and not ships suffering an emergency or other extraordinary circumstances. Furthermore, political reservations may also be dispelled by not choosing passage of the territorial sea as the event leading to payment of the charge (as in the case of a toll).

cc.) Consequences for the Maritime Zones subject to Special Resource-related Sovereign Rights

Maritime zones characterized by special resource-related sovereignty rights of coastal states continue to be open to all other states for non-resource-related uses, along with guaranteed freedom of navigation (Article 58 (1) in connection with Article 87 UNCLOS). Drawing on this premise, the international regime on the exclusive economic zone and the sea above the continental shelf allow for no particular conclusions.

dd.) Consequences for the High Seas

If the regulatory powers of coastal states in the territorial sea already prevent it from imposing a charge for the mere navigation through this maritime zone, that applies all the more for the high seas.

Despite potential restrictions of its scope, for instance by specific conventions on marine environmental protection, freedom of navigation enjoys priority on the high seas, given that –in the absence of territorial sovereignty – the flag state principle generally⁷⁸³ provides the only point of reference for national enforcement powers and state jurisdiction over a particular ship. To the extent that the flag state does not exercise its powers with regard to marine environmental protection rules, enforcement of such provisions would presuppose that the vessel in question called at the port of a third state willing to carry out enforcement measures.⁷⁸⁴ The powers of enforcement of third states with regard to the shared commons of the marine environment are thus confined to the sovereign rights arising from the territorial sovereignty of coastal states in the territorial sea.

For the purposes of this study, that does not mean that the regime of the high seas and its strong emphasis on the freedom of navigation altogether prevents the introduction of user charges. Still, navigational use of the high seas, as well as mere passage through the territorial sea, are not suitable points of reference for the introduction of a user charge. In either case, the third state will lack the necessary enforcement powers, unless the ship in question enters an area subject to the unrestricted

On such exceptions, see *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 1. a.).

See *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 364, 376. In this direction also the special survey of the German Advisory Council on the Environment: *SRU*, Meeresumweltschutz für Nord- und Ostsee, 162.

sovereignty of said state. In this connection, it bears keeping in mind that conceivable user charges should also take into account the challenge of flags of convenience. Accordingly, a user charge should not be designed to solely rely on the enforcement powers of flag states characterizing the regime of the high seas.

c.) Conclusions Regarding the Choice of a Suitable Point of Reference for the Introduction of User Charges on Ships Pursuant to UNCLOS

The foregoing observations have shown that, pursuant to the provisions of **UNCLOS**, neither the mere passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea nor the navigational use of the high seas pose suitable points of reference for the introduction of a user charge. Instead, an event would be needed which is subject to the unrestricted jurisdiction of the imposing state. In the interest of practicality, moreover, this event should not be subject only to the control powers of flag states. With this in mind, linking a user charge to ship registration, for instance, would be ruled out, given that registration is an expression of flag state sovereignty. Referring to ship registration would, if at all, only be feasible under a consensual and reciprocal charging system created between contracting parties to a binding international treaty.

At this point, it again bears recalling that – at least *prima facie* – a semi-universal international treaty on user charges can hardly be expected, ⁷⁸⁷ for instance after the model of the more important IMO-conventions with global scope. Rather, one has to assume that even in the medium term, a significant number of states will prove unwilling to enter contractual commitments relating to the introduction of user charges. Regarding the treatment of ships flying the flag of such third states, it would than be irrelevant whether user charges are imposed under an international treaty concluded between certain states or unilaterally by the coastal state; in either case, foreign ships would be subject to the same international rules. Differentiation of the point of reference relative to the approach chosen (introduction of user charges on the basis of an international treaty between a certain number of parties, or unilateral introduction) is thus not necessary from the point of view of general maritime law. Even if a larger number of states decided to (reciprocally) introduce user charges, the constraints imposed by UNCLOS relative to third states would still apply.

The foregoing observations relating to different parts of the sea have shown that the only event allowing for expedient collection of a user charge from **foreign ships** would be when these **call at a**

Cf. Article 91 (1) UNCLOS; on this issue Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 357 et sqq.; Wolfrum, in: BerDGV 1990, 121 (122 et sqq.).

Cf. also in this regard the solution favoured by the WBGU in its special study; see WBGU, Entgelte, 29: for the sake of simplicity, the WBGU considers the introduction of an annual fee for all ships registered with participating states. Nonetheless, it also concedes that, regarding ships from third states (not participating in the respective international arrangement), collection could only occur simultaneously with collection of port fees.

On this issue already Part 2, B. I., on the general relevance of international rules; see, in this regard, *WBGU*, Entgelte, 26.

port of the collecting state. This basic point of reference could be complemented with additional considerations, depending on the model chosen.

From the point a few of general maritime law, the **choice of a user charge design** merits attention in this context. Beyond the choice of the point of reference (voluntary calling of foreign ships at ports of the collecting state), general maritime law does not result in specific restrictions – relative to the design of the user charge, and, consequently, the chosen user charge model – for charges imposed on the occasion of calling at a port. At this point, it shall be presumed that such a charge would be collected under the heading of a "port fee" (although its designation should not ultimately be of relevance). Based on the unrestricted regulatory power of port states under international maritime law, any type of circumstance or event could be linked to collection of a "port fee." Given that UNCLOS contains no provision 788 requiring that charges levied in connection with the use of port facilities be related to enjoyment of port services and similar advantages, port states are free to pursue any objective through the collection of "port fees." As opposed to the regime governing the territorial sea, international maritime law contains no provisions calling on states not to hamper the innocent passage of foreign ships voluntarily entering their internal waters or ports.⁷⁹⁰ Likewise. beyond the (staggered) freedom of navigation, UNCLOS does not afford any right – that might then be infringed upon by a user charge – to engage in economic activities at the coast of the respective state.⁷⁹¹ In conclusion, a port state could even impose prohibitive charges (in the sense of a general restriction on access to ports) when assessing its "port fees". 792

From the point of view of general maritime law, thus, the different conceivable models⁷⁹³ of a user charge, for instance implementation as a tax, as a freight- or passenger-related charge based on a certain distance travelled (toll), as an emissions-based charge (notably a CO₂-levy) or as a fee linked to fuel, freight or ship tonnage, cannot, thus, be distinguished with a view to their legal admissibility. The respective criteria (for instance the achievement of certain emissions values in the case of a CO₂-levy; coverage of a certain distance in the case of a toll; minimum volume of a

⁷⁸⁸ See Part 3, A. I. 2. b.) aa.).

A different question relates to whether – given the political implications – this freedom should actually be exercised; see on this issue *supra*, 3. Teil, A. I. 2. b.) bb.).

⁷⁹⁰ *Cf.* Article 24 (1) UNCLOS relating to the territorial sea.

⁷⁹¹ Cf. Badura, EPIL, Vol. III, 1068 (1070); Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 351.

Apparently of a different opinion, albeit not on the issue of port fees, but on other conditions of port access – *Ringbom*, RECIEL 1999, 21 (23 *et seq.*). This author assumes that port states have to exercise their rights with a view to general principles of international law, notably the principle of proportionality and the prohibition of an abuse of law. He does not, however, allow for the fact that port states determining the conditions of access to their ports are acting within their full territorial sovereignty and thus, in theory, could altogether forbid access to foreign ships.

In greater detail on the respective models, see *supra*, Part 1, C. I.

ship in the case of a tonnage fee) merely constitute **additional considerations** in the sense of substantive assessment criteria for normative implementation of the chosen **point of reference** (that is, foreign ships calling at a port of the collecting state) with a view to achievement of the pursued legal outcome.

The chosen point of reference also raises no concerns relating to **extraterritorial jurisdiction**. After all, the national jurisdiction (that is, exercise of sovereign authority) required for collection of the charge originates in the territorial sovereignty of the coastal state into whose internal waters a foreign ship has (voluntarily) entered. If the introduction of a charge indirectly forces ships flying a foreign flag to adopt certain measures, for instance regarding the reduction of certain emissions, that would have to be considered a consequence of domestic law. While its may, thus, *de facto* affect foreign legal subjects, it merely constitutes a transboundary effect of territorial jurisdiction and thus raises no concerns under international law.

Finally, one may also ask whether a contractual arrangement between certain states resulting in the introduction of a user charge for foreign ships irrespective of the flag they are flying, and thus also for ships flying the flag of non-parties, poses a violation of Article 34 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT), which provides that a treaty does **not create obligations** for third states without their consent ("pacta tertiis"-rule).⁷⁹⁶ Again, it can only be repeated that non-parties would by no means be forced to adopt measures ensuring that ships flying their flag are exposed to the lowest possible burden by such a charge. Indeed, non-parties would (at the most) be indirectly compelled to ensure compliance with certain standards (which might serve as the basis for assessment of the charge) by ships flying their flag. Such measures would not, however, reflect a legal obligation in violation of the "pacta tertiis"-rules of Article 34 VCLT.⁷⁹⁷

3. On the the Relationship of General Maritime Law under UNCLOS and Specific Maritime Conventions

In Part XII on the protection and preservation of the marine environment, the Convention on the Law of the Sea itself clearly concedes that its provisions require elaboration by further – UNCLOS-consistent – international rules and standards: to this end, for instance, Article 197 UNCLOS calls on contracting states to generally engage in international cooperation; in Article 207 *et sqq.*, states

Cf. on general questions of extraterritorial jurisdiction, see also *supra*, Part 2, B. I.

On the central distinction between extraterritorial jurisdiction, on the one hand, and (legally admissible) intraterritorial jurisdiction with extraterritorial effects, on the other hand, see *Meng*, Extraterritoriale Jurisdiktion, 76 *et seq*.

Generally on this problem, for instance, *Schweisfurth*, in: ZaöRV 1985, 653 *et sag*.

Thus also the reasoning applied by *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 379, in connection with the non-favouring clauses of the SOLAS and MARPOL conventions.

are requested to elaborate, on a global and regional basis, international rules on the prevention, reduction and monitoring of pollution of the marine environment from different sources.⁷⁹⁸ This mandate set out by UNCLOS has been met with the adoption of a considerable number of international conventions.

With regard to the specific issue of marine environmental protection, the relationship between the global framework of UNCLOS and further maritime conventions⁷⁹⁹ is already reflected in Article 197 UNCLOS, which states that additional international rules and standards (to be elaborated by the contracting states) have to be consistent with UNCLOS. In other words, this "normative evolution" provided for in UNCLOS has to occur within the normative boundaries set out by that convention. These not only include the principles on environmental protection laid down in Part XII, but also (by necessity) the general rights and duties of states in different parts of the sea, notably those concerning the extension of national sovereignty. In keeping with this relationship, individual specific conventions also explicitly refer to the special role of UNCLOS and its "primacy".

For instance, the Barcelona Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea Against Pollution 802 states that nothing in that convention or its protocols shall prejudice the rights or position of contracting parties under UNCLOS. The Helsinki Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea Area affirms that it "shall be without prejudice to the rights and obligations of the Contracting Parties under existing and future treaties which further and develop the general principles of the Law of the Sea" on notably under UNCLOS. Regarding the Helsinki Convention, it is also worth noting that it itself states that none of its provisions should "be construed as infringing upon the freedom of navigation (...) and other legitimate uses of the high seas, as well as upon the right of innocent passage through the territorial sea", 804 thereby effectively assigning primacy to the basic principles of international maritime law contained in UNCLOS. That is also borne out by the fact that all maritime conventions concluded before adoption of UNCLOS in 1982, but already reflecting the codification work of the International Law Commission (for instance the London Dumping Convention of 1972 and the MARPOL Convention in the amended version of 1978), contain clauses explicitly stating that they shall not prejudice the codification and development of the law of the sea by the United

See, in detail, Article 207 (4), Article 208 (5), Article 209 (1), Article 210 (4), Article 211 (1), Article 212 (3) UNCLOS.

⁷⁹⁹ *Cf.* on the relationship of UNCLOS an these global IMO-conventions, for instance, *Blanco-Bazán*, IMO interface with the Law of the Sea Convention.

Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 341.

Cf. in this regard also Jenisch, in: Marine Issues, 63 (64 et seq.), pursuant to whom Article 197 UNCLOS allows for the conclusion of regional maritime conventions, but also simultaneously restricts the legal framework set out by UNCLOS.

Article 3 (3) Barcelona Convention; on this convention, see also Part 3, A. I. 4. b.) aa.).

Article 29 Helsinki Convention; on this convention, see also Part 3, A. I. 4. b.) bb.).

Article 27 Helsinki Convention.

Although, of course, it needs to be taken into consideration that this primacy is already established by UNCLOS itself, with the Helsinki Convention merely restating the already present relationship between both conventions; *cf.* on this issue *Jenisch*, in: Marine Issues, 63 (64 *et seq.*).

Nations. ⁸⁰⁶ Put differently, these older conventions adopted before UNCLOS already assume a general primacy of the Law of the Sea later codified by UNCLOS. ⁸⁰⁷

For the purposes of this study, it follows from the primary function of UNCLOS as a comprehensive "legal order for the seas and oceans" that the general provisions of UNCLOS determine which questions still require addressing on the level of specific maritime conventions: since all further maritime conventions have to operate within the legal framework established by UNCLOS, such conventions will only prove relevant for the introduction of user charges if the issue at stake is not already governed by UNCLOS, thus leaving a certain leeway for regulation. In this context, finally, it also bears noting that fundamental principles of the international Law of the Sea codified by UNCLOS are also recognized as customary international law, so including, for instance, the sovereign rights of fact states and coastal states and, last but not least, the freedom of navigation in its different gradations. With other words, UNCLOS has codified the essential structures of international maritime law, and must therefore by necessity also apply within the ambit of all other maritime conventions.

4. Requirements under Specific Maritime Conventions

In line with the point of reference chosen in response⁸¹⁰ to the general requirements of UNCLOS (a foreign ship calling at a port of the collecting state), the assessment of specific maritime conventions will be limited as follows: the focus will exclusively rest on the parts of the sea subject to unrestricted territorial sovereignty, ergo on the internal waters and ports, with attention centering on the powers of port states vis-a-vis foreign vessels. Given the insights derived from the general Law of the Sea regarding the suitable choice of a point of reference for the introduction of user charges, one question is of particular interest in this context: which powers do port states enjoy vis-a-vis foreign ships under specific maritime conventions?

See Article XIII of the London Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, as well as Article 9 (2) MARPOL 1978. On both conventions, see *infra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. a.) aa.) and bb.).

The question of whether this primacy of UNCLOS also extends (retroactively, as it were) to treaties concluded before the codification process on the Law of the Sea had begun (and thus without "knowledge" of its existence or outcome) is of no relevance here, given that the London Convention on Dumping of 1972 is the oldest convention considered in the following passages.

Preamble of UNCLOS. On the "overarching" or universal character of UNCLOS, see also *Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 74 *et sqq*., with further references; *Vitzthum*, in: ZaöRV 2002, 163 (163).

On this issue generally *Sioussouras*, Revue hellénique de droit international 2001, 299 *et sqq.*; *cf.* furthermore *Ringbom*, in: RECIEL 1999, 21 (22), with further references.

On the conclusions arising from the relationship between the general Law of the Sea and UNCLOS and the specific maritime conventions for the purposes of this study, see *infra*, Part 3, A.I.3.

Given the large number of conventions elaborating on the general Law of the Sea codified in UNCLOS, an additional substantive limitation of the ambit of this study becomes necessary. With a view to the pertinent questions, the following analysis will focus on, first, those conventions which seek to prevent marine pollution, notably by shipping; international conventions exclusively relating to the conservation and use of living marine resources will thus be left unconsidered. Given the potential relevance for an introduction of user charges, therefore, the analysis would include global conventions on the prevention of marine pollution, most of which were elaborated within the institutional context of the International Maritime Organisation (IMO) (a). Second, several regional regimes were developed within the European context, of which the most important will also be given consideration (b). Finally, a both substantively and legally independent status is held by the Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control, which would be addressed towards the end (c).

a.) Global Conventions on the Prevention of Marine Pollution

aa.) London Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter

The London Convention⁸¹¹ of 1972 requires contracting parties to prohibit and control the deliberate disposal at sea ("dumping") of certain wastes and other matter.⁸¹² To this end, it mandates port states with the issue of permits for dumping certain matter subject to a permit requirement under the convention and loaded in their territory.⁸¹³ Moreover, contracting parties are required to apply the measures required to implement the present convention to all vessels and aircraft loading in its territory or territorial seas matter which is to be dumped.⁸¹⁴

London Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, in force 30 August 1975, 1046 United Nations Treaty Series 120, 11 International Legal Materials 1294 (1972). Generally on the London Convention, for instance, *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 116 *et sqq.*; *Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 144 *et sqq.*; *Sands*, Principles of International Environmental Law, 416 *et sqq.*

Pursuant to Article IV London Convention, dumping of certain wastes and other matters (listed in Annex 1) is forbidden. Further wastes and other matters (listed in Annex 2) may only be disposed subject to a special permit. Other waste and matters may only be disposed at sea upon condition of a prior "general" permit. While radioactive material had originally been listed in Annex 2, dumping of any radioactive material has been forbidden since 1993. A protocol to the convention was adopted in 1996 which, once it has been ratified by a sufficient number of states (which has yet to occur) is set to replace the convention (for the protocol, see 36 International Legal Materials 1 (1997)). The main feature of the protocol relative to the convention is its more restrictive character; for an overview in the litarture listed on the convention, see, for instance, *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 117 *et sqq*.

Article VI (2) lit. a London Convention on Dumping.

Article VII (1) lit. b London Convention on Dumping.

The same applies to all vessels under the jurisdiction of a contracting party believed to be engaged in dumping.⁸¹⁵ Although the geographic scope of the convention does not extend to internal waters,⁸¹⁶ it affords port and coastal states important rights, but also imposes obligations to implement the objectives of the convention.

No provision under this convention could be construed as an obstacle for the introduction of user charges by contracting parties.⁸¹⁷

bb.) International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL-Convention)

Of the international conventions on the safety of navigation, the prevention of marine pollution and other important topics elaborated within the framework of the IMO⁸¹⁸ to date, various conventions are of relevance in the context of this study. Starting in chronological order, the MARPOL-convention will be addressed first.

Originally dating from 1973, the MARPOL-convention applies in the version of a protocol adopted in 1978. Designed as a framework convention, the convention itself contains rather little normative substance. The actual substantive commitments of contracting parties relating to the prevention of Marine pollution have been laid down in (so far) six annexes to the convention: 820

- Annex I on Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Oil;
- Annex II on Regulations for the Control of Pollution by Noxious Liquid Substances;
- Annex III on Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Harmful Substances in Packaged Form:
- Annex IV on Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships;

Article VII (1) lit. c London Convention on Dumping.

As can be inferred from Article III (1) lit. a in connection with Article III Abs. 3 of the Convention. In this regard, pending its entry into force, Article 7 of the protocol of 1996 will be far more explicit.

The same applies to the protocol of 1996.

On the function and legislative activities of IMO, see generally, for instance, *Blanco-Bazàn*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 31 *et sqq.*; *Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 125 *et sqq.*; *Sands*, Principles of International Environmental Law, 97 *et seq.*; *Vitzthum*, ZaöRV 2002, 163 (165 *et sqq.*).

Henceforth MARPOL 1978. The currently valid text in the version of the protocol of 1978 is reproduced in 1341 United Nations Treaty Series 3, 17 International Legal Materials 546 (1978); in literature, see generally, for instance, *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 119 *et sqq.*; *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 380 *et seq.*; *Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 129 *et sqq.*; *Sands*, Principles of International Environmental Law, 440 *et sqq.*; *Schiano di Pepe*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 137 (144 *et seq.*).

After Annex VI entered into force on 19 May 2005, all sectoral regimes adopted under MARPOL have become mandatory.

- Annex V on Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Garbage from Ships;
- Annex VI on Regulations for the Prevention of Air Pollution from Ships.

In the context of this study, it bears noting that violations against the provisions of the regime established under Article 4 MARPOL 1978 are to be primarily sanctioned by the government of the state under whose authority the ship is operating. 821 Consequently, the MARPOL-convention is largely modeled on the flag state principle. 822

Nevertheless, the convention also confers certain indispensable rights on port states with a view to ensure achievement of the system set out in Article 5 requiring regular inspections of ships and issuance of international certificates on observance of the measures provided for in the annexes relating to different pollution risks.⁸²³ Accordingly, port states enjoy the authority to perform inspections of ships in their ports or off-shore terminals, and to take such steps as to ensure that ships whose condition or equipment does not correspond substantially with the particulars of the respective certificate shall not sail until it can proceed to sea without presenting an unreasonable threat of harm to the marine environment.⁸²⁴ Furthermore, port states are entitled to inspect foreign ships at their ports or off-shore terminals for the purpose of verifying whether these have discharged any harmful substances in violation of the provisions set down in the annexes to the convention.⁸²⁵

The legal effectiveness of the MARPOL-regime has been strengthened to a significant extent by the clause in Article 5 (4) MARPOL 1978, requiring that contracting parties also apply the provisions of the convention to ships of non-parties as may be necessary to ensure that no more favorable treatment is given to such ships. In other words, port states are afforded the right to impose the rules of the MARPOL-regimes *vis-à-vis* ships flying the flag of non-parties. In that regard, the MARPOL-convention conforms to the non-discrimination principle set out under general maritime law⁸²⁶ and requiring that ships flying different flags not be treated differently.⁸²⁷

In connection with Article 2 (5) MARPOL 1978.

See Beyerlin, Umweltvölkerrecht, 120; Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 381.

The international certificates introduced by the MARPOL-regime refer to the rules and standards included in the Annexes and whose observance is mandatory for ships. Pursuant to Rule 11 of Annex II, for instance, any ship carrying noxious liquid substances in bulk and engaged in voyages to ports under the jurisdiction of other parties to the convention shall be issued an International Pollution Prevention Certificate.

Article 5 (2) MARPOL 1978.

Article 6 (2) MARPOL 1978.

⁸²⁶ Cf. Article 227 UNCLOS.

The scholarly debate in academic literature on whether the clause on preferential treatment in the MARPOL-convention (and in the SOLAS Convention, see *infra*) violates the "pacta tertiis"-rule of Article 34 VCLT does not need to be pursued further in this context. *Cf.* in that regard *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 378 *et seq.*, as well as, differentiating, *Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 129 *et sqq.* On the significance of the "pacta tertiis"-rule in connection with the introduction of user charges under an

It follows that the convention and its annexes contain no provision which may be construed as an obstacle for the introduction of user charges by its contracting parties.

cc.) International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS)

This convention, dating from 1974,⁸²⁸ primarily aims at protecting human life, but still acquires relevance with regard to marine environmental protection. Worthy of mention is the approach it sets out: based on inspections (carried out by the flag state), ships obtain certificates on compliance with minimum technical standards, whose observance can be controlled by all contracting governments at whose ports foreign ships have called. As under the MARPOL-regime, port states have the right and duty to ensure that no ship sets sail until it can proceed to sea without presenting a threat of harm to the crew and possible passengers.⁸²⁹ Likewise, the SOLAS Convention also contains a clause prohibiting preferential treatment of ships flying the flag of non-party states.⁸³⁰

No provision of this convention would seem to stand in the path of user charges introduced by the contracting states, however.

dd.) London Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Co-Operation

This convention,⁸³¹ concluded in 1990 under the auspices of the IMO, calls on its parties to take all appropriate measures to prepare for and respond to an oil pollution incident.⁸³² In 2000, a protocol to the convention (not yet in force) was adopted concerning pollution by other noxious substances.

The rights and duties of port states vis-à-vis foreign ships are limited to enforcing the requirement that ships entitled to fly the flag of parties have on board a shipboard oil pollution plan.⁸³³ While in

international treaty *vis-à-vis* ships flying the flag of states that are not parties to that treaty, see *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 2. c.)

International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), 1 November 1974, in force 25 May 1980, reproduced in 14 International Law Materials 956 (1975); generally on the convention, *inter alia*, *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 377 *et sqq*.; *Proelβ*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 139 *et sqq*.

⁶²⁹ Cf. on the respective rights and duties of port states Chapter XI in the Annex to the SOLAS Convention regarding special measures to enhance maritime safety.

Article II (3) of the 1978 SOLAS Protocol.

International Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and Co-operation, 30 November 1990, in force 13 May 1995, 30 International Law Materials 735 (1991). *Cf.* generally *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 127 *et seq.*; *Sands*, Principles of International Environmental Law, 451 *et seq.*

Article 1 (1) London Convention on Oil Pollution.

On this duty Article 3 (1) lit. a London Convention on Oil Pollution.

a port or at an offshore terminal, a ship is under the jurisdiction of the port state regarding inspection of the existence on board of such an emergency plan.⁸³⁴

Nonetheless, the convention contains no provision that may be construed as precluding an introduction of user charges by parties.

ee.) International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-Fouling Systems

This IMO-convention of 2001⁸³⁵ aims at reducing marine pollution by toxic so-called antifouling-systems used to coat the bodies of ships to prevent attachment of unwanted organisms; to this end, certain substances will be prohibited from 1 January 2008 onwards. The convention has not yet entered into force.

Port states participate in the implementation of the rules under the convention by virtue of the obligation of all parties to enforce the prohibition of certain toxic anti-fouling systems against foreign vessels calling at their ports or at an offshore terminal. To allow effective inspection of ships (under participation of port states), the convention establishes a system of international certificates.

No provision under this convention could be construed as an obstacle for the introduction of user charges by contracting parties, however.

ff.) International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water and Sediments

This convention, adopted in 2004, is geared against the transfer of foreign organisms through uncontrolled exchange of ballast water by ships. 836 It has not yet entered into force.

Through a number of specific powers and obligations, this convention mandates port states with achievement of its objectives: For one, it is up to port states to ensure that adequate facilities are provided for the reception of sediments in ports.⁸³⁷ Coastal states are, moreover, required to monitor

Article 3 (1) lit. b London Convention on Oil Pollution.

International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-Fouling Systems, 5 October 2001, not yet in force, reproduced in IMO, Anti-Fouling Systems: International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-Fouling Systems on Ships (London, IMO, 2005); for a general overview of the content of this convention *cf*. http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic_id=529>.

International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water and Sediments, 13 February 2004; for an overview *cf.* http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic_id=867>. On the convention and the underlying problem *cf. SRU*, Meeresumweltschutz für Nord- und Ostsee, 172 *et seq.*; also generally *Böckenförde*, in: Marine Issues, 241 (253 *et sqq.*).

Article 5 Ballast Water Convention.

the effects of ballast water management in waters under their jurisdiction.⁸³⁸ Based on a certification duty⁸³⁹ for ships, these may be inspected by port states; in the process, port states must also ensure that no ship discharges ballast water until it can do so without presenting a threat of harm to the environment.⁸⁴⁰ Still, port states must also take all possible efforts to avoid a ship being unduly detained or delayed in their ports.⁸⁴¹

Still, the convention contains no provision that may be construed as precluding an introduction of user charges by parties.

gg.) Convention on Facilitation of International Maritime Traffic

Aside from the IMO conventions directly or indirectly geared towards protecting the marine environment against pollution, the Convention on Facilitation of International Maritime Traffic requires consideration in the context of this study.⁸⁴² The purpose of this convention⁸⁴³ is generally to facilitate and expedite formalities, requirements relating to documents, and procedures relating to the arrival, stay and departure of foreign ships.⁸⁴⁴

An Annex to the convention specifies the formalities relating to arrival, stay and departure of foreign ships that may be imposed by public authorities of the port state. The list contained in this annex is not exhaustive, however, as it declares that it "shall not be read so as to preclude a requirement for the presentation for inspection by the appropriate authorities of certificates and other papers carried by the ship pertaining to its registry, measurement, safety, manning and other related matters" by the port state. Under this convention, port states have the right not only to view certain documents and forms required for presentation by foreign ships, but also to retain

Article 6 Ballast Water Convention.

Article 7 Ballast Water Convention; see also Section B of the Annex to the convention ("Management and Control Requirements for Ships").

Article 9 Ballast Water Convention.

Article 12 Ballast Water Convention.

No consideration will be given in this context to the, in principle, also pertinent Geneva Convention and Statute on the International Regulation of Ports of 1923, given that it never acquired great significance and has since been superseded by the IMO Convention on Facilitation of International Maritime Traffic; *cf. Lagoni*, AVR 1988, 261 (275 *et sqq.*).

Convention on Facilitation of International Maritime Traffic (FAL-Convention), 9 April 1965, in force 5 March 1967. *Cf.* generally on the convention *Badura*, EPIL, Vol. III, 1068 (1069, 1071).

See Article I and II FAL-Convention.

See Section 2 of the Annex zum to the FAL-Convention.

Text before Paragraph 2.1 of the Annex to the FAL-Convention.

them.⁸⁴⁷ This includes a so-called General Declaration, listing, *inter alia*, the name and description of the ship, the nationality of ship, particulars regarding registry, particulars regarding tonnage, a description of the cargo, the number of crew and passengers, as well as particulars of voyage. Port states may also retain a Cargo Declaration (which, *inter alia*, lists the quantity and description of the goods as well as the ports arrived from and at which cargo will be discharged), the Crew List and, if applicable, the Passenger List.

While this convention aims at facilitating and expediting the formalities and procedures imposed on foreign ships, it contains no provisions relating to the powers of port states which might incur any manner of restriction relevant for the introduction of user charges, also with the view to the procedure such user charges might bring about. In this context, reference also needs to be made to Article V (3), pursuant to which all matters that are not expressly provided for in the convention remain subject to the legislation of the contracting governments.

b.) Regional Conventions on the Prevention of Marine Pollution

As already stated earlier, the following observations will be limited to the three most important conventions in the European context. In a global comparison, these are at the same time the most sophisticated regional treaty regimes relating to marine environmental protection.⁸⁴⁸

Paragraphs 2.1 *et sqq.* of the Annex to the FAL-Convention.

Cf. generally on the significance of regional maritime conventions Treves, Mélanges Lucchini et Quéneudec,
 591 et sqq.

aa.) Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea Against Pollution (Barcelona Convention)

The Barcelona Convention, concluded in 1976 and valid in the amended version of 1995, ⁸⁴⁹ is one of ten conventions to date adopted under the auspices of the UNEP Regional Seas Programme on the protection of regional ocean spaces. ⁸⁵⁰ The different conventions all pursue a uniform approach in that they contain obligations for contracting parties relating to the prevention, abate and combat pollution of the marine environment from various sources, on the one hand, and on the exploitation and protection of natural resources, on the other. Additional protocols (of which six have been adopted for the legally and institutionally most elaborate of these conventions, the Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea) further specify the rules relating to pollution.

Among other duties, contracting parties to the Barcelona Convention are required to take all measures in conformity with international law to prevent, abate, and combat pollution of the Mediterranean Sea area caused by discharges from ships, and to ensure the effective implementation in that area of the rules which are generally recognized at the international level relating to the control of this type of pollution.⁸⁵¹

In connection with the pollution of the marine and coastal environment originating from ships, two of the six protocols elaborating on the convention, the Protocol for the Prevention and Elimination of Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Dumping from Ships and Aircraft or Incineration at Sea (Dumping Protocol)⁸⁵² as well as the Protocol Concerning Cooperation in Preventing Pollution from Ships and, in Cases of Emergency, Combating Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea (Prevention- and Emergency Protocol)⁸⁵³ are of particular interest. Nevertheless, as regards the pertinent question of the rights and duties of port states, the Barcelona Convention limits itself to

The amendment of the first Barcelona Convention of 1995 entered into force on 9 July 2004, with *inter alia* the EC as a party; on the text, see http://www.unepmap.org, also reprinted in: Law of the Sea Bulletin Nr. 31, 1996, 65 *et sqq*. Generally on the Convention, for instance, *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 133 *et sqq*.; *Skjaerseth*, in: Green Globe Yearbook 1996, 47 (48 *et sqq*.).

Aside from the convention on the protection of the marine environment and coastal region of the Mediterranean area, similar conventions exist for the following ocean areas: the Arab Gulf, the Gulf of Guinea, the Southeast Pacific, the Red Sea, and the Gulf of Aden, the Caribbean, the Indian Ocean and East Africa, the Pacific, the Black Sea as well as the Northeast Pacific (in the chronological order of adoption). On the conventions adopted under the auspices of the UNEP Regional Seas Programme, see the overview at *Sands*, Principles of International Environmental Law, 399 *et sqq*.

Article 6 Barcelona Convention.

Text at http://www.unepmap.org; and amendment of this 1976 protocol was agreed in 1995, although it has not yet entered into force.

Text available at http://www.unepmap.org; upon entering into force on 17 March 2004, the protocol of 2002 replaced the earlier Protocol Concerning Cooperation in Combating Pollution of the Mediterranean Sea by Oil and other Harmful Substances in Cases of Emergency of 1976.

imposing obligations which have already been set out by other, geographically more comprehensive conventions.

No different from the London Dumping convention,⁸⁵⁴ the Dumping Protocol to the Barcelona Convention mandates port states with issuing the permits specified by the protocol in respect of certain matter intended for dumping subjected to a permit requirement by the protocol⁸⁵⁵ and loaded in their territory.⁸⁵⁶ Likewise, a parallel obligation of port states relates to to application of the measures required to implement the protocol to all ships – including both ships flying their flag⁸⁵⁷ and foreign ships – loading in their territory wastes or other matter which are to be dumped, or which are believed to be engaged in dumping in areas under their jurisdiction.⁸⁵⁸

Under the Prevention- and Emergency Protocol, in turn, port states are primarily held to take measures in order to ensure the effective implementation of relevant international conventions on the prevention of pollution of the Mediterranean Sea Area. Quite evidently, this provision makes reference to the conventions elaborated under the auspices of the IMO, notably the MARPOL-convention. In addition, parties are required to take the necessary steps to ensure that reception facilities operate efficiently to limit any impact of their discharges to the marine environment.

bb.) Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea Area (Helsinki Convention)

Originally dating from 1974, the Helsinki Convention⁸⁶² currently applies in the amended version of 1992. The focus of this convention and its seven annexes rests on preventing pollution from

On this issue, see *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. a.) aa.).

See Article 5 in connection with Annex II as well as Article 6 of the Dumping Protocol to the Barcelona Convention.

Article 10 (2) lit. a of the Dumping Protocol to the Barcelona Convention.

Article 11 (1) lit. a of the Dumping Protocol to the Barcelona Convention.

Article 11 (1) lit. b and c of the Dumping Protocol to the Barcelona Convention.

Article 4 (2) of the Prevention- and Emergency Protocol to the Barcelona Convention.

Cf. Article 1 lit. e of the Prevention- and Emergency Protocol to the Barcelona Convention, which refers to the particular role of IMO. Explicit reference to the MARPOL-regime is, in turn, contained in Article 14 (4).

Article 14 (1) to (3) of the Prevention- and Emergency Protocol to the Barcelona Convention.

Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea Area, in force 17 January 2000, UN Law of the Sea Bulletin No 22, reprinted in 8 International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law 215 (1993). Generally on the Helsinki Convention, for instance, *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 143 et sqq.; Ebbeson, GYIL 2000, 38 et sqq.; Ehlers, in: Meeresumweltschutz für Nord- und Ostsee, 103 et sqq.; ders., in: Marine Issues, 93 (95 et sqq.); Fitzmaurice, RECIEL 1993, 24 et sqq.; Fitzmaurice-Lachs, in: Marine Issues, 73 (75 et sqq.); Haas, in: Institutions for the Earth, 133 et sqq.; Jenisch, in: Marine Issues, 63 et sqq.; Sands, Principles of International Environmental Law, 412 et sqq.

different sources.⁸⁶³ Normative elaboration of the provisions set out in the convention and its annexes occurs within the framework of a special Commission established by contracting parties (Helsinki Commission on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea Area, HELCOM).⁸⁶⁴

Annex IV of the convention addresses pollution of the Baltic Sea by ships. As a rule, it refers to the corresponding provisions of the MARPOL-regime, which are to be applied by the contracting parties to the Helsinki Conventions *in corpore*, as it were. Additionally, and complementing the provisions of MARPOL, Annex IV contains rules on the treatment of sewage discharged by ships not covered by the corresponding Annex IV to the MARPOL convention on Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Sewage from Ships. Because Annex IV to the Helsinki Convention requires contracting parties to apply the MARPOL-regime, the corresponding rights and duties of port states automatically also apply under the Helsinki Convention. In addition, Annex IV to the Helsinki Convention requires port states to exercise port state control on the basis of the 1982 Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control or Council Directive 95/21/EC⁸⁷⁰ concerning port state control.

Worthy of particular mention in the context of this study is a charging system developed by the Helsinki Commission in respect of the treatment of shipping waste (including shipping oil and

Only as a secondary aspect, the convention contains some provisions on the use and preservation of marine resources.

⁶⁶⁴ *Cf.* Article 19 to 23 Helsinki Convention. On the task and functions of HELCOM, see *Jenisch*, in: Marine Issues, 63 (65 *et sqq.*).

See also Article 8 Helsinki Convention.

Regulation 4 of Annex IV to the Helsinki Convention. *Cf.* on this aspect *Ebbeson*, GYIL 2000, 38 (55 *et seq.*); *Treves*, Mélanges Lucchini et Quéneudec, 591 (596 *et seq.*); *Vitzthum*, ZaöRV 2002, 163 (169).

On the following aspects, see Regulation 5 of Annex IV to the Helsinki Convention.

It needs to be borne in mind that, as *Jenisch*, in: Marine Issues, 63 (64 *et seq.*), recognizes, the contracting parties of the Helsinki Convention would not have the power to adopt unilateral legislation relating to marine pollution by ships in departure from the rules of the pertinent IMO conventions (notably the MARPOL convention), given the provision of Article 211 (1) UNCLOS, which assigns legislative powers relating to marine pollution from vessels to the "competent international organization", and thus effectively to the IMO.

On this issue *infra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. c.)

Council Directive 95/21/EC of 19 June 1995 Concerning the Enforcement in Respect of Shipping Using Community Ports and Sailing in the Waters under the Jurisdiction of the Member States, of International Standards for Ship Safety, Pollution, Prevention and Shipboard Living and Working Conditions (Port State Control), OJ 1995 L 157, 1 and.

Regulation 10 of Annex IV to the Helsinki Convention.

sewage) in the ports of contracting parties.⁸⁷² Within the framework of a "Baltic Strategy for Port Reception Facilities for Ship-generated Wastes and Associated Issues", a Recommendation of the Helsinki Commission relating to the prevention of respective discharges by ships into the Baltic Sea calls upon contracting parties to include a charge for the disposal of ship-generated waste in the harbor a fee or otherwise.⁸⁷³ A particularity of this charge is that it should always be levied, irrespective of whether a particular ship delivers its waste in the respective port or not ("no-specialfee"-system).⁸⁷⁴ Ultimately, this aims at creating an incentive for ship owners to actually use the garbage reception facilities available in ports in line with the requirements imposed on port states.⁸⁷⁵ The gross tonnage may be taken as the basis of calculation by the port, and may take into account the waste processing equipment on board.⁸⁷⁶ In keeping with the "no-special-fee"-approach, however, the waste management fee imposed should be independent of the volume of the waste delivered to the port reception facilities.

The system needs to be understood against the backdrop that, under the MARPOL-regime, no legal obligation existed to date requiring ships to dispose ship-generated waste in ports using available reception facilities. While dumping of ship-generated waste into the ocean is, in principle, prohibited, this legal situation had resulted in frequent illegal disposal at sea (given that violations are hard to prove), for instance discharge of lubricating oil.

The special charging system for ship-generated waste established under the Helsinki Convention is an example of how – based on the territorial sovereignty of port states in their internal waters – a special treaty can be used to introduce **harbor fees** for the achievement of a **specific environmental objective**. It bears emphasizing in this regard that the reason for imposition of the charge is precisely not the use of certain port facilities, given that the waste management fee is imposed independently of the actual volume of waste delivered to the port reception facilities. As a caveat, however, it also bears mentioning that the "Recommendations" set out by the Helsinki

On the following aspects *Jenisch*, in: Marine Issues, 63 (69 *et sqq.*).

See, in detail, HELCOM Recommendation 26/1 (Application of the no-special-fee system to ship-generated wastes in the Baltic Sea area) of 2 March 2005, which replaced the earlier HELCOM Recommendation 19/8 dating from 1998. Text available at http://www.helcom.fi/Recommendations/en_GB/rec26_1/. HELCOM Recommendation 26/1 also includes the "attached" "Guidelines for the establishment of a harmonised "no-special-fee" system for the delivery of ship-generated oily wastes originating from machinery spaces and for the delivery of sewage and garbage to port reception facilities."

On this issue para. 1.1 of the Guidelines to HELCOM Recommendation 26/1.

⁶⁷⁵ Cf. paras. 3 and 4 of HELCOM Recommendation 26/1.

Paras. 4.1 und 4.2 of the Guidelines to HELCOM Recommendation 26/1.

Cf. Jenisch, in: Marine Issues, 63 (69). Such a duty has now been included in Regulation 6 of Annex IV of the Helsinki Convention; see on this issue – still referring to a outdated numbering of the pertinent regulation – *idem.*, 63 (71).

Commission are not legally binding on contracting parties as long as they are not also included in the convention and its annexes.⁸⁷⁸

cc.) Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR Convention)

Concluded in 1992, the OSPAR Convention⁸⁷⁹ pursues a comprehensive approach of integrated environmental protection for the entire marine ecosystem.⁸⁸⁰ This extends both to the prevention and elimination of pollution from all possible sources and the protection and conservation of marine ecosystems and biological diversity of the North-East Atlantic, including the North Sea. Corresponding duties are laid down in five annexes and three appendices.

Regarding the powers and obligations relevant for port states, Annex II on the Prevention and Elimination of Pollution by Dumping or Incineration bears emphasizing.⁸⁸¹ Like that of the Barcelona Convention, the Dumping Protocol of the OSPAR Convention is clearly modelled after the London Convention on Dumping (that is pioneering in respect of this source of pollution)⁸⁸³: the contracting parties (here, the port states⁸⁸⁴) are responsible for ensuring observance of this annex and, thus, also for the issue of an authorization⁸⁸⁵ when substances subject to a permit requirement⁸⁸⁶ are loaded in their territory with the intention of dumping or incineration.⁸⁸⁷

On the legal status of recommendations, see *Jenisch*, in: Marine Issues, 63 (68).

Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR), in force 25 March 1998, 32 International Legal Materials 1069 (1993); on the convention generally *Beyerlin*, Umweltvölkerrecht, 147 *et seq.*; *Heintschel v. Heinegg*, in: Marine Issues, 135 *et sqq.*; *Hilf*, ZaöRV 1995, 580 *et sqq.*; *Marr/Beyer/Rüsch*, in: EG-Kompetenzen bei völkerrechtlichen Verträgen im Umweltbereich, 49 *et sqq.*; *Proelß*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 192 *et sqq.*; *Sands*, Principles of International Environmental Law, 409 *et sqq.*

See the Preamble and Article 2 (1) OSPAR Convention.

Cf. also Article 4 OSPAR Convention.

⁸⁸² See *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. b.) aa.).

⁸⁸³ *Cf. infra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. a.) aa.).

For the respective obligation of contracting parties as flag states of the ships in question (and aircraft), see Article 10 (1) lit. a of Annex II to the OSPAR Convention.

Articles 4 and 5 of the Annex II to the OSPAR Convention.

See Articles 3 (2) and Article 4 (1) lit. a of the Annex II to the OSPAR Convention.

Article 10 (1) lit. b and c of the Annex II to the OSPAR Convention.

Aside from the issue of duimping and incinerating waste and other matter, the OSPAR Convention addresses land-based pollution, ⁸⁸⁸ pollution by off-shore sources ⁸⁸⁹ and assessment of the quality of the marine environment; ⁸⁹⁰ a further annex contains provisions on the protection and conservation of marine ecosystems and biological diversity. ⁸⁹¹ The intergrative approach ⁸⁹² of the OSPAR-regimes does not acquire concrete significance in the context of this study, as it does not apply to ships as sources of pollution (with the exception of the foregoing provisions on dumping). In this connection, it also bears mentioning that Article 7 of the OSPAR Convention regarding "Pollution from Other Sources" (which may also include ships ⁸⁹³) allows for adoption of additional annexes to the convention to the extent that such pollution is not already the subject of effective measures agreed by other international organisations or prescribed by other international conventions. Clearly, this can be understood as a reference to the (global) conventions adopted within the framework of IMO. The primacy of the IMO-regime is even more obvious in Annex V: where the OSPAR-Commission (responsible for the normative elaboration of the convention) ⁸⁹⁴ considers that action under that annex is desirable in relation to a question concerning maritime transport, it explicitly states that the IMO and its legal provisions shall be given consideration.

c.) Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control

Aside from the maritime regime outlined so far, the Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control⁸⁹⁶ bears mentioning in respect of the Western European area.⁸⁹⁷ Its objective lies in

Article 3 OSPAR Convention in connection with Annex I.

Article 5 OSPAR Convention in connection with Annex III.

Article 6 OSPAR Convention in connection with Annex IV.

Annex V to the OSPAR Convention.

⁸⁹² Cf. Heintschel v. Heinegg, in: Marine Issues, 135 (152).

⁸⁹³ *Cf. Hilf*, ZaöRV 1995, 580 (601).

Article 10 et sqq. OSPAR Convention; cf. Proelβ, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 197 et sqq.

Article 4 (2) of Annex V to the OSPAR Convention. On this issue also *Proelβ*, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 230, according to whom this clearly underscores the primacy of the IMO.

Federal Gazette 1998 II, 2779; for the text currently in force and all annexes, see http://www.parismou.org. *Cf.* on the Paris MOU generally, for instance, *Badura*, EPIL, Vol. III, 1068 (1071); *König*, in: Marine Issues, 37 (39 *et sqq.*); *Lagoni*, EPIL, Vol. II, 1036 (1038); *Peters*, Innere Gewässer, 128 *et sqq.*; *Ringbom*, RECIEL 1999, 21 (25); *Schiano di Pepe*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 137 (145 *et seq.*); *SRU*, Meeresumweltschutz für Nord- und Ostsee, 164 *et sqq.*

The Paris MOU has served as a model in several other maritime areas; similar memoranda have been concluded for the Asian Pacifik (Tokyo MOU), Latin America (Viña del Mar-MOU), the Indian Ocean, the Mediterranean (while the most important European nations of the Mediterranean are represented under the Paris MOU, coastal states of the Near East and Northern Africa are not) and the Black Sea.

creating a harmonized system of port state control with a view to ensuring that foreign merchant ships comply with the standards laid down in relevant instruments. This system of port state control is subject to the principle of equality of all vessels, without discrimination as to flag. The backdrop to this Memorandum of Understanding lies in the necessity of effective action to prevent the operation of substandard ships regarding maritime safety and the protection of the marine environment, and to avoid distorting competition between ports; The Memorandum of Understanding is complemented by seven annexes detailing applicable procedures and criteria.

In the context of this study, it is important to note⁹⁰² that the Paris Memorandum of Understanding does not seek to expand the control powers of port states. Rather, it merely seeks to safeguard the enforcement of standards already adopted elsewhere, notably in (currently) twelve international agreements.⁹⁰³ Of the maritime conventions outlined earlier, the Paris Memorandum of Understanding contains reference⁹⁰⁴ to the SOLAS Convention with two protocols and the MARPOL Convention.

At this point, it is sufficient to affirm that the Paris Memorandum of Understanding merely describes a detailed procedure for implementation of the port state control powers and obligations set out in the foregoing conventions. Seeing what has been outlined above, the Paris Memorandum of Understanding does not allow for further conclusions with regard to the focus of this study.

Incidentally, it bears noting that the Paris Memorandum of Understanding, albeit referring to "commitments", has only been adopted as an intergovernmental "Memorandum of Understanding" and thus possesses no binding legal force. 905 Nonetheless, the Memorandum of Understanding has

See the Preamble and para. 1.2 of the Paris MOU.

See paras. 1.2 and 2.4 of the Paris MOU.

See the Preamble of the Paris MOU.

These are, specifically, Annex 1 concerning port state control procedures; Annex 2 concerning procedures for investigations under the MARPOL-regime; Annex 3 concerning access refusal measures for certain ships; Annex 4 concerning information systems on inspections; Annex 5 concerning publication of information related to detentions and inspections; Annex 6 concerning qualitative criteria regarding adherence to the Memorandum; and Annex 7 concerning minimum criteria for port state control officers.

See *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 381 *et seq.*; *Schiano di Pepe*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 137 (145).

Para. 1.2 in connection with para. 2.1 of the Paris MOU.

Para. 2.1 of the Paris MOU.

Cf. in this regard Proelβ, Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht, 130 (Fn. 286) and 408 et seq., with further references. Likewise, Directive 95/21/EC concerning port state control (cf. supra, n. 870) primarily aims at rendering mandatory the standards pf the Paris Memorandum within the framework of Community law. As a "Memorandum of Understanding", the Paris Memorandum is part of "soft law", which – inter alia as multilateral declarations of intent or Codes of Conduct – reflect certain expectations of behaviour, despite their

become indirectly binding for certain states by inclusion of the corresponding procedures in European Community legislation – such as Directive 95/21/EC concerning port state control⁹⁰⁶ – or through other specific maritime conventions – notably the Helsinki Convention⁹⁰⁷ – binding contracting parties to the provisions of the Paris Memorandum of Understanding.

d.) Conclusions Regarding the Requirements under Specific Maritime Conventions

Based on the discussion of the general Law of the Sea codified in UNCLOS and the conclusions inferred with a view to the choice of a point of reference for the introduction of user charges (calling of a foreign ship at a port of the collecting state), ⁹⁰⁸ a further question needed to be addressed, namely the question of powers of port states with regard to foreign vessels under specific maritime conventions.

After having assessed all conventions of relevance for the purposes of this study (including the Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control), the following general conclusion can be made: generally, the view occasionally encountered in scholarly literature on public international law that enforcement and control powers of coastal and port states are constantly being expanded appears justified. At the same time, none of the provisions contained in the analyzed sources of law relating to rights and duties of port states can be construed as posing a legal obstacle to the introduction of user charges.

Likewise, as regards the operation of ports and port facilities, these conventions do not support the notion that charges not justified by actual use of port-related services are inadmissible. Consequently, the conclusion already reached with a view to UNCLOS⁹¹⁰ also applies to the specific maritime conventions: no provision exists in these conventions which states that charges levied for the use of harbours may only be imposed on actual use of port-related services and similar services. Furthermore, it bears noting that the charging system for the management of

formal lack of binding force; on the meaning of "soft law" in general and also for the area of international environmental law *Epiney/Scheyli*, Strukturprinzipien des Umweltvölkerrechts, 78 *et sqq.*, with further references.

On this issue in detail *König*, in: Marine Issues, 37 (39 *et sqq.*); *Schiano di Pepe*, in: International Marine Environmental Law, 137 (152 *et sqq.*).

Annex IV of the Helsinki Convention requires contracting parties to apply the port state control procedures of the Paris MOU.

See in detail *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 2. c.)

Thus *Dahm/Delbrück/Wolfrum*, Völkerrecht, Vol. I/2, 354, with a general reference to the conventions elaborated by the IMO and ILO as well as (in n. 38) explicit mention of the MARPOL- and SOLAS-conventions; with the same reasoning and conclusions *Lagoni*, EPIL, Vol. II, 1036 (1038); see also *Gloria*, in: Völkerrecht, 816 (830).

⁹¹⁰ *Cf. supra*, Part 3, A. I. 2. b.) aa.).

shipping waste created under the Helsinki Convention⁹¹¹ provides an existing example for a charge imposed for the mere act of calling at a port, irrespective of actual enjoyment of services. The system established by the Helsinki Commission provides for a payment duty, irrespective of whether a particular ship delivers its waste in the respective port or not, and aims at creating an incentive for ship owners to actually use the garbage reception facilities available in ports. Moreover, the charge can be calculated on the basis of gross tonnage, and may take into account the waste processing equipment on board of the ship in question.

Regarding the introduction of user charges, the regulatory powers of port states *vis-à-vis* foreign ships are only confined by the same limitations already arising from UNCLOS. ⁹¹²

5. Summary and Conclusions on International Maritime Law

The central insights inferred from the chapter on international maritime law in this study can be summarized as follows:

- the high seas are characterized by freedom of navigation. In the absence of territorial sovereignty, the flag state principle constitutes the only point of reference for the exercise of national jurisdiction on the high seas.
- the gradation under the international Law of the Sea between sovereign rights in the high seas (which are entirely free of territorial sovereignty) and the internal waters (which are subject to territorial sovereignty) acquires relevance in the area of the territorial sea. In this area, the coastal state already enjoys territorial sovereignty. Still, the national sovereignty of coastal states is restricted by the right of all the other states to innocent passage through the territorial sea. With certain exceptions, no charges may be levied upon foreign ships by reason only of their passage through the territorial sea (Article 26 UNCLOS).
- By contrast, the internal waters, and with them the sea ports, form part of the territory of coastal states and are thus subject to their full territorial sovereignty. Accordingly, foreign ships, on principle, enjoy no right of innocent passage. Based on their sovereignty, coastal states are free to render access to their ports contingent on fulfilment of certain conditions, for instance observance of standards relating to navigational safety or environmental protection. Restrictions only apply insofar as the legislation adopted by coastal states governing access to their internal waters and port facilities may not discriminate against foreign ships flying a certain flag.
- For the area of the internal waters, including ports, this allows for a central conclusion: given the unrestricted territorial sovereignty in this area, no rule under general maritime law would

⁹¹¹ In detail *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 4. b.) bb.).

On this issue *supra*, Part 3, A. I. 2., and in the following summary of central conclusions.

- seem to prevent states from rendering access to their internal waters including their ports conditional on certain requirements, provided they observe the principle of non-discrimination.
- Likewise, no provision within UNCLOS would seem to preclude such coastal state regulation from aiming at, or at least resulting in, the collection of a charge from ships; nor does general maritime law, on principle, prevent the port state from declaring a charge imposed on ships entering their internal waters or ports as compensation for the use of the ocean as such, rather than for the use of its port facilities.
- In the territorial sea, in turn, the prohibition to levy charges by reason only of passage through the territorial sea imposes on important restriction on the introduction of user charges. For the purposes of this study, the central inference is that mere passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea (without being followed by a voluntary call at a port facility) is not a suitable event to base a charge on by the coastal state.
- If not for legal reasons, the prohibition of levying charges by reason only of passage through the territorial sea could, for political reasons, restrict the general freedom of port states to subject entrance to their internal waters and ports to any requirement they desire. User charges that are not linked to passage of the territorial sea are thus preferable from the point of view of their political lack of contention.
- From the perspective of UNCLOS, thus, neither the mere passage of foreign ships through the territorial sea nor the navigational use of the high seas pose suitable points of reference for the introduction of a user charge. In the interest of practicality, moreover, this event should not be subject only to the control powers of flag states. This also rules out linking a user charge to ship registration, for instance.
- The only event allowing for expedient collection of a user charge from foreign ships would be when these call at a port of the collecting state.
- General maritime law does not contain specific restrictions relative to the design of the user charge, and, consequently, the chosen user charge model for charges imposed on the occasion of calling at a port. Based on the unrestricted regulatory power of port states under international maritime law, any type of circumstance or event could be linked to collection of a port fee.
- From the point of view of general maritime law, thus, the different conceivable models of a user charge cannot, thus, be distinguished with a view to their legal admissibility. The respective criteria merely constitute additional considerations in the sense of substantive assessment criteria for normative implementation of the chosen point of reference (that is, foreign ships calling at a port of the collecting state).
- The point of reference of anchoring at a port of the collecting state raises no concerns relating to extraterritorial jurisdiction or a violation of the "pacta tertiis"-rule of Article 34 VCLT.

- UNCLOS enjoys primacy *vis-à-vis* all other conventions relevant in this context. The general framework of UNCLOS thus determines which questions at the level of specific maritime conventions still require analysis; such conventions will only prove relevant for the introduction of user charges if the issue at stake is not already governed by UNCLOS, leaving a certain leeway for regulation, with a focus on powers of port states relating to foreign ships.
- The specific sources of maritime law analyzed in this study contained nothing which might be construed as a legal obstacle for the introduction of user charges, however.

By way of conclusion, the international Law of the Sea sets out no fundamental barriers for the introduction of user charges, provided these meet the conditions specified by UNCLOS. Primarily, this requires linking the user charge to the sovereign rights of port states and observing the principle of non-discrimination. Further restrictions governing the choice of user charge models can, at best, only be inferred from political considerations or legal objections originating outside of international maritime law. It bears noting, however, that the introduction of charges for the use of the oceans as a global environment good has not yet seriously been considered in international maritime law, at least not on a universal level. Simultaneously, one does not garner the impression that user charges are entirely at variance with the system of international maritime law, given that they can be accommodated in the existing structure of the law of the sea on the basis of the powers outlined above. Modern maritime conventions have, in effect, already begun opening up to the idea of an incentive system based on user charges. The Helsinki Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea dating from 1992 serves as an example with its charging system for the management of ship-generated waste.

II. European Community Law

As a rule, secondary Community legislation only contains requirements with effect for **Member State** activities. By contrast, the Community legislator is free to exercise its powers within the framework established by primary Community law. Consideration of secondary legislation by the Community would, if at all, seem advisable for political reasons, in order to accommodated a certain legislative project within the existing framework of legislation. Additionally, it might be a result of a "clasp" with primary rules requiring adoption of certain secondary law when regulating a specific issue area.

Against this backdrop, the following section will identify the secondary rules governing maritime transport with effect to Member States and, potentially, Community action. An important position in this regard is occupied by the liberalisation package for maritime transport adopted in 1986. It consists of the following individual measures:

- Council Regulation (EEC) No 4055/86 of 22 December 1986 applying the principle of freedom to provide services to maritime transport between Member States and between Member States and third countries, 914
- **Council Regulation (EEC) No 4056/86** of 22 December 1986 laying down detailed rules for the application of Articles 85 and 86 (now Articles 81 and 82) of the Treaty to maritime transport, ⁹¹⁵
- **Council Regulation (EEC) No 4057/86** of 22 December 1986 on unfair pricing practices in maritime transport. 916
- Council Regulation (EEC) No 4058/86 of 22 December 1986 concerning coordinated action to safeguard free access to cargoes in ocean trades. 917

Complementing this package of regulations are the Community provisions on maritime cabotage, *i.e.* "maritime transport within a Member State": due to staunch opposition from individual Member States, the liberalisation of cabotage was only possible after the 1986-liberalisation package had already been adopted, 918 with the 1992 **Council Regulation (EEC) No 3577/92** of 7 December 1992 applying the principle of freedom to provide sevices to maritime transport within Member States (maritime cabotage)⁹¹⁹. And finally, attention will also be given to fiscal measures to the extent that they relate to the taxation of shipping fuel.

1. Regulation 4055/86 and the Freedom to Provide Services in Maritime Transport

a.) Relationship to Primary Law

As already outlined earlier, ⁹²⁰ Article 51 (1) ECT refers to the title relating to transport in the ECT for services in the field of transport. The latter only governs transport by road, rail and inland waterway, however. Regarding maritime transport, the reference can thus only relate to the legislative power in Article 80 (2) ECT, pursuant to which the Council **may**, acting by a qualified majority, decide to lay down appropriate provisions for sea transport.

⁹¹⁴ OJ 1986 L 378, 1.

⁹¹⁵ OJ 1986 L 378, 4.

⁹¹⁶ OJ 1986 L 378, 14.

⁹¹⁷ OJ 1986 L 378, 21.

See *Riccomagno*, EurTranspR 1993, 374.

OJ 1992 L 364, 7.

⁹²⁰ See Part 2, C.V.1.

This discretionary provision ("may) has been given a distinct articulation by the Single European Act, however. For instance, Article 8a (now Article 14 ECT) called on the Community to adopte measures with the aim of progressively establishing the internal market by 31 December 1992 based on Article 14 ECT and a series of other legislative powers, **including Article 80 ECT**. The ample discretion afforded to the Council by Article 80 ECT is thus limited in the sense that it has to be interpreted as a legal obligation, albeit without an explicit sanction for lack of Council action provided for in the ECT. 921

With the adoption of Regulation 4055/86 – together with the other Regulations of the 1986-package – the EC has met its obligation under primary law to liberalise the provision of services in the Community. This raises the question whether, in view of the situation under primary law outlined earlier, the freedom to provide services set out in Regulation 4055/86 may be subjected to restrictions which go beyond the restrictions explicitly provided for in the Regulation itself. In principle, such an "extension" of the provisons of restriction may be based on two considerations:

- on the one hand, Article 49 *et seq.* ECT could be applied directly, something the ECJ rejected before adoption of the SEA, ⁹²² but following the entry into force of the SEA such direct application of Article 49 ECT could now be based on Article 49 in connection with Article 14 ECT. ⁹²³
- On the other hand, the freedom to provide services in maritime transport could be restricted (further) by modifying existing or adopting new secondary legislation. In this regard, it needs to be borne in mind that the liberalisation duty programmatically set out by Article 14 ECT implies that the principle of freedom to provide services in the area of sea transport cannot be retroactively revoked. New restrictions, as a rule, will have to observe the boundaries established by Articles 49 *et seq.* ECT, which acquire great importance in the transport sector notwithstanding the lack of direct application. The Community legislator must exercise its discretion under Article 80 (2) ECT with a view to the basic principles set out in Articles 49 and 50. P25

Against this backdrop, an assumption that the Community legislator may rescind or restrict the freedom to provide services in the area of maritime transport set out in secondary legislation by adoption of new legislation cannot be sustained.

Basedow, ArchVR 1994, 457; see also Farantouris, European Integration, 210; cautiously affirmative Aussant,
 EurTranspR 1993, 348. Moreover, the SEA resulted in the unanimity requirement in the Council under Article
 80 (2) being replaced by the principle of qualified majority.

⁹²² ECJ, Case 49/89 (Corsica Ferries), ECR 1989, 4441, Annot. 10 et sqq.

Basedow, ArchVR 1994, 457 und 460. See also Farantouris, European Integration, 206 and, with further references, Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 103 et sqq.

⁹²⁴ Cf. with further references Epiney/Gruber, Verkehrsrecht, 101 et sqq.

Frohnmeyer/Mückenhausen-*Hering*, ECTR 41, Annot. 16.

Before this problem can acquire relevance, however, it needs to be affirmed that legislation introducing a user charge would somehow collide with the principle of freedom to provide services. First, therefore, a clarification is needed as to the extent to which the principle of freedom to provide services applies to maritime transport (b) and the extent to which said principle precludes – or otherwise imposes constraints on – the introduction of user charges (c).

b.) Scope and Application of the Freedom to Provide Services in Maritime Transport

Pursuant to Article 1 (1) of Regulation 4055/86, the freedom to provide maritime transport services between Member States and third countries applies in respect of nationals of Member States who are established in a Member State other than that of the person for whom the services are intended. Article 1 (2) extends the personal scope of the Regulation to nationals of the Member States and to shipping companies established outside the Community and controlled by nationals of a Member State, if their vessels are registered in that Member State in accordance with its legislation.

Two inferences can be drawn from these provisions:

- For one, the principle of freedom to provide services is extended to international maritime transport, 926 but not to services provided within a Member State, 927 with Article 1 (3) of Regulation 4055/86, furthermore, declaring Articles 45 to 48 ECT applicable to maritime transport. In addition, Article 8 of Regulation 4055/86 provides that, without prejudice to the provisions of the Treaty relating to right of establishment, anyone providing a maritime transport service may, in order to do so, temporarily pursue his activity in the Member State where the service is provided, under the same conditions as are imposed by that State on its own nationals. It follows that Member States may not draw on establishment as a criterion for the right to provide services. 928
- What is more, these provisions define the personal scope of application of the freedom to provide services. In this regard, the ECJ has ruled that Article 1 (1) of Regulation 4055/86 defines the beneficiaries of the freedom to provide maritime transport services between in terms which are substantially the same as those used in Article 49 ECT. 929

Against this legal backdrop, the ECJ has also held that Regulation 4055/86 thus renders applicable to the sphere of maritime transport between Member States the totality of the Treaty rules

See also *Aussant*, EurTranspR 1993, 349.

⁹²⁷ Cf. on this issue II. infra.

⁹²⁸ Riccomagno, EurTranspR 1997, 544.

ECJ, Case C-381/93 (Commission/France) ECR 1994, I-5145, Annot. 10; zum persönlichen Anwendungsbereich *cf.* also *Aussant*, EurTranspR 1993, 353; *Greaves*, EC Transport Law, 71, *Farantouris*, European Integration, 229.

governing the freedom to provide services. ⁹³⁰ It can hardly come as a surprise, then, that the ECJ has applied its case-law on Articles 49 *et sqq*. ECT to maritime transport. ⁹³¹ Ultimately, the fact that Regulation 4055/86 precedes, as it were, the Treaty provisions on freedom to provide services. ⁹³²

With the expiration of the deadlines set out in Article 2 of Regulation 4055/86 relating to the phase-out of interim provisions at the latest on 1 January 1993, one may join the standing case-law of the ECJ and assume that a **prohibition of restriction** also applies to the freedom to provide services in the area of maritime transport.⁹³³ Accordingly, *e.g.*, national legislation which has the effect of making the provision of services between Member States more difficult than the provision of services purely within one Member State is prohibited.⁹³⁴ Not only discrimination based on nationality is at issue, but rather the elimination of all restrictions – even if the apply equally to domestic and other providers of services – rendering the provision of services more difficult or less attractive and thus infringing upon the freedom to provide services.⁹³⁵ Nevertheless, in keeping with the general doctrine of fundamental freedoms, substantive discrimination and restrictions may also be justified by **compelling reasons of public interest** in the area of maritime transport, provided they satisfy the requirements of proportionality.⁹³⁶ In the case-law relating to fundamental freedoms, environmental protection has already been recognized as as a legitimate common interest for purposes of justification by the ECJ.⁹³⁷

A violation of the freedom to provide services was recognized by the ECJ e.g. in relation to harbour charges which differ according to whether a journey is undertaken within one Member State or between Member States. Varying harbour charges may be justified by compelling reasons of public interest; criteria relating to the distance or geographical location of the port of destination may not, in themselves, justify varying harbour charges, however. Objective justification of varying charges was recognized by the ECJ in the Nedlloyd case. This case involved a

ECJ, Case C-381/93 (Commission/France), Annot. 13; ECJ, Case C-430 und 431/99 (Nedlloyd), ECR 2002, I-5235, Annot. 31; see also Frohnmeyer/Mückenhausen-*Hering*, ECTR 41, Annot. 27.

⁹³¹ *Cf. e.g.* ECJ, Case C-381/93 (Commission/France), ECR 1994, I-5145, Annot. 16.

⁹³² *Cf. Epiney*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot. 463.

ECJ, Case 288/89 (Gouda), ECR 1991, I-4007, Annot. 16 *et sqq*.; Case C-381/93 (Commission/France), Annot. 17; ECJ, Case C-70/99 (Commission/Portugal), ECR 2001, I-4845, Annot. 27; ECJ, Case C-295/00 (Commission/Italy), ECR 2002, I-1737, Annot. 10 *et sqq*.; ECJ, Case C-435/00 (Geha Naftiliaki), ECR 2002, I-10615, Annot. 20 *et sqq*.; ECJ, Case C-430 and 431/99 (Nedlloyd), ECR 2002, I-5235, Annot. 32; *Epiney*, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hdb. EU-WirtschaftsR, L, Annot. 463.

⁹³⁴ ECJ, Case C-381/93 (Commission/France), ECR 1994, I-5145, Annot. 17.

⁹³⁵ ECJ, Cases C-430 and 431/99 (Nedlloyd), ECR 2002, I-5235, Annot. 32, 38.

On these general principles, see already *supra*.

See, notably, ECJ, Case 302/86 (Commission/Denmark), ECR 1988, 4607, Annot. 9, and Case C-379/98 (Preussen Elektra/Schleswag AG) ECR 2001, I-2099.

⁹³⁸ ECJ, C-435/00 (Geha Naftiliaki), ECR 2002, I-10615, Annot. 20 et sqq.

⁹³⁹ ECJ, Case 430/99 und 431/99 (Nedlloyd), ECR 2002, I-5235.

vessel traffic services system that provided for payment of a tariff by sea-going vessels longer than 41 metres, but not by inland waterway vessels. After the ECJ had concluded that this system constituted no discrimination, ⁹⁴⁰ but affirmed an infringement upon the freedom to provide services, ⁹⁴¹ it justified the measure as follows:

"42 Vessel traffic services supplied within the framework of the VTS system constitute a nautical service essential to the maintainence of public security in coastal waters as well as in ports, and the VTS tariff to which sea-going vessels longer than 41 metres are subject, as users of that service, contributes to the general interest in public security in those waters.

43 Lastly, as regards proportionality, the VTS system, in that it requires the payment of a VTS tariff by sea-going vessels longer than 41 metres, fulfils that criterion in so far as there is in fact a correlation between the cost of the service from which those vessels benefit and the amount of that tariff. This would not be the case where that amount included cost factors chargeable to categories of ships other than sea-going vessels longer than 41 metres, such as, in particular, inland waterway vessels."

c.) Conclusions for User Charges

The starting point of this analysis was the **subsidiarity** of the freedom to provide services with respect to other fundamental freedoms (Article 50 (1) ECT). In Part 2, C. V. 1., a product bearing was recognized for a variety of different user charge models, with the consequence that the provisions relating to the free movement of goods applied. Likewise for the freedom of establishment. To the extent that these models are drawn on in the context of the freedom to provide maritime services, the analysis regarding that freedom can only be understood as a contingent assessment.

Against the foregoing legal background and the pertinent case-law of the ECJ, the following conclusions can be inferred regarding the admissibility of user charges: given that the principle of freedom to provide services applies as a general prohibition of restriction, as a rule, every addition of financial burden imposed on the provision of services between Member States and between Member States and third states infringes upon the prohibition set out in Article 49 ECT in connection with Regulation 4055/86. Any financial compensation duty affecting the provision of services has the capacity of rendering the exercise of the freedom to provide services between Member States and between Member States and third states less attractive. What is more, the introduction of user charges could incur indirect discrimination.

That would be the case, for instance, if internal navigation routes generally operated by domestic providers are subjected to a disproportionately low charge relative to routes between Member States primarily operated by foreign providers.

Accordingly, the options for justification of such infringement have to be addressed, differentiating the different points of references of conceivable models of user charges. A user charge linked to the

⁹⁴⁰ ECJ, Case 430/99 und 431/99 (Nedlloyd), ECR 2002, I-5235, Annot. 33.

⁹⁴¹ ECJ, Case 430/99 und 431/99 (Nedlloyd), ECR 2002, I-5235, Annot. 38.

consumption of fuel could be justified by the coherence of domestic fiscal systems⁹⁴² and considerations of environmental protection. If reference is made to emissions, one may again draw on the protection of the environment. 943 A more divergent picture arises with regard to charges for the use of harbours: in principle, these may also be justified by recourse to environmental protection. A more complex question relates to the permissible criteria for varying charges. On this issue, the ECJ has ruled that a criterion solely relating to the distance or geographical location of the port of destination may not, in itself, justify varying harbour charges.⁹⁴⁴ It should be added, however, that in the case decided by the ECJ, parties have not submitted that the varying charges were motivated by reasons of environmental policy, where the greater environmental impact of longer journeys could be reflected in varying charge rates. Instead, said case involved charges which varied in accordance with whether a journey was undertaken within one Member State only or between Member States.⁹⁴⁵ By contrast, a system of varying harbour charges calculated on the basis of objective ecological criteria should satisfy the requirements of justification. Analogous considerations apply with regard to a toll on the distance traveled as well as a time-based charge. As for the test of proportionality, reference can be made to the observations already presented in connection with the freedom of establishment.⁹⁴⁶ In the light of the freedom to provide services, one may thus assume the compatibility of an environmentally motivated charge with Community law, provided it satisfies the requirements of proportionality and – if the need arises – the fundamental rights of the Community. 947 Aside from restrictions in respect of the conceivable points of reference of user charges and their subjection to the principle of proportionality, the freedom to provide services gives rise to no further substantive requirements.

d.) Conclusion

By way of conclusion, it can thus be affirmed that potential infringements upon the freedom to provide services – which is subsidiary to the other fundamental freedoms – as a consequence of user charges will typically be justified by the legitimate objective they pursue, which constitutes a compelling reasons of public interest. Based on this conclusion, no answer is needed for the question as to whether the Community legislature would have the power to partially resend the legislative freedom to provide services in the area of maritime transport.

⁹⁴² Cf. ECJ, Case C-204/90 (Bachmann), ECR 1992, I-249.

Cf., however, on both models the observations under IV. On the significance of environmental protection as a compelling reason of public interest, see already Part 1, III. 1. b) bb) *supra*.

⁹⁴⁴ ECJ, Case C-435/00 (Geha Naftiliaki), ECR 2002, I-10615, Annot. 28.

⁹⁴⁵ ECJ, Case C-435/00 (Geha Naftiliaki), ECR 2002, I-10615, Annot. 19.

⁹⁴⁶ See Part 1, III. 1. b) bb).

On this issue, see already *supra* in Part 1, III. 1. b) bb).

2. Maritime Cabotage

After cabotage had been traditionally reserved to nationals for reasons of state sovereignty, Regulation 3577/92 finally opened up this area to the free provision of services. Article 1 (1) of Regulation 3577/92 defines maritime cabotage as provision of "maritime transport services within a Member State", whereas Article 2 (1) of Regulation 3577/92 lists different types of cabotage by way of example. After the last derogation clauses expired on 1 January 2004 (Articles 3 and 6 of Regulation 3577/92), the principle of freedom to provide services also extends to maritime transport within a Member State (Article 1 (1) of Regulation 3577/92). Going beyond the provisions of Regulation 4055/86 regarding registration, Article 1 (1) Regulation 3577/92 provides that only ships complying with all conditions for carrying out cabotage in the state of registration may enjoy freedom to provide services in the area of cabotage.

In conclusion, it can be affirmed that the liberalization of maritime cabotage has also subjected measures only affecting maritime transport within a Member State to the principle of freedom to provide services. As a consequence, even user charges which merely **address maritime transport services within a Member State** would have to be measured against **the f**reedom to provide services; as for the substantive outcome, one may refer to the observations in the preceding section.

3. Further Elements of the 1986 Liberalization Package

Regulation 4056/86 laying down detailed rules on the application of Articles 85 and 86 (now Articles 81 and 82) of the Treaty to maritime transport places international maritime transport within the context of the Treaty rules on competition, notably Articles 81 and 82 ECT. ⁹⁵⁰ Article 81 (1) ECT forbids agreements between undertakings, decisions by associations of undertakings and concerted practices which may affect trade between Member States and which have as their object or effect the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition within the common market. The legal consequence set out under Article 81 (2) is automatic voidance of any prohibited agreements or decisions, whereas Article 81 (3) provides for the inapplicability in certain cases of the prohibition in Article 81 (1) ECT. By contrast, Article 82 ECT prohibits any abuse of a dominant position within the common market or in a substantial part of it. Both provisions are extended to the area of international maritime transport by Regulation 4056/86 and further specified for that sector.

A detailed analysis of the scope of this Regulation is obviated in the case of an introduction of user charges on global environmental goods. For these regularly constitute sovereign measures which

Basedow, ArchVR 1994, 453; Farantouris, European Integration, 264 et sqq.; Riccomagno, EurTranspR 1993,
 377; Frohnmeyer/Mückenhausen-Hering, ECTR 42, Annot. 6 et sqq.

⁶⁴⁹ Cf. also Riccomagno, EurTranspR 1993, 372; Power, EC Shipping Law, 223; Farantouris, European Integration, 277.

⁹⁵⁰ Cf. Article 1 of Regulation 4056/86; see also Frohnmeyer/Mückenhausen-Hering, ECTR 44, Annot. 13.

are precisely not imposed on the basis of an agreement between market participants are unilaterally abusive behaviour: the rules on competition set out in Articles 81 and 82 ECT are thus not applicable. A different conclusion, however, may be inferred from the case-law of the ECJ regarding competition. In Vlaamse Reisebureaus, for instance, the ECJ recognized that while Article 81 ECT, in particular, concerned the conduct of undertakings and not laws or regulations of the Member States, the EC-Treaty nevertheless imposed a duty on Member States not to adopt or maintain in force any measure which could deprive those provisions of their effectiveness. That would be the case, in particular, if a Member State were to require or favour the adoption of agreements, decisions or concerted practices contrary to Article 81 or to reinforce their effects. 951 Only in the hardly practicable situation that the introduction of a user charge occurred in a manner leaving the determination of prices of maritime transport services to autonomous negotiations by market participants, and then declaring such determination mandatory by Member States are the Community, for instance, could a violation of Article 10 ECT in connection with Regulation 4056/86 in connection with Article 81 ECT be conceived of. Article 82 ECT might acquire relevance if a public undertaking in the sense of Article 86 ECT owned and operated a harbour, affording it a dominant position within a substantial part of the common market. In such a situation, the Member State would not be allowed to promote this dominant market position by imposing high mandatory harbour fees. For instance, the ECJ considered it a violation of Article 82 in connection with Article 86 (1) ECT to impose a statutory 40% import surcharge on a general duty levied on goods loaded, unloaded, or otherwise taken on board or landed within ports.⁹⁵²

The substantive scope of **Regulation 4057/86** on unfair pricing practices in maritime transport is governed by its Article 1, pursuant to which this Regulation lays down the procedure to be followed in order to respond to unfair pricing practices by certain third country shipowners engaged in international cargo liner shipping. Given that this legislation thus relates to certain practices of third country shipowners, it is not of relevance within the context of this study, thereby obviating further analysis.

Regulation 4058/86 concerning coordinated action to safeguard free access to cargoes in ocean trades provides for procedures applicable when action by a third country or by its agents restricts or threatens to restrict free access by shipping companies of Member States or by ships registered in a Member State in accordance with its legislation (Article 1 of Regulation 4058/68). Substantively, thus, this Regulation governs restrictions by third states and is geared towards facilitating "coordinated action" of Member States by way of diplomatic measures (Article 4 (1) lit. a) or counter-measures (Article 4 (1) lit. b). From this scope, it follows that Regulation 4058/86 does not apply to potential restrictions of free access to maritime transport services by Community and Member State measures. **Again, further analysis is obviated within the context of this study**.

⁹⁵¹ ECJ, Case 311/85 (Vlaamse Reisebureaus), ECR 1987, 3801, Annot. 10.

ECJ, Case C-242/95 (GT-Link), ECR 1997, I-4449, Annot. 28 *et sqq*.; on this issue, see also *van Hooydonk*, in: van Hooydonck, European Seaports Law, 115.

⁹⁵³ In detailed on this issue *Farantouris*, European Integration, 253et sqq.

4. Secondary Legislation relating to Taxation of Shipping Fuel

a.) Scope of Application

The starting point for an analysis of fiscal rules can be found in Directive 92/81, which harmonizes excise duties on mineral oils in the Member States (Article 1 (1) of Directive 92/81). Pursuant to Article 8 (1) (c) of Directive 92/81, Member States have to exempt mineral oils supplied for use as fuel for the purposes of navigation within Community waters (including fishing) from the harmonized excise duty. This does not apply to mineral oil used for private pleasure craft. 954

By contrast to the mandatory provision of Article 8 (1) (c), Member States **may** apply total or partial exemptions or reductions in the rate of duty to mineral oils used under fiscal control for **navigation on inland waterways** other than for private pleasure craft (Article 8 (2) (b)).

Pursuant to Article 30 of Council Directive 2003/96/EC of 27 October 2003 restructuring the Community framework for the taxation of energy products and electricity, 955 Directive 92/81 was repealed on 31 December 2003. Substantively, however, the exceptions set out by Directive 92/81 are perpetuated by Directive 2003/96. In comparison to the repealed to mineral oil tax directive, Directive 2003/96 possesses a wider scope of application to energy products – and not only mineral oil. 956 Specifically, Article 14 of Directive 2003/96 contains an almost identical exemption to the provision contained in Article 8 (1) of the mineral oil tax directive. Pursuant to Article 14 (2) of Directive 2003/96, Member States may limit the scope of this exemption to international and intra-Community transport. Furthermore, they may waive the exemption where a Member State has entered into a bilateral agreement with another Member State. 957 Likewise, Article 15 (1) (f) of Directive 2003/96 contains a discretionary provision akin to Article 8 (2) (b) of the mineral oil tax directive, allowing Member States to apply total or partial exemptions or reductions in the level of taxation to energy products supplied for use as fuel for navigation on inland waterways. Recital (23) of Directive 2003/96 clarifies that it is advisable to continue the exemptions of energy products supplied for air navigation and sea navigation, other than for private pleasure purposes, while it should be possible for Member States to limit these exemptions.

Against this background in secondary legislation, the concept of private pleasure craft, which do not enjoy tax exemptions, requires further definition.

This includes craft used by its owner or the natural or legal person who enjoys its use either through hire or through any other means, for other than commercial purposes and in particular other than for the carriage of passengers or goods or for the supply of services for consideration or for the purposes of public authorities.

⁹⁵⁵ OJ 2003 L 283, 51.

⁹⁵⁶ *Cf.* Recitals (1) and (2) of Directive 2003/96.

In the course of the following analysis, it will be assumed that no such bilateral agreements exist.

The scope of the exemption in Article 8 (1) (c) of Directive 92/81 recently featured in proceedings before the ECJ relating to a preliminary ruling in the case of *Deutsche See-Bestattungs-Genossenschaft e.G.* ⁹⁵⁸. Given the analogous structure of the respective provisions in Directive 2003/96, notably of Article 14 of Directive 2003/96, and the parallel object and purpose of both directives, ⁹⁵⁹ the observations of the ECJ can also be applied to to interpretation of Directive 2003/96.

Pursuant to the case-law of the ECJ, any navigation activity of a commercial nature is covered by the tax exemption, regardless of the purpose of of the trip in question. ⁹⁶⁰ Consequently, the exemption under Article 14 der Directive 2003/96 may not be circumvented by strict interpretation of the concept of commercial navigation.

b.) Conclusions for User Charges

As affirmed earlier, a variety of different points of reference are, in principle, conceivable for user charges, notably the use of (port) facilities, emissions caused, the consumption of fuel, the distance travelled and the period of time during which the environmental good is used. From the perspective of fuel taxation and exemptions from such taxation required by Community law, fees imposed on use of facilities give rise to no concern, provided they are in no way linked to the consumption of fuel. Conversely, "harbour fees" would no longer qualify as fees on the use of infrastructures if they effectively referred to the distance traveled or pollutants emitted, with the harbour merely acting as the location at which the fee is collected. Such models would be subject to the considerations outlined in the following section with regard to distance-, time- and emissions-based charges as well as charges linked to the consumption of fuel. All of these variations are characterized by a more or less distinct connection to fuel consumption, a fact which might impede the introduction of such user charges from the point of view of Community law.

When seeking to answer this question, the ECJ judgment in the *Braathens Sverige*⁹⁶¹ case acquires particular importance. In this case, the Court had to determine the compatibility of fuel taxes with pertinent legislation on air traffic. Given that the exemption from harmonized excise duties for aircraft fuel under Article 8 (1) (b) of Directive 92/81/EEC (and nowadays Directive 2003/96) is

ECJ, Case C-389/02 (Deutsche See-Bestattungs-Genossenschaft e.G.), judgment of 1 April 2004, not yet reported.

In this regard, see Recital (3) of Directive 92/81, pursuant to which it is important to the proper functioning of the internal market to determine common definitions for all mineral oil products which shall be subject to the general excise monitoring system, and Recital (5), pursuant to which it is necessary to lay down certain obligatory exemptions at Community level. Correspondingly, Recital (3) of Directive 2003/96 declares that the proper functioning of the internal market and the achievement of the objectives of other Community policies require minimum levels of taxation to be laid down at Community level for most energy products. Recital (23), moreover, consider it advisable to continue the exemptions of energy products (in this regard, see above in the main text).

ECJ, Case C-389/02 (Deutsche See-Bestattungs-Genossenschaft e.G.), Annot. 28.

⁹⁶¹ ECJ, Case C-346/97 (Braathens Sverige), ECR 1999, I-3419.

analogous to that for shipping fuel, the observations of the ECJ are directly transferable to the questions addressed within this context. The case involved national legislation imposing an environmental protection tax on domestic commercial aviation calculated on the basis of fuel consumption and emissions of hydrocarbons and nitric oxide. Whereas the rates relating to emissions of hydrocarbons and nitric oxide were calculated sorely based on average emission values, without taking fuel consumption into account, the method of calculation relating to carbon dioxide emissions was a flat-rate calculation based on the average quantity of fuel consumed by an aircraft during standard flight. Submitting this case to the ECJ for a preliminary ruling, the national court, in particular, enquired about the compatibility of such legislation with secondary Community law; more specifically, the court desired to know whether the taxation measures in question could be split up into EC-compatible and EC-incompatible parts, owing to the fact that the tax in question was calculated partly on the basis of fuel consumption and partly on the basis of emissions of hydrocarbons and nitric oxides. The ECJ held that there is a direct and inseverable link between fuel consumption and the emissions of polluting substances. 962 Accordingly, it was irrelevant whether a national charge was directly calculated by reference to fuel consumption, given that – due to this inseverable link – even a charge related to carbon dioxide emissions must be regarded as levied on consumption of the fuel itself. 963 The Court proceeded to referred to the effectiveness of the exemption clause, observing that such effectiveness would be compromised if Member States were allowed to levy another indirect tax on products exempted from harmonised excise duties.⁹⁶⁴

Drawing on this case-law, several conclusions can be inferred with regard to different models of user charges:

- Member States may introduce no charges on **shipping fuel**, given that such fuel is covered by the exemption under Article 14 (1) (c) of Directive 2003/96.
- Determination of when a charge is imposed on fuel may not merely occur mechanically on the basis of the point of reference. The mere fact that a charge is not directly linked to fuel consumption does not necessarily mean that the exemption clause no longer applies. Rather, the ECJ has based its jurisprudence on the existence of a direct and inseverable link between the point of reference and fuel consumption. Based on this judicial practice of the ECJ, such a direct and inseverable link will typically exist when the charge is calculated on the basis of **pollutants emitted**.

This "technical" link between emissions and fuel consumption has been criticized in scholarship – also with a view to the final pleadings of Advocate General Fenelly, who, in *Braathens Sverige*, had assumed that the exemption was not applicable to emissions charges – for a variety of reasons based in primary Community

⁹⁶² ECJ, Case C-346/97 (Braathens Sverige), ECR 1999, I-3419, Annot. 23.

⁹⁶³ ECJ, Case C-346/97 (Braathens Sverige), ECR 1999, I-3419, Annot. 23.

⁹⁶⁴ ECJ, Case C-346/97 (Braathens Sverige), ECR 1999, I-3419, Annot. 24.

law. ⁹⁶⁵ *Inter alia*, the interpretation chosen by the ECJ was censured for not being covered by the legislative basis of the interpreted directive, Article 93 ECT. ⁹⁶⁶ Nonetheless, even critics concede the relevance of the judgment in *Braathens Sverige* for the issue of admissibility of emissions charges.

Accordingly, user charges designed with reference to fuel consumption and emissions are precluded by applicable secondary legislation. Whether the latter might be amended is a question which can only be answered against the background of pertinent international agreements. In the case of user charges imposed on a distance travelled, a **direct link to fuel consumption** might still be affirmed. That would regularly be the case if the charge was imposed proportionally to the distance traveled, and thus – implicitly – also proportionally to the fuel consumed. A direct link with fuel consumption would likely no longer exist in the event of a staggered charge based on different categories of distances travelled, given that this would arguably sever the direct link to fuel consumption. Analogous considerations apply to time-based user charges.

III. Domestic Law

On the level of constitutional law, a number of restrictions, some of which are of substantial relevance, apply to the introduction of environmental user charges also in the context of maritime transport. These have already been described in great detail in Part 2. 969

1. Questions relating to Legislative Powers

From the point of view of legislative powers, it needs to be distinguished whether the charge is based on fiscal legislation or other types of legislation. The particularities of legislative powers relating to taxes have already been addressed in detail. Outside of the area of fiscal legislation, the pertinent provisions relating to legislative powers are a set out in Articles 70 to 75 of the Basic Law. These determine whether and to what extent the federation enjoys the legislative power to introduce charges imposed in return for services and special charges.

Brosthaus, Schneider, Sonnborn *et al.*, Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Flugverkehrs, UBA Forschungsvorhaben 17/2001, 122.

Brosthaus, Schneider, Sonnborn et al., Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung, 122.

⁹⁶⁷ *Cf.* unter I. *supra*.

Cf. also Brosthaus, Schneider, Sonnborn et al., Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Flugverkehrs, UBA Forschungsvorhaben 17/2001, 122, who, aside from severing the link between fuel consumption and an emissions charge, suggest amending pertinent secondary legislation are accepting renewed proceedings before the ECJ in the hope that the Court might reconsider its position.

⁹⁶⁹ See *supra*, Part 2, D. I. 1. and D. II.

⁹⁷⁰ See *supra*, Part 2, D. I. 1. d).

When it comes to assigning a measure to the individual provisions setting out substantive competences, the objectives pursued by the legislator with its measure usually determines classification. ⁹⁷¹

Under the Basic Law, the federation enjoys (concurrent) legislative power, under the conditions set out in Article 72 (2) of the Basic Law, for, *inter alia*, the area of air pollution (**Article 74 (1) No. 11 of the Basic Law**), which may also be exercised for purposes of climate policy with the aim of protecting the atmosphere against negative impacts of air pollution (for instance by greenhouse gases).

The Basic Law does not, however, contain a general competence of the federation for the area of environmental protection and the achievement of environmental objectives. With a view to water resources management and nature conservation, in particular, **Article 75 (1) No. 3 and 4 of the Basic Law** merely afford the federation the power to adopt federal framework legislation. Pursuant to Article 75 (2) of the Basic Law, in turn, such framework legislation may only contain detailed or directly applicable provisions in exceptional circumstances.

Other than that, **Article 74 (1) No. 21 of the Basic Law** affords the federation (concurrent) legislative power for the adoption of measures on maritime and coastal shipping, as well as navigational aids, inland navigation, meteorological services, sea routes, and inland waterways used for general traffic. This also includes the power to introduce charges for their use. ⁹⁷²

Against this backdrop, at any rate, it cannot be generally assumed that the federation enjoys the legislative power to establish a comprehensive system for the **management of the marine environment**. While such a management system generally appears admissible for the area of air pollution, its extension to protection of the marine environment would only be possible to the extent allowed for by Article 75 of the Basic Law.

In its recent case-law, the Federal Constitutional Court clearly affirmed that the requirements of Article 75 (2) of the Basic Law need to be interpreted respectively. According to the Court, detailed or directly applicable provisions of the federation in framework legislation have to 973

"necessary in a qualified manner. An exception thus applies, on the one hand, when the framework rules could not be reasonably adopted without detailed or directly applicable provisions, rendering these quite simply indispensable. Such detailed or directly applicable rules may not, on the other hand, altogether compromise the cooperative character of framework legislation."

The regulatory purpose is usually decisive for assignment to the competence provisions of the Basic Law. *Cf.* only *Pieroth*, in: Jarass/Pieroth, GG, Article 70 Annot. 4 with further references.

⁹⁷² *Cf. Pieroth*, in: Jarass/ Pieroth, GG, Article 74 Annot. 49.

Federal Constitutional Court Reports 111, 226 ("Juniorprofessur"), para. 94 (translation by the author).

The Court held its to be decisive that "provisions adopted under Article 75 (2) of the Basic Law have to a law, also with a view to their substantive bearing, room for a distinct influence of the federate *Land* legislator when implementing the framework legislation."

This does not necessarily imply that the federation has no power whatsoever to establish a comprehensive management system for the entire marine environment. Pursuant to Article 75 (2) of the Basic Law, the federal legislator is merely held to leave significant discretionary powers to the Länder in the respective legislation, at least to the extent that the ocean falls within the sovereignty of the latter in the territorial sea. If the environmental user charge proves to be only one element conclusively regulated by the federation in a law otherwise geared towards being implemented and elaborated by the Länder, it would indeed be conceivable to create federal legislation on a management system in the guise of a framework law. As an element of such legislation, the environmental user charge may not then appear as the dominant regulatory instruments alongside other rules on nature conservation and permissible uses of the marine area. Conceived as an individual element, it would seem possible under these conditions to design and environmental user charge geared towards direct application. This may, for one, be justified by the need of a federally harmonized charge to meet the transboundary geographical nature of the problem, and, second, by the fact that the territorial sea is only a small part of the marine area covered by the charge. It is unlikely that, in such a system, apportionment of the proceeds to the federation could be equally justified.

Other than that, Article 74 (1) No. 21 of the Basic Law clarifies that the federation, on principle, has the legislative power to introduce a charge for the **use of navigational waterways**. It bears emphasizing, however, that this competence does not extend to the use of **harbours**. Pursuant to the distribution of powers under the Basic Law, the assessment of harbour fees – and thus also the right to determine the application of revenue – has been generally placed within the power of the *Länder* (Article 30 of the Basic Law).

A different conclusion could only apply if and to the extent that the federation could draw on another legislative power afforded to it. Conceivable, that could be the case if the user charge proved to be part of a comprehensive set of management instruments permissibly based on a combination of the power relating to air pollution (Article 74 (1) No. 24 of the Basic Law) and the powers to adopt framework legislation on nature protection (Article 75 (1) No. 3 of the Basic Law) and water resources (Article 75 (1) No. 4 of the Basic Law).

A different situation relating to legislative powers from that on harbour fees applies to **navigational** aids. These are included under Article 74 (1) No. 21 of the Basic Law. On this basis, the federation

⁹⁷⁴ *Ibid.* (translation by the author).

Explicitly with a view to internal ports Federal Constitutional Court Reports 2, 347 (376); *cf. Pieroth*, in: Jarass/Pieroth, GG, Article 74 Annot. 49 with further references.

has adopted the Navigational Aids Act (*Seelotsengesetz*, SLG). Pursuant to paragraph 45 SLG, charges are imposed on the use of navigational aids, with the acts distinguishing between charges on the use of navigational aid facilities (*Lotsabgaben*) and charges on the use of navigational aid services (*Lotsgelder*). A federal ordinance sets out more specific provisions.

2. Provisions of Sub-Constitutional Law

Beneath the level of constitutional law, attention must be accorded to the provisions of the Mineral Oil Taxation Act (*Mineralölsteuergesetzes*, MinöStG), which largely exempts shipping fuel from taxation (*cf.* paragraph 4 (1) No. 4 MinöStG). This exemption is based on provisions set out under Community law, and can only be repealed or modified to the extent allowed for under Community law (notably Article 14 (1) and (2) of Directive 2003/96/EC)⁹⁷⁷ as well as potential commitments of international law.⁹⁷⁸ Purely from the point of view of German law, such amendment would be readily possible.

Otherwise, sub-constitutional law does not contain any discernible restrictions specifically precluding the introduction of new charges (as environmental user charges) in the area of shipping.

B. Aviation (Ecologic)

As already shown in the first part, aviation is the **fastest-growing source** of greenhouse gases. Nonetheless, there has been **no success** on the international level and – as a consequence – within the European Community and its Member States to adopt a **comprehensive approach** to the reduction of environmental impacts of air travel. Article 2.2 of the **Kyoto Protocol** to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, the definitive international arrangement in the area of climate change, merely provides that It he Parties included in Annex I shall pursue limitation or reduction of emissions of greenhouse gases not controlled by the Montreal Protocol from aviation ... working through the **International Civil Aviation Organization**. Other than that,

Gesetz über das Seelotsenwesen – Seelotsengesetz – of 13 September 1984 (Federal Gazette I 1213), last amended by legislation of 21 August 2002 (Federal Gazette with him to you I 3322).

⁹⁷⁷ See *supra*, Part 3, A. II. 5.

⁹⁷⁸ See *supra*, Part 3, B.I.

Only a small group of states has so far adopted measures on domestic aviation for *inter alia* environmental reasons; according to the European Commission, for instance, the Netherlands have introduced a kerosene tax of €200 per 1000 litres of aircraft fuel, Japan of €239 per 1000 litres, and the United States of €6 per 1000 litres on the federal level, as well as up to €24 per 1000 litres on the level of individual federate states, cf. European Commission, SEC(2005) 467, *supra*, note 72, at 14.

Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Kyoto Protocol), Kyoto,
 December 10, 1997, in force February 16, 2005, 37 International Legal Materials (1998), at 22.

the Kyoto Protocol sets out no binding requirements, specifically no quantitative emissions reduction targets: currently, only domestic aviation is covered by the general reduction targets imposed on Annex I Parties. As for the emissions of international aviation, Parties are merely reporting for purposes of information.

In the run-up to the Kyoto Protocol, the UNFCCC Subsidiary Body on Scientific and Technological Advice (SBSTA) had already identified various options for including the greenhouse gas emissions of aviation and shipping in the climate change regime. A central demand it voiced was for the allocation of **emissions quotas** to international air and sea traffic in accordance with a variety of criteria. The rapid growth and transboundary nature of aviation – an impediment for ambitious unilateral measures, given the character of current international competition – prevented any notable progress, however.

Another way of bringing the climate impact of aviation to bear on cost accounting (as called for by the polluter-pays principle) would be to introduce **user charges.** For the aviation sector, the following **design options** are available:

- landing and airport fees;
- user charges linked to emissions (emissions fees);
- user charges increasing the price of airfares (ticket fees);
- user charges linked to kerosene consumption;
- distance-based user charges.

These design options will be outlined in greater detail in the following sections, taking account of applicable rules of public international law, Community law and German constitutional law.

I. International Law

1. General International Law

States enjoy **complete and exclusive sovereignty** over their territorial airspace. Article 1 of the Convention on International Civil Aviation (**Chicago Convention**) of December 7, 1944, sets out

See Oberthür and Ott, *The Kyoto Protocol: International Climate Policy for the 21st Century*, at 111 et seq.

Brownlie, *Principles of Public International Law*, 6th ed., at 115, with reference to the principle of *cujus est solum est usque ad caelum et ad inferos*; Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 120 *et sqq*.; Dahm, Delbrück and Wolfrum, *Völkerrecht*, Vol. I/1, at 438 *et seq*.; Jennings and Watts, *Oppenheim's International Law*, Vol. I, at 572 *et seq*.; the debate on whether the upper airspace bordering on outer space falls within the scope of this principle is irrelevant here, given that all areas currently used by civil aviation are undoubtedly covered, see generally Cheng, *Encyclopedia of International Law* (EPIL),Vol. 1, at 68. On the earlier legal framework, see McNair, *The Law of the Air*, 3rd ed., at 4 *et seq*.

Convention on International Civil Aviation (Chicago Convention), Montreal, December 7, 1944, 15 *United Nations Treaty Series* (1944), at 295.

this principle of customary international law by stating that the "contracting States recognize that every State has complete and exclusive sovereignty over the airspace above its territory." Accordingly, each state alone **determines the right** of other states to pass through its airspace.⁹⁸⁴ Territorial sovereignty also covers the airspace above territorial waters, which, according to Article 3 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), ⁹⁸⁵ stretch 12 miles into the sea. Pursuant to Article 58 of UNCLOS, however, the airspace above the **Exclusive Economic Zone** (EEZ) – ranging 200 nautical miles from the shoreline pursuant to Article 57 of UNCLOS – must be open for air traffic, provided such traffic does not infringe on the rights of states regarding their Economic Zones.⁹⁸⁶ **Complete freedom of air travel** exists only in airspace which is not subject to any form of national sovereignty, notably the airspace above **international waters**.⁹⁸⁷

The regulation of airspace and its use has largely occurred through **bilateral agreements**. Due to the greater simplicity and speedier conclusion afforded by bilateral legislation, international aviation – with its susceptibility to changing market conditions – has also been largely regulated through bilateral agreements. Requirements arising from customary international law, themselves mostly originating in international treaties, have lost importance due to the principle of *pacta sunt servanda* and national commitments based on international treaties, even though they are generally affirmed by the respective treaties. The air sovereignty described earlier is limited by certain basic freedoms of the air, including freedoms of movement established in two agreements annexed to the Chicago Convention. These freedoms comprise the right to fly over a country or to make a technical landing. The third, fourth, and fifth freedoms, which concern the **transport of passengers and cargo**, could be of particular relevance for the legal design of a user charge. As the Chicago Convention clarifies in several provisions, however, these freedoms do

Cheng, The Law of International Air Transport, 122; Doehring, Allgemeine Staatslehre, 3rd ed., Annot. 546.

United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), Montego Bay, December 10, 1982, 21 *International Legal Materials* (1982), at 1261.

See Doehring, *Allgemeine Staatslehre*, 3rd ed., annot. 546; Cheng, *EPIL*, Vol. 1, at 68.

See, for instance, Article 87 (1) (b) of UNLOS, which sets out the freedom of passage.

⁹⁸⁸ Ipsen, *Völkerrecht*, at 784.

See, in particular, the *SS Wimbledon* case decided by the PCIJ, *France*, *Italy*, *Japan and the United Kingdom* v. *Germany – SS Wimbledon*, P.C.I.J. [1923] (Ser. A) No. 1, at 2.

⁹⁹⁰ See Cheng, *EPIL*, Vol. 1, at 67.

On this issue, cf. Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 8 et sqq.; Diederiks-Verschoor, *An Introduction to Air Law*, at 12 et seq.

not apply unconditionally. The imposition of fees and other charges, in particular, is dealt with by the Chicago Convention itself and will be covered in a separate section. 993

Beyond the territory of states, aircraft are subject to the **exclusive sovereignty** of the state in which they are registered. 994 To the extent that foreign aircraft are to be subjected to legal obligations in international airspace, therefore, the prohibition of extraterritorial jurisdiction prevents third states from doing so. 995 Within the sovereign territory of third states, however, the jurisdiction of that state competes with that of the state in which the aircraft is registered. 996 There is no uniform approach to such incidences of competing jurisdiction in state practice, and international law does not provide a compulsory solution. 997 Both forms of jurisdiction take precedence over that of states whose nationals are being transported by the aircraft in question. 998 Other than that, however, only such rules apply which have been explicitly agreed upon by way of an international treaty or recognised as customary international law, that is, general practice accepted as law, or which are reflected in general principles of international law.

Although it follows that the rules of general international law **do not, in principle, preclude** the introduction of user charges, this conclusion only applies unreservedly to user charges imposed on the use of airspace above the sovereign territory of the collecting states. It also applies to the airspace above the territorial waters of said state, but does not include the Exclusive Economic Zone

See, *e.g.*, Article 9 of the Chicago Convention, which sets allows restrictions for reasons of military necessity and public safety:

[&]quot;Each contracting State may, for reasons of military necessity or public safety, restrict or prohibit uniformly the aircraft of other States from flying over certain areas of its territory, provided that no distinction in this respect is made between the aircraft of the State whose territory is involved, engaged in international scheduled airline services, and the aircraft of the other contracting States likewise engaged."

See, *e.g.*, *infra*, the discussion on Articles 15 and 24 of the Chicago Convention.

See Article 17 of the Chicago Convention; Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 128 *et seq.*; Dahm, *Völkerrecht*, Vol. 1, at 720 *et seq.*; Diederiks-Verschoor, *An Introduction to Air Law*, at 32; Doehring, *Allgemeine Staatslehre*, 3rd ed., annot. 550.

See *supra*, Part 2, I.

Unlikely, albeit challenging legal questions would arise if a ground state sought to forbid the collection of user charges for passage through its airspace by the home state of the aircraft.

Brownlie, *Principles of Public International Law*, 6th ed., at 317.

⁹⁹⁸ See Cheng, *EPIL*, Vol. 1, at 69.

See also Article 38 (1) of the Statute of the International Court of Justice; this reflects the *Lotus*-doctrine of unrestricted freedom in areas beyond state sovereignty defined by the Permanent Court of International Justice, PCIJ, *France* v. *Turkey* - *The Case of the S.S. "Lotus"*, P.C.I.J. [1927] (Ser. A) No. 10, at 19.

and the High Seas or other extraterritorial areas. In such areas, a State may only impose user charges on aircraft which are **registered** with that state.¹⁰⁰⁰

2. The 1944 Chicago Convention

The Chicago Convention largely establishes the legal framework of international civil aviation. It has been ratified by 188 Parties, including all Member States of the European Union. Pursuant to Article 96 (a) of the Chicago Convention, the scheduled air services it regulates include "any scheduled air service performed by aircraft for the public transport of passengers, mail or cargo." The wide scope of this convention is merely limited by its Article 3 (1), which states that it applies to civil aircraft only, not to state aircraft, notably vessels used for military, customs and police services. Aside from that, its applicability to particular aspects of aviation is determined by the substantive provisions.

a.) Article 15 of the Chicago Convention

Article 15 of the Chicago Convention sets out the legal framework for access to airports and **fees** imposed thereon:

"Every airport in a contracting State which is open to public use by its national aircraft shall likewise, subject to the provisions of Article 68, be open under uniform conditions to the aircraft of all the other contracting States. The like uniform conditions shall apply to the use, by aircraft of every contracting State, of all air navigation facilities, including radio and meteorological services, which may be provided for public use for the safety and expedition of air navigation.

Any charges that may be imposed or permitted to be imposed by a contracting State for the use of such airports and air navigation facilities by the aircraft of any other contracting State shall not be higher,

- (a) As to aircraft not engaged in scheduled international air services, than those that would be paid by its national aircraft of the same class engaged in similar operations, and
- (b) As to aircraft engaged in scheduled international air services, than those that would be paid by its national aircraft engaged in similar international air services. (...)

No fees, dues or other charges shall be imposed by any contracting State in respect solely of the right of transit over or entry into or exit from its territory of any aircraft of a contracting State or persons or property thereon." ¹⁰⁰¹

aa.) Article 15 (1) and (2) of the Chicago Convention

Article 15 (1) and (2) of the Chicago Convention extend the **principle of national treatment** to **access to airports and other air navigation facilities**. This provision requires that airports and air navigation facilities on the territory of contracting states open to public use by their national aircraft

Upholding the principle that a state retains jurisdiction over its own aircraft and that the laws of the home state continue applying on such aircraft, see Dahm, *Völkerrecht*, Vol. 1, at 722.

The English text is authoritative, along with the Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian and Spanish versions. Translated versions, such as *e.g.* the German version, are not relied upon in this study.

be **equally accessible** to the aircraft of other contracting states under uniform conditions. Likewise, the charges imposed for the use of such airports and air navigation facilities by the aircraft of other contracting states must **equal those** assessed against domestic aircraft. An arbitration panel has interpreted this requirement as precluding both formal and factual discrimination. ¹⁰⁰²

The introduction of a **user charge**, in other words, would only touch on the first part of Article 15 of the Chicago Convention if it was collected by airports themselves. At best, this would affect user charges designed as airport fees or as emissions- or distance-based charges, but not ticket fees collected by airlines, nor kerosene taxes collected by fuel suppliers. With its explicit reference to charges "for the use of ... airports and air navigation facilities", this provision raises doubts as to whether it even applies to user charges aimed at protecting the environment, since these would merely be assessed on the occasion of airport use, but not for the actual use of services rendered there.

With a Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes adopted on December 9, 1996, the Council of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) clarified that "charges" comprise "levies to **defray the costs** of providing facilities and services for civil aviation." Although this interpretation is not legally binding, it should at least indicate the understanding held by the Council if it had to decide on a disagreement under the Convention in its function as dispute settlement body - in which case the opinion of the Council would indeed be binding. It would also gain importance if the ambiguous wording of Article 15 were interpreted in accordance with customary rules of interpretation, which in turn require consideration of the systematic context of a provision, including interpretative guidance by relevant bodies.

United States – United Kingdom, Arbitration Concerning Heathrow Airport User Charges (November 1992),
 discussed in detail by Witten, AJIL (1995), at 174 et sqq.

ICAO, Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, adopted by the Council on December 9, 1996 at the 16th meeting of its 149th session, Recital 5:

[&]quot;Noting that ICAO policies make a distinction between a charge and a tax, in that they regard charges as levies to defray the costs of providing facilities and services for civil aviation, whereas taxes are levies to raise general national and local governmental revenues that are applied for non-aviation purposes."

This view was also reiterated in subsequent Assembly Resolutions, see for instance Recital 9 of Resolution A33-7: Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection. Adopted at the 33nd Session of the Assembly, App. I, available at: http://www.icao.int.

See Article 84 of the Chicago Convention.

The customary rules on treaty interpretation recognized in general practice and accepted as law have been codified in Articles 31 *et seq.* of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT), Vienna, May 22, 1969, in force January 27, 1980, 1155 *UNTS* (1969), at 331 *et sqq*. In this context, attention has to be given in particular to Articles 31 (1) and (2) VCLT:

All this allows for the conclusion that Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention only covers such charges which are systematically and structurally comparable to airport fees. ¹⁰⁰⁶

Even if one were to take the view that Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention applies to user charges on global environmental goods, however, **no discrimination** of foreign air service providers would occur. Rather, the user charge would apply to all air service providers **equally**, depending only on the distance traveled or the volume of emissions, not the nationality of airlines; and only the latter – potentially amounting to preferential treatment of domestic industries – is what Article 15 (2) of the Convention seeks to suppress. Contrary to an occasionally held view, the principle of non-discrimination contained in this provision does not also require that fee levels correspond with the economic burden caused to charging airports. 1008

ab.) Article 15 (2) 3rd Sentence of the Chicago Convention

Also of relevance is the requirement laid out in the 3rd sentence of Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention, according to which "[n]o fees, dues or other charges shall be imposed by any contracting State in respect solely of the right of transit over or entry into or exit from its territory of

- "1. A treaty shall be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in the light of its object and purpose.
- 2. The context for the purpose of the interpretation of a treaty shall comprise, in addition to the text, including its preamble and annexes:
- (a) any agreement relating to the treaty which was made between all the parties in connection with the conclusion of the treaty;
- (b) any instrument which was made by one or more parties in connection with the conclusion of the treaty and accepted by the other parties as an instrument related to the treaty.
- 3. There shall be taken into account, together with the context:
- (a) any subsequent agreement between the parties regarding the interpretation of the treaty or the application of its provisions;
- (b) any subsequent practice in the application of the treaty which establishes the agreement of the parties regarding its interpretation;
- (c) any relevant rules of international law applicable in the relations between the parties.
- 4. A special meaning shall be given to a term if it is established that the parties so intended."
- Pache, *Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen*, at 14: "systematisch und strukturell mit Flughafengebühren vergleichbar".
- This view is shared by Brosthaus et al., Maβnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, at 124.
- On this matter, see Brosthaus *et al.*, *Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs*, at 124; they also submit an additional argument, notably that imposition of a user charge would not be linked to actual airport use, but merely occur on the occasion of landing *at* an airport.

any aircraft of a contracting State or persons or property thereon." With a view to different language versions of the Convention, one may doubt whether the wording "other charges" should be understood to also compromise different forms of user charges, in particular kerosene taxes, ticket fees or emissions- and distance-based user charges. The observation made in the preceding section with regard to Article 15 (2) should also apply here, requiring that "charges" be read as comprising only levies imposed in return for the provision of facilities and services for civil aviation. In this regard, however, the Council of the International Civil Aviation Organization has issued a clarification to the effect that Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention relates to all types of charges and taxes. Olive that statement, it cannot be ruled out that user charges on global environmental goods fall within the ambit of the 3rd sentence of Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention.

As the **wording** itself clarifies through explicit reference to "solely", however, any charges imposed for reasons other than the mere – "sole" – right of transit through foreign airspace (such as the prevention of environmental impacts arising from aviation)¹⁰¹² – are not precluded. The **object and purpose** of this provision is clearly limited to preventing the use of air and territorial sovereignty as a source of income or for protectionist measures. The user charges on global environmental goods discussed in this context aim at the achievement of entirely different objectives: they primarily seek to reduce environmental impacts. Even though the drafters of the Chicago Convention were likely unaware of such regulatory aims at the time of the original negotiations, the text of this provision – which provides the sole decisive criterion in this regard – has been explicitly left open-ended. The wording "solely of the right of transit over or entry into or exit from" leaves no doubts in this regard. If the environmental purpose of the user charge is sufficiently evident, therefore, there is no reason to assume a violation of Article 15 of the Chicago Convention. Since a user charge on air traffic already generates a factual incentive to adopt less

See, also, the French text ("autres redevances") of Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention.

Cited in Brosthaus et al., Maβnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, at 113, note 75.

Cf., however, Pache, *Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen*, at 19 *et sqg.*, who contends that only levies collected *in return* for facilities and services are covered.

That would readily be the case, for instance, with user charges adopted to protect the global climate.

Brockhagen and Lienemeyer, *Proposal for a European Aviation Charge*, at 67; WBGU, *Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter*, at 12.

Brosthaus et al., Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, at 124 et seq.

This conclusion is shared by Brockhagen and Lienemeyer, *Proposal for a European Aviation Charge*, at 67; Brosthaus et al., Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, at 124 et seq.; Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 19 et sqq.; WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 12.

detrimental behaviour, it should suffice if the environmental purpose is adequately highlighted during the preparatory stage, for instance during negotiations or in the legislative process, and is then included in the wording of the pertinent legal provisions (for instance in the preamble).

b.) Article 24 of the Chicago Convention

Article 24 of the Chicago Convention regulates the assessment of **customs duties** and provides for an exemption from duties for any aircraft on a flight to, from, or across the territory of another contracting state. This exemption also covers fuel, lubricating oil, spare parts, and other regular equipment and aircraft stores on board an aircraft upon arrival in the territory of another contracting state and retained on board when leaving the territory of that state:

"(a) Aircraft on a flight to, from, or across the territory of another contracting State shall be admitted temporarily free of duty, subject to the customs regulation of the State. Fuel, lubricating oil, spare parts, regular equipment and aircraft stores on board an aircraft of a contracting State, on arrival in the territory of another contracting State and retained on board on leaving the territory of that State shall be exempt from customs duty, inspection fees or similar national or local duties and charges. (...)"

The term "similar charges" serves as a generic expression for different types of compensation duties. 1016 According to this provision, thus, fuel **carried on board** an aircraft upon arrival and not unloaded before departure may not be taxed. This restriction does not, however, apply to fuel **supplied** in the territory of a contracting state, which is precisely what a kerosene tax modeled after existing mineral oil taxes would regulate. Given the explicit wording of this provision and the customary rules of treaty interpretation, a more expansive interpretation including supplied fuel in the exemption from any customs duties does not appear convincing. Likewise, by merely exempting fuel "on board an aircraft … on arrival … and retained on board on leaving the territory" of another contracting state, this provision does not preclude taxation of the fuel **consumed** in flight. Accordingly, user charges on the consumption of fuel are not ruled out by this provision.

As a matter of principle, therefore, Article 24 of the Chicago Convention does **not preclude** the introduction of user charges on aviation. In particular, it does not forbid user charges linked to other

Brosthaus et al., Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, at 112.

Brosthaus et al., ibid.; Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 23; Meijers, Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, at 14.

Efforts to expand the scope of Article 24 of the Chicago Convention are apparent in various documents of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), see the references in Pache, *Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen*, at 23, note 54.

See *supra*, note 1005 and accompanying text.

aspects than fuel, for instance emissions fees. ¹⁰²⁰ Due to Article 15 of the Chicago Convention, however, the user charge may not discriminate against airline operators from other contracting states. A problematic categorisation as a kerosene tax may be avoided, moreover, if the user charge is not linked to fuel consumption or the – directly ensuing – emissions of greenhouse gases, but rather draws on the distance traveled or environmentally relevant features of the aircraft for its calculation. ¹⁰²¹ A ticket fee assessed against individual passengers, in turn, would not even fall within the scope of Article 24 of the Chicago Convention.

3. Relevant ICAO-Resolutions

a.) Institutional Framework

Article 2.2 of the Kyoto Protocol provides that the "limitation or reduction of emissions of greenhouse gases ... from aviation" should be pursued "through the International Civil Aviation Organization." The International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), with its permanent seat in Montreal, Canada, was established by the Chicago Convention and began operations in April 1947. As a special organization of the United Nations, it currently has 188 Member States. The preamble to the Chicago Convention sets out the overall objective of ICAO: defining "principles and arrangements" for the safe and orderly development of international civil aviation as well as ensuring equal opportunity in the operation of international air transport services. To this end, ICAO acts on the basis of its mandate in Article 44 of the Chicago Convention and develops "principles and techniques of international air navigation", while fostering the "planning and development of international air transport." Even though environmental considerations have not been explicitly included in the mandate of ICAO, they can – to some extent – be read into Article 44, which requires ICAO to "[m]eet the needs of the peoples of the word for safe, regular, efficient and economical air transport".

The highest body of ICAO is the **Assembly**, which is comprised of representatives from all contracting states and convenes at least once every three years to adopt general decisions on organizational issues and the modification or amendment of the Convention. Substantive tasks are mostly carried out by a **Council** consisting of elected representatives from the contracting states. It adopts international standards and recommended practices. Aside from the commissions established by the Convention itself, the Council may create additional air transport commissions pursuant to Article 55 of the Chicago Convention. Since 1983, a **Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection** (CAEP) has helped prepare decision-making by the Council in the area of environmental protection, and sought to ensure its ability to prevail alongside more specialized environmental regimes. 1023

Thus also WGBU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 12-15; generally Lienemeyer, "Europaweite Abgaben zur Reduzierung von Treibhausgasemissionen,"85.

See Oberthür, "Institutional Interaction to Address Greenhouse Gas Emissions from International Transport: ICAO, IMO and the Kyoto Protocol," in *Climate Policy* (2003): 191, at 197; WBGU, *ibid.*, at 15.

See Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 63 et sqq.

Abeyratne, 'ICAO: Some recent Developments in Aviation and Environmental Protection Regulation', at 38.

b.) Legal Nature of ICAO Decision-Making

As an international organisation, ICAO can only impose obligations on its contracting states to the extent that it has been explicitly **mandated** to do so.¹⁰²⁴ The pertinent provision in this regard is Article 37 of the Chicago Convention, which entitles ICAO to adopt international **standards** and **procedures** to secure a high degree of uniformity in its implementation. This mandate extends to customs and immigration procedures, and other matters concerned with the safety, regularity, and efficiency of air navigation.

"Each contracting State undertakes to collaborate in securing the highest practicable degree of uniformity in regulations, standards, procedures, and organization in relation to aircraft, personnel, airways and auxiliary services in all matters in which such uniformity will facilitate and improve air navigation.

To this end the International Civil Aviation Organization shall adopt and amend from time to time, as may be necessary, international standards and recommended practices and procedures dealing with:

(j) Customs and immigration procedures;

and such other matters concerned with the safety, regularity, and efficiency of air navigation as may from time to time appear appropriate."

Still, even if one were to assume that this mandate also allows for the adoption of standards, recommendations and procedures with regard to user charges on global environmental goods, ¹⁰²⁵ it would appear doubtful whether such decisions are **legally binding** on contracting states and limit their freedom of action in that regard. ¹⁰²⁶ The wording itself only calls upon ICAO to "undertake to *collaborate*" in order to secure the "highest *practicable* degree of uniformity", creating a presumption against a strict legal obligation. In any case, contracting states would be left with an extensive **scope of discretion**. ¹⁰²⁷ This presumption also applies to standards adopted by the Council pursuant to Article 54 (I) as Annexes to the Convention in accordance with the procedure laid out in Article 90 (a) of the Chicago Convention. ¹⁰²⁸

After all, Article 38 of the Chicago Convention allows contracting states to **depart** from such international standards and procedures, provided they give immediate notification to ICAO. ¹⁰²⁹ If

Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 26.

On this discussion Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 28.

See generally Erler, Rechtsfragen der ICAO: Die Internationale Zivilluftfahrtorganisation und ihre Mitgliedstaaten, at 131 et sqq.

Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 30.

See *Abeyratne*, 'Law Making and Decision Making Powers of the ICAO Council – A Critical Analysis', in *ZLW* (1992), 387, at 389 *et seq.*; Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 64; Ipsen, *Völkerrecht*, at 811 *et sqq*.

The text of this provision reads as follows:

[&]quot;Any State which finds it impracticable to comply in all respects with any such international standard or procedure, or to bring its own regulations or practices into full accord with any international standard or

one takes into account the wording of the first sentence of Article 38 of the Chicago Convention, according to which each contracting state has a notification duty in cases where it finds it "**impracticable** to comply with any such international standard or procedure ... or **deems it necessary** to adopt regulations or practices differing ... from those established by an international standard", one may draw the reverse conclusion that subsequent departures are permissible. ¹⁰³⁰ As a matter of law, thus, contracting states are **free to choos**e whether to comply with the standards and recommendations contained in the Annexes of the Chicago Convention. ¹⁰³¹

Accordingly, the standards and procedures adopted by ICAO do not impose **unconditional obligations** on contracting states, ¹⁰³² but rather serve as recommendations backed up by an obligation of "**good faith**", at best. ¹⁰³³ Nevertheless, it should be borne in mind that the large membership of ICAO endows its standards and recommendations with great political weight, allowing these to act as an indicator for the global feasibility of future measures. It is therefore unlikely that states would consciously ignore decisions adopted by ICAO. The organizational structure and permanent bodies of ICAO, moreover, render it a convenient forum for the ready elaboration and subsequent enforcement of global efforts. ¹⁰³⁴

c.) Relevant Recommendations and Standards

With a Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes of December 9, 1996, the ICAO Council had already recommended giving precedence to charges over general taxes and applying revenues towards a reduction of the environmental impacts of aircraft, for instance by promoting research and the development of more efficient propulsion technologies. Altogether, the Council considered

procedure after amendment of the latter, or which deems it necessary to adopt regulations or practices differing in any particular respect from those established by an international standard, shall give immediate notification to the International Civil Aviation Organization of the differences between its own practice and that established by the international standard. In the case of amendments to international standards, any State which does not make the appropriate amendments to its own regulations or practices shall give notice to the Council within sixty days of the adoption of the amendment to the international standard, or indicate the action which it proposes to take. In any such case, the Council shall make immediate notification to all other states of the difference which exists between one or more features of an international standard and the corresponding national practice of that State."

- On this apparently dominant view Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 34 with further references.
- Explicitly Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 64 et sqq.
- Schwenk, *Handbuch des Luftverkehrsrechts*, at 87; the absence of a binding legal effect is even conceded by ICAO itself, see ICAO, *Manual on Air Navigation Services Economics*, Para. 1.10; still, contracting parties must observe the customary obligation of good faith to further the objectives of a treaty they have acceded to.
- On this term, see Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 31.
- WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 8.

the introduction of a global user charge improbable given the lacking support of ICAO member states. ¹⁰³⁵ Individual states considering the introduction of a levy, it went on to recommend, should do so by way of **charges rather than taxes** and with due consideration for the principle of nondiscrimination contained in Article 15 of the Chicago Convention, with rates proportional to costs, and without resulting in discrimination of aviation relative to other forms of transport. ¹⁰³⁶ At the 32nd session of the Assembly, held in Montreal from September 22 to October 2, 1998, the **Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection** (CAEP) was charged with studying "policy options to limit or reduce the greenhouse gas emissions from civil aviation, taking into account the findings of the IPCC special report and the requirements of the Kyoto Protocol." A similar mandate was also given to the ICAO Council with a Resolution of October 5, 2001. ¹⁰³⁸

At its 6th session in February 2004, CAEP recommended to ICAO that environmental impacts of aviation resulting from aircraft noise and emissions, including NO_x emissions, be **further reduced**. To this end, the Committee suggested developing market-oriented instruments. ¹⁰³⁹ At its 35th session, held in Montreal from September 28 to October 8, 2004, the Assembly finally passed Resolution A35-5 with a consolidated statement of continuing ICAO policies and practices related to environmental protection. Although this consolidated statement recognizes the continuing validity of the Resolution of December 9, 1996, it limits itself to affirming **ongoing disagreement** between member states and the need to carry out further studies on the subject. While it acknowledges that implementation of a regional charge within the member states of an economic integration organization on the operators of such states **is not precluded**, the statement urges contracting states to refrain from unilateral implementation of a greenhouse gas emissions charge. The Council is requested to submit further guidance by 2007. ¹⁰⁴⁰

-

ICAO, Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, adopted by the Council on 9 December 1996 at the 16th meeting of its 149th session, lit. 2 and 4, available at: http://www.icao.int/icao/en/env/taxes.htm.

See ICAO, Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, *supra*, note 1035, lit. 5.

ICAO, Resolution A32-8: Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection. Adopted at the 32nd Session of the Assembly, available at http://www.icao.int.

ICAO, Resolution A33-7: Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection. Adopted at the 33nd Session of the Assembly, App. I, available at http://www.icao.int.

See ICAO, Press Release No. PIO 02/04 of Februar 16, 2004, available at: http://www.icao.int.

ICAO, Resolution A35-5: Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection. Adopted at the 35th Session of the Assembly, App. I, available at: http://www.icao.int:

[&]quot;The Assembly (...)

¹⁾ *Recognizes* the continuing validity of Council's Resolution of 9 December 1996 regarding emission-related levies;

Chapter 4 section E of the current Standards and Recommended Practices contained in an **Annex** to the Chicago Convention and designed to **facilitate air services** sets out an exemption from import duties and taxes for stores and commissary supplies imported into the territory of contracting state. ¹⁰⁴¹ This exemption does not apply to fuels, however, and is thus of no relevance for user charges: ¹⁰⁴² as an explanatory document by the Facilitation Panel (FALP) has clarified, only supplies and products for use or sale on board an aircraft during flights fall within the ambit of the expression "Stores and Commissary Supplies", including, for instance, cutlery, blankets, or other consumable articles. ¹⁰⁴³

- 2) Urges States to follow the current guidance contained therein;
- 3) *Recognizes* that existing ICAO guidance is not sufficient at present to implement greenhouse gas emissions charges internationally, although implementation of such a charge by mutual agreement of States members of a regional economic integration organization on operators of those States is not precluded, and *requests* the Council to:
- a) carry out further studies and develop additional guidance on the subject;
- b) place a particular focus on the outstanding issues identified in earlier studies and by the Assembly; and
- c) aim for completion by the next regular session of the Assembly in 2007;
- 4) *Urges* Contracting States to refrain from unilateral implementation of greenhouse gas emissions charges prior to the next regular session of the Assembly in 2007, where this matter will be considered and discussed again;
- 5) Requests the Council to study the effectiveness of, and to develop further guidance on emissions levies related to local air quality by the next regular session of the Assembly in 2007, and urges Contracting States to actively participate and share information in this effort; and
- 6) *Urges* Contracting States to ensure the highest practical level of consistency with ICAO policies and guidance on emissions levies related to local air quality."
- ICAO, *Facilitation: Standards and Recommended Practices*, 11th ed., Montreal 2002: "4.36 Stores and commissary supplies imported into the territory of a Contracting State for use on board aircraft in international service shall be relieved from import duties and taxes, subject to compliance with the customs regulations of the State."
- Inaccurate thus Pache, *Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen*, at 36 *et seq.*, who apparently has applied a wrong understanding of the expressions "*stores*" and "*commissary supplies*" ausgegangen ist (see the following footnote).
- ICAO, Facilitation Panel (FALP), Third Meeting of the FAL Panel (FALP/3), Februar 12 to 16, 2001, Draft Report on Agenda Item 2, FALP/3-WP/25, 2-7:

"Commissary supplies. Commissary supplies are those items, either disposable or intended for multiple use, that are used by the operator for provision of services during flights. Such items include glassware, dishware, cutlery, paper products, blankets, pillows and other similar items.

Stores. Articles of a readily consumable nature for use or sale on board an aircraft during flight, including commissary supplies."

So far, efforts by ICAO in the area of environmental protection - and in particular relating to environmental charges - have been rather disappointing.¹⁰⁴⁴ Ultimately, the Assembly has not seen fit to advance, let alone establish, a regulatory framework for the introduction of user charges on aviation. As representatives of the Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection have themselves conceded, there is still no "clear way forward" regarding the long-standing issue of market-based instruments.¹⁰⁴⁵ ICAO has clearly shown that it perceives itself as an organization primarily aimed at safeguarding the **economic advantages** of aviation for the global community, to which end it is apparently willing to reject environmentally motivated charges adopted on the basis of decisions other than its own.¹⁰⁴⁶ And yet, with none of the statements on market-based instruments issued by ICAO to date representing a standard annexed to the Chicago Convention in the sense of Article 37, current Resolutions are merely **non-binding recommendations** whose observance is discretionary for contracting states. ¹⁰⁴⁷ Even taking into account the political significance of Council recommendations, it can be affirmed that the wording of the most recent Resolution does not exclude **preparatory measures**.¹⁰⁴⁸

4. Bilateral Air Service Agreements (BASAs)

The provisions of the Chicago Convention are complemented by a number of **bilateral** agreements, the so-called "Bilateral Air Service Agreements" (BASAs), 1049 which primarily deal

See, *e.g.*, Oberthür, "Institutional Interaction to Address Greenhouse Gas Emissions from International Transport: ICAO, IMO and the Kyoto Protocol", *supra*, note 1021, at 196.

Thus the Secretary of CAEP *Hupe*, "Work on Environmental Protection Reflects Need for Balancing many Factors," in *ICAO Journal* (2004:5): 5, at 23.

That also explains the emphasis by ICAO on assuming a leadership role while rejecting any efforts from other international bodies or individual states, see Resolution A35-5: Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection, *supra*, note 1040, App. A:

[&]quot;The Assembly (...)

²⁾ *Emphasizes* the importance of ICAO taking a leadership role on all civil aviation matters related to the environment and *requests* the Council to maintain the initiative in developing policy guidance on these matters, and not leave such initiatives to other organizations; *Recognizes* the continuing validity of Council's Resolution of 9 December 1996 regarding emission-related levies; (...)

⁸⁾ *Urges* States to refrain from unilateral environmental measures that would adversely affect the orderly development of international civil aviation."

Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 36.

The Resolution text merely urges states to refrain from the *implementation* of unilateral measures: "Urges Contracting States to refrain from unilateral *implementation* of greenhouse gas emissions charges."

Members of ICAO are required to deposit all such bilateral agreements with the ICAO Secretariat, which has compiled the roughly 3000 BASAs in existence in a two-volume collection, ICAO, Document 9511, *Digest of Bilateral Air Transport Agreements* and *Supplement 1*.

with the assignment of transit rights.¹⁰⁵⁰ The Air Service Agreements are only relevant for user charges imposed on aircraft operated by foreign airlines, and do not apply to flights carried out by domestic airlines.¹⁰⁵¹ Although these agreements differ in specific details,¹⁰⁵² the so-called "Bermuda II Agreement" between the United States and Great Britain¹⁰⁵³ may serve as a model agreement and has been drawn upon, for instance, by the Member States of the European Union.¹⁰⁵⁴ It has its origin in the "Chicago Standard Form" of 1944,¹⁰⁵⁵ and its popularity is at least partly due to the vague wording of several of its provisions.¹⁰⁵⁶ Regarding the introduction of a user charge on aviation, the more recent "Open Skies Agreement" of the United States does not differ noticeably from the older "Bermuda II Agreement."¹⁰⁵⁷

On the basis of reciprocity, Article 9 (1) of this agreement rules out all customs duties, national excise taxes, and similar national fees and charges on fuel and other consumable supplies for aircraft introduced into the territory of another contracting state or supplied there, unless such duties are based on the cost of services provided.¹⁰⁵⁸ Fuel on board an aircraft engaged in international air

Brosthaus et al., *Maβnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs*, at 15.

1058

Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 40.

A comparative synopsis of selected air service agreements has been compiled by Pache, *ibid.*, at 47 *et sqq*.

Agreement Between the United States of America and United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland Concerning Air Services, signed at Bermuda on July 23, 1977 (TIAS 8641).

Dahm, Völkerrecht, Vol. 1, at 720.

Amply elaborating on the relevant background, Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 238 et sqq.

Diederiks-Verschoor, *An Introduction to Air Law*, at 53.

Meijers, Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, at 18.

[&]quot;(1) Aircraft operated in international air services by the designated airlines of either Contracting Party, their regular equipment, fuel, lubricants, consumable technical supplies, spare parts including engines, and aircraft stores including but not limited to such items as food, beverages and tobacco, which are on board such aircraft, shall be relieved on the basis of reciprocity from all customs duties, national excise taxes, and similar national fees and charges not based on the cost of services provided, on arriving in the territory of the other Contracting Party, provided such equipment and supplies remain on board the aircraft.

⁽²⁾ There shall also be relieved from the duties, fees and charges referred to in paragraph (1) of this Article, with the exception of charges based on the cost of the service provided: (...)

⁽c) fuel, lubricants and consumable technical supplies introduced into or supplied in the territory of a Contracting Party for use in an aircraft engaged in an international air service of a designated airline of the other Contracting Party, even when these supplies are to be used on a part of the journey performed over the territory of the Contracting Party in which they are taken on board."

services¹⁰⁵⁹ may not be subjected to any fees and charges on arrival. Unlike Article 24 of the Chicago Convention, however, paragraph 2 (c) of this provision extends the tax exemption to fuel **supplied** in the respective contracting state.¹⁰⁶⁰ This also comprises fuel **consumed** above the territory of said state.¹⁰⁶¹

At first glance, this would seem to **preclude a kerosene tax** unless applicable air service agreements are first amended. And indeed, a majority of states observe this rule in relation to foreign aircraft. From a purely legal point of view, however, this conclusion is not **uncontested**. In as much as the obligations arising from such agreements are based on **reciprocity**, a mutual departure by both contracting states remains possible without a breach of treaty. In this context, it is possible to distinguish between **positive reciprocity**, which requires the advantages granted by one of the contracting parties to also be received by it from the other contracting party, and **negative reciprocity**, in which case benefits will not inure to one side unless that side is willing to extend the same privileges to the other side. Consequently, this obligation amounts to a manifestation of the national treatment principle, whereby foreign airlines may not be treated less favorably than the respective national airlines. It should first be noted, however, that **by no means all** air service agreements currently contain such a reciprocity clause. What has developed is, instead, a highly diverse state practice frequently based on purely factual

-

Pursuant to Article 96 (b) of the Chicago Convention, international air services include any "air service which passes through the air space over the territory of more than one State." Purely domestic flights are thus excluded from the scope of Article 9 (1) of the Bermuda-II-Agreement.

Meijers, Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, at 16; this provision is included in nearly all bilateral air service agreements, since it extends beyond the scope of Article 24 of the Chicago Convention, see Cheng, The Law of International Air Transport, at 334 et sqq., who provides a number of examples.

Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 335.

Brosthaus *et al.*, *Maβnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs*, at113 *et seq.*; European Commission, SEC(2005) 467, *supra*, note 72, at 17.

For an overview, see Meijers, Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, at 17.

Brockhagen and Lienemeyer, *Proposal for a European Aviation Charge*, at 69-70; Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 341 *et seq.*; Lienemeyer, "Europaweite Abgaben zur Reduzierung von Treibhausgasemissionen," *supra*, note **Fehler! Textmarke nicht definiert.**, at 485.

Cheng, The Law of International Air Transport, at 341 et seq.

Meijers, Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, at 17.

See generally on reciprocity of obligations in aviation Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 289 *et sqq.*, who also lists several examples to the contrary.

considerations. 1068

User charges which are not linked to fuel consumption or otherwise a a concealed kerosene tax, for instance emissions- or distance-based **ticket fees**, are not precluded by this provision. ¹⁰⁶⁹ What is more, existing bilateral agreements between the Member States of the European Community could be amended by way of a uniform treaty or harmonized legislation, both of which would take precedence over the respective air service agreements. 1070 A unilateral **termination** or **denunciation**, allowed for by several air service agreements with a notice period of usually 12 months, 1071 is not advisable, however, as it would result in a fragmented legal framework and compromise legal certainty in the aviation sector. With a view to Article 14 (2) of Directive 2003/96/EC, one may even question whether the tax exemption between Member States has not already been replaced by Community legislation. 1072 In any case, if one takes into account the "Open Skies"-judgment of the European Court of Justice 1073 and Regulation 2004/847 EC on the negotiation and implementation of air service agreements between Member States and third countries. 1074 it can be expected that **future negotiations** on bilateral air service agreements with third states will be required to contain a clause allowing Member States to impose charges on fuel supplied and consumed in their territory during domestic or intra-Community flights. 1075 The current exemption would then be replaced or lose effect as the older rule in accordance with the adage of lex posterior derogat legi priori.

Another relevant provision in the "Bermuda II Agreements" is Article 10, which imposes a number of requirements for the collection of user charges, for instance airport fees. Under this provision,

See the synopsis in Meijers, *Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation*, at 17.

WBGU, Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Gemeinschaftsgüter, at 15.

On this precedence see Schwenk, *Handbuch des Luftverkehrsrechts*, at 516, as well as ECJ, Case 235/87 – *Matteuci*, ECR 1988 5606 annot. 20 *et sqq*.; Brosthaus *et al.*, *Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs*, at 113 *et seq.*, draw attention to the power of the Community to conclude treaties with third states as a possible way of simplifying the amendment of bilateral air service agreements between Member States and third states. Generally on the amendment procedure of air service agreements Cheng, *The Law of International Air Transport*, at 475 *et sqq*.

See Cheng, *ibid.*, at 484 *et sqq*.

On this issue, cf. *infra*, Part 3, B. II. 2.

ECJ, Case C-466/98 – Open Skies, ECR I-2002, at 9427 et sqq.

Regulation (EC) No 847/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 29, 2004, on the Negotiation and Implementation of Air Service Agreements between Member States and Third Countries, OJ L 157 of April 30, 2004, at 7 *et sqq*.

With current examples Meijers, Tax Flight: An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, at 19 et seq.; see also Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 51.

every party to the contract must limit itself to the assessment of "**just and reasonable**" charges distributed evenly among users. ¹⁰⁷⁶ More specifically, parties must ensure that:

- user charges imposed on foreign airlines are **not higher** than those imposed on the on airlines operating similar air services (para. 2);
- user charges do **not exceed** the full cost to the charging authorities of providing appropriate airport and air navigation facilities and services, although environmental impacts may be taken into account (para. 3, sentences 1 and 2);
- user charges are **based** on sound economic principles and generally accepted accounting practices (para. 3, sentence 3).

In addition, parties shall encourage consultations and the exchange of information between charging authorities and affected airlines, with reasonable notice given of any proposals for changes in the collection of user charges.

In conclusion, bilateral air service agreements currently **rule out** kerosene taxes, as they not only exempt fuel carried on board aircraft, but also fuel supplied in the territory of contracting parties. Nonetheless, it can be argued on the basis of the wording in the "Bermuda II Agreement" that a mutual departure from this exemption is possible without leading to a breach of treaty, as long as

¹⁰⁷⁶

[&]quot;(1) Each Contracting Party shall use its best efforts to ensure that user charges imposed or permitted to be imposed by its competent charging authorities on the designated airlines of the other Contracting Party are just and reasonable. Such charges shall be considered just and reasonable if they are determined and imposed in accordance with the principles set forth in paragraphs (2) and (3) of this Article, and if they are equitably apportioned among categories of useCase

⁽²⁾ Neither Contracting Party shall impose or permit to be imposed on the designated airlines of the other Contracting Party user charges higher than those imposed on its own designated airlines operating similar international air services.

⁽³⁾ User charges may reflect, but shall not exceed, the full cost to the competent charging authorities of providing appropriate airport and air navigation facilities and services, and may provide for a reasonable rate of return on assets, after depreciation. In the provision of facilities and services, the competent authorities shall have regard to such factors as efficiency, economy, environmental impact and safety of operation. User charges shall be based on sound economic principles and on the generally accepted accounting practices within the territory of the appropriate Contracting Party.

⁽⁴⁾ Each Contracting Party shall encourage consultations between its competent charging authorities and airlines using the services and facilities, where practicable through the airlines' representative organizations. Reasonable notice should be given to users of any proposals for changes in user charges to enable them to express their views before changes are made.

⁽⁵⁾ For the purposes of paragraph (4) of this Article, each Contracting Party shall use its best efforts to encourage the competent charging authorities and the airlines to exchange such information as may be necessary to permit an accurate review of the reasonableness of the charges in accordance with the principles set out in this Article."

foreign air service providers are not discriminated against relative to domestic providers. Future negotiations are likely to change this legal situation, however.

II. European Law

1. Primary Community Law

As was shown in the preceding section on general requirements, user charges on a global environmental goods can be adopted on the basis of **different powers** contained in primary European Community law.¹⁰⁷⁷ The conclusions reached there also apply to user charges in the aviation sector. For instance, due to its strong links to the internal market, a fuel tax primarily aimed at the harmonization of excise taxes will generally have to be based on Article 93 ECT, therefore requiring a unanimous vote in the Council.¹⁰⁷⁸ Emissions- or distance-based user charges will commonly be focused on environmental objectives, requiring adoption on the basis of Article 175 ECT, specifically Article 175 (1) ECT, which allows for a majority vote.¹⁰⁷⁹ This also applies to ticket fees, since their regulatory purpose primarily falls within the ambit of environmental policy. As for the expenditure of revenues, earmarking them for environmental purposes is most likely to be in line with Community law.¹⁰⁸⁰

The introduction of a user charge on air travel does not infringe on the freedom of services contained in Articles 49 *et sqq*. ECT. Although the provision of air travel and the transportation of freight are commonly considered a **service**, they are not covered by the freedom of services as a result of Article 51 (1) ECT. According to the reference contained in Article 51 (1) ECT, the special provisions on Community **transport policy** in Articles 70 *et sqq*. ECT apply. In particular, this includes the duty contained in Article 74 ECT to take into account the economic circumstances of carriers when adopting measures in respect of transport rates and conditions. **Appropriate provisions** on air transport adopted by the Council with a qualified majority under Article 80 (2) ECT also need to be observed. As opposed to shipping, no secondary provisions have been

See *supra*, Part 2, C.I.

¹⁰⁷⁸ See *supra*, Part 2, C.I.3. a.)

¹⁰⁷⁹ See *supra*, Part 2, C.I.3. c.)

¹⁰⁸⁰ See *supra*, Part 2, C.I.3. d.)

According to Article 51 (1) EC Treaty, "[f]reedom to provide services in the field of transport shall be governed by the provisions of the Title relating to transport."

See Grabitz/Hilf-Randelzhofer/Forsthoff, Article 51, annot. 3, and Grabitz/Hilf-Frohnmeyer, Article 80, annot. 19, as well as *infra*, Section B. II. 2. a.)

adopted elaborating the general rules on freedom of services in the ECT. ¹⁰⁸³ To the extent that the principles laid out in Articles 49 *et sqq*. ECT apply to air transport, the considerations already discussed with a view to sea transport, notably that an infringement on the freedom of services would be justified by the legitimacy of its purpose and compelling reasons of public interest, again apply. ¹⁰⁸⁴

2. Secondary Community Law

a.) Regulations on the Freedom of Services in Aviation

The entrance into force of the third liberalization package on January 1, 1993, concluded the liberalization of the air transport sector in Europe. One cornerstone of this process is Council Regulation (EEC) No. 2407/92 of July 23, 1992, on **licensing of air carriers**, which entitles air carriers located in a Member State to receive an operating license when they meet the requirements set out in this Regulation. Council Regulation (EEC) No. 2408/92 of July 23, 1992, on access for Community air carriers to intra-Community air routes, in turn, regulates access to the **common market for air services**, entitling Community air carriers to a permit issued by the respective Member States to exercise traffic rights on routes within the Community, again provided the requirements in this Regulation are observed.

The expiration of all remaining restrictions on cabotage rights¹⁰⁸⁷ by April 1997 in accordance with Articles 3 (2), (3) and (4) has helped achieve full freedom of services in the air transport sector.

These Regulations aim at ensuring **harmonized market access** for air carriers within the Community, although their scope is restricted to operating licenses and access to intra-Community air routes. User charges do not fall within this scope in a way affecting the **rights afforded to air carriers**, for instance the entitlement to an operating license or to a permit relating to air routes. This applies all the more since Article 8 (2) of Regulation (EEC) 2408/92 explicitly provides that "[t]he exercise of traffic rights shall be subject to published Community, national, regional or local operational rules relating to ... the protection of the environment."

Another act of Community legislation requiring careful assessment in the context of user charges on air transport is Council Regulation (EEC) No. 2409/92 of July 23, 1992, on **fares and rates for air**

On this issue, see *supra*, Part 3, A. II. 1. b.)

On this issue, see *supra*, Part 3, A. II. 1. d.)

See Articles 4 *et sqq*. of Regulation (EEC) No. 2407/92, OJ L 240 of August 24, 1992, at 1 *et sqq*.

OJ L 240 of August 24, 1992, at 8 *et sqq*.

Cabotage refers to flights within a Member State.

services. ¹⁰⁸⁸ This Regulation repeals Council Regulation (EEC) No. 2342/90 of July 24, 1990, on fares for scheduled air services. ¹⁰⁸⁹ It governs criteria and procedures for the establishment of fares and rates on air services by air carriers for carriage wholly within the Community. Pursuant to its Articles 3 *et sqq.*, the establishment of fares and rates on air services shall, as a matter of principle, "be set by free agreement between the parties to the contract of carriage", with interference by Member States subject to a set of specified conditions. No provision within this Regulation prevents Member States from exerting **indirect** influence on prices by imposing a user charge on air travel, however, since air carriers would continue to set fares and rates by free agreement with customers, albeit with a view to the changed cost structure. Member State intervention against the adjusted prices would not be in the interest of participants in the scheme and inadmissible for other Member States due to Article 6 (1) lit. a) of the Regulation, as increases in fares and rates would be directly proportional to the risen costs of air carriers.

b) The Energy Tax Directive 2003/96/EC

For the first time, Council Directive 2003/96/EC of 27 October 2003 Restructuring the Community Framework for the Taxation of Energy Products and Electricity¹⁰⁹⁰ has created a **uniform legal framework** for **energy taxes** in the European Community. Its objectives include ensuring the proper functioning of the internal market and contributing to the achievement of environmental policy requirements and climate change commitments.¹⁰⁹¹ Article 1 provides that Member States "shall impose taxation on energy products and electricity in accordance with this Directive." As the preamble already affirms, however, "[c]ertain exemptions or reductions in the tax level may prove necessary" because of the lack of a stronger harmonisation at Community level or "because of the risks of a loss of international competitiveness."¹⁰⁹² Under the directive, **aircraft fuel** counts as kerosene with the CN code 2710 19 21 and is subject to the minimum levels of taxation set out in Annex I from January 1, 2004, onwards. The minimum rate for kerosene has been set at €302 per 1000 litres and, starting on January 1, 2010, at €330 per 1000 litres.

Pursuant to Article 14 (1) of the Directive, "Member States shall **exempt** ... from taxation under conditions which they shall lay down for the purpose of ensuring the correct and straightforward application of such exemptions and of preventing any evasion, avoidance or abuse ... energy products supplied for use as fuel for the purpose of **air navigation** other than in private pleasure-flying." "Private pleasure-flying" is limited to the use of an aircraft for other than commercial

OJ L 240 of August 24, 1992, at 15 et sqq.

OJ L 217 of August 11, 1990, at 1 *et sqq*.

OJ L 283 of October 31, 2003, at 51 et sqq.

See Recitals 2 through 7 of Directive 2003/96/EC.

Recital 28 of Directive 2003/96/EC.

purposes and in particular other than for the carriage of passengers or goods for consideration, thereby leaving the vast majority of flights to benefit from the tax exemption.

Article 14 (2) of the Directive, however, **allows** Member States to limit the scope of this exemption "to international and intra-Community transport." Purely **domestic flights**, in other words, may be included in a kerosene taxation scheme. Due to the open wording adopted by the Directive, this scheme may also be extended to foreign aircraft. What remains unclear is merely whether such a tax would have to comply with the minimum levels set out in the Annex, or whether lower rates are admissible. With a view to the possibility of total exemption, an interpretation based on the object and purpose of this provision prompts the conclusion that lower tax rates must, *a fortiori*, be a valid option. A kerosene tax on domestic flights is consequently admissible, with no commitment to the minimum taxation levels set out in the Directive.

Aside from that, where a Member State has entered into a **bilateral agreement** with another Member State, Article 14 (2) of the Directive allows a waiver of the tax exemption. In other words, the conclusion or amendment of a bilateral agreement between two Member States – albeit only between Member States of the European Community – can revoke the foregoing tax exemption. As a result, an **intra-Community kerosene tax** would become admissible once all Member States adjusted their mutual bilateral air service agreements accordingly. In such cases, Member States may apply a level of taxation below the minimum levels set out in the Directive. Because the levels contained in Annex I are minimum levels, moreover, higher rates are equally admissible.

III. National Law

German constitutional law imposes a number of more or less serious restrictions of the introduction of user charges on environmental goods, including airspace. These have already been addressed in detail in Part 2. 1094

As regards legislative powers, it bears emphasizing again that measures other than taxes¹⁰⁹⁵ largely depend on the regulatory purposes pursued by the legislator.¹⁰⁹⁶ Measures seeking to protect the global climate may be adopted at the Federal level under the conditions set out in Article 72 (2) of the Basic Law; the pertinent competence is contained in Article 74 (1) No. 24 of the Basic Law, which authorizes the Federal legislator to pass legislation on air pollution control, including rules on protecting the atmosphere against negative impacts from pollutants such as greenhouse gases.

For an expanded argument see Pache, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, at 59 et seq.

See *supra*, Part 2, D.I.1. and D.II.

On the legal bases for the adoption of taxation measures, see *supra*, Part 2, D.I.1.d).

Determination of the pertinent legislative competence in the Basic Law usually depends on the regulatory purpose. See, *inter alia*, Pieroth, in: Jarass and Pieroth, *GG*, Article 70 annot. 4 with further references.

Other than that, the Federal legislator has wide discretion in the area of air traffic by virtue of the exclusive competence on aviation it has been afforded with **Article 73 No. 6 of the Basic Law**. This competence extends to the entire aviation sector. 1097

Against this backdrop, it can be concluded that the Federal legislator has a legislative competence for all aviation-related instruments discussed here, provided they are not designed as taxes. Should it desire to create a comprehensive airspace management system for reasons of climate policy, it can draw on the pollution control competence (Article 74 (1) No. 24 of the Basic Law), again in accordance with the restrictions laid down in Article 72 (2) of the Basic Law.

Below the level of constitutional law, attention must be given to the provisions of the mineral tax act (*Mineralölsteuergesetzes*, MinöStG), which exempts aircraft fuels from taxation (cf. Sec. 4 (1) No. 3 MinöStG). This exemption has its origin in Community rules on energy taxation and may only be revoked or amended at the domestic level to the extent that the respective rules of Community law (notably Article 14 (1) and (2) of Directive 2003/96/EC)¹⁰⁹⁸ as well as international law¹⁰⁹⁹ allow for such changes. From the viewpoint of German law, the required changes would be readily possible.

No further restrictions on the introduction of new levies resulting in environmental user charges on the aviation sector are apparent below the level of constitutional law.

¹⁰⁹⁷ Cf. Pieroth, in: Jarass and Pieroth, *GG*. Article 73 annot. 14 with further references.

¹⁰⁹⁸ See *supra*, Part 3, B.II.2.

¹⁰⁹⁹ See *supra*, 3. Teil, B.I.

Part 4 Recommendations for Action

The foregoing legal analysis has helped identify a series of requirements which need to be observed when introducing a user charge. The following recommendations for action again distinguish between individual models and – within a model – the scope of application, for instance whether the user charge will only be applied to domestic travel or a transboundary approach is chosen. In the process, mention will be made of any particularities relating to the respective environmental good, airspace and the High Seas.

I. User Charges Linked on Fuel Consumption (Kerosene or Diesel Taxes)

A fuel tax on **domestic flights** and **shipping within internal waters** is legally permissible. It should observed the following aspects:

- An introduction in Germany can occur by way of an **excise tax** based on Article 105 (2) and Article 106 (1) lit. 2 GG, thus falling within the competing legislative powers of the federal legislator. Pursuant to Article 106 (1) lit. 2 GG, the revenue from such a tax would accrue to the federation.
- **Earmarking** of revenues is legally admissible to the extent that the budget legislator retains some power to decide on the use of revenues; this rules out the designation of a special fund, for instance, which would result in classification as a special charge requiring expenditure to the benefit of those subject to the payment duty.
- **Proceeds** should not be used in a manner which only benefits certain undertakings or the production of certain goods so as to avoid a violation of subsidy and state aid rules in Community and world trade law.
- Given the likelihood of evasive action by **airlines and shipping companies** when faced with a domestic fuel tax, which would result in fuel being purchased abroad and thereby counteract the fiscal and ecological objectives of the user charge, **calculation** of the user charge could be based both on fuel supplied domestically and, for aircraft introducing fuel purchased abroad, the domestic consumption of fuel.¹¹⁰⁰
- Under the pertinent rules of Community law, Article 14 (2) of **Directive 2003/96/EC** allows Member States to limit the exemption for aircraft and shipping fuel "to international and intra-Community transport." Linking the user charge to the **origin of the fuel** is ruled out by

On this issue, see also the recommendations by *Pache*, Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, 100 *et sqq*.

the prohibition of discrimination for products from other Member States contained in Article 90 (1) ECT.

If the fuel tax is to extend **beyond domestic flights** and **shipping within internal waters**, however, it is subject to the following requirements.

- Due to the provisions contained in several **Bilateral Air Service Agreements**, neither the consumption nor the supply of fuel for international flights can be subjected to a charge, including excise taxes. These Air Service Agreements would therefore have to be first amended between states intending to apply a user charge on international aviation.
- The requirement of amending existing agreements also extends to the Community level. Pursuant to Article 14 (2) of **Directive 2003/96/EC**, only Member States that have entered into a **bilateral agreement** with another Member State can waive the tax exemption for Community and international air travel.
- With regard to **shipping**, in turn, freedom of passage in the High Seas renders the flag state principle the only permissible starting point for the exercise of jurisdiction in the High Seas; in coastal waters, on the other hand, Article 26 of UNCLOS precludes the introduction of charges on the mere passage. Consequently, neither the passage of **foreign vessels** through territorial waters nor the use of international waters for navigational purposes can serve as a legal basis for a user charge. The only context in which a state may achieve the desired legal outcome of a user charge is with foreign vessels docked at a port of the imposing state. Flag states may of course subject **their own vessels** to a user charge both within and beyond territorial waters, although this would only permit for a very limited scope of the user charge and might place the domestic shipping industry at a significant disadvantage, thus being inexpedient.
- Community would allow circumventing the legal constraints arising from the German constitution. If a fuel tax is thus introduced within the fiscal and budgetary powers of the European Community, its proceeds may be earmarked and assigns to a special fund in a manner which would be rules out under German law. It could be based on both Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT and Article 175 (1) ECT, in which case revenues have to be spent with a view to achieving the transport or environmental protection objectives of the respective parts. If the expenditure of proceeds should further objectives of development policy, it could be based on Article 179 (1) ECT, which also requires a qualified majority in the Council.
- Should the European Community introduce the fuel tax as a harmonised excise tax implemented by the Member States, however, it could draw on Article 93 ECT for a legislative power, requiring of unanimous vote in the Council.

II. User Charges on Individual Trips (Ticket Fees)

User charges levied on individual trips are subject to different legal requirements. Unilateral introduction by Germany would give rise to the following recommendations for action:

- The user charge should be regarded as a federal expenditure tax (*Aufwandsteuer*) to ensure that both the legislative power and the entitlement to revenues remain with the federation. The ticket fee should not be designed in a manner where the duty to pay coincides with the conclusion of a purchase contract for the ticket, given that this could be understood as an indication of a transaction tax denying the federation all proceeds from such a tax. Instead, it would seem expedient to lengthy the user charge at the **beginning or the end** of the flight. Likewise, the expression "ticket fee" should be avoided; for, while the mere designation has no legal consequences, it might again evoke an unwanted association with a transaction tax. Designating it as an "air travel tax" or simply "flight tax" would appear more suited and better reflect its constitutional bearing. Other expressions are also conceivable, for instance "aviation tax", "environmental aviation tax" or "aviation climate levy".
- It would also seem recommendable to appoint the respective transport carrier as the **tax debtor** and reimburse taxes whenever available seats have remained verifiably empty during a given trip. Direct taxation of passengers, however, is unlikely to be practicable.
- For reasons of equal treatment and to ensure the effectiveness as a means of guiding human behaviour, a **flat rate** should be avoided when designing the user charge.
- Again, earmarking of proceeds is only permissible to the extent that the budget legislator is
 not altogether excluded from deciding on the application of funds. Otherwise, the user
 charge would be considered a special charge requiring expenditure to the benefit of those
 subject to the payment duty, thereby strongly restricting the scope of application for
 revenues.
- **Proceeds**, in turn, should again be applied in a manner which does not only benefit certain undertakings or the production of certain goods, as that could amount to a violation of subsidy and state aid rules under Community and world trade law

Additionally, a ticket charge imposed on international air travel needs to observe the following requirements:

• It must primarily aimed at **reducing greenhouse gas emissions** and clearly signal that it is not a general tax on aircraft fuel. It would appear advisable to include environmental properties of the aircraft in the calculation of tax rates (for instance the type of engine, fuel, operating temperatures, thrust, load, loading capacity as well as routing and length of trip) in order to avoid classification as the hidden kerosene tax. Calculation has to be based on each individual flight booking in order to prevent taxation of unused seating capacities.

- Emphasis on the environmental objectives of the user charge is also important with a view to Article 15 of the Chicago Convention, which prohibits charges imposed by any contracting state solely for "the right of transit over or entry into or exit from its territory of any aircraft" of another contracting State.
- Again, autonomous introduction and administration by the **European Community** could allow circumventing the constitutional constraints under German law. The introduction of a ticket charge within the fiscal and budgetary powers of the European Community would thus permit earmarking proceeds for a special fund. Potential legal bases are again Article 71 (1) lit. d) ECT, Article 175 (1) ECT and Article 179 (1) ECT. In each case, the application of funds has to occur within the scope of the legal basis.

III. User Charges on Emissions (Emissions Charges)

Legal requirements arising for user charges levied in relation to the distance traveled or emissions discharged depend on the type and design of the charge. The following requirements can be derived from German law:

- The allocation of proceeds to a **fund** incurs classification as a special charge (*Sonderabgabe*), which is only permissible if revenues are applied towards the common interest of the group subject to the payment duty. ¹¹⁰¹ In the context of an emissions charge, such application would be unfeasible in practice.
- Aside from the designation of a fund, a direct charge on emissions would be considered a **tax**. As such, however, the tax could not be classified under any of the tax categories currently permissible under the German constitution. Barring an amendment of the constitution, a federal emissions tax is currently not admissible under German law.
- Still, another (existing) **tax or fiscal charge** could be permissibly designed in such a manner as to be indirectly linked to emissions or contain emissions-related elements (for instance as a tax on flights or sea travel, or a tax on the ownership of aircraft and sea vessels). 1102

The introduction of an emissions charge on **aviation** within the **Community** or at the **international level** would again allow circumventing the restrictive constitutional framework under German law. The same recommendations for action described with regards to ticket charges apply here. Considering a legal opinion submitted by the ICAO Legal Bureau on the issue of emissions-based charges on aviation, ¹¹⁰³ as well as the case-law of the European Court of Justice, which ruled that a charge based on emissions could only be considered a kerosene tax due to the direct and inseparable

¹¹⁰¹ Cf. BVerfGE 55, 274 (274 et seq. and 305 et sqq., particularly 307 et seq.).

See above, Part 2, D. II. 2.

¹¹⁰³ CAEP/5, report of Working Group 5.

connection between greenhouse gas emissions and fuel consumption,¹¹⁰⁴ such an emissions charge should also be based on of the environmental properties of the aircraft and its operation, for instance the type of engine, fuel, operating temperatures, thrust, load, loading capacity are routing and length of journey.

IV. User Charges on the Use of Facilities (Airport- or Port Fees)

Imposing a fee on the use of domestic facilities and infrastructures is not feasible for the **aviation sector**, given that such fees have to correspond to a benefit accorded by the state; a vast majority of facilities used during air traffic – be it airports or air traffic control facilities – are privately owned, however.

With regard to user charges levied against **shipping activities**, a somewhat different assessment applies. Under the law of the sea, neither the passage of foreign ships through **coastal waters** nor the use of **international waters** for navigational purposes can serve as the basis for the introduction of such fees. The law of the sea does not contain any rules preventing a port state from exacting a charge on ships entering its **territorial waters** or docking at one of its **ports** as compensation for use of the ocean as such, rather than the ports.

Due to the prohibition against discrimination, however, the only circumstance in which a state can assess a user charge against a foreign vessel that has entered its waters would be the act of docking at one of its **ports**. Practical considerations rule out linking the user charge to the registration of ships. The fee would be charged from owners of docking vessels, who would pay the fee to the respective port authority as part of the existing charging systems.

The act of docking at a port can be supplemented by other considerations when calculating the port fee, including the freight carried, the number of passengers or the tonnage of the vessel. Due to the Community exemption for shipping fuel from mineral oil taxation, any design correlating these fees to the fuel consumption are ruled out, and even a calculation directly based on emissions or the distance traveled raises legal concerns. It might be legally permissible to stagger user charges in accordance with a flat set of distances, thereby overriding the link to fuel consumption.

V. User Charges in Return for Services within Environmental Resource Management Systems

A particularly intriguing option would be the introduction of user charges as a constituent element of a comprehensive system for the management of environmental resources. In practice, such a

¹¹⁰⁴

system would appear particularly suited for purposes of climate protection, notably to **manage greenhouse gas emissions**. The legislator could draw attention to its obligations entered under international law and maintain its desired role as a leader in international climate policy.

The instrumental advantage of such a system would lie in the fact that it allows for identification of specific management objectives, the achievement of which could be ensured through a coherent set of tools.

Within such a system, it would be possible to charge particularly detrimental behaviour (such as aircraft or air travel) to induce new behaviour and attitudes. Under constitutional law, such a charge would constitute a fee imposed in return for services, given that it would serve as compensation for an individualised benefit granted by the state: the opportunity of using the environmental space covered by the management system. This possibility provides a compelling argument for managing the global environment.

Creation of such a comprehensive management system would appear particularly suited for the area of climate protection. In order to secure ample leeway for such a system of fees, it would be advisable to bring existing legal instruments pertaining to climate change together under a type of **umbrella act** and to establish an overall plan for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. Independent instruments such as emissions trading (which already comprises elements of a resource management system, albeit under exclusion of several important sectors including aviation), the Renewable Energy Act, the Energy Savings Act and mineral oil taxes could all be accommodated within this system. Moreover, it would provide a useful framework for the targeted adoption of additional measures in currently unregulated areas ("lacunae") – for instance the introduction of (quid-pro-quo) environmental user charges.

Under international law, the legal admissibility of such a system might appear doubtful with a view to Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention. Such concerns are ultimately misplaced, however, given that Article 15 (2) of the Chicago Convention merely prohibits the imposition of charges solely for "the right of transit over or entry into or exit from its territory of any aircraft." Accordingly, this prohibition does not apply to the taxation of benefits afforded within the foregoing management system.

Bibliography

- Abeyratne, Ruwantissa: ICAO: Some recent Developments in Aviation and Environmental Protection Regulation, Environmental Policy and Law 2001, S. 32 ff.
- Abeyratne, Ruwantissa: Law Making and Decision Making Powers of the ICAO Council A Critical Analysis, ZLW 1992, S. 387 ff.
- Amanatidis, Georgios/Friedl, Randall: Science Related to Atmospheric Effects of Aircraft Emissions Continues to Mature, ICAO-Journal 5/2004, S. 14 ff.
- Amend, Guido: Das Instrument der Umweltabgabe auf Gemeinschaftsebene. Möglichkeiten und Grenzen, Hamburg 2001.
- Anand, R.P.: Non-European Sources of the Law of the Sea, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 19 ff.
- *Arnold, Rainer:* Die Rolle der Member States in der Europäischen Verfassungsordnung, EWS 2002, 216 ff.
- Aussant, Jill: Cabotage and the Liberalisation of the Maritime Services Sector, EurTranspR 1993, 347 ff.
- Badura, Peter: Ports, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume III, Amsterdam/Lausanne/New York/Oxford/Shannon/Singapore/Tokyo 1997, S. 1068 ff.
- Balke, Barbara, Steuerliche Gestaltungsfreiheit der Member States und freie Warenverkehr im Europäischen Binnenmarkt, Baden-Baden 1998.
- Basedow, Jürgen: Billigflaggen, Zweitregister und Kollisionsrecht in der Deutschen Schiffahrtspolitik, in: BerDGV 31 (1990), S. 75 ff.
- Basedow, Jürgen: Dienstleistungs- und Kabotagefreiheit im Rahmen von Transportketten, ArchVR 1994, 450 ff.
- Behnam, Awni: Ending Flag State Control?, in: Kirchner, Andrée (ed.): International Marine Environmental Law. Institutions, Implementation and Innovations, Den Haag/New York/London 2003, S. 123 ff.
- Beneyto, José Maria: Die Kompetenzverteilung zwischen der Europäischen Union und den Member States: Thesen und Vorschläge, in: Dieter H. Scheuing (Hrsg.), Europäische Verfassungsordnung, Baden-Baden 2003.
- Beyerlin, Ulrich, Umweltvölkerrecht, München 2000.

- Bieber, Roland/Epiney, Astrid/Haag, Marcel: Die Europäische Union. Europarecht und Politik, 6. Aufl., 670 S., Baden-Baden 2005 (zit.: Verfasser, in: Die Europäische Union).
- Biermann, Frank: Mehrseitige Umweltübereinkommen im GATT/WTO-Recht, ArchVR 2000, 455 ff.
- Birk, Dieter: "Vorteilsabschöpfung durch Abgaben Eine neue Kategorie nichtsteuerlicher Umweltabgaben? in: Kley, Max-Dietrich (Hrsg.): Festschrift für Wolfgang Ritter zum 70. Geburtstag, Köln 1997, 41 ff.
- Birnie, Patricia/Boyle, Alan E.: International Law and the Environment, 2. Aufl., Oxford 2002.
- Blanco-Bazán, Agustín: IMO interface with the Law of the Sea Convention, http://www.imo.org/InfoResource/mainframe.asp?topic_id=406&doc_id=1077
- Blanco-Bazán, Agustín: The Environmental UNCLOS and the Work of IMO in the Field of Prevention of Pollution from Vessels, in: Kirchner, Andrée (ed.): International Marine Environmental Law. Institutions, Implementation and Innovations, Den Haag/New York/London 2003, S. 31 ff.
- Blanke, Hermann-Josef: Zur Verteilung der Kompetenzen in der Europäischen Union Eine Bewertung der Vorschläge des Entwurfs eines Verfassungsvertrages für Europa, in: ELSA (Hrsg.), Die Europäische Verfassung, Baden-Baden, 2004, 39 ff.
- Bleijenberg, A. N./Wit. R.C.N.: A European Environmental Aviation Charge Feasibility Study, Delft 1998.
- Böckenförde, Markus: The Introduction of Alien or New Species into the Marine Environment: A Challenge for Standard Setting and Enforcement, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 241 ff.
- Boeck, Ilka: Die Abgrenzung der Rechtsetzungskompetenzen von Gemeinschaft und Member States in der Europäischen Union. Zur Notwendigkeit und zu den Vorteilen bzw. Nachteilen der Aufstellung eines Kompetenzkataloges in den Gemeinschaftsverträgen, Baden-Baden 1999.
- Bogdandy, Armin v./Bast, Jürgen: Die vertikale Kompetenzordnung der Europäischen Union Rechtsdogmatischer Bestand und verfasungspolitische Reformperspektiven, EuGRZ 2001, 441 ff.
- Breier, Siegfried: Ausgewählte Probleme des gemeinschaftlichen Umweltrechts, RIW 1994, 584 ff.
- Breier, Siegfried: Der Streit um die richtige Rechtsgrundlage in der Rechtsprechung des Europäischen Gerichtshofes, EuR 1995, 46 ff.
- Breuer, Rüdiger: Umweltrechtliche und wirtschaftslenkende Abgaben im Europäischen Binnenmarkt, DVBI 1992, 485 ff.

- Brockhagen, Dietrich/Lienemeyer, Max: Proposal for a European Aviation Charge Design and Implementation with respect to International Economical, Ecological, Legal and Political Constraints, Delft 1999.
- Brosthaus, J./Hopf, R./Koehn, A./Kuhfeld, H./Limprecht, B./Pastowski, A./Petersen, R./Schallaboeck, K.O./Schmied, M./Schneider, J./Sonnborn, K.S./Weyrauther, G./Winter, G.: Maßnahmen zur verursacherbezogenen Schadstoffreduzierung des zivilen Luftverkehrs, UBA-Texte 17/01, Berlin 2001.
- Brown, E.D.: The International Law of the Sea, Volume I: Introductory Manual, Aldershot 1994.
- Brownlie, Ian: Principles of Public International Law, 6. Auflage, Oxford 2003.
- Bundesministerium des Inneren: Das Verursacherprinzip Möglichkeiten und Empfehlungen zur Durchsetzung, Umweltbrief 1/1973, S. 1 ff.
- Bundesregierung: Perspektiven für Deutschland Unsere Strategie für eine nachhaltige Entwicklung, abrufbar unter: http://www.bundesregierung.de/Anlage585668/pdf_datei.pdf.
- *Burgi, Martin:* Grundprobleme des deutschen Emissionshandelssystems: Zuteilungskonzept und Rechtsschutz, in: NVwZ 2004, 1162 ff.
- Calliess, Christian/Ruffert, Matthias (Hrsg.): Kommentar zu EU-Vertrag und EG-Vertrag, 2. Aufl., Neuwied 2002 (zitiert: Calliess/Ruffert-Bearbeiter, EUV/ECT).
- Calliess, Christian: Die Umweltkompetenzen der EG nach dem Vertrag von Nizza zum Handlungsrahmen der europäischen Umweltgesetzgebung, ZUR 2003, 129 ff.
- Calliess, Christian: Kontrolle zentraler Kompetenzausübung in Deutschland und Europa: Ein Lehrstück für die Europäische Verfassung, EuGRZ 2003, S. 181 ff.
- Cames, Martin/Deuber, Odette: Emissionshandel im internationalen zivilen Luftverkehr, Berlin 2004.
- Cheng, Bin: The Law of International Air Transport, London 1962.
- *Cheng, Bin:* Air Law, Eintrag in Bindschneider, R./Buergenthal, Th. u.a. (Hrsg.), Encyclopeadia of Public International Law (EPIL), North-Holland u.a. 1992, S. 66 ff.
- Classen, Claus Dieter: Auf dem Weg zu einer einheitlichen Dogmatik der EG-Grundfreiheiten? Absolute und relative Gehalte der Grundfreiheiten, EWS 1995, 97 ff.
- Classen, Claus Dieter: Die Grundfreiheiten im Spannungsfeld von europäischer Marktfreiheit und mitgliedstaatlichen Gestaltungskompetenzen, EuR 2004, 416 ff.
- Colneric, Ninon: Der Gerichtshof der Europäischen Gemeinschaft als Kompetenzgericht, EuZW 2002, 709 ff.
- Craig, Paul/de Búrca, Graínne: EU Law Text, Cases and Materials, 3. Aufl., Oxford 2003.
- Dahm, Georg: Völkerrecht, Band 1, Stuttgart 1958.

- Dahm, Georg/Delbrück, Jost/Wolfrum, Rüdiger: Völkerrecht, 2. Auflage, Berlin u.a., 1989.
- Dahm, Georg/Delbrück, Jost/Wolfrum, Rüdiger: Völkerrecht, Bd. I/2: Der Staat und andere Völkerrechtssubjekte; Räume unter internationaler Verwaltung, 2. Aufl., Berlin 2002.
- Dauses, Manfred A. (Hrsg.): Handbuch des EU-Wirtschaftsrechts, Loseblattsammlung, München, Stand 2004 (zitiert: Verfasser, in: Dauses (Hrsg.), Hb. EU-WirtschaftsR).
- Diederiks-Verschoor, I.H.Ph: An Introduction to Air Law, 7. Aufl., Den Haag 2001.
- Doehring, Karl: Allgemeine Staatslehre, 3. Aufl., Heidelberg, 2004.
- Doehring, Karl: Völkerrecht, 2. Aufl., Heidelberg 2004.
- Dolzer, Rudolf/Vogel, Klaus (Hrsg.): Bonner Kommentar zum Grundgesetz (zitiert: Bearbeiter, in: BK-GG), Loseblattsammlung, Drittbearbeitung, Stand Juli 2004
- Drobnig, Ulrich: Billige Flaggen im Internationalen Privatrecht, in: BerDGV 31 (1990), S. 31 ff.
- Dubey, Bernard: La répartition des compétences au sein de l'Union européenne à la lumière du fédéralisme suisse. Systèmes, enjeux et conséquences, Genf u.a. 2002.
- Dupuy, Pierre-Marie: Le principe de précaution et le droit international de la mer, in: La mer et son droit. Mélanges offerts à Laurent Lucchini et Jean-Pierre Quéneudec, Paris 2003, S. 205 ff.
- Ebbeson, Jonas: A Critical Assessment of the 1992 Baltic Convention, in: GYIL 43 (2000), S. 38 ff.
- Eberhartinger, Michael: Konvergenz und Neustrukturierung der Grundfreiheiten, EWS 1997, 43 ff.
- *Ehlers, Peter:* Das revidierte Helsinki-Übereinkommen, in: Koch, Hans-Joachim/Lagoni, Rainer (Hrsg.): Meeresumweltschutz für Nord- und Ostsee. Zum Zusammenspiel von Völkerrecht und nationalem Umweltrecht, Baden-Baden 1996, S. 103 ff.
- *Ehlers, Peter:* Marine Environment Protection The Baltic Sea Example, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 93 ff.
- Emmerich-Fritsche, Angelika: Der Grundsatz der Verhältnismäßigkeit als Direktive und Schranke der EG-Rechtsetzung. Mit Beiträgen zu einer gemeineuropäischen Grundrechtslehre sowie zum Lebensmittelrecht, Berlin 2000.
- *Epiney, Astrid*: Gemeinschaftsrechtlicher Umweltschutz und Verwirklichung des Binnenmarktes "Harmonisierung" auch der Rechtsgrundlagen? Zur Entscheidung des EuGH in der Rs C- 300/89, JZ 1992, 578 Titandioxid, JZ 1992, 564 ff.
- *Epiney, Astrid:* Gemeinschaftsrecht und Föderalismus: "Landes-Blindheit" und Pflicht zur Berücksichtigung innerstaatlicher Verfassungsstrukturen, EuR 1994, 301 ff.
- *Epiney, Astrid:* Die Maßstabsfunktion des Art. 30 ECT für nationale umweltpolitische Maßnahmen, ZUR 1995, 24 ff.

- Epiney, Astrid: Umgekehrte Diskriminierungen. Zulässigkeit und Grenzen der discrimination à rebours nach europäischem Gemeinschaftsrecht und nationalem Verfassungsrecht, Köln u.a. 1995.
- Epiney, Astrid: Zur Stellung des Völkerrechts in der EU, EuZW 1999, 5 ff.
- *Epiney, Astrid:* Fragen des europäischen und deutschen Verfassungsrechts, in: Rengeling, Hans-Werner (Hrsg.), Klimaschutz durch Emissionshandel, Köln u.a. 2001, 207 ff.
- Epiney, Astrid: Umweltrecht in der Europäischen Union. Primärrechtliche Grundlagen. Gemeinschaftliches Sekundärrecht, 2. Aufl., Köln u.a. 2005.
- Epiney, Astrid/Furrer, Andreas: Umweltschutz nach Maastricht. Ein Europa der drei Geschwindigkeiten?, EuR 1992, 369 ff.
- Epiney, Astrid/Möllers, Thomas M.J.: Freier Warenverkehr und nationaler Umweltschutz Zu dem den EG-Member States verbleibenden Handlungsspielraum im Europäischen Umweltschutzrecht unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Verhältnismäßigkeitsprüfung, Köln u.a. 1992.
- Epiney, Astrid/Gruber, Reto: Verkehrspolitik und Umweltschutz in der Europäischen Union. Zur Einbeziehung ökologischer Aspekte im Bereich des Straßen- und Schienenverkehrs, Freiburg (CH), 1997.
- Epiney, Astrid/Scheyli, Martin: Strukturprinzipien des Umweltvölkerrechts, Baden-Baden 1998.
- Epiney, Astrid/Gruber, Reto: Verkehrsrecht in der EU. Zu den Gestaltungsspielräumen der EU-Member States im Bereich des Landverkehrs, Baden-Baden 2001.
- Erler, Jochen: Rechtsfragen der ICAO: Die Internationale Zivilluftfahrtorganisation und ihre Member States, Köln 1967.
- Europäische Kommission: Faire und effiziente Preise im Verkehr Politische Konzepte zur Internalisierung der externen Kosten des Verkehrs in der Europäischen Union Grünbuch, KOM(95)691 endg.
- Europäische Kommission: Vorschlag für eine Entscheidung des Rates zur Ermächtigung bestimmter Member States, ermäßigte Verbrauchsteuersätze oder Verbrauchsteuerbefreiungen für Mineralöle mit bestimmten Verwendungszwecken beizubehalten, gemäß dem Verfahren nach Article 8 Absatz 4 der Richtlinie 92/81/EWG, KOM(96) 549 endg.
- *Europäische Kommission:* Faire Preise für die Infrastrukturbenutzung Ein abgestuftes Konzept für einen Gemeinschaftsrahmen für Verkehrsinfrastrukturgebühren in der EU Weißbuch, KOM(98)466 endg.
- Europäische Kommission: Luftverkehr und Umwelt: Wege zu einer nachhaltigen Entwicklung, KOM(99)640 endg.

- Europäische Kommission: Mitteilung der Kommission an das Europäische Parlament, den Rat, den Wirtschafts- und Sozialausschuss und den Ausschuss der Regionen über die Besteuerung von Flugkraftstoff, KOM(2000)110 endg.
- *Europäische Kommission:* Anpassung der Eigenmittelobergrenze und der Obergrenze der Mittel für Verpflichtungen nach Inkrafttreten des Beschlusses 2000/597/EG, Euratom, KOM(2001) 801 endg.
- Europäische Kommission: Die europäische Verkehrspolitik bis 2010 Weichenstellungen für die Zukunft Weißbuch, KOM(2001)370 endg.
- Europäische Kommission: Vorschlag für eine Richtlinie des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Änderung der Richtlinie 1999/62/EG über die Erhebung von Gebühren für die Benutzung bestimmter Verkehrswege durch schwere Nutzfahrzeuge, KOM(2003)448 endg.
- *Europäische Kommission:* Finanzierung der Europäischen Union Bericht der Kommission über das Funktionieren des Eigenmittelsystems, KOM(2004)505 endg.
- Europäische Kommission: Arbeitsprogramm der Kommission 2005, Dok. 2005/ENV/008.
- Europäische Kommission: New Sources of Financing for Development: A Review of Options, SEC(2005)467.
- Europäische Kommission: Verringerung der Klimawirkung des Luftverkehrs Kommission konsultiert Europäer, Pressemitteilung Nr. IP/05/281 vom 11. März 2005.
- Europäische Kommission: Winning the Battle Against Global Climate Change, KOM(2005)35 endg.
- Europäische Kommission: An Analysis of a Possible Contribution based on Airline Tickets as a New Source of Financing Development, SEC(2005)733.
- Europäischer Rat: Schlussfolgerungen des Vorsitzes, Göteborg, 15. und 16. Juni 2001, Dok. SN 200/1/01 REV 1.
- Europäisches Parlament: Entschließung des Europäischen Parlaments zu der Strategie der Europäischen Union für die Konferenz von Buenos Aires zum Thema Klimaänderung (COP-10), 17. November 2004, Dok. P6_TA(2004)0060.
- European Environmental Bureau (EEB)/Friends of Nature International (FNI)/Friends of the Earth Europe (FoEE)/European Federation for Transport and Environment (T&E) Departure Time for Tax Exemptions in Aviation Sector, gemeinsame Pressemitteilung vom 8. April 2005, abrufbar unter: http://www.t-e.nu/docs/Press/2005/2005-04-08_joint_statement_ecofin_aviation.pdf.
- European Federation for Transport and Environment (T&E)ICAO Assembly Oct 2004: Climate Disaster Coming Up!, Positionspapier vom 10. September 2004, abrufbar unter: http://www.t-e.nu/docs/Positionpapers/2004/t-e_2004_icao_assembly_overview.pdf.

- Evans, Malcolm D.: The Law of the Sea, in: ders. (ed.): International Law, Oxford 2003, S. 623 ff.
- Everling, Ulrich: Probleme der Rechtsangleichung zur Verwirklichung des europäischen Binnenmarktes, FS Ernst Steindorff, Berlin, New York 1990, 1155 ff.
- Everling, Ulrich: Abgrenzung der Rechtsangleichung zur Verwirklichung des Binnenmarktes nach Art. 100a EWGV durch den Gerichtshof, EuR 1991, 179 ff.
- Everling, Ulrich: Quis custodiet custodes ipsos?, EuZW 2002, 357 ff.
- Falke, Dirk: Vertragskonkurrenz und Vertragskonflikt im Recht der WTO: erste Erfahrungen der Rechtsprechung 1995-1999, ZEuS 2000, 307 ff.
- Farantouris, Nikolaos E.: European Integration and Maritime Transport, Brüssel 2003.
- Fitzmaurice, Malgosia: The 1992 Convention on the Baltic Sea Environment, in: RECIEL 2 (1993), S. 24 ff.
- Fitzmaurice-Lachs, Malgosia: Monitoring Compliance and Enforcement of Compliance through the Helsinki Convention, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 73 ff.
- Freytag, Georg: Europarechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltabgaben. Dargestellt am Beispiel von Abgaben zur Reduzierung der Umweltbelastung durch den Straßenverkehr, Baden-Baden 2001.
- Frohnmeyer, Albrecht/Münckenhausen, Peter (Hrsg.): Kommentar zum EG-Verkehrsrecht, Loseblattsammlung, Stand 2000-2004 (zitiert: Frohnmeyer/Münckenhausen-Bearbeiter, ECTR).
- Füller, Jens: Grundlagen und inhaltliche Reichweite der Warenverkehrsfreiheit nach dem EG-Vertrag, Baden-Baden 2000.
- Geiger, Rudolf: Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft Kommentar, 3. Aufl., München 2000.
- Gloria, Christian: Internationales öffentliches Seerecht, in: Ipsen, Knut: Völkerrecht, 5. Aufl., München 2004, S. 816 ff.
- *Grabitz, Eberhard/Hilf, Meinhard* (Hrsg.): Kommentar zum EWG-Vertrag, Loseblattsammlung, Stand 1996-2004 (zitiert: Grabitz/Hilf-*Bearbeiter*).
- Greaves, Rosa: EC Transport Law, Harlow u.a. 2000.
- Groeben, Hans von der/Schwarze Jürgen (Hrsg.): Kommentar zum Vertrag über die Europäische Union und zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft, Bände, 4 Bde, 6. Aufl., Baden-Baden 2003 (zitiert: von der Groeben/Schwarze-Bearbeiter).

- *Gundel, Jörg:* Die Tabakprodukt-Richtlinie vor dem EuGH: Zur Zulässigkeit der Nutzung doppelter Rechtsgrundlagen im Rechtsetzungsverfahren der Gemeinschaft Anmerkung zu EuGH, Rechts. C-491/01 BAI/Secretary of Health, EuR 2003, 100 ff.
- Gündling, Lothar: Die 200 Seemeilen-Wirtschaftszone. Entstehung eines neuen Regimes des Meeresvölkerrechts, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York/Tokyo 1983.
- Haas, Peter M.: Protecting the Baltic and North Seas, in: Haas, Peter M./Keohane, Robert O./Levy, Marc A. (eds.): Institutions for the Earth: Sources of Effective International Environmental Protection, Cambridge (Massachusetts)/London 1993, S. 133 ff.
- Harrison, David/Radov, Daniel/Patchett, James: Evaluation of the Feasibility of Alternative Market-Based Mechanisms to Promote Low-Emission Shipping in European Union Sea Areas, London 2004.
- Heimlich, Jörn: Die Anerkennung der Verleihungsgebühr durch den "Wasserpfennig-Beschluß" des Bundesverfassungsgerichts, in: DÖV 1997, 996 ff.
- Heintschel v. Heinegg, Wolff: The Development of Environmental Standards for the North-East Atlantic, Including the North Sea, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 135 ff.
- Heintschel v. Heinegg, Wolff: Umweltvölkerrecht, in: Rengeling, Hans-Werner (Hrsg.): Handbuch zum europäischen und deutschen Umweltrecht (EUDUR), Band I: Allgemeines Umweltrecht, 2. Aufl., Köln/Berlin/Bonn/München 2003, S. 750 ff.
- *Heintschel v. Heinegg, Wolff:* Internationales öffentliches Umweltrecht, in: Ipsen, Knut: Völkerrecht, 5. Aufl., München 2004, S. 973 ff.
- Hendler, Reinhard: Zur Entwicklung des Umweltabgabenrechts, NuR 2000, 661 ff.
- Herdegen, Matthias: "Föderative Grundsätze" in der Europäischen Union, FS Helmut Steinberger, 2002, 1193 ff.
- Herdegen, Mathias: Europarecht, 6. Auflage, München 2004.
- Herrmann, Christoph: Die EG-Außenkompetenzen im Schnittbereich zwischen internationaler Umwelt- und Handelspolitik, NVwZ 2002, 1168 ff.
- Heselhaus, Sebastian: Emanzipation der Umweltpolitik nach Art. 175 I EG-Vertrag (ex-Art. 130s I ECT). Zur Abgrenzung der Umweltkompetenz der Gemeinschaft von anderen Sachkompetenzen unter Berücksichtigung von Doppelabstützungen, NVwZ 1999, 1190 ff.
- Heselhaus, Sebastian: Abgabenhoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft in der Umweltpolitik. Eine Untersuchung unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Möglichkeiten und Grenzen einer Ertragshoheit der Europäischen Gemeinschaft, Berlin 2001.

- Heselhaus, Sebastian: Kompetenz des Rates zum Abschluss des Donauschutzabkommens, EuZW 2001, 213.
- Hilf, Juliane: The Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic New Approaches to an Old Problem?, in: ZaöRV 55 (1995), S. 580 ff.
- *Hilf, Meinhard:* Umweltabgaben als Gegenstand von Gemeinschaftsrecht und -politik, NVwZ 1992, 105 ff., sowie UTR 1992, 121 ff.
- Hochrangige Gruppe "Verkehrsinfrastruktur-Entgelte": Schätzung der Kosten des Verkehrs Abschlußbericht, 26. Mai 1999, abrufbar unter: http://europa.eu.int/comm/transport/infr-charging/library/hlg-4-99-rep-de.pdf.
- Hof, Christian: Straßenverkehrsabgaben und Europarecht. Eine Untersuchung der Abgabenbelastung des Straßenverkehrs im Lichte des europäischen Rechts, Heidelberg 1998.
- Hunter, David/Salzman, James/Zaelke, Durwood: International Environmental Law and Policy, 2. Aufl., New York 2002.
- Hupe, J.: Work on Environmental Protection Reflects Need for Balancing many Factors, ICAO Journal 5/2004, S. 5 ff.
- *Ignarski, Jonathan S.:* Flags of Convenience, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume II, Amsterdam 1995, S. 404 f.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Special Report on Aviation and the Global Atmosphere, IPCC, WMO/UNEP, Cambridge 1999.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Climate Change 2001, Band 4: Synthesis Report, Cambridge, 2001.
- International Air Transport Association (IATA): Serious Problems Need Serious Solutions, Stellungnahme, abrufbar unter: http://www.iata.org/pressroom/serious_solutions.htm.
- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): Digest of Bilateral Air Transport Agreements, Dokument 9511 und Supplement 1, Montréal, 1988 und 1995.
- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): Council Resolution on Environmental Charges and Taxes, adopted by the Council on 9 December 1996 at the 16th meeting of its 149th session.
- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): Manual on Air Navigation Services Economics, 3. Aufl., Montreal 1997.
- *International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO):* Resolution A32-8 Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection. Adopted at the 32nd Session of the Assembly, Montreal 1998.

- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): Facilitation Panel (FALP), Third Meeting of the FAL Panel (FALP/3), 12. bis 16. Februar 2001, Draft Report on Agenda Item 2, FALP/3-WP/24.
- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): Facilitation: Standards and Recommended Practices, 11. Auflage, Montréal 2002.
- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): Aviation and Environmental Experts Recommend Further Measures to Protect the Environment, Pressemitteilung PIO 02/04 vom 16. Februar 2004, abrufbar unter http://www.icao.int.
- *International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO):* Resolution A35-7 Consolidated Statement of Continuing ICAO Policies and Practices related to Environmental Protection. Adopted at the 35th Session of the Assembly, Montreal 2004.
- International Law Commission: Study on the Function and Scope of the Lex Specialis Rule and the Question of 'Self-Contained Regimes', UN Dok. ILC(LVI)/SG/FIL/CRD.1/Add.1, Genf 2004.
- Ipsen, Knut: Völkerrecht: Ein Studienbuch, 4. Auflage, München 1999.
- Jachmann, Monika: Sonderabgaben als staatliche Einnahmequelle im Steuerstaat, in: StuW 1997, 299 ff.
- Jans, Jan H./Ann-Kathrin von der Heide: Europäisches Umweltrecht, Groningen 2003.
- Jansen, Bela: Ökologische Steuern in der Europäischen Gemeinschaft, ZUR 2003, 257 ff.
- Jarass, Hans D.: Binnenmarktrichtlinien und Umweltschutzrichtlinien, EuZW 1991, 530 ff.
- Jarass, Hans D.: Elemente einer Dogmatik der Grundfreiheiten, EuR 1995, 202 ff.
- Jarass, Hans D.: Elemente einer Dogmatik der Grundfreiheiten II, EuR 2000, 705 ff.
- Jarass, Hans D./Pieroth, Bodo: Grundgesetz für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland: Kommentar, 5. Auflage, München 2000.
- Jarass, Hans D./Pieroth, Bodo: Grundgesetz für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, 6. Aufl. München 2002.
- Jatzke, Harald: Umweltbezogene Abgaben in der Europäischen Union und die Kommissionsvorschläge zur Besteuerung von Energieerzeugnissen, IStR 1999, 137 ff.
- *Jatzke, Harald:* Gemeinschaftsrechtliche Restriktionen bei der Erhebung von nicht harmonisierten Umweltsteuern, EWS 2000, 491 ff.
- *Jenisch, Uwe:* The Development of Environmental Standards for the Baltic Sea, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 63 ff.

- Jennings, Robert/Watts, Arthur (eds.): Oppenheim's International Law, Volume I: Peace, 9. Aufl., Harlow 1992.
- Jobs, Alselm T.: Steuern auf Energie als Element einer ökologischen Steuerreform, Baden-Baden 1999.
- *Johnson, D.H.N.:* Innocent Passage, Transit Passage, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume II, Amsterdam 1995, S. 994 ff.
- Johnson, D.H.N.: Navigation, Freedom of, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume III, Amsterdam/Lausanne/New York/Oxford/Shannon/Singapore/Tokyo 1997, S. 528 ff.
- *Kahl, Wolfgang:* Umweltprinzip und Gemeinschaftsrecht. Eine Untersuchung zur Rechtsidee des "bestmöglichen Umweltschutzes" im EWG-Vertrag, Heidelberg 1993.
- *Kamto, Maurice:* La nationalité des navires en droit international, in: La mer et son droit. Mélanges offerts à Laurent Lucchini et Jean-Pierre Quéneudec, Paris 2003, S. 343 ff.
- Kingreen, Thorsten: Die Struktur der Grundfreiheiten des Europäischen Gemeinschaftsrechts, 1999.
- Kingreen, Thorsten, Theorie und Dogmatik der Grundrechte im europäischen Verfassungsrecht, EuGRZ 2004, 570 ff.
- *Kirchhof, Ferdinand:* Umweltabgaben Die Regelungen in der Europäischen Gemeinschaft und ihren Member States, in H.-W. Rengeling, Handbuch zum europäischen und deutschen Umweltrecht, Köln 1998, S. 1226 ff.
- Kirchhof, Ferdinand: Die Tauglichkeit von Abgaben zur Lenkung des Verhaltens, DVBl. 2000, 1166 ff.
- *Kirchhof, Ferdinand/Kemmler, Iris:* Einstimmigkeitserfordernis im Rat bei der Beschlussfassung über eine europäische Richtlinie zum Handel mit Treibhausgasemissionsberechtigungen, EWS 2003, 217 ff.
- Kirchhof, Paul: Staatliche Einnahmen, in: Isensee, Josef / Kirchhof, Paul (Hrsg.): Handbuch des Staatsrechts der Bundesrepublik Deutschland (zitiert: HdStR), Band IV, § 88, 2. Aufl. Heidelberg 1999
- Klinski, Stefan: Die novellierten Stellplatzbestimmungen in den Bauordnungen der Länder Entwicklung, Vergleich, verfassungsrechtliche Würdigung, Berlin 2001.
- Kloepfer, Michael: Die lenkende Gebühr, in: Archiv des öffentlichen Rechts (AöR) 97 (1990), 232 ff.
- Koch, Oliver: Der Grundsatz der Verhältnismäßigkeit in der Rechtsprechung des Gerichtshofs der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, Berlin 2003.

- Köck, Wolfgang: Indirekte Steuerung im Umweltrecht: Abgabenerhebung, Umweltschutzbeauftragte und "Öko-Auditing" Anmerkungen zum "Professoren-Entwurf" eines Umweltgesetzbuchs Allgemeiner Teil (UGB-AT) -, DVBl 1994, 27 ff.
- Kodal, Kurt/Krämer, Helmut: Straßenrecht, 6. Aufl., München 1999.
- König, Doris: Port State Control: An Assessment of European Practice, in: Ehlers, Peter/Mann-Borgese, Elisabeth/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Marine Issues. From a Scientific, Political and Legal Perspective, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 37 ff.
- Kraußer, Hanspeter, Das Prinzip gegrenzter Ermächtigung im Gemeinschaftsrecht als Strukturprinzip des EWG-Vertrages, Berlin 1991.
- Kreibohm, Philipp, Der Begriff der Steuer im Europäischen Gemeinschaftsrecht, Köln u.a. 2004.
- *Kuntze, Christian*, Die Kompetenzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaft auf dem Gebiet des Steuerrechts, Frankfurt a.M. u.a. 1999.
- Lackhoff, Klaus: Die Niederlassungsfreiheit des EG nur ein Gleichheits- oder auch ein Freiheitsrecht?, 2000.
- Lagoni, Rainer: Seerechtswissenschaft, in: Selmer, Peter/von Münch, Ingo (Hrsg.): Gedächtnisschrift für Wolfgang Martens, Berlin/New York 1987, S. 803 ff.
- Lagoni, Rainer: Der Hamburger Hafen und die internationale Handelsschiffahrt im Völkerrecht, in: AVR 26 (1988), S. 261 ff.
- Lagoni, Rainer: Internal Waters, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume II, Amsterdam 1995, S. 1034 ff.
- Lagoni, Rainer: Internal Waters, Seagoing Vessels in, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume II, Amsterdam 1995, S. 1036 ff.
- Lagoni, Rainer: Environmental Protection and Maritime Safety in the Danish Straits, in: Frowein, Jochen Abr./Scharioth, Klaus/Winkelmann, Ingo/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (Hrsg.): Verhandeln für den Frieden. Negotiating for Peace. Liber Amicorum Tono Eitel, Berlin/Heidelberg 2003, S. 605 ff.
- Landau, Jean-Pierre: Les nouvelles contributions financières internationales, Paris 2004.
- Lenaerts, Koen/van Nuffel, Piet: Constitutional Law of the European Union, 2. Aufl., London 2005.
- Lenz, Carl-Otto/Borchardt, Klaus-Dieter (Hrsg.): EU- und EG-Vertrag. Kommentar, 3. Aufl., Köln, Basel, Wien 2003 (zit.: Lenz/Borchardt-Verfasser).
- Lienemeyer, Max: Die Finanzverfassung der Europäischen Union. Ein Rechtsvergleich mit bundesstaatlichen Verfassungen, Baden-Baden 2001.
- *Lienemeyer, Max:* Europaweite Abgaben zur Reduzierung von Treibhausgasemissionen, EuR 1998, S. 478 ff.

- Marr, Simon/Beyer, Peter/Rüsch, Julia: Außenkompetenzen der Member States unter dem OSPAR-Übereinkommen im Bereich des Meeresschutzes, in: Umweltbundesamt (Hrsg.): EG-Kompetenzen bei völkerrechtlichen Verträgen im Umweltbereich unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des OSPAR-Übereinkommens, Berlin 2004, S. 49 ff.
- Marston, Geoffrey: Maritime Jurisdiction, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume III, Amsterdam/Lausanne/New York/Oxford/Shannon/Singapore/Tokyo 1997, S. 316 ff.
- *Matuschak, Holger:* Die Bedeutung des neuen Art. 130s (2) ECT im Rahmen des EG-vertraglichen Umweltrechts, DVBl 1995, 81 ff.
- *Maunz, Theodor/Dürig, Günter* (Hrsg.): Grundgesetz-Kommentar (Loseblattsammlung), München, Stand Februar 2004.
- McNair, Arnold D.: The Law of the Air, 3. Auflage, London 1964.
- Meijers, Daniel: Tax Flight An Investigation into the Origins and Developments of the Exemption from various kinds of Taxation of International Aviation, Maastricht 2005.
- Meng, Werner: Extraterritoriale Jurisdiktion im öffentlichen Wirtschaftsrecht, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York 1993.
- Meßerschmidt, Klaus: Umweltabgaben als Rechtsproblem, Berlin 1986.
- *Middeke, Andreas*: Der Kompetenznormenkonflikt umweltrelevanter Gemeinschaftsakte im Binnenmarkt zugleich Anmerkung zum Urteil des EuGH vom 17. 3. 1993 in der Rechtssache C-155/91, DVBI 1993, 769 ff.
- Mosiek, Marcus: Effet utile und Rechtsgemeinschaft Zugleich ein Beitrag zur Kompetenzordnung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft, Münster 2003.
- Müller, Christian: Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der indirekten Verhaltenssteuerung durch Abgaben im Umweltrecht, Köln u.a. 1994.
- Murswiek, Dietrich/Wilms, Susanne: Die Entlastung der Städte vom Individualverkehr (Rechtsgutachten), Freiburg/Köln 1992
- *Murswiek, Dietrich:* Ein Schritt in die Richtung ökologisches Recht Die Wasserpfennig-Entscheidung des Bundesverfassungsgerichts, in: NVwZ 1996, 417 ff.
- Nandan, Satya N./Rosenne, Shabtai/Grandy, Neal R. (Hrsg.): United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea 1982. A Commentary, Bd. II, Dordrecht/Boston/London 1993.
- Nettesheim, Martin: Grundrechtliche Prüfdichte durch den EuGH, EuZW 1995, 106 ff.
- Nettesheim, Martin: Horizontale Kompetenzkonflikte in der EG, EuR 1993, 243 ff.
- *Nettesheim, Martin:* Kompetenzen, in: Armin v. Bogdandy (Hrsg.), Europäisches Verfassungsrecht, Berlin 2003, 415 ff.

- O'Connell, D. P.: The International Law of the Sea, Volume I, Oxford 1982.
- *Oberthür, Sebastian/Ott, Hermann E.:* The Kyoto Protocol: International Climate Policy for the 21st Century, Berlin 1999.
- Oberthür, Sebastian: Institutional Interaction to Address Greenhouse Gas Emissions from International Transport: ICAO, IMO and the Kyoto Protocol, Climate Policy 2003, S. 191 ff.
- Oda, Shigeru: Exclusive Economic Zone, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume II, Amsterdam 1995, S. 305 ff.
- Ohler, Christoph, Die fiskalische Integration in der Europäischen Gemeinschaft, Baden-Baden 1997.
- Oliver, Peter/Roth, Wulf-Henning: The internal market and the four freedoms, CMLRev. 2004, 407 ff.
- *Oppermann, Thomas:* Eine Verfassung für die Europäische Union Der Entwurf des Europäischen Konvents 1. Teil, DVBl. 2003, 1165 ff., 2. Teil, DVBl. 2003, 1234 ff.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD): Special Issues in Carbon/Energy Taxation: Carbon Charges on Aviation Fuels, OECD/GD(97)78, Policies and Measures for Common Action, Working Paper 12, Paris 1997.
- Orrego Vicuna, Francisco: The exclusive economic zone. Regime and legal nature under international law, Cambridge 1989.
- Oxman, Bernard H.: Jurisdiction of. States, in: Rudolf Bernhardt (Hrsg.), Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Bd. III, Amsterdam 1997, 55 ff.
- Pache, Eckhard: Der Grundsatz der Verhältnismäßigkeit in der Rechtsprechung der Gerichte der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, NVwZ 1999, 1033 ff.
- Pache, Eckhard: Die Kontrolldichte in der Rechtsprechung des Gerichtshofs der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, DVBl. 1998, 380 ff.
- Pache, Eckhard: Möglichkeiten der Einführung einer Kerosinsteuer auf innerdeutschen Flügen, Rechtsgutachten im Auftrag des Umweltbundesamtes, Würzburg 2005.
- Pache, Eckhard: Tatbestandliche Abwägung und Beurteilungsspielraum. Zur Einheitlichkeit administrativer Entscheidungsfreiräume und zu deren Konsequenzen im verwaltunsgerichtlichen Verfahren, Tübingen 2001.
- Pancracio, Jean-Paul: Droit international des espaces. Air, mer, fleuves, terre, cosmos, Paris 1997.
- Paust, Jordan J.: Waves Within and Outside the Law of the Sea: Traversing Gaps, Ambiguities and Priorities, in: Ando, Nisuke/McWhinney, Edward/Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): Liber Amicorum Judge Shigeru Oda, Volume 2, Den Haag/London/New York 2002, S. 1255 ff.

- Pernice, Ingolf: Auswirkungen des europäischen Binnenmarktes auf das Umweltrecht Gemeinschafts(verfassungs-)rechtliche Grundlagen, NVwZ 1990, 201 ff.
- Peters, Christian H.: Innere Gewässer im Neuen Seerecht. Aspekte der fortschreitenden Entwicklung im Staats-, Europa- und Völkerrecht, Tübingen 1999.
- *Pieper, Stefan Ulrich:* Gemeinschaftsrechtliche Anforderungen an Umweltsonderabgaben unter Berücksichtigung ihres Aufkommens, DÖV 1996, 232 ff.
- Power, Vincent: EC Shipping Law, 2. Aufl., London 1998.
- Proelß, Alexander: Meeresschutz im Völker- und Europarecht. Das Beispiel des Nordostatlantiks, Berlin 2004.
- Rabe, Hans-Jürgen: Öko-Steuern aus der Sicht der Europäischen Gemeinschaft, in: Oldiges, Martin (Hrsg.), Abgabenrechtliche Verhaltenssteuerung im Umweltrecht, Leipzig 2003, 189 ff.
- Raber, Hans Georg: Wassernutzungsentgelte und das Grundgesetz, in: NVwZ 1997, 219 ff.
- Rat von Sachverständigen für Umweltfragen (SRU): Meeresumweltschutz für Nord- und Ostsee. Sondergutachten, Baden-Baden 2004.
- Reister, Erwin: Budget und Finanzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften, Baden-Baden 1975.
- Rengeling, Hans-Werner (Hrsg.): Handbuch zum europäischen und deutschen Umweltrecht, 3 Bände, 2. Aufl., Köln u.a. 2003 (zitiert: Bearbeiter, EUDUR I, II/1, II/2).
- Rengeling, Hans-Werner/Szczekalla, Peter: Grundrechte in der Europäischen Union. Charta der Grundrechte und Allgemeine Rechtsgrundsätze, Köln u.a. 2005.
- Rengeling, Hans-Werner: Die wirtschaftsbezogenen Grundrechte in der Europäischen Grundrechtecharta, DVBI. 2004, 453 ff.
- *Riccomagno, Mario:* The Liberalization in Access to Maritime Transport Markets in the European Union, EurTranspR 1997, 537 ff.
- *Riccomagno, Mario:* Cabotage and the Liberalisation of the Maritime Services Sector, EurTranspR 1993, 372 ff.
- Ringbom, Henrik: Preventing Pollution from Ships Reflections on the "Adequacy" of Existing Rules, in: RECIEL 8 (1999), S. 21 ff.
- Rozakis, Christos L.: Continental Shelf, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume I, Amsterdam/London/New York/Tokyo 1992, S. 783 ff.
- Sachs. Michael (Hrsg.): Grundgesetz, 3. Aufl., München 2003
- Sadat-Akhavi, Ali: Methods of Resolving Conflicts between Treaties, Leiden 2003.
- Sands Philippe: Principles of International Environmental Law, 2. Aufl., Cambridge 2003.

- Scheuing, Dieter H.: Europäisches Umweltverfassungsrecht im Spiegel der Rechtsprechung des EuGH, in: Gesellschaft für Umweltrecht (Hrsg.), Umweltrecht im Wandel, Berlin 2001, 129 ff.
- Scheuing, Dieter H.: Umweltschutz auf der Grundlage der Einheitlichen Europäischen Akte, EuR 1989, 152 ff.
- Schiano di Pepe, Lorenzo: Port State Control as an Instrument to Ensure Compliance with International Marine Environmental Obligations, in: Kirchner, Andrée (ed.): International Marine Environmental Law. Institutions, Implementation and Innovations, Den Haag/New York/London 2003, S. 137 ff.
- Schmidt, Alexander: Zulässigkeit landesrechtlicher Wassernutzungsabgaben (Urteilsanmerkung), in: ZUR 1996, 88 ff.
- Schrijver, Nico: Sovereignty over natural resources. Balancing rights and duties, Cambridge 1997.
- Schröder, Meinhard: Zusammenwirken von Gemeinschaftsrecht und nationalem Recht auf dem Gebiet der Umweltabgaben, in P. Kirchhof, Umweltschutz im Abgaben- und Steuerrecht, Köln 1992, S. 87 ff.
- Schröer, Thomas: Die Kompetenzverteilung zwischen der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft und ihren Member States auf dem Gebiet des Umweltschutzes, Berlin 1992.
- Schwarz, Kyrill-A.: Die Außenkompetenzen der Gemeinschaft im Spannungsfeld von internationaler Umwelt- und Handelspolitik zugleich eine Anmerkung zum Gutachten 2/00 des EuGH vom 6.12.2001 -, ZEuS 2003, 51 ff.
- Schwarze, Jürgen (Hrsg.): EU-Kommentar, Baden-Baden 2000 (zitiert: Schwarze-Verfasser).
- Schweisfurth, Theodor: International Treaties and Third States, in: ZaöRV 45 (1985), S. 653 ff.
- Schwenk, W.: Handbuch des Luftverkehrsrechts, 2. Aufl., Köln 1996.
- Seeger, Katja: Umweltabgaben im nationalen Alleingang EU-rechtliche Grenzen und Spielräume für nationale Umweltabgaben, in: Jakob, Wolfgang/Zugmaier, Oliver (Hrsg.), Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, Augsburg 1996, 165 ff.
- Seidel, Martin: Umweltrechtliche und wirtschaftslenkende Abgaben aus gemeinschaftsrechtlicher Sicht, NVwZ 1993, 105 ff.
- Seidl-Hohenveldern, Ignaz: Völkerrecht, 10. Aufl., Köln 2000.
- Selmer, Peter/Brodersen, Carsten: Rechtliche Probleme der Einführung von Straßenbenutzungsgebühren, Stuttgart 1994
- Sharma, Surya P.: Territorial Sea, in: Rudolf Bernhardt (ed.), Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume IV, Amsterdam etc. 2000, S. 818 ff.
- Shaw, Malcolm N.: International Law, 5. Aufl., Cambridge 2003.

- Sioussouras, Petros: The formation of customary rights in the international law of the sea, in: Revue hellénique de droit international 54 (2001), S. 299 ff.
- Skjaerseth, Jon Birger: The 20th Anniversary of the Mediterranean Action Plan: Reason to Celebrate? in: Green Globe Yearbook 1996, S. 47 ff.
- Skouris, Wassilios: L'intégration de la dimension environnementale dans les différentes politiques communautaires, illustrés par des exemples tirés de la jurisprudence de la Cour de justice des Communautés européennes, FS Gil Carlos Rodriguez Iglesias, Berlin 2003, 497 ff.
- Smeddinck, Ulrich/Schomerus, Thomas: Die Stellplatzpflicht im Wandel, in: ZUR 1995, 72 ff.
- Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands/Bündnis 90/Die Grünen: Erneuerung Gerechtigkeit Nachhaltigkeit: Für ein wirtschaftlich starkes, soziales und ökologisches Deutschland. Für eine lebendige Demokratie, Koalitionsvertrag vom 16. Oktober 2002.
- Stahlschmidt, Michael: Umweltsteuern und Umweltabgaben in der Republik Österreich und der Bundesrepublik Österreich, Frankfurt u.a. 2003.
- Steinberg, Philipp: Zur Konvergenz der Grundfreiheiten auf der Tatbestands- und Rechtfertigungsebene, EuGRZ 2002, 13 ff.
- Strasser, Daniel: Die Finanzen Europas, Luxemburg 1982.
- Streinz, Rudolf: EUV/ECT. Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft. Kurzkommentar, München 2003 (zitiert: Streinz-Bearbeiter, EUV/ECT).
- Sutter, Franz Philipp: EuGH-Freibrief für nationale Kfz-Zulassungsabgaben zeigt Grenzen der EG-Grundfreiheiten auf, EuZW 2004, 590 ff.
- Thiel, Jürgen Michael: Umweltrechtliche Kompetenzen in der Europäischen Union, Bochum 1995.
- Tipke, Klaus: Die Steuerrechtsordnung, Bd. III, Köln 1993.
- Tipke, Klaus: Die Steuerrechtsordnung, Bd. II, 2. Aufl. Köln 2002.
- Tipke, Klaus/Lang, Joachim: Steuerrecht, 17. Aufl., Köln 2002.
- Trebilcock, Michael J./Howse, Robert: The Regulation of International Trade, 2. Aufl., London 1999.
- *Treves, Tullio:* L'approche régionale en matière de protection de l'environnement marin, in: La mer et son droit. Mélanges offerts à Laurent Lucchini et Jean-Pierre Quéneudec, Paris 2003, S. 591 ff.
- *Ullrich, Meike:* Die Wahl der Rechtsgrundlage als Rechtsproblem des Gemeinschaftsrechts, ZeuS 2000, 243 ff.

- Van Hooydonk, Eric: The Regime of Port Authorities under European Law (including an Analysis of the Port Services Directive), in: Van Hooydonk, Eric (Hrsg.), European Seaports Law, EU Law of Ports and Port Services and the Ports Package, Antwerpen 2003, 104 ff.
- Verdross, Alfred/Simma, Bruno: Universelles Völkerrecht: Theorie und Praxis, 3. Aufl., Berlin 1984.
- Verhoeven, Joe: Droit international public, Bruxelles 2000.
- Vitzthum, Wolfgang Graf: Schiffssicherheit: Die EG als potentieller Durchsetzungsdegen der IMO, in: ZaöRV 62 (2002), S. 163 ff.
- Vogel, Klaus/Rodi, Michael: Probleme bei der Erhebung von EG-Eigenmitteln aus rechtsvergleichender Sicht, Baden-Baden 1995.
- von Brevern, Hartmut/von Carlowitz, Leopold: Die erste Hauptsacheentscheidung des Internationalen Seegerichtshofs, in: RIW 45 (1999), S. 856 ff.
- von der Groeben, Hans/ Schwarze, Jürgen: Vertrag über die Europäische Union und Vertrag zur Gründung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft: Kommentar, 6. Aufl., Baden-Baden, 2004.
- von Mangoldt, Herrmann/Klein, Friedrich/ Starck, Christian (Hrsg.): Das Bonner Grundgesetz, Bd. III, 4. Aufl., München 2001.
- von Münch, Ingo/Kunig, Philip (Hrsg.): Grundgesetz-Kommentar, Bd. III, 3. Aufl., München 1996.
- von Münch, Ingo/Kunig, Philip (Hrsg.): Grundgesetz-Kommentar, Bd. III, 4./5. Aufl., München 2003.
- von Mutius, Albert/Lünenburger, Simone: Verfassungsrechtliche Aspekte einer umfassenden ökologischen Ressourcenwirtschaft, in: NVwZ 1996, 1061 ff.
- Vorwerk, Axel: Die umweltpolitischen Kompetenzen der Europäischen Gemeinschaft und ihrer Member States nach Inkrafttreten der EEA, München 1989.
- Wallrab, Annette: Die Verpflichteten der Gemeinschaftsgrundrechte. Umfang und Grenzen der Bindung der Europäischen Gemeinschaft und der Member States an die Grundrechte des Europäischen Gemeinschaftsrechts, Baden-Baden 2004.
- Wasmeier, Martin: Umweltabgaben und Europarecht. Schranken des staatlichen Handlungsspielraums bei der Erhebung öffentlicher Abgaben im Interesse des Umweltschutzes, München 1995.
- Weiß, Wolfgang: Nationales Steuerrecht und Niederlassungsfreiheit. Von der Konvergenz der Grundfreiheiten als Beschränkungsverbote zur Auflösung der Differenzierung zwischen unterschiedslosen und unterschiedlichen Maßnahmen, EuZW 1999, 493 ff.
- Welthandelsorganisation: Air Transport Services, WTO Dok. S/C/W/59 vom 5. November 1998.

- Welthandelsorganisation: Decision on Maritime Transport Services, Adopted by the Council for Trade in Services on 28 June 1996, WTO Dok. S/L/24 vom 3. Juli 1996.
- Welthandelsorganisation: European Communities and their Member States Schedule of Specific Commitments, WTO Dok. GATS/SC/31 vom 15 April 1994.
- Welzel, EU-rechtliche und abkommensrechtliche Fragen der Einführung einer Energiesteuer in Deutschland, in: Jakob/Zugmaier (Hrsg.), Rechtliche Probleme von Umweltabgaben, 1996, 197 ff.
- Wicke, Lutz, Umweltökonomie, 2. Aufl., München 1989.
- Wiebe, Alexander: Das Verbot der Erhebung von Abgaben zollgleicher Wirkung in Abgrenzung zu anderen Regelungen des EG-Vertrages, Frankfurt u.a. 1999.
- *Wieberneit, Bernd:* Europarechtlicher Ordnungsrahmen für Umweltsubventionen: Grundlagen, Bestand und Perspektiven, Berlin 1997.
- Wilke, Dieter: Gebührenrecht und Grundgesetz, München 1973.
- Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesregierung Globale Umweltänderungen (WBGU): Entgelte für die Nutzung globaler Umweltgüter. Sondergutachten, Berlin 2002.
- Wit, Ron C.N./Boon, Bart H./van Velzen, André/Cames, Martin/Deuber, Odette/Lee, David S.: Giving Wings to Emissions Trading Inclusion of Aviation under the European Emission Trading System (ETS): Design and Impacts, Delft 2005.
- Wit, R.C.N./Dings, J.M.W.: Economic Incentives to Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Air Transport in Europe, Delft 2002.
- Witten, Samuel M.: The U.S.-UK Arbitration Concerning Heathrow Airport User Charges, AJIL 1995, 174 ff.
- Wolf, Rainer: Rechtsprobleme einer Schwerverkehrsabgabe, ZUR 2000, 123 ff.
- Wolfrum, Rüdiger: Recht der Flagge und "Billige Flaggen". Neuere Entwicklungen im Völkerrecht, in: BerDGV 31 (1990), S. 121 ff.
- *Wolfrum, Rüdiger:* International Environmental Law: Purposes, Principles and Means of Ensuring Compliance, in: Morrison, Fred L./Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): International, Regional and National Environmental Law, Den Haag/London/Boston 2000, S. 3 ff.
- Wolfrum, Rüdiger/Röben, Volker/Morrison, Fred L.: Preservation of the Marine Environment, in: Morrison, Fred L./Wolfrum, Rüdiger (eds.): International, Regional and National Environmental Law, Den Haag/London/Boston 2000, S. 225 ff.
- Wooldridge, Frank: Contiguous Zone, in: Bernhardt, Rudolf (ed.): Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Volume I, Amsterdam/London/New York/Tokyo 1992, S. 779 ff.
- Wunderlich, Nina: Das Grundrecht der Berufsfreiheit im Europäischen Gemeinschaftsrecht, 2000.